

Role of oxidised protein repair for skeletal muscle homeostasis

Sofia Lourenço dos Santos

▶ To cite this version:

Sofia Lourenço dos Santos. Role of oxidised protein repair for skeletal muscle homeostasis. Cellular Biology. Université Pierre et Marie Curie - Paris VI, 2016. English. NNT: 2016PA066241 . tel-01558810

HAL Id: tel-01558810 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01558810

Submitted on 10 Jul2017

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Université Pierre et Marie Curie

Thèse de doctorat de Biologie Intégrative

Préparée au sein de

L'école doctorale ED515 - Complexité du Vivant

et de

L'unité de recherche UMR 8256 UPMC-CNRS, ERL INSERM U1164 Adaptation Biologique et Vieillissement Equipe : Vieillissement Cellulaire Intégré et Inflammation

Importance de la réparation des protéines oxydées pour l'homéostasie du muscle squelettique

Présentée par

Sofia LOURENÇO DOS SANTOS

Pour obtenir le grade de Docteur de l'Université Pierre et Maire Curie

Soutenue publiquement le 1^{er} juillet 2016 devant le jury composé de :

M. Vincent MOULY (DR CNRS), Institut Myologie, UPMC, Paris	Président du jury
M. Alain LESCURE (CR CNRS), IBMC, Strasbourg	Rapporteur
Mme. Amélie REBILLARD (MC Université Rennes 2), Rennes	Rapporteur
M. Gilles CARNAC (CR CNRS), Université de Montpellier	Examinateur
M. Onnik AGBULUT (PR UPMC), Paris	Examinateur
Mme. Isabelle PETROPOULOS (PR UPMC), Paris	Directrice de thèse

"The greatest enemy of knowledge is not ignorance, it is the illusion of knowledge."

Stephen William Hawking

REMERCIEMENTS

Ce travail a été réalisé au sein de l'UMR 8256 - Adaptation Biologique et Vieillissement appartenant à l'Institut de Biologie Paris Seine (IBPS) dans le cadre d'un projet Emergence-UPMC et en collaboration avec l'Institut de Myologie de Paris.

Je voudrais tout d'abord exprimer ma gratitude envers le professeur **Bertrand Friguet**, pour m'avoir donné l'opportunité de faire ma thèse dans son Unité de recherche. Merci beaucoup pour la confiance que vous m'avez accordée depuis mon stage de Master 2 ainsi que pour votre soutien tout au long de ces années de thèse. Merci à vous et au Dr. **Mustapha Rouis** pour m'avoir accueillie au sein de votre laboratoire et de votre agréable et dynamique équipe « Vieillissement cellulaire intégré et inflammation ».

Je remercie énormément ma directrice de thèse et encadrante, le professeur **Isabelle Petropoulos**, pour m'avoir proposé de travailler avec elle sur ce fascinant projet que nous avons mené ensemble. Isabelle, je te remercie beaucoup pour tes conseils, pour tes enseignements scientifiques et personnels et pour avoir été là tout le temps, dans les bons et les moins bons moments tout au long de ma thèse. Merci pour tout.

Je tiens à remercier tous les membres de mon jury de thèse : M. Vincent Mouly pour me faire l'honneur de présider ce jury ; Mme. Amélie Rebillard et M. Alain Lescure pour avoir accepté de juger mon travail en tant que rapporteurs ; M. Gilles Carnac et M. Onnik Agbulut d'avoir accepté d'examiner ce manuscrit. Je remercie M. Onnik Agbulut aussi pour m'avoir permis d'utiliser son microscope à fluorescence, un outil précieux pour ce travail.

Je remercie également les membres de mon comité de thèse pour leur conseils scientifiques et stratégiques : Mme. **Dominique Weil**, représentante de l'école doctorale, ma tutrice Mme. **Patricia Serradas** ainsi que mon expert scientifique Mme. **Gillian Butler-Browne**.

De plus, je remercie Mme. Gillian Butler-Browne pour m'avoir accueillie à différentes périodes de ma thèse dans son Unité de recherche à l'Institut de Myologie afin de récupérer du matériel biologique ainsi que pour la réalisation de quelques expériences. Merci à tous les membres de l'Institut de Myologie avec qui j'ai collaboré, plus particulièrement **Capucine Trollet**, **Anne Bigot** et **Elisa Negroni** pour leurs conseils concernant les cellules souches musculaires. Capucine, je te remercie aussi pour m'avoir donné la chance de partager la paillasse avec toi et pour tous tes enseignements sur les dystrophies musculaires.

Je tiens également à remercier tous les **membres de l'IBPS** notamment ceux de l'**UMR 8256** avec qui j'ai pu interagir pendant ces années et qui, d'une façon ou d'une autre, ont contribué à l'aboutissement de ma thèse.

Un énorme merci à tous les **membres de mon équipe**, pour tout ce que vous m'avez apporté scientifiquement et personnellement sans oublier que vous avez été mes professeurs de la langue française ! Tout d'abord, je voudrais remercier ceux qui m'ont quittée en cours de route : **Marine Leboulch, Sabrina Radjei, Amna Abderrazak, Ghada Elmhiri, Dler Mahmood, Romain Ladouce** et **Fernando Martin**, merci à tous pour les bons moments que nous avons passés ensemble. Marine Leboulch, merci aussi de m'avoir appris toutes le bonnes pratiques de laboratoire pendant mon stage de Master 2. Un grand merci à Sabrina Radjei pour ta bonne humeur, pour tous tes conseils scientifiques mais surtout personnels et pour l'amitié partagée pendant tout mon parcours au laboratoire. Claire Monné, je doit avouer que tu m'as manqué ces derniers mois de ma thèse. Je te remercie pour ta personnalité inoubliable, pour ta gentillesse et ta bonne volonté. Merci de m'avoir gâtée pendant ces années.

Merci à tous ceux qui m'ont accompagnée du début jusqu'à la fin ou bien qui m'ont rejoint en cours de route :

Un grand merci tout particulier à **Aurore L'Honoré** pour ses conseils et connaissances scientifiques. J'ai beaucoup appris auprès de toi surtout mais pas seulement dans le domaine de la régénération musculaire. Ton optimisme et ta pédagogie m'ont permis d'avoir plus de confiance en moi. Merci pour ta contribution à ma thèse.

Un merci spécial à **Monique Gareil** pour toute son aide précieuse et son soutien. Merci Monique pour ta gentillesse et ta bonne humeur qui irradient le laboratoire. Merci aussi pour toutes les discussion pendant les repas midi parfois très amusantes au cours desquelles j'ai appris beaucoup sur la France.

Un grand merci aux filles : **Marie-Paule Hamon**, ma fidèle voisine de bureau, merci pour m'avoir supportée pendant ma thèse, pour avoir été ma meilleure prof de français, merci pour les discussions sur nos manips (M. Bradford doit être fier de nous !), enfin je dois dire que moi et ma thèse, nous ne serions pas les mêmes sans toi, merci pour tout ; **Audrey Desvergne**, comme tu l'as dit, même si le début n'était pas facile, je tiens à te remercier pour ton aide et ton encouragement ; **Rachel Gergondey**, ma nouvelle voisine, et **Fany Canesi**, dont j'admire beaucoup le courage et le mérite, merci à vos deux pour les derniers repas qui m'ont beaucoup décontracté pendant la rédaction de ce manuscrit ; **Magda Hamza**, merci

pour ton soutien; Feriel Soualmia et Elodie Bosc, merci pour vos fous rires et vos encouragements.

Et un grand merci à tous les autres membres du laboratoire : Khadija Zegouagh, Chahrazade El Amri, Hilaire Bakala, Dominique Couchie, Vimala Diderot, Valerie Lefort (ma nouvelle « personne compétente en radioactivité »), Matin Baraibar et Andrea Cavagnino avec qui j'ai partagé des moments agréables. Merci pour vos encouragements et votre aide diverse et variée.

Egalement, un grand merci aux stagiaires et étudiants qui ont eu le malheur de travailler avec moi : **Thomas**, **Jeremy**, **José** et **Salomé**.

Je tiens à remercier aussi **Khadiatou Coulibaly** pour sa gentillesse, son dévouement et sa bienveillance envers nous tous.

Un grand merci à **Florence Ladouce**, **Sabrina Mamert** et **Johanne de Marchi** pour toute la gestion administrative notamment des commandes ! Je tiens à remercier Florence en particulier pour toute sa disponibilité, sa gentillesse et son efficacité lors de mes questions incessantes sur les problèmes administratifs, toujours réglés avec le sourire et la bonne humeur. Merci aussi pour ton aide et tes encouragements.

Je tiens à remercier **ma famille**, tout d'abord mes parents, **Isabel** et **José Manel**, pour leur soutien, même de loin. Merci énormément de m'avoir fait arriver où je suis aujourd'hui. Je remercie amplement aussi mes grands-parents, avó **Natália**, avó **Maria Luisa**, avô **Lourenço** et avô **Adolfo**, pour leurs encouragements et tous leurs enseignements de vie qui m'ont permis d'être la personne que je suis. Et bien sûr, je remercie aussi mon frère, **Pedro**, qui est venu faire un stage à Paris de six mois, sans doute pour être plus proche de moi !

Je voudrais remercier aussi **tous mes amis**, tous ceux que j'ai laissés au Portugal mais à chaque fois que je rentre me font sentir que rien n'a changé et que notre amitié est plus forte que la distance. Merci pour votre soutien et votre compréhension. Merci aussi à mes collègues de fac qui m'ont beaucoup soutenue dans les moments difficiles de ma thèse, même en étant reparties dans les quatre bouts du monde ! Un merci très spécial à ceux qui vont venir me supporter lors de ma soutenance, Joana, José Nuno et Andreia mais aussi un gros merci à Catarina et José Pedro. Enfin, un grand merci à mes nouveaux amis sur Paris, surtout à mes amies et amis brésiliens qui m'ont accueillie les bras ouverts et m'ont fait me sentir en famille ici !

Finalement, je remercie du fond de mon coeur, **Gabriel**, pour tout son amour, pour tout ce qu'il a fait pour moi pendant ces années à Paris. Merci pour tout ce que tu m'as appris humainement et pour m'avoir soutenue dans les moments difficiles. C'est impossible de tout citer mais en ce qui concerne mon doctorat merci principalement pour m'avoir incitée à apprendre le français, pour toute ton aide (les corrections, les suggestions, tous les repas délicieux qui m'ont beaucoup aider à tenir le coup !) et pour m'avoir supportée lors de l'écriture du ce manuscrit !

ABSTRACT

Muscle regeneration and the stem cells, also known as satellite cells, that are engaged in this process are a major biomedical issue, notably for treatment of muscular dystrophies. In homeostasis conditions, satellite cells are in a quiescent state, however, in response to a muscle injury they become activated and start proliferating to undergo myogenic differentiation or renew the stem cell pool. Although signalling pathways of muscle regeneration have been intensively studied, other aspects of this regulation, in particular the redox state remains unclear. The cellular redox state is characterised by a balance between the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and their elimination by the antioxidant systems. Methionine sulfoxide reductases (Msr) enzymes are responsible for the reduction of methionine oxidation, being important regulators of protein function. Importantly, this system is also involved in oxidative stress protection by preventing protein irreversible oxidation damages, which have been described in some muscular dystrophies as well as in aged muscle.

The objective of this work is to determine, for the first time, the role of the Msr enzymes in satellite cells function during regeneration as well as their role in skeletal muscle fibres protection during oxidative stress conditions, such as muscle ageing or some muscular dystrophies. Using human primary myoblasts as a model of myogenesis in vitro, we found that, by neutralising excessive ROS levels and intracellular protein damage accumulation, MsrA enzymes counteract myoblasts senescence. We observed also that replicative senescent myoblasts or myoblasts derived from a late onset muscular dystrophy present reduced levels of MsrA enzymes, suggesting that modulation of Msr enzymes could prevent cellular ageing as well as represent a valuable approach in complement to the cellular therapies already in use for the treatment of muscular dystrophies. Secondly, using muscle biopsies derived from adult or geriatric mice, we found that Msr activity decreases with age and would partly contribute to the accumulation of protein oxidative damages observed in geriatric muscle. This suggests that Msr, through protein quality control, could participate to muscle fibre function and homeostasis. Finally, Msr enzymes were found up-regulated in dystrophic muscle comparing to healthy ones, which could be a response to the increased dystrophic-associated oxidative stress, although not sufficient to counteract the pathological symptoms.

To conclude, our results suggest that Msr enzymes are important for skeletal muscle tissue homeostasis, being involved in muscle stem cell redox regulation during myogenesis as well as in muscle fibres protection against oxidative stress.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

REMERCIEMENTS	III
ABSTRACT	VII
TABLE OF CONTENTS	IX
ABREVIATIONS	XI
FIGURES INDEX	XV
TABLES INDEX	XVII
INTRODUCTION	1
I. The Skeletal Muscle	3
Skeletal Muscle Anatomy	3
Skeletal Muscle Contraction	6
Skeletal Muscle Fibre Types	8
Skeletal Muscle Ageing	
Muscular Dystrophies	
Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy	
Oculopharyngeal Muscular Dystrophy	20
Oxidative Stress in Muscular Dystrophies	22
II. Satellite Cells, the skeletal muscle stem cells	25
Emergence of satellite cell population	27
Satellite Cells, the mandatory actors of skeletal muscle regeneration	
Satellite cells in quiescence	
Satellite cells activation and proliferation	
Early steps of satellite cells differentiation	
Terminal differentiation during muscle regeneration	
Satellite cells self-renewal	34
Signalling pathways involved in regulation of the regeneration process	35
Role of Inflammation during the muscle regeneration process	36
Satellite Cells during ageing	
III. The Reactive Oxygen Species	
ROS Nature and Generation	
ROS Production Sites	
ROS Elimination by the Antioxidant Systems	
Non-Enzymatic defence systems	
Enzymatic defence systems	45
Oxidative Damage to Macromolecules	
DNA oxidative damage	49
Lipid oxidative damage	49

Protein oxidative damage	50
ROS in Skeletal Muscle Myogenesis	56
IV. Protein Homeostasis	. 63
Protein Degradation Systems	63
Mitochondrial proteases	63
The ubiquitin-proteasome system	65
Lysosomal system	66
Proteolytic Systems in Skeletal Muscle	68
Protein Repair Systems	71
Thioredoxin system	71
Glutaredoxin system	71
Methionine sulfoxide reductase system	72
Protein Homeostasis in Skeletal Muscle Myogenesis	73
V. Methionine Sulfoxide Reductases	. 77
Methionine sulfoxide reductases discovery	77
Methionine sulfoxide reductases phylogenetic, tissue and cellular distribution	78
Methionine sulfoxide reductases sequence, structure and catalytic activity	82
Methionine sulfoxide reductases in protection against oxidative stress	86
Methionine sulfoxide reductases in disease, ageing and longevity	90
Methionine sulfoxide reductases as regulators of protein and cellular functions	92
OBJECTIVES	. 97
MATERIALS AND METHODS	101
	107
RESULTS	107
Part I – Importance of the MSr system for skeletal muscle satemite cens	109
Down-regulation of methioning sulfavide reductase A decroases human mychlasts	109
proliferative canacities by inducing a senescent state	113
Discussion	154
Part II - Importance of Msr enzymes for skeletal muscle fibres protection against oxidative	e
stress under normal or pathological conditions	157
Background	157
Msr enzymes are involved in protection of skeletal muscle fibres from oxidative stress	
conditions	159
Discussion	167
CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES	
	171
BIBLIOGRAPHY	171 175

ABREVIATIONS

3MA	3-methyladenine		
4-HNE	4-hydroxynonenal		
ACE	angiotensin I converting enzyme		
ACTN3	alpha-actinin-3		
AGE	advanced glycation end-products		
ALE	advanced lipid peroxidation end products		
AP-1	activator protein-1		
Atg	autophagic gene		
bHLH	basic-helix-loop-helix		
BMD	Becker muscular dystrophy		
CaM	calmodulin		
CaMKII	calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II		
CAT	catalase		
CEL	carboxyethyllysine		
CMD	congenital muscular dystrophy		
CML	carboxymethyllysine		
CNTF	ciliary neurotrophic factor		
CRISPR	clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats		
CuZnSOD	mitochondria intermembrane copper-zinc SOD		
DAP	dystrophin-associated protein		
DCFDA	2,7-dichlorofluorescein diacetate		
DD	distal muscular dystrophy		
DIGE	difference gel electrophoresis		
DM1	myotonic dystrophy type 1		
DMD	Duchenne muscular dystrophy		
DNP	2-4-dinitrophenylhydrazone		
DNPH	2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine		
DTT	dithiothreitol		
ECSOD	extracellular copper-zinc SOD		
EDMD	Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy		
EdU	5-Ethynyl-2´-deoxyuridine		
ERTS	endoplasmic reticulum targeting signal		
FGF	fibroblast growth factors		
FOXO	forkhead box O		
FSHD	facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy		
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase		
GFD11	growth differentiation factor 11		
GFP	green fluorescent protein		
GPx	glutathione peroxidase		

GR	GSH reductase		
Grx	glutaredoxin		
GS	glutathione synthetase		
GSH	glutathione		
GSNO	S-nitrosoglutathione		
GSSG	glutathione disulfide		
HDAC	histone deacetylases		
HeyL	hairy/enhancer-of-split related with YRPW motif-like protein		
HGF	hepatocyte growth factor		
HNE	4-hydroxynonenal		
IGF	Insulin growth factor		
INI	intra-nuclear inclusions		
ΙκΒα	inhibitor of kappa B-alpha		
Jak2	Janus kinase 2		
keap1	kelch-like ECH associated protein 1		
LGMD	limb girdle muscular dystrophy		
LMNA	lamin A/C		
MACS	magnetic-activated cell sorting		
MAFbx	muscle atrophy F-box		
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase		
MD	muscular dystrophies		
MDA	malondialdehyde		
MetRO	methionine-R-sulfoxide		
MetSO	methionine-S-sulfoxide		
MetO	methionine sulfoxide		
MetO ₂	methionine sulfone		
MHC, MLC	myosin heavy chain, myosin light chains		
MMD	myotonic muscular dystrophy		
MnSOD	manganese SOD		
MRF	myogenic regulatory factors		
MRF4, Myf6	myogenic factor 6		
Msr	methionine sulfoxide reductase		
MSTN	myostatin		
mtDNA	mitochondrial DNA		
MTS	mitochondrial targeting signal		
MuRF	muscle Really Interesting New Gene Finger		
Myf5	myogenic factor 5		
MyoD	myogenic differentiation 1		
NAC	N-acetyl-L-cysteine		
NADH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide reduced		
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate		
NF-κB	nuclear factor-kappaB		
NFAT	nuclear factor of activated T-cells		
NOS	nitric oxide synthase		

NOX	NADPH oxidase			
Nrf2	nuclear factor-erythroid 2 related factor 2			
OPMD	oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy			
ORF	open reading frame			
OXPHOS	oxidative phosphorylation			
PABPN1	poly(A) binding protein nuclear 1			
Pax	paired box protein			
PGC-1α	peroxisome proliferator activated receptor γ coactivator-1 α			
PGPH	peptidylglutamyl-peptide hydrolase			
PI3K	phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase			
РКВ	protein kinase B			
Prx	peroxiredoxins			
Rbpj	recombining binding protein suppressor of hairless			
RNS	reactive nitrogen species			
ROS	reactive oxygen species			
RYR1	ryanodine receptor 1			
SA-βgal	senescence-associated beta-galactosidase			
SECIS	selenocysteine insertion sequence			
SEM	standard error of the mean			
SEPN1	selenoprotein N			
shRNA	short hairpin RNA			
siRNA	small interfering RNA			
SNO	S-nitrosothiol			
SOD	superoxide dismutase			
Spry1	sprouty1			
SSG	S-glutathionylates			
Stat3	signal transducer and activator of transcription 3			
T-tubules	transverse tubules			
TGF-b	transforming growth factor beta			
Tie2	TEK tyrosine kinase			
TNF-a	tumour necrosis factor-a			
TR	thioredoxin reductase			
Trx	thioredoxin			
Ub	ubiquitin			
UPS	ubiquitin-proteasome system			
VDAC	voltage-dependent anion channel			
VDR	vitamin D receptor			
W.T.	wild type			
X-Gal	5-Bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl β -D-galactopyranoside			
XO	xanthine oxidase			

FIGURES INDEX

Figure 1 - Skeletal muscle anatomy	4
Figure 2 - Levels of functional organisation of skeletal muscle	5
Figure 3 - Structure and composition of thin actin and thick myosin filaments	6
Figure 4 - The cross-bridge cycle in skeletal muscle contraction.	7
Figure 5 - Multifactorial bases of sarcopenia and its phenotype	
Figure 6 - Patterns of distribution of muscle weakness in muscular dystrophies	
Figure 7 - The first longitudinal view of a satellite cell	25
Figure 8 - Skeletal muscle repair process.	29
Figure 9 - Skeletal muscle regeneration process.	
Figure 10 - Production of reactive oxygen species	
Figure 11 - Sites and complexes of ROS production within skeletal muscle cells	
Figure 12 - Cellular antioxidant defence systems	
Figure 13 - Oxidative modifications on sulfur containing amino acids	
Figure 14 - Sources of protein carbonyls	
Figure 15 - Critical role of ROS in myogenesis	61
Figure 16 - Mitochondrial proteases	
Figure 17 - The ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS)	
Figure 18 - The lysosomal system	
Figure 19 - The 3 major protein repair systems	
Figure 20 - Subcellular distribution of methionine sulfoxide reductase enzymes in humans	
Figure 21 - Genetic organisation of mammalian methionine sulfoxide reductases (Msr)	
Figure 22 - MsrA catalytic mechanism	
Figure 23 - MsrB catalytic mechanism	85
Figure 24 - Representations of methionine and Msr regulation of protein function.	
Figure 25 - Antioxidant enzymes expression during human myoblasts differentiation in vitro	148
Figure 26 - Senescence is induced in ShMsrA myoblasts	149
Figure 27 - Senescent myoblasts had decreased MsrA expression	150
Figure 28 - Msr expression in human OPMD-derived myoblasts	152
Figure 29 - Msr expression profile in quiescent an activated satellite cells.	153
Figure 30 - Msr activity and expression in different mouse skeletal muscle types	160
Figure 31 - Msr activity and expression in adult (3 months) and geriatric (25 months) mouse s	keletal
muscle	162
Figure 32 - Msr transcripts expression in Duchenne muscular dystrophy	
Figure 33 - Msr transcripts expression in oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy	166

TABLES INDEX

Table 1 - Muscle fibre types characteristics.	9
Table 2 - List of human primers used in this work	. 105
Table 3 - List of mouse primers used in this work.	. 105
Table 4 - List of primary antibodies used in this work	. 106

XVIII

INTRODUCTION

I. The Skeletal Muscle

Within muscle tissues, three different types of muscles, namely cardiac, smooth and skeletal muscles can be distinguished. The contraction of both cardiac and smooth muscle occurs involuntarily, thus being controlled by the autonomic nervous system. Their main functions are the insurance of blood circulation in the case of cardiac muscle while smooth muscles act to maintain the elasticity and movement of internal organs.

Skeletal muscles represent on average 40% of the human body weight. Their contraction can be voluntary when finely controlled by the central nervous system or involuntary when their innervation comes from the spinal cord. Skeletal muscles, anchored to bone by tendons, generate the force and movement needed to locomotion, postural behaviour and breathing. If the main function of skeletal muscles is the production of force and movement needed for contraction, it also participates to the thermoregulation, to metabolic homeostasis and represents a major source of proteins for the whole organism.

Skeletal Muscle Anatomy

The skeletal muscle tissue is composed of several cell types and is well organised in different layers. The epimysium, a layer of connective tissue, covers the entire muscle and protects it from friction against other muscles and bones (Figure 1). This layer is continuous with tendons, where it becomes thicker, and composed of collagen to allow the formation of the muscular tendinous junction. Arteries, required for muscle oxygenation and nutrients intake, and other structures like nerves and the lymphe are also enveloped by this structure. Continuous with the epimysium is the perimysium, a sheath of connective tissue that encloses fibre's bundles or fascicles of up to 150 muscle fibres (Figure 1). The last connective tissue is a thin elastic layer called endomysium or basal lamina that separates skeletal muscle fibres or myofibres (Figure 1). This structure consists mainly of reticular fibres composed of collagen that protect muscle fibres and drive muscle contraction within a given direction.

Myofibres are giant cells that can reach 30 cm long with a diameter from 10 to 100 μ m (Figure 1). They are post-mitotic multinucleated cells that originate from the fusion of a large number of mono-nucleated progenitor cells. Although adult skeletal muscle tissue is mainly composed of post-mitotic muscle fibres, it also contains fibroblasts, endothelial cells and myogenic adult stem cells called satellite cells (described later in chapter II) (Figure 1).

Vertebrate's skeletal muscles have a striated appearance due to myofibrils, the crossstriated muscle contractile proteins (Figure 1 and 2). Muscle contractile apparatus is the main constituent of the myofibre cytoplasm called sarcoplasm. The others organelles represent only 20% of the total sarcoplasm volume and are mostly: mitochondria – important to give the necessary ATP for the muscular contraction; nuclei – between 40 and 500 depending on the fibre size; sarcoplasmic reticulum – sandwiched between sarcolemma membranous invaginations called transverse tubules (T-tubules) and participating in muscular contraction; and cytoskeleton elements – which join myofibrils to the extracellular matrix.



Figure 1 - **Skeletal muscle anatomy**. Muscle tissue is surrounded by the epimysium, which groups myofibres bundles (fasciculi) and blood vessels. These myofibre bundles are delimited by a connective tissue layer, the perimysium and assemble various myofibres infiltrated with a large capillary network. Individual myofibres, enveloped by an endomysium or basal lamina, are composed of multiple myonuclei, mitochondria and myofibrils that contain the contractile proteins. Between the sarcolemma and the basal lamina of the myofibres lie the skeletal muscle adult stem cells, the satellite cells. Adapted from (Otto, Collins-Hooper et al., 2009).

Myofibrils can measure from 1 to 2 μ m in diameter and are composed of structural and contractile elements. Between the structural elements are titin - an elastic protein that stabilizes the sarcomere and is implicated on the driving force and nebulin - a stiff protein used as matrix by the contractile elements. Two types of contractile filaments exist within

myofibrils: the thin myofilaments, measuring 7 nm in diameter and composed of actin, and the thick myofilaments, essentially composed of myosin and having 15 nm in diameter (Figure 2a and b). Repeats of thin and thick filaments between successive Z-bands (Z-discs) along the myofibril are called sarcomeres (Figure 2b and c). Electron microscopy and low-angle X-ray fibre diffraction helped to define the structure of these muscle repeating units (Huxley, 1957, Huxley, 1969). In vertebrate muscles sarcomeres are approximately 2 μ m long in a resting muscle but vary in length as the muscle stretches. Within sarcomeres, myosin filaments are crosslinked into dark arrays at the M-line of the A-bands, while the overlapping actin filaments are crosslinked in the Z-disk within the light I-band (Figure 2b and c) (Gautel, 2011).



Figure 2 – Levels of functional organisation of skeletal muscle. a) Muscle Fibres: muscle fibres are cylindrical multinucleated cells bounded by a plasmatic membrane (sarcolemma) and composed by myofibrils; b) Myofibrils: muscle myofibrils are composed of thin and thick myofilaments containing mainly actin and myosin contractile proteins, respectively; c) Sarcomere: the myofibril repeating unit is compromised between two Z-bands. Adapted from © 2013 Pearson and Education, Inc.

Skeletal Muscle Contraction

Muscles contract by sliding the thin actin and thick myosin filaments along each other (Squire, Al-khayat et al., 2005). Besides myosin and actin, muscle filaments have also regulatory proteins needed for contraction, such as troponin and tropomyosin which regulate muscle contraction in response to fluctuations in intracellular calcium concentration (Scott, Stevens et al., 2001). Tropomyosin is a two-stranded alpha-helical coiled coil homo or heterodimer protein that lies along the alpha-helical groove of actin filaments, covering its binding sites (Figure 3). Skeletal muscle troponin relies at each tropomyosin extremity and consists of 3 subunits: troponin I (TnI), which inhibits the myosin Mg^{2+} -ATPase activity; troponin C (TnC), which binds calcium ions (Ca²⁺) and abolishes TnI-mediated inhibition of actin-myosin cross-bridge formation; and troponin T (TnT), which is the tropomyosin-binding subunit (Figure 3) (Leavis & Gergely, 1984, Wei & Jin, 2011).



Figure 3 - Structure and composition of thin actin and thick myosin filaments. Thin filaments consist of two strands of actin subunits forming a helix in close relation with two regulatory proteins, tropomyosin and troponin. Binding of calcium ions (Ca^{2+}) on troponin C (TnC) subunit results in myosin binding site exposing, allowing actin and myosin coupling. Thick filaments are composed of many myosin molecules whose heads bend in all opposite directions. Myosin light chains situated on the neck of myosin heavy chains regulate myosin ATPase activity. Adapted from © 2013 Pearson and Education, Inc and from (Boron & Boulpaep, 2012).

Within thick filaments, myosin is a hexamer composed of 4 myosin light chains (MLC) and 2 enrolled myosin heavy chains (MHC). Between the 4 light chains, two of them

stabilize the myosin head region and the other two regulate the MHC ATPase activity via their phosphorylation by Ca^{2+} -dependent and independent kinases (Figure 3). The two MHC are divided in 3 regions: the tail, the neck or hinge and the head. The head of the myosin molecule has a site that binds to actin to form crossbridges and an ATPase site that hydrolyses ATP (Goody, Hofmann et al., 1977). When ATP binds to myosin head, it causes myosin releasing from actin (step 1 on Figure 4). Hydrolysis of ATP into adenosine diphosphate (ADP) and inorganic phosphate (Pi) by the myosin ATPase releases the energy necessary to give myosin a high-energy conformation (step 2 on Figure 4) necessary for subsequent actin binding (step 3 on Figure 4). Pi release will make myosin head turn into the middle of the sarcomere taking actin thin filaments with it through its attachment into the adjacent actin subunit (cross-bridge formation; step 4 on Figure 4). Finally, ADP is also released, myosin returns back to its low energy state and the actin-myosin bridge acquires a rigid state (step 5 on Figure 4). A new cross-bridge cycle can then re-start by binding of a new ATP on myosin head. Indeed, muscle contraction depends on high-energy fluxes. The renewal of ATP used by the myosin ATPase for muscle contraction cycles arises mainly from three sources: creatine phosphate, glycogen / glycolysis and ATP generated directly from cellular respiration in muscle fibres mitochondria (McLeish & Kenyon, 2005).



Figure 4 - **The cross-bridge cycle in skeletal muscle contraction**. During muscle contraction, myosin contractile protein converts the energy of ATP hydrolysis in mechanical energy. From © 2011 Pearson and Education, Inc.

Skeletal Muscle Fibre Types

The heterogeneity of mammalian skeletal muscle fibres is the base of the flexibility that allows the same muscle to be used for various tasks such as continuous low-intensity activity (for example, posture), repeated small contractions (e.g. locomotion), or fast and strong contractions (such as jumping). The diversity of muscle fibres resides on different functional muscle cells compartments such as contractile machinery, cytoskeleton scaffold, energy supply systems, membrane excitation and excitation-contraction coupling (Table 1).

The first fibre type classification grouped two types of muscle fibres distinguished on the basis of their colour, red or white, and their contractile properties, fast and slow. Slow red muscles (type I) were the ones composed of fibres rich in myoglobin and mitochondria, with an oxidative metabolism and involved in continuous, tonic activity. On the other hand, fibres with small amounts of myoglobin and mitochondria, relying more on glycolytic metabolism and involved in phasic activity, were named fast white muscles (type II) (Needham, 1926). Years after, this classification was replaced by another based on muscle fibres mitochondrial content, MHC isoforms and metabolic enzymatic activities, giving rise to three major fibre types: slow (type I), fast highly oxidative and relatively fatigue resistant (type IIA) and fast weakly oxidative or fast-glycolytic with low fatigue resistance (type IIB). A third phase of muscle fibre type classification appeared with the discovery in rodents and later in humans of a new MHC fast type, called IIX that had properties between the MHC IIA and IIB (Schiaffino, Gorza et al., 1989, Smerdu, Karsch-Mizrachi et al., 1994). In addition, based on histochemical analysis of muscle sections and single fibres biochemical and physiological studies (Bottinelli, Betto et al., 1994, DeNardi, Ausoni et al., 1993, Gorza, 1990, Pette & Staron, 1990), seven types of skeletal muscle fibres were defined with pure or hybrid MHC composition: I, I/IIA, IIA, IIA/2X, IIX, IIX/IIB and IIB from slowest to fastest (Pette, Peuker et al., 1999, Scott et al., 2001, Staron, 1997). However, due some inconsistences such as the discovery of fibres coexpressing type I and IIX but not IIA MHCs (Caiozzo, Baker et al., 2003, Schiaffino et al., 1989) or the fact that, depending on the method used, different laboratories would classified the same fibre differently, the actual reference to distinguish mammalian muscles fibre heterogeneity and plasticity is based only on four major fibre types (one slow and three fast fibre types) (Table 1) (Schiaffino & Reggiani, 2011).

Regardless of the classification system used to describe muscle fibres, there is overwhelming evidence that muscle fibres not only change in size in response to demands, but also convert one type to another depending on different stimulus (e.g., training and rehabilitation, ageing). This plasticity in contractile and metabolic properties in response to stimuli allows for adaptation to different functional demands. Fibre conversions between type IIB and type IIA are the most common, but type I to type II conversions are possible (Ricoy, Encinas et al., 1998). For example, in humans, a decrease in muscle use after a previously high activity leads to slow to fast conversion, with shifts from MHC IIA to MHC IIX and MHC I to MHC IIA (Bogdanis, 2012). With this, there is also a concomitant decrease in the enzymes associated with aerobic-oxidative metabolism. Furthermore, during ageing, there are also adaptations of the MHC isoforms content with an overall shift occurring in fast to slow direction: MHC IIX to MHC IIA or MHC IIA to MHC I, mainly due to denervation of fast fibres and their reinnervation by slow motor units (Schiaffino & Reggiani, 2011).

	Type I	Type IIA	Type IIX	Type IIB
Denomination	Slow	Fast resistant, Fast oxidative	Fast intermediate	Fast fatigable, Fast glycolytic
Colour	red	red to pink	white	white
Capillary density	high	intermediate	low	low
Mitochondria density	very high	high	intermediate	low
Metabolic preference	oxidative	oxidative & glycolytic	glycolytic & oxidative	glycolytic
Myosin heavy chain protein	MHC-Ι/β	MHC-IIA	MHC-IIX	MHC-IIB
Myosin heavy chain gene	MYH7	MYH2	MYH1	MYH4
Myosin ATPase activity	low	high	high	high
Major ATP source	triglycerides	glycogen & creatine phosphate	glycogen & creatine phosphate	glycogen & creatine phosphate
Peak force	low	intermediate	large	extremely large
Resistance to fatigue	high	relatively high	intermediate	low
Contraction velocity	slow	rapid	rapid	very rapid

Table 1 - Muscle fibre types characteristics.

Skeletal Muscle Ageing

Skeletal muscle ageing is an inevitable biological process usually associated with a decrease in mass, strength and velocity of contraction. In humans, the age-associated loss of muscle strength and power starts at the age of 30 and 40 years, respectively (Deschenes, 2004). Skeletal muscle mass, particularly in muscles essential for locomotion, decreases of 25% until 60 years old (Deschenes, 2004, Janssen, Heymsfield et al., 2000). Between 60 and 80 years old, humans lose about 40% of their muscle mass and more than 50% after 90 years (Deschenes, 2004, Doherty, 2003, Janssen et al., 2000). The loss of muscle mass associated with ageing was named sarcopenia (from the greek: sarx which means "flesh" and penia which means "loss") by Dr. Irwin Rosenberg (Rosenberg, 1997). Since this first classification, different definitions of sarcopenia have been promulgated (Cruz-Jentoft & Morley, 2012, Drescher, Konishi et al., 2016, Fielding, Vellas et al., 2011, Morley, Abbatecola et al., 2011, Rosenberg, 2011). They all clearly refer to an age-associated quantitative and qualitative loss of muscle function, meaning a loss of muscle mass and the appearance of muscle weakness and/or impaired performance (slow walking speed). Sarcopenia may also be associated with the loss of muscle power (force x velocity), particularly in older people with mobility limitations.

At tissue level, sarcopenia is accompanied by morphological changes of skeletal muscle including a remodelling of muscle fibres spatial arrangement (Thom, Morse et al., 2007) and an increase of 6 % to 15 % in the non-contractile muscle mass fraction (Taaffe, Henwood et al., 2009). Regarding muscle fibres, the loss of muscle mass involves a decrease in both muscle fibre size (atrophy) and number (hypoplasia). Although skeletal muscle ageing is commonly associated with a reduction in the number of both type I and type II skeletal muscle fibres, type II fibres are more atrophy vulnerable during ageing than type I muscle fibres (Schiaffino & Reggiani, 2011). However, in terms of muscle contraction, MHC I positive fibres showed low velocity of contraction with age, while those expressing MHC IIA did not presented any changes (Korhonen, Cristea et al., 2006). Thus, the increased type II fibre atrophy and the reduced velocity of contraction in type I fibres play a main role in the decline of muscle force during ageing. In parallel to muscle fibre atrophy and hypoplasia, sarcopenic muscle is characterised by an accumulation of intramuscular fat (myosteatosis) and tissue fibrosis (collagen infiltration called myofibrosis) (Budui, Rossi et al., 2015, Taaffe et al., 2009, Zoico, Corzato et al., 2013). Both processes result in a decrease of muscle strength and contractility and to an increased rigidity of the tissue (Goodpaster,

Carlson et al., 2001). In addition, losses of α -motoneurons by apoptosis together with the reduction of the conduction velocity lead to the progressive denervation of muscle fibres (Doherty, 2003, Edstrom, Altun et al., 2007, Kwan, 2013). Taken together, these events not only result in a decrease of coordination and strength but also trigger muscle fibres apoptosis by reducing the production of trophic factors.

At cellular and molecular levels, a number of modifications have been reported in sarcopenic muscle fibres that can explain the morphological and functional changes cited above. Thus, altered structure of the sarcoplasmic reticulum resulting in segregation of the calcium stores ultimately leads to impairment of the excitation-contraction coupling (Weisleder, Brotto et al., 2006). Similarly, several studies have reported in aged muscle a decrease in the level of structural and metabolic muscle proteins, such as myosin heavy chains (mainly MHC IIA and MHC IIX isoforms) (Balagopal, Schimke et al., 2001, Karakelides & Nair, 2005, Rooyackers, Adey et al., 1996).

It is important to note that in addition to the events affecting the muscle fibre, sarcopenic muscle is also characterised by a main reduction of its ability to regenerate compared to young muscle. This phenotype, which is due to reduction of both the number and the regenerative capacities of satellite cells will be discussed further in detail in chapter II (Blau, Cosgrove et al., 2015, Sousa-Victor, Garcia-Prat et al., 2015).

Sarcopenia is now recognised as a major clinical problem for older people and research in the area is expanding exponentially. However, despite this growing interest, its etiology is still unknown. In order to counteract modifications occurring in both muscle structure and function during ageing, it is therefore essential to understand the mechanisms involved in the maintenance of skeletal muscle.

Among the different hypotheses that have been suggested, a reduction in the number of satellite cells as well as a decline of their function has been proposed (Cosgrove, Gilbert et al., 2014, Sousa-Victor, Gutarra et al., 2014). However, a recent study has clearly refuted this hypothesis, demonstrating that mice whose skeletal muscles are depleted of satellite cells exhibit similar features of sarcopenia than control mice (Fry, Lee et al., 2015). Therefore, satellite cells are dispensable for the maintenance of normal adult and ageing muscles.

One of the most evident explanations for the loss of muscle mass observed during ageing is an imbalance between protein synthesis and degradation (Figure 5). Indeed, major age-dependent alterations in muscle proteolysis have been observed in aged muscle. Most of them are due to a lack of responsiveness of the ubiquitin-proteasome-dependent proteolytic

pathway to anabolic and catabolic stimuli (Karakelides & Nair, 2005, Nair, 1995, Toth, Matthews et al., 2005) and to alterations in the regulation of autophagy (Combaret, Dardevet et al., 2009).

Researchers have also been interested in a potential role for reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the process of ageing for over 60 years. ROS can cause oxidative damage to surrounding structures, and at a cellular level, the accumulation of oxidative damages occurring during life may contribute to the ageing phenotype, especially in those tissues in which ROS generation is more pronounced (Jackson, 2009). Skeletal muscle is one of the most metabolically active tissues in the organism. Given its elevated energetic demand, this tissue is characterised by a high mitochondrial mass and a constant mitochondrial biogenesis. Mitochondria are the main producers of cellular energy through oxidative phosphorylation. By consequence, they also constitute the major source of ROS essentially produced by the electron transport chain. Transcriptomic and proteomic analysis of young and ageing human, rat and mouse muscles have revealed progressive alterations related to oxidative metabolism, including increased mitochondrial ROS production, impaired mitochondrial function, and accumulation of oxidative damaged proteins (Barreiro, Coronell et al., 2006, Choksi, Nuss et al., 2008, Marzani, Felzani et al., 2005, Siu, Pistilli et al., 2008, Snow, Fugere et al., 2007, Thompson, Durand et al., 2006). Notably, the accumulation of damaged proteins leads to their aggregation and to the formation of proteolysis-resistant species. Such products have been shown to inhibit the proteasome activity, resulting into accumulation of misfolded, non-functional proteins (Friguet & Szweda, 1997, Grune, Jung et al., 2004). The consequences of excessive ROS and of accumulation of damaged and nonfunctional proteins in muscle tissue are multiples. Several studies have revealed their negative impacts on action-potential conduction, excitation-contraction coupling, the function of contractile proteins and the efficiency of mitochondrial respiration in muscle fibre (Andersson, Betzenhauser et al., 2011, Malinska, Kudin et al., 2012, Merry & McConell, 2012, Reid, 2001, Schoneich, Viner et al., 1999, Thompson et al., 2006). While these studies do not show that oxidative damage plays a role in the skeletal muscle ageing process directly, they clearly argued that it is important in contributing to several aspects of muscle ageing, including muscle atrophy and loss of muscle strength and function (Howard, Ferrucci et al., 2007, Min, Smuder et al., 2011, Powers, Smuder et al., 2011, Powers, Smuder et al., 2012). As previous mentioned, mitochondria are considered as the main source of ROS produced during aerobic metabolism. In view of their close proximity to ROS, these organelles, and notably their DNA are also their primary targets. Accumulation of mitochondrial DNA and protein oxidative damages has been shown to lead to decreased mitochondria number, size and function in aged muscle (Barazzoni, Short et al., 2000, Wanagat, Cao et al., 2001). Resulting mitochondrial dysfunction leads to an impaired metabolic rate and energy production, together with increased ROS production, which in turn affect cell viability through necrosis and/or apoptosis of muscle fibres (Bua, McKiernan et al., 2002, Dirks, Hofer et al., 2006, Herbst, Pak et al., 2007, Wanagat et al., 2001). Finally, muscle fibres death accounts for the loss of muscle mass occurring in sarcopenia. To conclude, while these results clearly support the notion that muscle ageing correlates with deregulation of the myofibre redox state, whether such deregulation is a cause or a consequence of the muscle ageing process is still a subject of debate.

In addition to the intrinsic muscle events described above, a large panel of extrinsic factors have been proposed to contribute to the loss of muscle mass and strength during ageing (Figure 5). Among them, hormonal deregulations play a central role: while in men, the loss of muscle mass is significantly associated with a reduction of testosterone serum levels, in women it is mainly associated with oestrogen serum levels (Baumgartner, Waters et al., 1999). Similarly, changes in hormones such as insulin, growth hormone, prolactin, thyroid hormones, catecholamines and corticosteroids have been correlated to the loss of muscle mass and strength (Rolland, Czerwinski et al., 2008), and growth hormone and/or estrogens replacement therapies were shown efficient to lower fat mass and to increase lean body mass (Dionne, Kinaman et al., 2000, Rolland, Perry et al., 2007). Several non-muscular age-associated diseases have been proposed to contribute to the process of sarcopenia. Thus, high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines as well as reduction of the vascular endothelial function (Degens, 1998) were associated with an increased risk of muscle mass and strength loss and to fatigue resistance failure (Giovannini, Onder et al., 2011, Harris, Ferrucci et al., 1999, Schaap, Pluijm et al., 2006). Physical activity is also an important predictor of muscle mass maintenance in both sexes (Baumgartner et al., 1999), with less physically active older adults being more likely to gain sarcopenic features compared with physically active older individuals (Freiberger, Sieber et al., 2011, Lee, Auyeung et al., 2007, Rolland et al., 2008). Similarly, healthy young and old volunteers lose almost 1 kg of muscle leg mass after 14 and 10 days of bed rest respectively and this was accompanied by a decrease in muscle strength, protein synthesis and aerobic capacity (Kortebein, Ferrando et al., 2007, Kortebein, Symons et al., 2008, Paddon-Jones, Sheffield-Moore et al., 2006). Another cellular consequence of physical activity is the age-associated loss of mitochondrial content and function that can be partially reversed by exercise training (Broskey, Greggio et al., 2014). Apart from physical

activity, other life style related factors are known to affect muscle metabolic homeostasis in the elderly. This is the case of nutrition, smoking and alcohol consumption (Figure 5). Indeed, while almost 40 % of individuals of more than 70 years old do not meet the recommended dietary allowance in proteins (Houston, Nicklas et al., 2008), protein supplementation trials in the elderly led to improvements in physical performance (Daly, O'Connell et al., 2014, Tieland, van de Rest et al., 2012), in lean body weight (body weight minus body fat weight), in muscle strength as well as in muscle protein synthesis (Dillon, Sheffield-Moore et al., 2009, Kim, Suzuki et al., 2012). Lastly, smoking and alcohol consumption also increase the risk of sarcopenia by impairing muscle protein synthesis (Petersen, Magkos et al., 2007) as well as proteases activity (Preedy, Adachi et al., 2001, Reilly, Mantle et al., 1997).



Figure 5 - **Multifactorial bases of sarcopenia and its phenotype**. Different causes of muscle ageing are grouped at different levels (life-style related, organism and tissue level as well as cellular and molecular level). Sarcopenic phenotype presents different skeletal muscle tissue morphological and functional.

Finally, although a strong genetic determination has been reported for muscle mass and muscle strength features (Huygens, Thomis et al., 2004, Kostek, Hubal et al., 2011, Thomis, Beunen et al., 1998, Tiainen, Sipila et al., 2004, Zhai, Stankovich et al., 2004), only a few studies have explored the role of potential candidate genes in determination of muscle strength. To date, five genes (*ACE*, *ACTN3*, *MSTN*, *CNTF* and *VDR*) have been associated with sarcopenia (Garatachea & Lucia, 2013, Tan, Liu et al., 2012). A great interest has been shown towards the *MSTN* gene, which encodes a specific myokine, called myostatin since its gene expression is up-regulated in old individuals compared to young subjects (Leger, Derave et al., 2008), and increase on its protein level in serum was correlated with reduced muscle mass in the elderly (Yarasheski, Bhasin et al., 2002).

It is clear now that sarcopenia is a result of different intrinsic and extrinsic changes occurring during ageing and the fact that muscle ageing is a result of multifactorial causes is hampering the research for efficient treatments to improving muscle function.
Muscular Dystrophies

Muscular dystrophies (MD) are a group of highly heterogeneous inherited myopathies belonging to the family of neuromuscular diseases. They include over 30 different diseases caused by different genetic mutations but are all characterised by progressive skeletal muscle weakness, atrophy and muscle replacement by fat and/or connective tissue (Emery, 2002). Furthermore, most of these diseases are characterised by repeated cycles of muscle degeneration/regeneration, leading to chronic mobilization of the stem cells pool and in some cases to its final exhaustion.

MD can be transmitted in a dominant or recessive manner, with variable frequency depending on the disease, or they can be sporadic, caused by *de novo* mutations. Apart from their mode of inheritance and the prevalence of the disease, a large variability is observed between the different types of MD for the age of onset, the muscles affected, the severity, the rate of progression and the subsequent complications. Thus, while muscle weakness mainly affects limb, axial and facial muscles, in specific types of MD, other muscles (e.g. respiratory or swallowing skeletal muscle) as well as other organs (cardiac and smooth muscles, eye) can also be affected. MD can be very debilitating, eventually leading to loss of ambulation, difficulty of eating, and, for the most severe cases, to respiratory complications, cardiac defects and eventually to death (Shin, Tajrishi et al., 2013).

According to the distribution of predominant muscle weakness, eight major forms of MD can be defined, six of them being illustrated in Figure 6: Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy (DMD and BMD), Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy (EDMD), limb girdle muscular dystrophy (LGMD), facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy (FSHD), Distal muscular dystrophy (DD), oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy (OPMD), congenital muscular dystrophy (CMD) in which muscle weakness is more generalised and the myotonic muscular dystrophy (MMD or DM), which can affect other tissues than skeletal muscles. Heterogeneous groups such as LGMD or CMD can be further sub-classified according to their inheritance mode and the genetic defect responsible for the individual forms (Mercuri & Muntoni, 2013).

MD have also been designated according to their molecular defects (mutated gene or defective/missing protein), such as laminopathies, titinopaties, dystrophinopathies or dysferninopathies. An increasing number of genes associated to different forms of MD have been identified. However, the main default of this classification comes from the clustering of pathologies caused by different mutations in the same gene but leading to heterogeneous

clinical features. For example, mutation in the titin gene cause both tibial muscular dystrophy (which belongs to DD) and the most severe type of LGMD, the LGMD 2J (Hackman, Vihola et al., 2002, Nigro, 2003). On the other hand, mutations in different genes can result in the same phenotype. For instance, EDMD may be due to an autosomal dominant mutation in the LMNA gene, a gene coding nuclear envelope proteins lamin A and C, or in the gene encoding the nuclear envelope protein emerin, EMD gene (Bione, Maestrini et al., 1994, Bonne, Di Barletta et al., 1999).



Figure 6 - **Patterns of distribution of muscle weakness in muscular dystrophies**. A) Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy; B) Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy; C) Limb girdle muscular dystrophy; D) Facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy; E) Distal muscular dystrophy; F) Oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. Muscles mainly affected by each MD are highlighted in gray. From (Mercuri & Muntoni, 2013).

Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

DMD is the most common childhood MD (frequency of 1:3500 male births) and affects all types of muscles, skeletal, cardiac and in some severe case smooth muscles. It is caused by recessive mutations in the *dystrophin* gene, located on the X chromosome, locus Xp21. *Dystrophin* gene is the largest known human gene, measuring 2.4 Mb and representing around 1% of the X chromosome. Mutations in this gene lead to the absence of functional dystrophin (Koenig, Monaco et al., 1988). The severity of the disease is not correlated with the size of the mutation but rather with the maintenance of the open reading frame (ORF) (Monaco, Bertelson et al., 1988). Genetic deletions in DMD patients are shown to shift the translational ORF resulting in a truncated abnormal dystrophin protein (Monaco,

Bertelson et al., 1987). A milder phenotype is seen in deletions that maintain the translational ORF giving rise to a smaller, semi-functional dystrophin protein, which causes the Becker muscular dystrophy (BMD) (Simard, Gingras et al., 1992).

In skeletal muscle, dystrophin protein is located under the sarcolemma. It is part of a protein complex called dystrophin-associated protein (DAP)¹ complex that connects the actin filaments of muscle fibres to the surrounding extracellular matrix through the sarcolemma (Ehmsen, Poon et al., 2002). DAP complex is composed of several proteins and glycoproteins localised in the cytoplasm side (dystrophin, α -dystrobrevin and syntrophins), in the sarcolemma (dystroglycans, sarcoglycans, sarcospans and caveolin-3) and in the intermediate filaments (syncoilin, laminin-2 and synemin). The DAP complex have two main roles: i) a structural one, which consists on maintaining the integrity of the sarcolemma during repeated cycles of contraction (Claflin & Brooks, 2008, Petrof, Shrager et al., 1993) and ii) a regulatory role, by modulating signalling pathways via its interactions with others proteins such as calmodulin or the plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase (Constantin, 2014, Rando, 2001). The importance of the DAP complex in maintaining muscle integrity is supported by the various muscle diseases caused by absence of functional DAP (Mercuri & Muntoni, 2013). In the absence of dystrophin protein, the DAP complex is unstable thereby weakening the sarcolemma and muscle cytoskeleton and leading to muscle cell damages after muscle contraction cycles (Petrof et al., 1993). In addition, several aberrant intracellular signalling pathways due to the absence of dystrophin ultimately yield pronounced myofibre necrosis (degeneration). Muscle degeneration triggers the regeneration process orchestrated by adult muscle stem cells (further described in Chapter II). At the onset of the pathology, regeneration capacities can compensate muscle degeneration, leading to mild symptoms. However, when degeneration overcomes the regeneration process, dystrophic muscle fibres are gradually replaced by connective tissue and fat (Kharraz, Guerra et al., 2014, Kim, Merrow et al., 2013), resulting into progressive muscle weakness and fatigability (Flanigan, 2014, Wein, Alfano et al., 2015). As a result, most DMD patients become wheelchairdependent early in their life, and the gradual development of cardiac hypertrophy typically results in premature death occurring in the 2^{nd} or 3^{rd} decades of life.

No effective treatment currently exists for DMD. Conventional treatments (such as surgery or physiotherapy) and pharmacological strategies (administration of corticosteroids, creatine, carnitine, gentamicin, myostatin, etc) that delay symptoms by tackling the

¹ also known as dystrophin-glycoprotein complex (DGC)

secondary effects of DMD are being used in patients (Voisin & de la Porte, 2004). However, most of these strategies are only partially effective because they treat just one aspect of the pathogenesis of the disease and they may be toxic for the patients at long term. For these reasons, a great interest has been given to cellular therapies and genetic approaches for DMD treatment. Gene therapy consists in the introduction of a therapeutic nucleic acid (DNA, RNA or oligonucleotides) into targeted cells for gene replacement, gene repair or control of gene expression, via the use of viral, non-viral or cell-based vectors (Fairclough, Wood et al., 2013). Although this strategy has been very effective in trials with animals models using adeno-associated virus vectors (Pichavant, Chapdelaine et al., 2010), a recent clinical trial with DMD patients did not show an efficient dystrophin expression restoration and led to induction of an uncontrolled immune response (Mendell, Campbell et al., 2010). On the other hand, cell therapy is based on the delivery of autologous or heterologous precursor that will contribute to the regeneration of muscle fibres allowing tissue repair (Negroni, Bigot et al., 2016). One double-blind phase I clinical trial based on stem cell therapy was proved to efficiently increase the ratio of capillary per muscle fibres with a switch from slow to fast myosin-positive myofibres and no systemic side effects (Torrente, Belicchi et al., 2007). Several other trials are still in progress in France (for details see clinicaltrials.gov). A first limitation of this therapy is the delivery method: as muscle progenitors are not able to cross the vessel wall, they cannot be injected intravenously. Similarly, when delivered by intraperitoneal injection, cells are not able to colonize the skeletal muscle in order to regenerate the injured fibre (Partridge, 1991). Therefore, the only way to deliver cells to the site of injury is the use of intramuscular injections. However, while this approach was shown efficient in some dystrophies affecting a reduced number of muscles, it is not feasible in the case of DMD, in which a large number of muscles including diaphragm are affected.

Recently, the exon skipping approach has gained attention since it could target up to 83% of DMD patients characterised by deletions (Aartsma-Rus, Fokkema et al., 2009). This mutation-specific approach relies on synthesised antisense oligonucleotides, which alter splicing either by sterically blocking splice enhancer sequences or by altering secondary mRNA structure folding. Use of this technique improved the phenotypes of two mice models of DMD, the dystrophin deficient *mdx* mice and the *utrophin/dystrophin* double-knockout mice (Alter, Lou et al., 2006, Goyenvalle, Griffith et al., 2015). Several completed or on-going clinical trials targeting exon 51 has demonstrated an efficient restoration of dystrophin expression at the sarcolemma, as well as a good tolerability of the drug (Goemans, Tulinius et al., 2010, Shrewsbury, Cirak et al., 2010). However, a poor cellular uptake, a rapid

clearance from the circulation, a variable skipping efficiency between muscles and a poor skipping efficiency in the heart are some of the challenges that have to been resolved for the use of this therapy (Goyenvalle & Davies, 2011). Among the recent efforts that have been recently done, a new exon skipping technology based on the CRISPR/Cas-9-mediated non homologous end joining called myo-editing have been proved efficient to restore dystrophin expression in the heart within a range expected to provide therapeutic benefit (Long, Amoasii et al., 2016).

Oculopharyngeal Muscular Dystrophy

OPMD is an autosomal dominant rare disease (frequency of 1:100 000 births) caused by a genetic mutation in the poly(A) binding protein nuclear 1 (*PABPN1*)² gene, located on the 14q11.1 chromosomal region (Brais, Bouchard et al., 1998). PABPN1 is an ubiquitous nuclear protein that binds poly(A) tails of mRNA with high affinity and is involved in mRNA polyadenylation. Wild-type PABPN1 protein has a 10 alanine stretch in its Nterminal domain, due to a (GCG)₆ repeat³ on the *PABPN1* gene. The mutated PABPN1 protein (mPABPN1) has 11 to 17 alanine residues due to an extension of (GCG)₇₋₁₃ repeats on its gene. Although the size of the mutation has not yet been correlated with the severity of the phenotype, expansions of (GCG)₈₋₁₃ cause autosomal dominant OPMD, whereas homozygote (GCG)₇ alleles lead to autosomal recessive OPMD. In contrast to the majority of muscular dystrophies, OPMD symptoms usually appear in the 5th decade of age, with appearance of progressive swallowing difficulties (dysphagia), eyelid drooping (ptosis) and proximal limb weakness.

From a molecular point of view, OPMD skeletal muscles are characterised by an altered ubiquitin-proteasome pathway, mitochondrial dysfunction, modified gene expression, the presence of protein aggregates as well as intra-nuclear inclusions (INI) (Anvar, t Hoen et al., 2011, Chartier, Klein et al., 2015). These INI, which are composed of tubular filaments up to 250 nm in length contain the mutated PABPN1 protein and have been a hallmark of this disease for a long time. INI have been shown to contain also ubiquitin-proteasome subunits, heat shock proteins 40 and 70, Ski-interacting protein and abundant poly(A)-mRNA (Abu-Baker, Messaed et al., 2003, Bao, Cook et al., 2002, Calado, Tome et al., 2000,

² also known as polyadenylate-binding protein 2 (PABP-2)

³ encoding the first 6 alanine residues of the 10-length homopolymeric stretch

Kim, Noguchi et al., 2001, Wang, Mosser et al., 2005). In addition to INI, all biopsies from clinically affected OPMD muscles show dystrophic changes such as variation in the diameter of muscle fibres, atrophic angulated muscle fibres, fragmented red fibres and rimmed vacuoles (Gidaro, Negroni et al., 2013, Tomé & Fardeau, 1994). Furthermore, the *cricopharyngeus* muscle, one of the most affected muscles in OPMD presents a high level of both fibrosis and atrophy, together with an increased number of satellite cells, suggesting chronic regeneration/degeneration cycles (Gidaro et al., 2013). Various INI dependent and independent mechanisms have been proposed to explain the OPMD phenotype (Rankin, Wyttenbach et al., 2000). However, the exact mechanism responsible for polyalanine toxicity in OPMD still remains unknown.

Although not totally efficient, some medical interventions are possible for OPMD. Surgery is recommended when ptosis interferes with vision or cause cervical pain (Codere, 1993, Rodrigue & Molgat, 1997), and when dysphagia is accompanied by weight loss, nearfatal choking or recurrent pneumonia (Perie, Eymard et al., 1997, St Guily, Moine et al., 1995). Cricopharyngeal myotomy can be easily performed and efficiently improves swallowing as well as the quality of life of OPMD patients (Duranceau, 1997, Duranceau, Forand et al., 1980, Duranceau, Beauchamp et al., 1983, St Guily et al., 1995, St Guily, Perie et al., 1994). Nevertheless, in most of the patients a progressive dysphagia recurs within years (Coiffier, Perie et al., 2006). Based on the demonstration that muscle stem cells from non-affected muscles of OPMD patients maintained normal proliferative capacity and differentiate normally compared to muscle stem cells isolated from affected muscles (Perie, Mamchaoui et al., 2006), a cell-based autologous transplantation appeared as a valid therapeutic strategy. A phase I/IIa clinical study has recently been described (Perie, Trollet et al., 2014) in which myoblasts from clinically unaffected muscles of OPMD patients were isolated and grafted into their respective affected pharyngeal muscles. This autologous cellbased therapy was proven to be safe and efficient since it reduced the dysphagia by both reinforcing motor ability and restoring contractility of cricopharyngeus muscle (Perie et al., 2014). Similarly to other muscular dystrophies, pharmacological approaches have also been tested in OPMD patients. In this case, anti-PABPN1 antibodies or other pharmacological products that interfere with protein aggregation were proven to be efficient in reducing INI formation, cell death and other OPMD symptoms in different OPMD animal models such as Drosophila (Barbezier, Chartier et al., 2011, Chartier, Raz et al., 2009), C. elegans (Catoire, Pasco et al., 2008) or mouse (Davies, Rose et al., 2010, Davies, Sarkar et al., 2006, Davies, Wang et al., 2005).

Oxidative Stress in Muscular Dystrophies

While MD are all characterised by progressive loss of muscle mass and function, they are associated with mutations in different genes encoding a wide variety of proteins: extracellular matrix proteins, transmembrane and membrane associated proteins, cytoskeletal proteins, cytoplasmic enzymes and nuclear matrix proteins (Cohn & Campbell, 2000, Mercuri & Muntoni, 2013). In addition to the genetic mutations leading to absence of protein expression or function, the contribution of other pathogenic mechanisms to the phenotype observed in MD, and notably to its progression, have been explored. Among them, the oxidative damage hypothesis has gained a particular interest (Canton, Menazza et al., 2014, Rando, 2002, Terrill, Radley-Crabb et al., 2013). Regulation of a balance between the production of ROS, mainly by mitochondria, and their elimination by the antioxidant systems is crucial for cellular function. Although at low levels, ROS act as signalling molecules regulating protein function associated with growth, proliferation and differentiation, when ROS levels overcome the capacity of cellular antioxidant systems, they can damage cellular components such as nucleic acids, lipids and in particular proteins, inflicting alterations to cell structure and function (see Chapter III for further details).

During the last decade, evidences have been accumulated suggesting that increased levels of ROS present within the skeletal muscle tissue may contribute to the pathology of muscular dystrophies (Terrill et al., 2013). Accordingly, oxidative stress has been clearly implicated in FSHD, laminopathies, SEPN1-related and RYR1-related myopathies, with at least two markers including increased levels of ROS, lipid peroxidation, protein carbonylation or higher expression of antioxidant enzymes being reported for each dystrophy (Arbogast, Beuvin et al., 2009, Dowling, Arbogast et al., 2012, Sieprath, Darwiche et al., 2012, Turki, Hayot et al., 2012). Similarly, oxidative damages due to glutathione (GSH) depletion and decreased GSH peroxidase and GSH-S-transferase antioxidant activities were also found in sarcoglycanopathy and in dysferlinopathy (Renjini, Gayathri et al., 2012).

Mitochondrial morphological changes and inclusions were described in OPMD patients, without molecular genetic abnormalities in mitochondrial DNA (Gambelli, Malandrini et al., 2004, Schroder, Krabbe et al., 1995, Wong, Dick et al., 1996). Analysis of a mice model of this pathology has revealed a decreased activity of mitochondrial respiratory chain complex I (Trollet, Anvar et al., 2010), suggesting an uncontrolled ROS production

that could lead to oxidative stress. Although this hypothesis has not yet been investigated, a study by Anvar *et al.* has showed a loss of activity of the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) in both OPMD patients and mouse models, a defect that could possibly lead to defective protein homeostasis (Anvar et al., 2011).

The role of oxidative stress has been extensively investigated in DMD. By-products of lipid peroxidation as well as specific antioxidant activities were found significantly higher in muscles from DMD patients and mouse models (Haycock, Mac Neil et al., 1998, Hunter & Mohamed, 1986, Kar & Pearson, 1979, Menazza, Blaauw et al., 2010). Likewise, higher levels of antioxidants, vitamin E and coenzyme Q were found in muscle extracts of DMD patients (Renjini et al., 2012, Touboul, Brunelle et al., 2005). In agreement with these results obtained in humans, using the *mdx* mice, Dudley and colleagues showed that the sarcolemmal damage was modulated by synergistic interactions between mechanical and oxidative/nitrosative stresses (Dudley, Danialou et al., 2006). Collectively, these findings provide strong support that oxidative stress may contribute to the phenotype of several muscle dystrophies. However, the exact mechanism and the identity of key molecules that may be affected by the excessive ROS levels still remained unidentified.

In agreement to the oxidative damages reported in muscle fibres of both DMD patients and in the *mdx* mice, several studies have shown that antioxidant treatments can delay muscle wasting in *mdx* mice (Carlson, Samadi et al., 2005, Hnia, Hugon et al., 2007, Messina, Altavilla et al., 2006, Messina, Bitto et al., 2006, Whitehead, Pham et al., 2008). However, clinical trials using vitamin E, selenium or antioxidant enzymes treatments in DMD patients yielded no clinical improvement (Gebre-Medhin, Gustavson et al., 1985, Stern, Ringel et al., 1982, Tidball & Wehling-Henricks, 2007). To explain the failure of these antioxidant treatments in reducing pathology of muscular dystrophy, several hypothesis have been raised i) the observed oxidative damage is a consequence of the pathology but is not involved in its progression ii) systemic treatments with antioxidants may be too broad and non-specifically targeted or regulated to provide clinical improvements iii) the fact that antioxidants can have multiple functions, independently of their antioxidant properties, and when administrated systemically may induce detrimental effects, such as tissue injury; iv) the *mdx* mice may not be an optimal model for the study of DMD pathology in humans.

II. Satellite Cells, the skeletal muscle stem cells

In mammal, skeletal muscle represents a paradigm of tissue regeneration. Indeed, while this postmitotic tissue is stable with low turnover under homeostatic conditions, it is therefore characterised by a remarkable regenerative capacity in situations where acute or chronic injuries occur. Muscle regenerative capacity is known since the second half of the 19th century. However, it took almost a century until the discovery of the cells responsible for this capacity. These cells were observed for the first time by A. Mauro in 1961 by electron microscopy of adult frogs muscle sections and were named satellite cells due to their peripheral positioning on muscle fibres (Mauro, 1961) (Figure 7). Some years later, they were observed in human muscle, occupying an identical position on the surface of muscle fibres between the basal lamina and the sarcolemma (Cravioto & Merker, 1963, Laguens, 1963, Shafiq, Gorycki et al., 1967). Satellite cells have a large nuclear-tocytoplasmic ratio, a reduced organelle content and a small nucleus displaying increased amounts of heterochromatin compared with fibre nuclei (Charge & Rudnicki, 2004). As many tissue-specific stem cells, they remain mostly quiescent through life under homeostatic conditions. When stimulated by environmental signals (damage or stress) or in pathological conditions (muscular dystrophies), these cells activate, migrate to the regeneration site (Schultz, Jaryszak et al., 1985) and enter the cell cycle to proliferate and either undergo differentiation to form new fibers or self-renew to reconstitute the satellite cell pool (Alderton & Steinhardt, 2000). Each step of this regenerative process is regulated through the coordinated expression of specific transcription factors including Pax3/7 homeodomain transcription factors, and the myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs) MyoD, Myf5, Myogenin, and MRF4 (Alderton & Steinhardt, 2000).



Figure 7 - **The first longitudinal view of a satellite cell.** Electronic microscopy of a frog *tibialis anticus* with 10 000 x of magnification. Sc arrows point the satellite cell extremities. The third arrow indicates the sarcolemma of the muscle fibre. From (Mauro, 1961).

The Pax family of paired-domain transcription factor plays key roles during tissue specification and organ development. In the context of skeletal muscle, Pax3 and Pax7 are important upstream regulators, which expression and activity are required for normal myogenesis.

The MyoD family of myogenic regulatory factors (MRF) is composed of four genes *MyoD* (Davis, Weintraub et al., 1987), *Myf5* (myogenic factor 5, (Braun, Buschhausen-Denker et al., 1989), *Myogenin* (Wright, Sassoon et al., 1989) and *MRF4* (also known as Myf6, (Rhodes & Konieczny, 1989), which expression is restricted to skeletal muscle cells. More than 25 years ago it was shown that members of this family of basic-helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factors, when overexpressed both *in vitro* (Weintraub, Davis et al., 1991) and *in vivo* (Santerre, Bales et al., 1993) in non muscle cells, will activate the myogenic program, with suppression of other cell fates and formation of differentiated muscle. Since then the possibility of converting one cell type to another by transdifferentiation has become a major issue in the stem cell field. However, the phenomenon of myogenic conversion remains remarkable in that a single transcription factor can exert this overriding effect.

The four MRF family members control the formation of skeletal muscle via their binding to DNA consensus sequences (CANNTG) named E-box, which are present in specific skeletal muscle genes (Sabourin & Rudnicki, 2000). Mutations of MyoD, Myf5, and MRF4 in the mouse and their expression in non-muscle cells have shown that these MRF function as myogenic determination factors. In other words, these experiments showed that in the absence of these three MRF there is no myogenesis during development and that these three MRF, contrary to the fourth MRF member Myogenin, are able to drive the myogenic cellular fate. This is due to the greater efficiency of myogenic conversion by the three MRF determination factors compared to Myogenin, which results of the presence of a C-terminal domain that recruits chromatin remodelling complexes (Fong & Tapscott, 2013). Thus, Myogenin acts only as a differentiation factor, as can MRF4 and MyoD, controlling the differentiation of myoblasts into skeletal muscle fibres (Moncaut, Rigby et al., 2013).

Emergence of satellite cell population

Using murine embryos $Pax3^{GFP/+}$ and $Pax7^{LacZ/+}$, two groups showed that Pax3/Pax7positive cells provide the reserve cell population for muscle growth during embryonic and foetal development (Gros, Manceau et al., 2005, Relaix, Rocancourt et al., 2005). Coexpression of Pax3 and Pax7 is required both for maintenance of this stem cell population (Relaix et al., 2005) and for activation of *Myf5* and *MyoD*, that control entry into the skeletal muscle programme (Davis et al., 1987, Weintraub et al., 1991). As a consequence, in double Pax3/Pax7 mutants, these cells fail to activate the myogenic program and assume other cellfates or die, leading to a major muscle deficit. While Pax3 is highly expressed during embryonic myogenesis, its transcription is down-regulated in foetal muscle when Pax7 becomes the dominant factor in all myogenic progenitor cells. At E18.5 in mice, just before birth, the Pax3/Pax7 positive cells that have not entered into differentiation adopt a satellite position under the basal lamina of the skeletal muscle fibres. While at birth, these cells, socalled satellite cells account for 30 % of the total skeletal muscle tissue nuclei, this proportion decreases during the first month of life when contribute to postnatal growth (Charge & Rudnicki, 2004). At the end of postnatal growth, satellite cells cease proliferation and enter quiescence (Cheung & Rando, 2013). At this stage, they constitute no more than 7 % of the total skeletal muscle nuclei, and this proportion remains unchanged during the whole life, with the exception of ageing (Blau et al., 2015).

Postnatal and adult satellite cells are all marked by Pax7 expression, with continuing transcription of Pax3 in trunk muscles such as the *diaphragm, abdominals, pectoralis* and in some limb muscles such as *biceps* (Montarras, L'Honore et al., 2013, Montarras, Morgan et al., 2005, Relaix, Montarras et al., 2006). Prior to birth, Pax7 is not essential for myogenesis, presumably because Pax3 can compensate. After birth, on the other hand, Pax7 mutants lose their satellite cells by apoptosis, and Pax3 cannot compensate even in trunk muscles such as the diaphragm, perhaps because the protein is present at too low level or because of divergent Pax3 and Pax7 functions by this stage. As a consequence, $Pax7^{-/-}$ mice have a severe growth defect, leading to severe muscle atrophy (Oustanina, Hause et al., 2004, Seale, Sabourin et al., 2000); 50% decrease in body weight 7 days after birth and around 70% after two weeks).

Satellite Cells, the mandatory actors of skeletal muscle regeneration

Adult skeletal muscle is a very stable tissue with low turnover under homeostatic conditions. However, despite its stability, this post-mitotic tissue is therefore characterised by a remarkable regenerative capacity in situations where acute or chronic injuries occur.

The notion that satellite cells function as muscle stem cells was established by clonal analysis, tissue culture experiments and *in vivo* regeneration studies. Culture of satellite cells isolated from muscle biopsies showed their proliferative and differentiation properties leading to formation of myotubes in vitro (Konigsberg, 1963). In parallel, tissue culture of isolated skeletal muscle fibres allowed to monitor satellite cells activation by phase contrast microscopy and provided conclusive proof that these cells could directly give rise to muscle precursor cells (myoblasts), which are able to fuse into multinucleated myotubes in vitro (Bischoff, 1975, Konigsberg, Lipton et al., 1975). Experiments based on use of radioactively labelled thymidine demonstrated that satellite cells could survive muscle injury or transplantation and become regenerating myoblasts when most of muscle fibres undergo necrosis (Moss & Leblond, 1970, Snow, 1977). In 2005, two main studies have revealed the potential of satellite cells as muscle stem cells in vivo. Using graft experiments of a single freshly isolated muscle fibre with its associated satellite cells in the *tibialis anterior* muscle of *mdx*-nude mice, Collins *et al.* showed that as low as 7 satellite cells could give rise to more than 100 new muscle fibres as well as replenish the satellite cell population (Collins, Olsen et al., 2005). While this study did not exclude the role of muscle fibres in regulating satellite cell function, a parallel study using purified satellite cells isolated by flow cytometry showed their contribution to muscle regeneration in vivo (Montarras et al., 2005). This experiment clearly demonstrated that satellite cells are able to differentiate into new muscle fibres as well as to replenish their reservoir, thus behaving as stem cells. These experiments have revealed the muscle stem cell properties of satellite cells, however, their mandatory role during regeneration was recently demonstrated by three elegant studies: mice in which Pax7positive cells have been ablated were used for skeletal muscle regeneration experiments, demonstrating the complete absence of regeneration in absence of satellite cells (Lepper, Partridge et al., 2011, Murphy, Lawson et al., 2011, Sambasivan, Yao et al., 2011).

Muscle regeneration can be studied using several mice models of muscle injury. (Hardy, Besnard et al., 2016). In addition to models of muscular dystrophies such as the mdx mice, muscle injury can be experimentally induced by intramuscular injection of myotoxins

(bupivacaine, cardiotoxin and notexin), or of the chemical agent barium chloride. Alternatively, mechanical injuries by crush, freeze or by denervation-devascularization of skeletal muscle can also be used to trigger muscle regeneration process.

Although it cannot be considered as muscle regeneration process, the culture of satellite cells *ex vivo* and *in vitro* has also helped to characterise some important aspects of their function. In the case of *ex vivo* approaches, satellite cells can be purified from human or mice muscles by flow cytometry or cell separation columns thanks to the use of various combinations of antibodies directed against membrane satellite cells molecular markers (Liu, Cheung et al., 2015). In addition, the use of reporter mice, such as *Pax3*^{*GFP/+*} (Montarras et al., 2005) and *Pax7-nGFP* mice (Sambasivan et al., 2011) also permits the direct satellite cells purification by flow cytometry. Regarding *in vitro* cell culture models, myoblasts cell lines such as human (Bigot, Jacquemin et al., 2008, Renault, Thornell et al., 2002), mouse C2C12 (Richler & Yaffe, 1970) and rat L6 (Yaffe, 1968) are routinely cultured.

The use of these models had contributed to the notion that muscle regeneration is characterised by two phases: a degenerative phase and a regenerative phase (Figure 8). The degeneration phase begins with necrosis of muscle fibres, triggered by disruption of sarcolemma. This phase is characterised by an increased of muscle proteins levels such as creatine kinase in serum of muscle-injured patients (Lott & Stang, 1980). Degeneration is followed by muscle repair, called regeneration phase. Quiescent satellite cells activate, and after several rounds of proliferation exit cell cycle, differentiate and fuse each other or to existing fibres to form new fibres (Yin, Price et al., 2013).



Figure 8 - **Skeletal muscle repair process**. Muscle injured induced by cardiotoxin injection results in rapid necrosis of fibres (arrows) (muscle degenerative phase), this triggers the activation of satellite cells that will proliferate, differentiate and fuse to either necrotic fibres repairing them, either between each other to form new fibres (muscle regeneration phase). Newly formed fibres have centrally located nuclei (arrows) and are often basophilic due to high protein synthesis and express embryonic forms of MHC. Adapted from (Charge & Rudnicki, 2004).

On muscle cross-sections, this can be followed by the presence of newly formed fibres with centrally located nuclei (Figure 8). Once fusion of myogenic cells is completed, newly formed fibres increase in size, and myonuclei migrate to the periphery of myofibres. In this chapter, I will revise the most important steps of the muscle regeneration process, including satellite cells proliferation, differentiation and fusion, as well as the signalling pathways and the secreted factors involved in its regulation.

Satellite cells in quiescence

As most of long-lived tissue-resident stem cells, adult satellite cells are quiescent (Cheung & Rando, 2013). This quiescence is required for their long-term maintenance, as its disruption leads to their spontaneous activation in absence of injury and to the progressive depletion of their reservoir (Montarras et al., 2013). The quiescent state, which is maintained during healthy resting periods, is marked and maintained by cell-intrinsic properties such as low metabolic activity, and by the cellular environment of the quiescent cell, including the extracellular matrix, which constitutes its niche, blood vessels and muscle fibre innervations (Montarras et al., 2013). Quiescence is a balance between high expression of cell cycle inhibitors and factors that will activate cell cycle. Cell adhesion molecules and some signalling pathways reinforce its quiescent state, whereas other signals lead to activation. Satellite cells are surrounded by the basal lamina, a collagen IV network containing laminins that anchor the satellite cell through interaction with $\alpha 7/\beta 1$ -integrins on its surface. It also contains extracellular matrix proteins such as fibronectin, decorin and proteoglycans that bind inactive growth factor precursors and thus buffer the effects of signalling, maintaining satellite cell quiescence.

Satellite cells tend to be located in close proximity to capillaries and are characterised by a low metabolism, marked by reduced mitochondrial and organelle content (Montarras et al., 2013, Tang & Rando, 2014) and by fatty acids oxidation metabolism (Ryall et al. 2015), in contrast to the situation in activated cells where the greater ATP energetic output of aerobic glycolysis is required to support high-level macromolecular synthesis of proliferating cells. This metabolic status is a hallmark of quiescence stem cells and is important in limiting the production of reactive oxygen species that may represent a positive signal for satellite cell activation.

Notch signalling has been implicated in promotion of satellite cell quiescence, preventing spontaneous activation. Quiescent satellite cells are characterised by high Notch

signalling marked by elevated levels of Notch targets, such as HeyL (Figure 9). According to this result, conditional deletion of $Rbpj^4$ in adult satellite cells resulted in disruption of their quiescence and their progressive exhaustion, most of which underwent spontaneous differentiation (Bjornson, Cheung et al., 2012, Mourikis, Sambasivan et al., 2012). Similarly, Sprouty1, an intracellular inhibitor of the tyrosine kinase-signalling pathway, is highly expressed in quiescent satellite cells and down-regulated in proliferating satellite cells after injury. Analysis of *Spry1* mice mutants has revealed the critical role of this gene in maintenance of satellite cells quiescence (Chakkalakal, Jones et al., 2012).

Pax7 is a general marker of adult quiescent satellite cells and its role at this stage has been controversial. As *Pax7* mutant mice die within the first 2 to 3 weeks of life, inducible conditional Pax7 mutants have been generated. A first report in which regeneration experiments were performed just after *Pax7* deletion indicated that the satellite cell population was still present and that muscle regeneration could take place in the absence of Pax7 (Lepper, Conway et al., 2009). Since then this view has been modified. In two other studies in which regeneration experiments were performed one month after Pax7 ablation, muscle regeneration was shown to be severely impaired (Gunther, Kim et al., 2013, von Maltzahn, Jones et al., 2013). Gunther *et al.* showed that this defective regeneration was due to depletion of the satellite cell pool: absence of Pax7 leads to disruption of satellite quiescence and to their spontaneous activation and differentiation in the absence of injury (Gunther et al., 2013).

Satellite cells activation and proliferation

Muscle regeneration starts with the activation of satellite cells all along the damaged fibre (*Schultz et al., 1985*). After several rounds of proliferation, the resulting myogenic precursor cells differentiate and fuse to form new fibres or to repair damaged ones, while the others will re-enter into quiescence to renew the stem cell pool (Figure 9).

The importance of the MRFs expression for skeletal muscle regeneration process was revealed by their mutations in mice models in which muscle regeneration was induced. The $MyoD^{-/-}$ mouse model presented a reduced and inefficient regenerative capacity characterised by an increase in the precursor cell proliferation at the expense of their differentiation. Such defects lead to a decrease in the number of regenerated myotubes and as a consequence of

⁴ the main effector of canonical Notch signalling

branched fibres *in vivo* (Cornelison, Olwin et al., 2000, Megeney, Kablar et al., 1996). In agreement, *in vitro* experiments have revealed a defective differentiation potential of $MyoD^{-/-}$ cells eventually leading to a reduced number of mono-nucleated differentiated myocytes (Megeney et al., 1996, Sabourin, Girgis-Gabardo et al., 1999). In addition, expression of M-cadherin, which is required for myoblasts differentiation and fusion, is decreased in $MyoD^{-/-}$ cells (Megeney et al., 1996, Sabourin et al., 1999). Overall, these data demonstrate a critical role for MyoD in the control of satellite cell differentiation during muscle regeneration.



Figure 9 - Skeletal muscle regeneration process. In adult muscle, satellite cells, which reside between the basal lamina and the sarcolemma, are in a quiescent state and marked by the expression of the membrane protein CD34 in mouse or CD56 in humans and the transcription factors Pax3/7. Following muscle injury, satellite cells activate though Notch signalling pathways and start expressing Myf5 and MyoD transcription factors. They enter cell cycle to proliferate as myoblasts, and either self-renew to reconstitute their reservoir, or undergo differentiation. Different growth factors and cytokines secreted by fibroblasts and macrophages are required during the process of myoblasts proliferation and differentiation. Down-regulation of *Pax* genes, up-regulation of Myogenin protein and activation of the Wnt pathway are required for myoblasts differentiation. Early-differentiating myocytes will then fuse to form myotubes, which then mature into myofibres. Later stages of differentiation are marked by the assembly of sarcomeres and the expression of structural proteins such as myosins. Adapted from (Wang & Rudnicki, 2012, Zammit, Partridge et al., 2006). FGF, fibroblasts growth factors; IGF-1, insulin growth factor 1; TNF- α , tumour necrosis factor α ; IL-1 β , -6 and -10, interleukin 1 β , 6 and 10. Identification of a role for Myf5 in muscle regeneration had taken more time since no apparent phenotype in the Myf5 deficient mice adult muscles had been reported. The first defects related to the absence of this gene were evidenced by *in vitro* experiments showing reduced proliferative capacities and premature differentiation of cultured mice *Myf5* null myoblasts compared to wild-type myoblasts (Montarras, Lindon et al., 2000). In agreement with these results, delayed muscle regeneration marked by fat accumulation, fibrosis and significant hypotrophy of newly regenerated muscle fibre was observed in *Myf5* null mice (Gayraud-Morel, Chretien et al., 2007, Ustanina, Carvajal et al., 2007). This role of Myf5 in regulation of satellite cell proliferation was confirmed in *Myf5^{-/-}:mdx* mice revealing aggravated dystrophic changes (Gayraud-Morel et al., 2007, Ustanina et al., 2007).

Overall, these results demonstrate that Myf5 and MyoD play distinct roles during adult muscle regeneration, with Myf5 promoting myoblasts proliferation, whereas MyoD promotes myoblasts differentiation.

Early steps of satellite cells differentiation

Myoblasts differentiation requires a high level of expression of MyoD together with Myogenin and MRF4 whose expression appears in differentiated myotubes (Smith, Janney et al., 1994) (Figure 9). MyoD expression persists in myotubes and collaborates with Myogenin for the myoblasts commitment to the differentiation program and to regulate the expression of muscle-specific genes necessary for terminal differentiation (Fuchtbauer & Westphal, 1992, Grounds, Garrett et al., 1992, Yablonka-Reuveni & Rivera, 1994). The serious defects in embryonic muscle development of mutant mice for Myogenin or MRF4 have hampered their study in adult muscle regeneration (Hasty, Bradley et al., 1993, Knapp, Davie et al., 2006). To investigate the role of Myogenin in postnatal muscle growth, Klein's laboratory created an inducible Myogenin conditional knockout mice (Knapp et al., 2006). Analysis of this mutant revealed that while Myogenin is absolutely required for skeletal muscle development and survival until birth, it is dispensable for postnatal life. However, Myogenin deletion after birth led to reduced body size implying a role for Myogenin in regulating body homeostasis. Despite a lack of skeletal muscle defects in Myogenin-deleted mice during postnatal life and the efficient differentiation of cultured Myogenin-deleted adult muscle stem cells, the loss of Myogenin profoundly altered the pattern of gene expression in cultured muscle stem cells (Liu, Zha et al., 2012) and adult skeletal muscle (Meadows, Cho et al., 2008). Remarkably, these changes in gene expression were distinct from those found in Myogenin-null embryonic skeletal muscle, indicating that Myogenin has separate functions during postnatal life.

Terminal differentiation during muscle regeneration

At the end of the regeneration process, myocytes fuse to each other or with newlyformed myofibres (Figure 9). This fusion is ensured by semi-stable intercellular junction structures that mediate cell-cell adhesion and regulate intracellular cytoskeleton architecture as well as membrane rupture. Regulation of calcium flux together with various calcium dependent proteins, such as sarcolemmal calcium potassium channel Kir 2.1 or M-cadherin, have been shown to be important to myoblast fusion during regeneration (Bernheim & Bader, 2002, Zeschnigk, Kozian et al., 1995). This morphological differentiation operates in parallel with biochemical differentiation marked by the activation of terminally differentiated muscle specific genes, encoding for MHC and other sarcomeric proteins.

While the role of MRF4 is still unclear, the observation that this transcription factor is expressed in the nuclei of young newly myotubes suggests a role in fibre maturation and in regulation of terminally differentiated genes (Zhang, Behringer et al., 1995, Zhou & Bornemann, 2001). Mice lacking MRF4 are viable and showed increased levels of Myogenin expression in their muscles (Zhang et al., 1995). One can think that Myogenin and MRF4 could have compensatory roles, which would also explain the small defects of the Myogenin conditional mutant. However, compensatory roles of these two MRFs remain to be studied.

Satellite cells self-renewal

Satellite cells, as other adult stem cells, have a self-renewal capacity, which allow them to prevent the depletion of their pool (Gross & Morgan, 1999, Heslop, Beauchamp et al., 2001). Several research groups have proposed mechanisms to explain this capacity. Some authors propose a model of asymmetric division where the mother cell gives rise to two daughters that have different fates from one another: one will differentiate and give rise to new fibres and the other will return to quiescent state to renew the stem cell pool. Supporting this model, Numb, a plasma membrane-associated cytoplasmic protein that represses Notch signalling, was shown to be asymmetrically segregated within dividing satellite cells (Conboy & Rando, 2002). Since activation of Notch-1 appears to promote the proliferation of satellite cells, whereas its inhibition in cultured satellite cells leads to their differentiation (Conboy & Rando, 2002), the non-inheritance of Numb during asymmetric division may lead to satellite cell self-renewal though the Notch signalling. Indeed, knockout mice for two target genes of this pathway, Hey1 and HeyL, showed a remarkably reduction in satellite cell number probably due to an incapacity in keeping them at a quiescent state (Fukada, 2011). On the other hand, other studies have suggested a model of symmetric division in which a mother cell gives rise to two cells with identical fates, either differentiation and fusion, either returning to mitotically inactive state (Olguin & Olwin, 2004, Shinin, Gayraud-Morel et al., 2006, Zammit, Golding et al., 2004). While more studies are needed to understand the mechanism of satellite cells self-renewal, some authors suggest a mix of the two models with nearly 90% of satellite cells divisions being symmetric while 10 % of them assuming an asymmetric model (Kuang, Kuroda et al., 2007).

Signalling pathways involved in regulation of the regeneration process

In parallel to gene regulatory networks for transcription factors, several mechanisms involving cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions as well as extracellular secreted factors have been identified as regulators of satellite cell behaviour and function during muscle regeneration process.

The Hepatocyte Growth Factor (HGF) is a key activator of satellite cells playing a role in the early phase of skeletal muscle regeneration. Injection of this factor *in vivo* to an injured muscle is sufficient to activate the quiescent satellite cells (Tatsumi, Anderson et al., 1998), while its administration in late phases of regeneration has no impact on regeneration or even results in its inhibition (Miller, Thaloor et al., 2000). HGF-dependent activation of quiescent satellite cells is done by binding to its tyrosine receptor c-Met present on the surface of satellite cells (Cornelison & Wold, 1997, Gal-Levi, Leshem et al., 1998). Conversely, Yamada and colleagues have shown that high doses of HGF can induce satellite cells back to a quiescent state along with a decrease in MyoD and Myogenin expression (Yamada, Tatsumi et al., 2010). Such result denotes the importance of the concentration levels of these growth factors on controlling myogenic regulation of muscle progenitors.

During the early phase of muscle regeneration, proliferative precursor cells are characterised by moderate activity of Notch signalling. In order to progress into differentiation, proliferative precursor cells need to repress this activity. Activation of the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling, which antagonized Notch pathway, is critical for myoblasts

adhesion and differentiation by directly interacting with MyoD (Kim, Neiswender et al., 2008), during adult muscle regeneration (Yin et al., 2013).

Fibroblast Growth Factors (FGF) are detected in skeletal muscle *in vivo* and in differentiated myoblasts *in vitro* (Allen, Dodson et al., 1984, Grass, Arnold et al., 1996, Hannon, Kudla et al., 1996). While exogenous administration of FGF-1, FGF-4 and FGF-6 enhances primary myoblasts proliferation *in vitro*, their inhibition by interference *RNA* induces myogenic differentiation (Kastner, Elias et al., 2000, Sheehan & Allen, 1999). In agreement, constitutive expression of a full-length FGF receptor-1 increased myoblasts proliferation and delayed their differentiation (Scata, Bernard et al., 1999). In the absence of FGF-6, mice exhibit severe defects of muscle regeneration, including fibrosis, collagen infiltration and reduced expression of both MyoD and Myogenin (Floss, Arnold et al., 1997). On the other hand, high levels of FGF-2 in aged stem cell niche led to loss of stem cell quiescence ultimately leading to impaired regeneration (Chakkalakal et al., 2012).

Insulin Growth Factors (IGFs) have also been implicated in regulation of skeletal muscle regeneration capacity through their anti-necrosis role (Shavlakadze, White et al., 2004), their positive role on muscle reinnervation (Vergani, Di Giulio et al., 1998) and on satellite cell migration, proliferation and differentiation (Allen & Boxhorn, 1989, Philippou, Halapas et al., 2007). Intramuscular injection of IGF-1 in injured aged rats increase satellite cells proliferation and muscle mass (Chakravarthy, Booth et al., 2001). IGF-2, on its turn, was not shown to enhance satellite cells proliferation but rather to favour myogenic differentiation (Florini, Ewton et al., 1996, Vandenburgh, Karlisch et al., 1991). Although IGFs implication in skeletal muscle regeneration is well proved, the molecular mechanisms underlying their role are still unclear. Some clues are the calcineurin/nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFAT), involved in muscle development and growth, the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway, involved in cell survival and protein synthesis, and the p38 α , β and γ MAPK signalling, which plays critical roles in satellite cells proliferation, differentiation and self-renewal (Bernet, Doles et al., 2014).

Role of Inflammation during the muscle regeneration process

If satellite cells are the major actors of muscle regeneration, they are not the solely ones. The early phase of muscle injury is accompanied by the activation of inflammatory cells that reside within the muscle tissue and that provide the chemotactic signals required to recruit circulating inflammatory cells (Tidball, 2011). Neutrophils are the first inflammatory

cells to invade the injured muscle, with a significant increase in their number being observed a few hours after induction of muscle damage (Fielding, Manfredi et al., 1993, Orimo, Hiyamuta et al., 1991). Two days after muscle injury, macrophages, which are important for the phagocytosis of muscle debris, become the predominant immune cell type within the injury site. These immune cells induce a pro-inflammatory phase during which proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6 and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) stimulate activation and proliferation of satellite cells (Bencze, Negroni et al., 2012) (Figure 9). During the second phase of regeneration, M1 macrophages acquire an anti-inflammatory phenotype through trans-differentiation into M2 macrophages. Such cells have been proved to inhibit satellite cell proliferation and to stimulate their differentiation and fusion thanks to the secretion of TGF β , IGF-1 and the cytokine IL-10 (Chazaud, 2014).

Satellite Cells during ageing

Aged skeletal muscle is characterised by a progressive loss of muscle mass and a decline of muscle functional properties, including a decline in regenerative potential (Sousa-Victor et al., 2014). This decline has been shown to derive from both decreased satellite cell number and age-associated satellite cell loss of function and it is generally accepted that these two events are due to both extrinsic and intrinsic changes.

Although it is now well established that sarcopenia progress independently of satellite cell contribution (Fry et al., 2015), several studies have demonstrated the major contribution of the niche and the systemic environment to the process of satellite cells ageing. The prevalent view that the age-dependent decline of muscle regeneration can be reversed by exposure to an external younger environment came from heterochronic grafting and parabiosis experiments with rodents. Indeed, when muscle explants of aged rat were grafted into young rats, increased muscle mass and contractile strength was observed (Carlson, Dedkov et al., 2001). Conversely, young grafts introduced in aged rats did not improved muscle function, with angiogenesis and innervation of the grafted muscle being markedly impaired. Parabiotic experiments were performed using young and aged mice. This experiments clearly showed that old mice placed in heterochronic parabiosis with young mice exhibited improved regenerative capacities after injury (Conboy, Conboy et al., 2005). These studies reveal that muscle environment and notably circulating growth factors present in young mice can reverse the loss of function of aged satellite cell. Among the circulating

factors that have been reported to decline with age, GFD11, a member of the TGF- β superfamily appears as a good candidate. Supplementation of geriatric mice by systemic delivery of recombinant GDF11 led to a more robust regenerative capacity compared to aged non-treated mice (Sinha, Jang et al., 2014). Similarly, the age-related decrease of Delta-1 expression by muscle fibres together with the increased levels of Wnt3a in blood circulation have been shown to both decrease the Notch pathway and activate β -catenin signalling (Brack, Conboy et al., 2007) within satellite cells, thus impairing their activation and self-renewal.

In addition to extrinsic factors, recent findings have shown that geriatric satellite cells exhibit decreased regenerative properties when grafted into a young muscle, suggesting that exposure to an young environment is not sufficient to restore young regenerative capacities (Cosgrove et al., 2014, Sousa-Victor et al., 2014). Several studies have shown that with age, satellite cells suffer intrinsic alterations in cellular signalling pathways that affect their function. The abnormal activation of both Jak2-Stat3 (Price, von Maltzahn et al., 2014, Tierney, Aydogdu et al., 2014) and p38/MAPK signalling pathways (Bernet et al., 2014, Cosgrove et al., 2014) observed in geriatric quiescent satellite cell have been shown responsible for their acquisition of a pre-senescent phenotype, and as a consequence, for their decreased self-renewal properties and their defective proliferation and differentiation. Pharmacological inhibition of Jak2 and Stat3 activity or the use of siRNA strategies to knockdown their expression markedly enhanced satellite cells ability to repopulate their niche after transplantation into a regenerating Tibialis Anterior muscle (Price et al., 2014). In the case of p38/MAPK, it was shown that its activation could repress Pax7 expression through recruitment of histone deacetylase (HDAC) to its promoter (Palacios, Mozzetta et al., 2010) and lead to de-repression of the cell cycle inhibitor p16 and p21 expression in geriatric satellite cells (Cosgrove et al., 2014, Sousa-Victor et al., 2014). Another hypothetical cause for defective differentiation capacities of geriatric cells may be the acquisition of oxidative damage due to both increased ROS production in a sarcopenic muscle and decreased antioxidant capacities (Bigot et al., 2008, Lorenzon, Bandi et al., 2004, Pietrangelo, Puglielli et al., 2009). However, further studies are needed to investigate the contribution of this potential cause to the impaired satellite cell function with ageing.

III. The Reactive Oxygen Species

ROS Nature and Generation

Oxygen is one of the major components of the air. It is produced by plants during photosynthesis and is necessary for aerobic respiration. Because molecular oxygen (O₂) has a high oxidation/reduction (redox) potential, it is an ideal electron acceptor. In fact, reactive oxygen species (ROS) are reactive oxygen intermediates created by electron acceptance. Oxygen molecule can accept up to four electrons (Figure 10). The addition of one single electron to molecular oxygen creates a single unpaired electron on it, forming the so-called superoxide anion (O₂^{*}). The transfer of two electrons to oxygen yields the formation of peroxides (O₂²⁻). A simple and stable peroxide formed within cells is the hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), which is produced by dismutation of O₂^{*-} by superoxide dismutase enzymes. The three electron reduction state of oxygen is the hydroxyl radical (HO^{*}). HO^{*} is extremely reactive with a short half-life probably reacting with the first molecule it encounters. It can be produced by Fenton reaction ⁵, Haber-Weiss reaction ⁶ or by decomposition of peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻)⁷. Finally, the addition of four supplementary electrons to oxygen will form water.

Peroxynitrite and nitric oxide (NO^{*}) belong to another family of reactive species produced within cells named reactive nitrogen species (RNS). ROS and RNS can be classified into radical and non-radical species. Radical species, such as $O_2^{\bullet,}$, HO[•] or NO[•], cannot cross lipophilic membranes but since they are very unstable, they are the most reactive ones. Non-radical species, like H₂O₂, are more stable with a longer half-life and are able to diffuse through biological membranes. These properties allow H₂O₂ to activate a wide number of signalling pathways, making it the most relevant ROS signalling molecule in cells. In contrast, by Fenton reaction, H₂O₂ gives rise to HO[•] which exerts most of the deleterious effects associated with oxidative stress, since it is able to react immediately with surrounding biomolecules, oxidising them.

⁵ Fenton reaction is the catalytic decomposition of H_2O_2 by free iron bivalent ions (Fe²⁺) leading to the generation of HO[•], HO⁻ and Fe³⁺ (H₂O₂ + Fe²⁺ \rightarrow HO[•] + HO⁻ + Fe³⁺).

⁶ Haber-Weiss reaction $(H_2O_2 + O_2^{\bullet} \rightarrow HO^{\bullet} + HO^{-} + O_2)$ results from the decomposition of two reactions: iron reduction by O_2^{\bullet} (Fe³⁺ + $O_2^{\bullet} \rightarrow$ Fe²⁺ + O_2) and Fenton reaction.

⁷ Peroxynitrite is a relatively reactive molecule resulting from the reaction of O_2^* with nitric oxide (NO^{*}).



Figure 10 - **Production of reactive oxygen species**. The complete reduction of molecular oxygen (O_2) needs the addition of 4 electrons, forming water. If less than 4 electrons are accepted by molecular oxygen, unpaired electrons rise and the reactivity of this molecule increases. In the presence of oxygen, NADPH and co-factors, nitric oxide synthase (NOS) catalyses the oxidation of the amino acid L-arginine to form L-citrulline and nitric oxide (NO^{*}). NO^{*} conjugated with superoxide anion (O_2^{*}) , give rise to peroxynitrite (ONOO^{*}), whose decomposition will produce nitrogen dioxide (NO₂^{*}) and hydroxyl radical (HO^{*}). In acid conditions, HO^{*} can also result from the reaction of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) with metals (Fenton and Haber-Weiss reactions).

ROS Production Sites

Under aerobic condition, oxidative phosphorylation (also known as OXPHOS) within mitochondria is the major endogenous and continuous physiological process for energy production. During energy transduction, a small number of electrons escape from mitochondrial electron transport chain complex I (NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase) and III (ubiquinol:cytochrome c oxidoreductase) and can then prematurely interact with oxygen forming the oxygen free radical superoxide (O_2^{\bullet} in its anionic form), which is released into the mitochondrial intermembrane space (Chen, Vazquez et al., 2003, Kushnareva, Murphy et al., 2002). Mitochondrial superoxide radicals can also be produced in the outer mitochondrial membrane (Figure 11). Indeed, ROS concentration within the mitochondrial matrix and cytosol can be increased by the H₂O₂ production that occurs during deamination of primary aromatic amines by flavoprotein monoamine oxidase on the outer mitochondrial membrane (Cadenas & Davies, 2000).

It is considered that 2 to 5 % of the total oxygen consumed by mitochondria will lead to the generation of O_2^{\bullet} and that 0.15 % to 2 % of the electron flow during OXPHOS will generate H_2O_2 (Finaud, Lac et al., 2006, St-Pierre, Buckingham et al., 2002). The production of ROS by mitochondria is, therefore, intrinsically connected to the cellular metabolic state. In skeletal muscle mitochondria, under resting conditions, only 0.15 % of electron flow gives rise to H_2O_2 (St-Pierre et al., 2002). However, during exercise, increased oxygen consumption needed for muscle contractions are responsible for a 50 to 100-fold increase in ROS generation (Kanter, 1998).

Although the vast majority of cellular ROS is generated in mitochondria (Balaban, Nemoto et al., 2005), this organelle is not the only source of ROS production within muscle cells. Other relevant sources of ROS production within muscle cells are NADPH (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate) oxidases (NOX) located within sarcoplasmic reticulum, transverse tubules and sarcolemma (Figure 11) (Chan, Jiang et al., 2009). NOX generate O_2^{\bullet} by transferring electrons from NADPH to molecular oxygen. An isoform of these enzymes, NOX4 is present in the endoplasmic reticulum, thus leading to the production of mainly H₂O₂ in this organelle. Degradation of xenobiotics or unsaturated fatty acids by the Cytochrome P450 located in the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum is another source of O_2^{\bullet} and H_2O_2 production (Seliskar & Rozman, 2007). Furthermore, the activity of various cytosolic enzymes such as xanthine oxidases (XO) or nitric oxide synthases (NOS) is also responsible for the formation of ROS. In skeletal muscle fibres under physiologic conditions, hypoxanthine and xanthine are oxidised to uric acid by xanthine dehydrogenase. However, during exercise, ischemic or hypoxic conditions, xanthine dehydrogenase is converted to xanthine oxidase, which further converts xanthine to uric acid, using molecular oxygen as electron acceptor producing O₂⁻⁻ (Engerson, McKelvey et al., 1987, Gomez-Cabrera, Borras et al., 2005, Gomez-Cabrera, Pallardo et al., 2003). The different isoforms of NOS, NOS1, NOS2 and NOS3, are able to synthesized NO^{*} by the oxidation of the terminal guanidinyl nitrogen of the amino acid L-arginine in the presence of oxygen, NADPH and co-factors. Lipid metabolism that takes place within peroxisomes can also contributes to the production of H_2O_2 within muscle cells. In fact, even if the primary function of peroxisomes is to consume cytosolic H₂O₂, they can produce significant quantities of ROS during degradation of fatty acids by the action of flavine oxidase enzymes. Finally, extracellular ROS production can also be at the origin of the increased ROS levels within skeletal muscle cells. Importantly, once activated, immune phagocytic cells increase their oxygen consumption by 10-fold, producing increased levels of O_2^{\bullet} at the surface of their cellular membranes that can eventually diffuse into their neighbourhood cells. This very important defence mechanism from infectious agents releases also inflammatory cytokines that can bind to muscle membrane receptors and activate specific ROS-generating enzymes, such as NOX and XO (Ji, 2007). In addition to cytokines, the intracellular levels of ROS in skeletal muscle cells can be increased when cells are exposed to growth factors, hormones, toxins (such as lipopolysaccharides), but also X-rays or pollutants (Ji, 2007). Furthermore, apart from intense contractile activity and external factors, skeletal muscle cells produce transient fluxes of ROS in response to an array of diverse stimuli, such as heat stress, acute hypoxia or acute osmotic stress.



Figure 11 - Sites and complexes of ROS production within skeletal muscle cells. Mitochondria is an organelle with different sources of ROS production: complexes I and III of the electron transport chain (OXPHOS), monoamine oxidases and voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC). Cytochrome P450 is the source of ROS production within endoplasmic reticulum. NADPH oxidases (NOX) are proteins responsible for transporting electrons across sarcolemma, sarcoplasmic reticulum and transverse tubules (T-tubules) membranes, thereby producing superoxide anion. In the cytosol, superoxide anion is produced by xanthine oxidases (XO) and nitric oxide is produced by nitric oxide synthases (NOS). Lipid metabolism is also source of ROS production within peroxisomes. Finally, extracellular cells also provide ROS for skeletal muscle cells.

ROS Elimination by the Antioxidant Systems

In order to counteract the deleterious effects of ROS on biological macromolecules, cells have developed several enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant systems. These mechanisms are dependent on the oxidant species, their production site and their biological targets.

Non-Enzymatic defence systems

Although the enzymatic antioxidants are considered as the most efficient and specific regulators of the cell redox state, cells display also several other low-molecular weight nonenzymatic antioxidant systems, known as scavengers, that react directly with oxidising agents inhibiting them. Among these molecules there are cysteine, cysteamine, cysteine containing peptides, methionine, albumin, taurin, bilirubin, vitamins C and E, glucose, carotenoids flavones, hydroquinones, alpha-lipoic acid and uric acid.

Carotenoids (such as β -carotene) are lipid soluble antioxidants located primarily in cell membranes. They are capable of scavenging numerous ROS species including superoxide and peroxyl radicals and due to their cellular location, they are efficient against lipid peroxidation (Stahl & Sies, 2003).

Vitamin C (ascorbate, at physiological pH) is an essential water-soluble antioxidant not synthetised by humans. Thus, it is acquired by human cells through dietary sources. Apart from being a cofactor for several metabolic enzymatic reactions, it acts also as a reducing agent providing electrons to various enzymatic or non-enzymatic reactions. Indeed, it has important antioxidant functions, directly scavenging ROS and RNS (Carr & Frei, 1999, Padayatty, Katz et al., 2003). In addition, vitamin C plays an important role in the recycling of vitamin E. The one- and two-electrons oxidised forms of vitamin C, semidehydroascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid, respectively, can be reduced in the body by GSH or by other NADPH-dependent enzymatic mechanisms (Meister, 1994). Although its antioxidant properties have been well characterised, it is not consider a major antioxidant because it has also pro-oxidant properties (Carr & Frei, 1999). This can also be an explanation why vitamin C supplementation does not seem to affect skeletal muscle redox state (Mason, Baptista et al., 2014).

Vitamin E (α -tocopherol, its most reactive form) is a lipophilic compound that easily incorporates cellular membranes being able to stop the lipid peroxidation chain reaction by scavenging the lipid peroxyl radicals. In this reaction, vitamin E becomes a radical that may function as a pro-oxidant when at high concentrations, although with less reactivity than lipid peroxyl radicals (van Acker, Koymans et al., 1993). Oxidised α tocopheroxyl radicals can be then recycled back to their reduced active form through reduction by other antioxidants, such as ascorbate, retinol or ubiquinol (Packer, Weber et al., 2001). In skeletal muscle, vitamin E protects cells from lipid peroxidation and neutrophil infiltration during surgical ischemia-reperfusion (Novelli, Adembri et al., 1997). In addition, vitamin E supplementation prevented oxidative stress-induced muscle in rats *soleus* muscle (Appell, Duarte et al., 1997) as well as oxidative stress-induced cell death of chicken skeletal muscle cells (Nunes, Gozzo et al., 2005). In agreement, vitamin E deficiency in mice and rats renders them more susceptible to peroxidative damage when stressed with iron or ascorbic acid and more prone to damage during contractile activity exercise (Jackson, Jones et al., 1983).

Among the cysteine containing antioxidants, there are the glutathione, the N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC) and the metallothioneins. Glutathione (GSH) is an ubiquitous tripeptide $(\gamma$ -glutamyl-cysteinyl-glycine). It is synthetised by two enzymatic ATP-dependent reactions, the second of which is catalysed by the glutathione synthetase (GS). It is the most abundant thiol peptide found in cells, reaching concentrations of millimolars (Meister & Anderson, 1983). GSH content varies across organs depending on their function. For example, tissues with high exposure to oxidants such as the eye lens or the liver contain high levels of GSH. Similarly, the concentration of GSH found in skeletal muscle fibres varies across fibre types with slow type fibres containing higher GSH content (i.e. 2 to 3 mM) compared with fast fibres (i.e. 0.5 mM) (Leeuwenburgh, Hollander et al., 1997a). Upon reaction with its targeted molecules such as antioxidant enzymes, ROS or electrophiles, GSH becomes oxidised to glutathione disulfide (GSSG), which can then be reduced to GSH by the GSH reductase (GR) enzyme. Thus, the GSH/GSSG ratio reflects the cellular redox state. Studies indicate that skeletal muscle fibres adapt to regular bouts of high-intensity endurance exercise by increasing the levels of GSH due to an increased activity of key enzymes involved in GSH synthesis (Leeuwenburgh, Fiebig et al., 1994, Leeuwenburgh et al., 1997a, Marin, Kretzschmar et al., 1993, Sen, Marin et al., 1992). Furthermore, GSH supplementation improved lipid metabolism and acidification during exercise leading to less muscle fatigue (Aoi, Ogaya et al., 2015), while GSH depletion increased the levels of the peroxisome proliferator activated receptor γ coactivator-1 α (PGC-1 α)⁸, affecting mitochondrial function (Strobel, Matsumoto et al., 2014).

⁸ A key regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis and function

N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC) is a potent unspecific antioxidant molecule that is commonly used to increase the redox-reduced status of cells or model organisms. It is also being used in the treatment of some diseases in which an increased oxidative stress is involved, with more or less efficiency.

Metallothioneins are low molecular weight cysteine-rich polypeptides that bind a number of trace metals such as zinc, cadmium, mercury, platinum and silver. These unique proteins are found in all eukaryotes and in some prokaryotes and participate in diverse intracellular functions including maintenance of essential metal ion homeostasis as well as detoxification of heavy metals (Nordberg & Nordberg, 2000). Because of its cysteinyl thiolate groups, metallothioneins have been shown to scavenge different ROS and RNS (Ruttkay-Nedecky, Nejdl et al., 2013).

Enzymatic defence systems

Superoxide dismutases (SOD) are widely distributed antioxidant enzymes found in nearly all living cells exposed to oxygen. Three types of SOD are expressed in human cells: two copper-zinc SOD, one mainly present in the cytoplasm but also present in mitochondria intermembrane space (CuZnSOD or SOD1) and another secreted into the extracellular space (ECSOD or SOD3) and a manganese SOD (MnSOD or SOD2) present in mitochondria. All SOD are capable of dismutating two molecules of O_2^{*} into molecular oxygen and H_2O_2 (chemical reaction: $2 O_2^{*-} + 2 H^+ \rightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2$) (Figure 12). However, since MnSOD is present in the mitochondrial matrix, where oxygen is mostly consumed and ROS production most evident, it has been considered as one of the most important antioxidant enzyme in mammals. In fact, whereas CuZnSOD and ECSOD were shown non-essential for survival of mice lacking these enzymes (Sentman, Granstrom et al., 2006), knockout mice for MnSOD showed severe metabolic acidosis, degeneration of neurons and cardiomyocytes, and died between 1 to 24 days after birth (Huang, Carlson et al., 2001, Lebovitz, Zhang et al., 1996). In skeletal muscle, although SOD activity is higher in oxidative muscles compared with muscles with low mitochondrial content, 65 to 85 % of the total SOD activity is in the cytosol, with only the 15 to 35 % of remaining activity in the mitochondria (Powers, Criswell et al., 1994). Thus, although both MnSOD and CuZnSOD mutant mice exhibited oxidative damages (Elchuri, Oberley et al., 2005, Van Remmen, Ikeno et al., 2003), only

mice lacking CuZnSOD showed a loss of muscle mass similar to what is observed during sarcopenia (Muller, Song et al., 2006).

Catalase (CAT) is a homotetramer enzyme that contains four porphyrin heme groups. It catalyses the decomposition of H_2O_2 into water and molecular oxygen (chemical reaction: $2 H_2O_2 \rightarrow 2 H_2O + O_2$) (Figure 12). CAT is an ubiquitous protein mainly present in peroxisomes, organelles that produce high quantities of H_2O_2 by various oxidases. Although mice lacking catalase are phenotypically normal, their tissues were more sensitive to oxidant injuries (Ho, Xiong et al., 2004). Overexpression of CAT protected cells against oxidative damages (Erzurum, Lemarchand et al., 1993, Lindau-Shepard & Shaffer, 1993). When overexpression of CAT is targeted to mitochondria, it extends murine lifespan by reducing oxidative damage to DNA and proteins as well as protection against aconitase inactivation (Schriner, Linford et al., 2005). In skeletal muscle, CAT protein levels are highest in highly oxidative muscle fibres (Laughlin, Simpson et al., 1990, Leeuwenburgh et al., 1994, Powers et al., 1994). However, whether CAT expression increases or no change in muscle CAT activity following training (Laughlin et al., 1990, Leeuwenburgh et al., 1994, Powers et al., 1994, Vincent, Powers et al., 2000).

Glutathione Peroxidases (GPx) are enzymes with peroxidase activity that use glutathione (GSH) as electron donor to reduce peroxides such as H_2O_2 to water or organic hydroperoxides to their corresponding alcohols (e.g. chemical reaction: ROOH + 2 GSH \rightarrow 2 ROH + GSSG) (Figure 12). To date, eight different isoforms of this enzyme (GPx1-8) have been identified in humans, encoded by different genes and varying in their cellular location and substrate specificity (Brigelius-Flohe & Maiorino, 2013). GPx1 is the most abundant one, being found in the cytosol and mitochondria of nearly all mammalian tissues and having H_2O_2 as preferred substrate. Like GPx1, GPx2 (mainly present in the gastrointestinal system) and GPx3 (present in the plasma and kidney) are water soluble enzymes, whereas GPx4 protects membranes from oxidative damages. In fact, GPx4 exhibits a high preference for lipid hydroperoxides. Mammalian GPx1-4 are selenoproteins with a selenocysteine (Sec) instead of a cysteine (Cys) in their catalytic centre; while GPx6 is a selenoprotein only in humans. GPx7 and GPx8 are CysGPxs with low GPx activity. SecGPx overexpression in NIH3T3 fibroblasts and human MCF-7 breast carcinoma cells demonstrated the importance of these enzymes in protection against damages caused by paraquat (Kelner, Bagnell et al., 1995). The various roles of the different GPx isoforms were also analysed by *in vivo* studies using mice animal models. K.O. mice for GPx1, GPx2 or GPx3 have a normal embryonic development and growth, while mice deficient in GPx4 die during early embryonic development (Esworthy, Aranda et al., 2001, Olson, Whitin et al., 2010, Yant, Ran et al., 2003). Although mice deficient in Gpx1 survive, they present high mitochondrial levels of H₂O₂, develop cataracts at an early age and exhibit defects in muscle satellite cell proliferation characterised by a reduced body mass (Esposito, Kokoszka et al., 2000, Reddy, Giblin et al., 2001). Furthermore, numerous studies showed that both in physiological or in endurance exercise training conditions, there is an increase in cytosolic and mitochondrial GPx activities, mainly in highly oxidative skeletal muscles containing primarily type I and IIa fibers (Criswell, Powers et al., 1993, Leeuwenburgh et al., 1994, Pereira, Costa Rosa et al., 1994, Powers et al., 1994).

Peroxiredoxins (Prx) are an ubiquitous family of cysteine-dependent peroxidase enzymes that like other peroxidases, regulate the peroxide levels within cells, by reducing hydroperoxides to water. These enzymes share the same basic catalytic mechanism, in which a cysteine of their active site, the peroxidatic cysteine, is oxidised to sulfenic acid by the peroxide substrate (e.g. chemical reaction: $H_2O_2 + Prx$ (reduced) $\rightarrow 2 H_2O + Prx$ (oxidised)). The 6 Prx members are classified through their mechanism of sulfenic acid recycling. For a minority of Prx, termed "1-Cys" Prx, the sulfenic acid formed by oxidation is reduced directly by an intracellular reductant such as glutathione or ascorbate. On the other hand, the majority of Prx, called "2-Cys" Prx, have a second cysteine, which forms a disulfide bond with peroxidatic cysteine. This disulfide bond is then reduced by thioredoxin (Trx) enzymes or a thioredoxin-like proteins (Figure 12). Inactivation of these enzymes by over-oxidation of the active thiol to sulfinic acid can be reversed by sulfiredoxin (Biteau, Labarre et al., 2003). Prx are widely distributed within the cell, being locating in the cytosol (Prx1, 2, 5 and 6), nucleus (Prx1) mitochondria (Prx3 and 5), peroxisomes (Prx4 and 5), endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus (Prx4) (Rhee, Chae et al., 2005, Wood, Schroder et al., 2003). Prx4 is also present in the extracellular space. These antioxidant enzymes regulate ROS levels and protect cells from oxidative stress damages as well as cell death (De Simoni, Goemaere et al., 2008, Kropotov, Serikov et al., 2006, Tavender & Bulleid, 2010). The study of mice lacking Prx1, 2 and 6 revealed their antioxidant roles, such as protection against oxidative stresses and protein oxidative damages, as well as their importance for cellular viability and lifespan (Lee, Kim et al., 2003, Neumann, Krause et al., 2003, Wang, Phelan et al., 2003). In particular, Prx1^{-/-} mice showed reduced lifespan associated with an increase in oxidative damage to both DNA and protein (Egler, Fernandes et al., 2005, Neumann et al., 2003). Prx3 K.O. mice displayed an aberrant mitochondrial redox state, resulting in abnormal adipocyte differentiation and impaired glucose tolerance and insulin resistance (Huh, Kim et al., 2012). In addition, it has been shown that Prx3 plays a crucial role in skeletal muscle fibres function by controlling mitochondrial homeostasis (Lee, Shin et al., 2014b).



Figure 12 - **Cellular antioxidant defence systems.** Superoxide anion (O_2^{\bullet}) is dismutated in hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) by the superoxide dismutase enzymes (SOD). Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) can be then reduced back to water by the catalase (CAT) enzyme producing molecular oxygen and water. Two other enzymatic pathways are able to reduce hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) using NADPH as ultimate reducing power: the glutathione peroxiredoxin (GPx) / glutathione (GSH) /glutathione reductase (TR) pathway.

Oxidative Damage to Macromolecules

Low amounts of ROS or RNS are required for cell signalling pathways and defence mechanisms against pathogens. However, when their concentrations exceed the cellular ability to remove them and/or to repair their oxidative damage, accumulation of oxidative stress-induced cell damage occurs. This is characterised by the oxidation of biomolecules such as nucleotides, lipids and proteins, which will be reviewed in this chapter, with particular focus on protein oxidative damage.

DNA oxidative damage

Amongst free radical species, the highly reactive HO[•] can generate a large number of modifications in DNA by a variety of mechanisms. These damages include: i) single or double strand breaks; ii) sugar and/or base modifications; iii) DNA-DNA or DNA-protein cross-links such as thymine-tyrosine cross-link (Oleinick, Chiu et al., 1987). Among the four DNA bases, guanine is said to be the most reactive. In fact, its oxidised form, 8-oxoguanine, a well-known biomarker of DNA damage, adopts a conformation that allows it to pair with adenine, leading to transversion mutations (Cooke, Evans et al., 2003). Oxidation of thymine gives rise to thymine glycol, which is another known DNA oxidative damage indicator that blocks DNA replication and transcription (Cooke et al., 2003). Furthermore, persistence of DNA damage can lead to three major consequences: evolution of species, carcinogenesis and ageing (Cooke et al., 2003).

The fact that DNA is easily susceptible to alterations seems to be contradictory to the stability of genetic information from one generation to another. This paradigm results from the existence of highly efficient DNA repair systems. Thus, a rise in DNA oxidative damage could be due to increase damage and/or decreased repair capacity. In fact, mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) is particularly susceptible to oxidative damage due to its location near the O_2^{\bullet} production site but also due to its lack of protective histones, proofreading and complete repair mechanisms. Therefore, the basal oxidative level in mtDNA is 10 to 20-fold higher than in nuclear DNA (Richter, Park et al., 1988). Since mtDNA encodes essential proteins involved in the OXPHOS process, alterations in the mtDNA will lead to a respiratory chain dysfunction, further stimulating mitochondrial ROS generation and oxidative mtDNA damage, in a sequence of events that will end with the induction of apoptosis.

Lipid oxidative damage

The most common form of lipid oxidation is the free radical-mediated peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids. It is produced in three steps that can be summarised as follows: a hydrogen atom is transferred from fatty acids, these then react with molecular oxygen to give rise to a lipid peroxyl radical, which extracts a hydrogen from another lipid molecule generating a lipid hydroperoxide as well as a new radical (that continues the chain reaction) (Porter, Caldwell et al., 1995). Cleavage of this cyclic peroxide formation process can result in the release of secondary toxic products, such as the reactive carbonyl compounds malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE). These products are precursors of advanced lipid peroxidation end products (ALE), which are shown to accumulate during ageing and chronic diseases (Negre-Salvayre, Coatrieux et al., 2008). Since they are capable of reacting with DNA bases or being conjugated with proteins, the concentration of "free" HNE and MDA is very low in vivo (Esterbauer, Schaur et al., 1991). Their cross-link with proteins progressively alters protein structure and function (Friguet, Szweda et al., 1994). This will have consequences on signal transduction pathways related with the inflammatory status, cell proliferation and viability. For instance, at low concentrations, 4-HNE can act as a growth factor promoting cell proliferation, while at high concentrations it inhibits cell proliferation mediated by growth factor receptors. Thus, the reduction of lipid hydroperoxides is necessary not only to prevent further oxidation and decomposition but also for cell signalling. For these reasons, cells dispose of diverse antioxidant systems, such as selenocysteine-containing enzymes like GPx, to eliminate this kind of damages (Ayala, Munoz et al., 2014). Besides enzymatic systems, antioxidants such as vitamin E can also inhibit lipid peroxidation.

Protein oxidative damage

As the main components of biological systems, proteins are major targets of oxidation, scavenging up to 75% of ROS molecules (Davies, Fu et al., 1999). Protein oxidative damage, underestimated for a long time, is now assuming an important place in biological processes and is considered as a hallmark of ageing and some diseases such as neurodegenerative disorders. In fact, protein oxidation can lead to loss of protein function, which has important consequences to cells. On the other hand, reversible oxidative damages to proteins may have dual protective roles: controlling protein activity and protection against irreversible oxidative damages (discussed on Chapter IV).

Reversible oxidative damage to proteins

Contrary to other amino acids, oxidation of the two sulfur containing amino acids, cysteine and methionine, is reversible and repaired enzymatically. This property confers to these two amino acids an important redox power and allows them to be implicated in different signalling redox pathways.

Cysteines possess a high reactive thiol group (SH), which makes this amino acid an important structural and functional component of many proteins and enzymes. The first cysteine oxidation product is sulfenic acid (SOH), which is an intermediate in disulfide bond formation (Figure 13) (Rehder & Borges, 2010). At the physiological level, intra- or intermolecular disulfide bridge formation is the most likely result of cysteine oxidation. This modification can be easily reduced back to thiols by a variety of enzymes systems such as thioredoxin or glutaredoxin (discussed on Chapter IV). Sulfenic acid can be converted to sulfinic acid (SO₂H) by a second oxidation in cysteine residue. To date, the reduction of sulfinic acid by sulfiredoxins has been only described in oxidised cysteines located in "2-Cys" Prx active sites (Biteau et al., 2003). The thiol group of cysteines can also react covalently with RNS, such as NO[•] forming S-nitrosothiols (SNO) or with oxidised glutathione (GSSG) forming S-glutathionylates (SSG), which can be enzymatically reversed by thioredoxin or glutaredoxin enzymes (Figure 13). Finally, a third oxidation reaction on cysteine is possible by strong oxidants that will generate sulfonic acid (SO₃H), which can not be reduced enzymatically (Figure 13).

Reversible oxidation in cysteine amino acid has been shown to play important regulatory roles on the function of several proteins. In particular, loss of sulfhydryl groups are involved in protein misfolding, catalytic inactivation of enzymes and loss of binding of metals (Klomsiri, Karplus et al., 2011). In addition, reversible oxidation of catalytic cysteine is involved in several redox enzymatic systems such as peroxiredoxins, glutaredoxins, thioredoxins, glutathione-S-transferases and methionine sulfoxide reductases (Brandes, Schmitt et al., 2009, Lowther, Brot et al., 2000a, Murphy, 2012, Rhee, Yang et al., 2005). Apart from regulating antioxidant enzymes activity, these oxidation-reduction cycles involving cysteines play important roles in several other cellular pathways, involving transcription factors such as AP-1 (activator protein-1), NF- κ B (nuclear factor- κ B), keap1 (Kelch-like ECH associated protein 1) and metabolic proteins including p53, creatine kinase, GAPDH (glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase) as well as some protein tyrosine phosphatases (Brandes et al., 2009, Chung, Wang et al., 2013).

Methionine is an essential amino acid not synthetised by humans; hence it must be supplied though diet. Methionine alone or within proteins is a very reactive amino acid that can react with different kinds of ROS such as O_2^{\bullet} , H_2O_2 , OH, ONOO, chloramine or hypochloric acid (Schoneich, 2005). Due to its high reactivity towards almost all kinds of ROS, both free and surface exposed methionine on proteins, are excellent ROS scavengers (Levine, Mosoni et al., 1996). Methionine oxidation, by the addition of an extra oxygen
atom, leads to the generation of two diastereoisomeric forms of methionine sulfoxide (MetO), named methionine-S-sulfoxide (MetSO) and methionine-R-sulfoxide (MetRO) (Figure 13). These two oxidised forms of methionine can be reduced back to native methionines by methionine sulfoxide reductase (Msr) system (further described in Chapter V). Further oxidation of MetO by ROS leads to the generation of irreversible methionine sulfone (MetO₂).



Figure 13 - Oxidative modifications on sulfur containing amino acids. When reacting with ROS, methionine (Met) sulfur gives rise to methionine sulfoxide (Met-SO), which can be reduced back to Met by the methionine sulfoxide reductases enzymes (Msr). However, further oxidation on Metsulfoxide, forming Met-sulfone is irreversible in cells. Cysteine (Cys) thiol groups (SH) are very reactive groups that can give rise to thiolate anions (S) within proteins. These anions can further react with ROS or RNS producing sulfenic acid (SOH) or S-nitrothiols (SNO). The last ones can also be formed enzymatically by S-nitrosoglutathiones (GSNO) in a reaction called S-nitrosylation. All thiolate anions, sulfenic acid and S-nitrothiols can be interconverted into disulfide bonds. Disulfides can be reduced back to cysteine by thioredoxin (Trx) and glutaredoxin (Grx) enzymes in a NADPH dependent manner. Grx enzymes are also responsible the reduction of the S-glutathionylates (SSG) formed by reaction of thiolate anions with oxidised glutathione (GSSG) or sulfenic acid with glutathione (GSH). Further oxidation of sulfenic acid by ROS results in the formation of sulfinic acid (SO₂H), which was for long consider an irreversible modification. However, when occurring within peroxiredoxins, sulfinic acid can be reversed back to thiol by sulfiredoxins (Srx) in an ATPdependent manner. Finally, a third oxygen introduction in cysteines by ROS leads to the formation of sulfonic acid (SO₃H), which has been shown to be irreversible. Adapted from (Ma, 2013, Rojo, McBean et al., 2014).

The preferential targeting of methionine amino acids by ROS protects other amino acid residues from oxidation, particularly those located at the catalytic sites of the proteins. Such antioxidant property confers damage protection to vital proteins and thus confers to Met oxidation/reduction cycles an important role on protein homeostasis. This is made possible since oxidation of surface exposed methionine does not always affect protein function. Indeed, oxidation of methionine residues in the plasminogen activator inhibitor (Strandberg, Lawrence et al., 1991), in interferon α -2b (Gitlin, Tsarbopoulos et al., 1996) and in glutamine synthetase enzyme (Levine et al., 1996) do not alter their biological activities. However, in some instances, methionine oxidation does cause impairment of protein structure and/or function, with reduction of MetO being associated with a recovery of protein function. In these cases, Msr enzymes by reducing MetO play important roles in regulation of protein function (discussed in detail in Chapter V).

Irreversible oxidative damage to protein

If cysteine and methionine residues are, by far, the most sensitive to oxidation by almost all kinds of ROS, other amino acids can also be prone to oxidation within proteins. However, contrary to the above-cited amino acids, there is no enzymatic systems capable of reversing their oxidation. Protein carbonyls and tyrosine nitration are the main types of irreversible oxidations within proteins. These modifications are often associated with oxidative damage and have been used as biomarkers for assessment of oxidative stress in ageing and diseases (Stadtman, 2001).

Tyrosine oxidation induced by oxidants such as hypochlorite or peroxynitrite leads to the formation of tyrosyl radicals, which may form intra- or inter-molecular cross links or react with nitric oxide forming a 3-nitrotyrosin group on proteins' tyrosine side chains in a reaction called protein nitration (van der Vliet, Eiserich et al., 1996). Although the reversibility of protein nitration has been questioned, there is no clearly defined mechanism, other than protein degradation, to remove this modification (Abello, Kerstjens et al., 2009). Current development of methods for detection and quantification of this protein nitrotyrosine modification has allowed the investigation of its deleterious effects as well as its role in redox signalling (Dekker, Abello et al., 2012, Weber, Kneschke et al., 2012). In fact, its detection under normal physiological conditions such as healthy pregnancy indicates that formation of protein nitrotyrosine may have also a physiological function (Webster, Roberts et al., 2008). However, tyrosyl radicals have also been found in various diseases, in aged skeletal and cardiac mouse muscle (Leeuwenburgh, Wagner et al., 1997b) as well as in proteins derived from aged non-cataractous human lens (Wells-Knecht, Huggins et al., 1993). Protein nitration is not only restricted to tyrosine residue but also limited to specific proteins, thus acting as a highly selective process (Abello et al., 2009).

Conversely, protein carbonylation is a more abundant and more random protein nonrepairable modification. For this reason, protein carbonyl content is the most commonly used marker of protein oxidation (Baraibar, Ladouce et al., 2013). Oxidative modifications of proteins can be classified into those that modify the side chains and those that cleave the peptide bond, leading to the formation of protein derivatives or peptide fragments both containing highly reactive carbonyl groups: aldehydes and ketones (Stadtman & Levine, 2003). Carbonyl groups in proteins can occur through different pathways: 1) ROS can directly react with proteins; 2) metal cations such as iron and copper can react with proteins catalysing their reaction with ROS; or 3) ROS can react with other macromolecules such as lipids and sugars generating reactive groups that will further attack proteins (Figure 14). Direct oxidation of proteins by ROS will result in oxidative cleavage of peptide bonds by either α -amidation pathway or by oxidation of the glutamyl side chains leading to the generation of highly reactive carbonyl derivatives, such as the α -ketoacid peptide (Figure 14, step 3) (Stadtman & Berlett, 1998). Among all amino acids, the most susceptible amino acids to metal catalysed oxidative attack are lysine, arginine, proline and threonine (Figure 14, step 2). The most representative products of this type of carbonylation are α -aminoadipic semialdehyde from lysyl residue, glutamic semialdehyde from arginyl and prolyl residue, 2pyrrolidone from prolyl residue, and 2-amino-3-ketobutyric acid from threonyl residue (Requena, Levine et al., 2003). In sugars-derived protein oxidation, secondary reactions on amino groups of lysine or arginine residues with reducing sugars or their oxidation products, derived from glycation or glycoxidation reactions, will generate reactive carbonyls in proteins (Figure 14, step 4). In more detail, sugar aldehydes or ketones can spontaneously, non-enzymatically and reversibly, react with the amino groups of protein side chains giving rise to Schiff base adducts. These initial reactions representing the early-stage glycation processes and their products are called early-stage glycation adducts or Amadori products. Further irreversible modification of these adducts through rearrangement, dehydratation, oxidation, fragmentation and cross linking with proteins yields stable end-stage adducts called Advanced Glycation End-products (AGE) (Cho, Roman et al., 2007). Although glucose and fructose are present in significant concentrations in vivo, they react slowly with proteins to form AGE. In contrast, aldehydes such as glyoxal and methylglyoxal that are

present in very low concentrations in vivo, react more rapidly with proteins in a glycation process. Only few glycation products are known, including carboxymethyllysine (CML), carboxyethyllysine (CEL), pentosidine, glucosepane, 3-deoxyglucosone-derived lysine dimers, glyoxal-derived lysine dimers and methylglyoxal-derived lysine dimers (Rabbani & Thornalley, 2008). CML and pentosidine contents are the most common used biomarkers for intracellular glycoxidative stress. These AGE have been initially related to diabetes but their formation have recently been involved in human skin ageing, rat liver ageing and neurodegenerative diseases (Bakala, Ladouce et al., 2013, Radjei, Gareil et al., 2016). Peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids results in the formation of α,β -unsaturated reactive aldehydes that can react with lysine, cysteine or histidine residues within proteins leading to protein carbonyl formation (Figure 14, step 1). More precisely, free radicals generated in the cell under oxidative stress conditions can directly attack cellular membranes, resulting in the decomposition of membrane polyunsaturated acids into a variety of oxidised products, including 4-HNE, acrolein and MDA (Ayala et al., 2014). 4-HNE is an highly reactive α,β -unsaturated aldehyde that can react with protein lysine, cysteine, and histidine residues of proteins to form Michael adducts (Sayre, Lin et al., 2006). MDA, on its turn, form Schiff base adducts when reacting with lysine residues, affecting protein function (Slatter, Paul et al., 1999). The reaction of these lipid peroxidation products with proteins, will lead to the formation of the Advanced Lipid peroxidation End products (ALE), which are also known to accumulate during ageing and in certain age-related diseases.



Figure 14 - **Sources of protein carbonyls.** Carbonylation on proteins can be trigged by oxidised lipids (1); directly by ROS via metal catalysed oxidation (2); via the α -amidation pathway (3); or by oxidised sugars (4).

Due to its greater magnitude comparing to other types of protein oxidative damage, protein carbonylation is usually considered as an indicator of the level of susceptibility or resistance to oxidative stress. This protein modification causes unfolding of the target protein domains and subsequently exposition of the interior hidden hydrophobic amino acids to the surface of the polypeptide chains (Chao, Ma et al., 1997, Friguet et al., 1994, Pacifici, Kono et al., 1993). This rearrangement increases the protein hydrophobicity and enhances its recognition and degradation by different protease systems (discussed in Chapter IV), such as the proteasome (Grune et al., 2004). Indeed, besides protein degradation, no other convincing mechanism has been found to reverse or eliminate this modification. When protein degradation is defective, excessive oxidation may result in stable aggregate formation due to covalent cross-links or hydrophobic interactions between these unfolded proteins. These structures were shown to accumulate within the cells since they are resistant to degradation (Grune et al., 2004) and they can even inhibit proteasome function (Friguet & Szweda, 1997, Sitte, Huber et al., 2000). The accumulation of these protein oxidationderived aggregates can be deleterious to cellular function and was already observed during ageing and diverse pathological situations such as neurodegenerative disorders, diabetes and atherosclerosis (Baraibar & Friguet, 2013, Baraibar et al., 2013, Berlett & Stadtman, 1997, Friguet, 2006, Squier, 2001). In the case of skeletal muscle tissue, protein carbonylation has been associated with skeletal muscle dysfunction and sarcopenia for long time (discussed in Chapter I), however, it is only recently that the protein targets of this oxidative damage are being revealed (Lourenço Dos Santos, Baraibar et al., 2015).

ROS in Skeletal Muscle Myogenesis

It is now clear that ROS play dual opposite roles in skeletal muscle tissue: a deleterious one leading to many muscle diseases and sarcopenia and another more physiological role, controlling different important signalling pathways relevant for muscle function. The regulation of this balance between beneficial and detrimental ROS effects will depend mostly on their concentrations but also on their nature, origin and targets as well as on the antioxidant status of the cell. Thus, it is important to keep in mind all these aspects when studying ROS in biological functions. Among the diverse ROS-dependent signalling pathways relevant to skeletal muscle cellular homeostasis and function, I will particularly

focus on those described as important for muscle regeneration in *in vivo* models of regeneration as well as *in vitro* experiments using muscle progenitor cells.

As for other adult stem cells, ROS are believed to play important roles in myoblasts function. Studying muscle progenitors cells in vitro, different authors showed that their differentiation is accompanied by an increase in the number of mitochondria and ROS levels (Malinska et al., 2012, Piao, Seo et al., 2005, Won, Lim et al., 2012). Increased ROS levels can result from higher activity of mitochondrial respiratory chain complexes but also from the activity of cytosolic and membrane enzymes, such as NOS and NOX, respectively. Independently of the source of ROS, studies suggest that ROS are important for the myoblasts differentiation step (Figure 15). Indeed, the use of mitochondrial specific antioxidants, the inhibition of complex I of the mitochondrial respiratory chain or the suppression of NOX2 activity blocked myotube formation (Lee, Tak et al., 2011, Piao et al., 2005). In agreement, overexpression of antioxidant enzymes such as Heme oxygenase 1 (Kozakowska, Ciesla et al., 2012) or Prx2 (Won et al., 2012) promotes myoblasts proliferation and delays their differentiation as revealed by increased levels of Pax7 and decreased Myogenin expression, respectively. In contrast, increased intracellular ROS levels through Gpx1 inactivation (Lee, Shin et al., 2006) or in the Nrf2 K.O. mice (Al-Sawaf, Fragoulis et al., 2014) led to decreased myoblasts proliferation capacities and premature differentiation resulting in the formation of hypotrophic myotubes or to immature muscle regeneration with less MyoD expression.

Among the different signalling pathways that are modulated by ROS and that could mediate a positive role on differentiation, NF- κ B and p38 α mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) have been the most studied in myogenesis (Figure 15). Contrary to other p38 isoforms (β , δ and γ), p38 α plays an important role in adult skeletal muscle regeneration (Brien, Pugazhendhi et al., 2013, Ruiz-Bonilla, Perdiguero et al., 2008). Indeed, deletion of p38 α in primary myoblasts delayed cell cycle exit and differentiation via continuous proliferation (Perdiguero, Ruiz-Bonilla et al., 2007). A recent transcriptomal study using primary and C2C12 myoblasts in the presence or absence of p38 α also revealed its role as an activator of myogenic differentiation (Segales, Islam et al., 2016). Myoblasts fusion was also shown to require NF- κ B-dependent expression of NOS enzymes, with the NO[•] produced by these enzymes acting as a messenger molecule for myoblast fusion in a Ca²⁺-dependent manner (Choi, Baek et al., 1992, Lee, Baek et al., 1994, Lee, Kim et al., 1997). Indeed, Ca²⁺ influx was important for the expression of Myf5 in C2C12 myoblasts (Furutani, Murakami et al., 2009). It should be noticed that although NF-κB has mostly been associated with a negative regulation of skeletal muscle differentiation (further described below), there are also evidences that it promoted myogenic differentiation downstream the p38/MAPK pathway (Baeza-Raja & Munoz-Canoves, 2004, Lee et al., 2011). Indeed, if ROS production by NOX2 enzymes leads to muscle differentiation via activation of the NF-κB pathway, the inhibition of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) and p38/MAPK signalling suppressed the NOX2/NF-κB effects on muscle differentiation (Piao et al., 2005). In conclusion, although there is still some open questions concerning the precise mechanisms through which ROS may trigger muscle signalling pathways important for myogenesis, it has become accepted that ROS, in particular H₂O₂ and NO[•], are important signalling molecules that mediate muscle differentiation of p38α/MAPK and NF-κB pathways, which in some cases may involve regulation of Ca²⁺ influx.

Contrariwise, numerous evidences indicate that excessive ROS levels due to elevated ROS production and/or their deficient elimination by the antioxidant enzymes will create an oxidative state that will impair myogenic differentiation (Figure 15). Indeed, ROS generated by the inflammatory cytokine TNF- α induced cachexia and inhibited mice skeletal muscle regeneration after injury (Coletti, Moresi et al., 2005). In agreement, in vitro treatment of murine C2C12 myoblasts with TNF- α depleted the levels of GSH thus increasing ROS levels, which impaired myogenic differentiation via redox-dependent and independent pathways (Langen, Schols et al., 2002). An example of a redox sensitive pathway is the redox-dependent blockage of the formation of functional catenin-cadherin interacting complexes, which are known to be involved in the early steps of myogenic differentiation (Goichberg, Shtutman et al., 2001). Different teams showed that the oxidative stress state and the inhibition of myoblasts differentiation induced by TNF- α treatment or GSH deletion were achieved via NF-kB signalling (Ardite, Barbera et al., 2004, Guttridge, Mayo et al., 2000, Langen, Schols et al., 2001, Langen, Van Der Velden et al., 2004). Indeed, NF-κB was shown to be constitutively active in proliferative myoblasts and to inhibit cell cycle exit thus blocking differentiation by promoting a mitogenic activity via cyclin D1 and Pax7 upregulation as well as by decreasing MyoD mRNA and protein levels (Guttridge, Albanese et al., 1999, Guttridge et al., 2000, He, Berardi et al., 2013, Langen et al., 2004). Moreover, treatment of primary myoblasts with an NF-kB inhibitor (curcumin) stimulates myoblast fusion thereby enhancing myogenesis and repair (Thaloor, Miller et al., 1999). Thus, if under homeostatic conditions NF-kB signalling promotes myogenic differentiation, in conditions of oxidative stress it will impair myoblast fusion and differentiation. One explanation to its

opposite functions may come from the existence of an alternate and a canonical NF- κ B pathway which are differentially regulated depending on the biological context (Bakkar & Guttridge, 2010). In addition, the dual effects of ROS on NF- κ B activity could come from the oxidation of different proteins of this signalling pathway: the oxidation of IkB leads to its subsequent degradation, and by consequence, to NF- κ B stimulation, while the direct oxidation of NF- κ B proteins leads to a decrease of its activity by reduction of its DNA binding affinity.

In order to further clarify the consequences of an oxidative stress state in skeletal muscle myogenesis, different laboratories used exogenous oxidants, such as high doses of H₂O₂, menadione or paraquat to treat myoblasts models *in vitro*. If the vast majority of these studies led to the generally accepted view that an oxidant treatment is deleterious for myoblasts survival, proliferation and differentiation, in some cases, it would only affect one of these myogenic stages. For instance, treatment with relatively high concentrations of H₂O₂ resulted in a dramatically decrease in cellular viability and lifespan of proliferative human-derived myoblasts, but did not affected their myogenicity neither their ability to differentiate or fuse to form multinucleated myotubes in vitro (Renault et al., 2002). Apart from the increased apoptosis, which is dependent on the activation of caspase proteins (Primeau, Adhihetty et al., 2002), increased cell atrophy and sensitivity to mechanical stresses as well as decreased cell stiffness and adhesion capacities were found in human and/or mouse-derived myoblasts in oxidative stress conditions (Dargelos, Brule et al., 2010, El Haddad, Jean et al., 2012, McClung, Judge et al., 2009, Mougeolle, Poussard et al., 2015, Renault et al., 2002, Sun, Wong et al., 2014). Other studies observed that viable oxidativeinjured myoblasts presented impaired differentiation in vitro characterised by late protein synthesis recovery and reduced MyoD, Myogenin and MRF4 expression (Furutani et al., 2009, Hansen, Klass et al., 2007). These oxidative stress-derived myotubes presented reduced diameter and less abundance of muscle important proteins such as myosin, actinin and troponin I (McClung et al., 2009). Thus, an oxidative stress state would affect mainly the survival, proliferative and adhesion capacities of myoblasts in vitro, although it could also impair differentiation of the surviving cells. Protein kinases such as PI3K and Protein kinase B (PKB or Akt) were shown to be involved in L6 rat myotubes resistance to a menadionemediated oxidative stress (Lim, Woo et al., 2008) as well as for C2C12 myoblast protection against H₂O₂-induced apoptosis (Matheny & Adamo, 2010).

If an oxidative state has been proved harmful for muscle function, antioxidant molecules were shown to play protective roles on muscle myogenesis. Indeed, natural

antioxidants such as Oligopin⁹ (Dargelos et al., 2010), *Schisandrae Fructus* ethanol extract (Kang, Han et al., 2014), Sargassum horneri methanol extract (Kang, Choi et al., 2015) or creatine (Sestili, Barbieri et al., 2009) prevented cultured myoblasts and myotubes from cell death after oxidative treatment via modulation of heat shock protein B1 phosphorylation (Poussard, Pires-Alves et al., 2013) or via Nfr2-dependent up-regulation of the antioxidant enzyme heme oxygenase-1 (Kang et al., 2015, Kang et al., 2014). Another antioxidant enzyme that was shown to mediate the effects of antioxidant molecules is the GPx3, which mediated the antioxidant effects of retinoid acid treatment on human primary myoblasts cultures (El Haddad et al., 2012). Moreover, a proteomic study on creatine-treated C2C12 myoblasts showed increased levels of Prx3 and Prx4 (Young, Larsen et al., 2010), suggesting an indirect antioxidant capacity of creatine, mediated by these thioredoxindependent peroxide reductases. Indeed, the presence of antioxidant enzymes was proved necessary to counteract oxidative state conditions. While the myotubes sensitivity to exogenous oxidative stresses was attributed to a reduced expression and activity of antioxidant enzymes at these later stages of *in vitro* differentiation (Franco, Odom et al., 1999), the high levels of SOD and GSH found in muscle-derived stem cells, conferred them greater regenerative capacities when implanted in vivo comparing to myoblasts, which presented less antioxidant enzymes (Urish, Vella et al., 2009). Moreover, the study of myoblasts derived from K.O. mice for the mitochondrial Prx (Prx3) revealed a deregulation of myotubes mitochondrial network and membrane potential with higher ROS levels and less ATP production compared to the W.T. myotubes (Lee et al., 2014b).

Taken together, these studies suggest that tiny regulated ROS levels are necessary for cell cycle exit and myoblasts differentiation. This is achieved by an increase in the activities of different ROS producing enzymes such NOX, NOS and enzymes of the mitochondrial respiratory chain at early states of differentiation. In order to avoid excessive ROS production, some antioxidant enzymes follow the ROS increase during differentiation. This is the case for Prx2, whose expression increases from early differentiation steps in a PI3K-dependent activation of NF- κ B manner (Won et al., 2012). Indeed, ROS signalling in muscle progenitors is mediated by p38 α /MAPK and NF- κ B pathways to allow MyoD expression, myoblasts fusion and differentiation. On the other hand, elevated ROS levels creating an oxidative state on myoblasts will lead to mitochondrial degeneration, oxidative damages and less adhesion capacities, ultimately leading to cell death. Such an oxidative stress state is

⁹ a natural pine bark extract containing members of the flavenoids family

created by exogenous ROS and its effects on myoblasts function are also mediated by the NF- κ B pathway. Depending on the cases, elevated ROS content could also lead to impaired differentiation of the surviving cells. In contrast, antioxidant treatments, by increasing the expression of specific antioxidant enzymes, will allow myoblasts survival and enhanced adaptive myogenic capacity in regard to an oxidative stress state.



Figure 15 – **Critical role of ROS in myogenesis**. While low levels of ROS are observed in proliferative myoblasts, moderate ROS levels are required for cell cycle exit, fusion and differentiation. However, excessive ROS, not balanced by antioxidant systems are deleterious for myogenesis. Thus, for correct myogenesis, myoblasts redox state should be tiny regulated.

IV. Protein Homeostasis

Protein homeostasis (also known as proteostasis) is a major process that needs to be tiny regulated in order to preserve cellular and organismal physiological function. Since skeletal muscle is the major protein reservoir in the body, the study of protein synthesis, maintenance and breakdown within muscle cells gains even more importance. In this chapter, I will review proteolytic systems as well as protein repair systems that deal with oxidative modifications to proteins, as part of protein homeostasis.

Protein Degradation Systems

When protein oxidation results in irreversible modifications, these proteins have to be eliminated to avoid their accumulation and subsequent cell dysfunction. This elimination is done by proteolytic systems that will degrade these proteins, generating amino acids that can be further used for *de novo* protein synthesis. Among these protein degradation systems are Lon and Clp proteases present in the mitochondria, the ubiquitin-proteasome system present in the nucleus and in the cytoplasm, and various other proteases present in the lysosomes. More recently, evidences suggest that some cysteine proteases such as caspases and the Ca^{2+} -dependent calpains are also able to degrade sarcomeric proteins with oxidative modifications (Chen, Huang et al., 2014, Smuder, Kavazis et al., 2010) but the mechanisms for this kind of oxidised protein degradation are not yet elucidated.

Mitochondrial proteases

Mitochondrial proteases are critically important for mitochondrial protein maintenance and have been implicated in ageing and some diseases such as cancer (Hamon, Bulteau et al., 2015, Quiros, Langer et al., 2015). These proteases are responsible for the elimination of damaged, oxidised or unfolded proteins being distributed within the different mitochondrial compartments (Figure 16). In the mitochondrial matrix, protein quality control is mainly achieved by two ATP-dependent serine proteases: Lon and Clp. Lon protease (LonP) is a soluble protein encoded by a single nuclear gene and responsible not only for the degradation of misfolded or damaged proteins but also of normal mitochondrial proteins promoting correct regulation of mitochondrial metabolic processes (Wang, Maurizi et al., 1994). Activation of LonP requires the formation of a single homo hexameric ring with 3 functional domains in each subunit: a N-terminal domain, involved in substrate recognition; an ATPase domain that binds and hydrolyses ATP; and a protease domain, which hosts the proteolytic active site (Hamon et al., 2015). Its proteolysis mechanism is similar to that of other ATP-dependent proteases: it starts with substrate recognition and binding, unfolding of the substrate, translocation onto the proteolytic chamber and final protein cleavage (Licht & Lee, 2008). Regarding Clp protease, its active form includes a proteolytic core (named ClpP in humans) made of two heptameric rings and sandwiched between two ATPase-active chaperone rings (called ClpX in humans), forming the so-called ClpXP complex (Kress, Maglica et al., 2009). The chaperone rings consist of hexameric rings assembled around the central pore. Mechanistically, misfolded, damaged proteins or specific metabolic enzymes are recognised and unfolded by the chaperone subunits before being transferred through their central pore to the protease compartment where they are hydrolysed into peptides of 5 to 10 amino acids (Yu & Houry, 2007).



Figure 16 - **Mitochondrial proteases.** Mitochondria have some different proteases responsible for protein quality control, which are distributed within different mitochondrial compartments. For the degradation of misfolded, damaged and oxidised proteins, as well as for the turnover of some metabolic enzymes, mitochondria possesses the two ATP-dependent proteases, Clp (ClpXP) and Lon (LonP) in their matrix and the matrix ATPases associated with diverse cellular activities (mAAA) proteases in their inner membrane. In the intermembrane space, the serine protease HTRA2 degrades misfolded, damaged and oxidised proteins, while intermembrane AAA (iAAA) proteases participate in the maintenance of the respiratory chain complexes along with the mitochondrial inner membrane protease ATP23. In the matrix, the maintenance of the respiratory chain is made by the LonP and the mAAA proteases. Finally, the peptides generated by proteolysis can be exported to the cytosol or further degraded into amino acids by the oligopeptidase presequence protease (PITRM1). (Quiros et al., 2015)

The ubiquitin-proteasome system

The ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) is a major proteolysis system, being responsible for the tiny regulated elimination of intracellular proteins such as abnormal, denatured, damaged (i.e. oxidised) as well as short-lived proteins (such as regulatory proteins) (Ciechanover, 2005, Goldberg, 2007). It is an enzymatic multicomplex composed of two main components: the ubiquitin system and the proteasome system. The ubiquitin system is responsible for the protein recognition and for its labelling with ubiquitin (Ub), thanks to an enzymatic cascade involving three different enzymes named E1 (Ub-activating enzyme), E2 (Ub-conjugating enzyme) and E3 (Ub-ligase) (Figure 17). The specificity of this ubiquitylation reaction is mainly due to the E3 enzymes, which are responsible for substrate recruitment. Thus, it is not surprising that numerous E3-ligases exist within cells.

In a second step, ubiquitin tagged proteins are then recognized by the proteasome 26S, which proceeds to protein hydrolysis into inactive peptides (Figure 17). The 26S proteasome is composed of two constituents: the 20S proteasome, its proteolytic core, and the 19S proteasome, the regulatory component responsible for the binding of the polyubiquitinated substrates. The 19S proteasome confers a poly-ubiquitin recognition and ATPase activity dependence to the 26S proteasome. In fact, 20S proteasome, in contrast to 26S proteasome, does not require tagging by Ub or ATP activity (Shringarpure, Grune et al., 2003). Instead, it is capable of recognising modified secondary and tertiary protein structures as well as oxidised proteins (Shringarpure et al., 2003). In eukaryotic cells, the 20S proteasome consists of 7 different α - and 7 different β - subunits that form four heptameric rings, which are disposed in a cylindrical manner (Figure 17). The α -subunits constitute the outer rings that contain the binding site for regulatory proteins and the β -subunits are in the middle of the rings and contain the active proteolytic sites. Among the 7 β -subunits, only 3 exhibit catalytic activities named β 1 responsible for the peptidylglutamyl-peptide hydrolase (PGPH) or caspase-like (C-L) activity, $\beta 2$ caring the trypsin-like (T-L) activity and $\beta 5$ for the chymotrypsin-like (CT-L) activity (Goldberg, 2007). The CT-L activity seems to be the initial and rate limiting step in protein degradation by 20S proteasome. It cleaves proteins after amino acids with large and hydrophobic side chains, generating smaller fragments that will further be cleaved after basic residues by β 2-subunit and/or after acidic amino acids by the PGPH activity of the β 1-subunit (Orlowski & Wilk, 2000).

At least 19 different subunits give rise to the 19S regulatory particle, also known as

RP/PA700. In the presence of high salt concentrations, it can be dissociated into two subcomplexes, namely the lid (involved in substrate uptake and de-ubiquitylation) and the base (involved in the recognition, unfolding and further translocation of the substrate) (Figure 17). Apart from the one or two 19S complexes attached at either one or both ends of 20S core, other proteasome regulators can also bind 20S proteasome, such as the 11S complex (also known as PA28, REG or PA26) (Stadtmueller & Hill, 2011).



Figure 17 - **The ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS)**. UPS enzymes mediate a series of reactions responsible for the ubiquitylation and degradation of intracellular proteins. In the activation reaction, ubiquitin (Ub) is transferred to an E1 enzyme in an ATP-dependent manner. The activated Ub is subsequently transferred to an E2 enzyme via a conjugating reaction. The E2 enzyme then carries the Ub to the E3 enzyme, which is important not only because it covalently ligates Ub to lysine residues on the substrate protein, but also because it mediates substrate specificity. This process of Ub ligation may be repeated with a lysine of the Ub protein itself serving as the substrate, leading to the formation of a poly-Ub chain on the target protein. Poly-Ub proteins are then recognized by the 26S proteasome, which mediates their regulated degradation into peptides. 26S protein degradation is achieved by the proteolytic core of the 20S proteasome and regulated by the 19S proteasome in an ATP-dependent manner. Finally, de-ubiquitylation enzymes (DUB) enzymes can reverse substrate protein ubiquitylation, thus increasing the regulation of this type of protein elimination. (From *Cell Signaling Technology - Ubiquitin/Proteasome Pathway*)

Lysosomal system

Lysosomes are organelles filled with various acidic hydrolases such as peptidases, lipases and nucleases responsible for the degradation of various biological macromolecules, thereby recycling their biochemical components for energy production and other anabolic reactions (Fitzwalter & Thorburn, 2015). The optimal activity of lysosomal hydrolases requires an internal acidic pH, which is maintained by proton pumps present on its single or double membranes and that actively transport H⁺ ions into the lumen. While the UPS is a highly regulated protein degradation system responsible for the degradation of soluble shortlived cytosolic proteins; large protein aggregates, soluble long-lived proteins, as well as entire organelles are targeted to lysosomes by autophagy. Three types of autophagy exist based on the mechanism of cargo delivery to the lysosomes: microautophagy, chaperonemediated autophagy and macroautophagy (Figure 18). In the case of microautophagy, the cytoplasmic components to be degraded are engulfed by the lysosome directly through invaginations or protrusions of its membrane (Li, Li et al., 2012). Chaperone-mediated autophagy is a more selective pathway, being responsible for the degradation of a particular group of soluble cytosolic proteins. Proteins containing a specific sequence signature are first recognized by HSC-70 (heat shock cognate 70) and other co-chaperones leading to its deliverance to the lysosome where they are further degraded (Orenstein & Cuervo, 2010). Between all forms of autophagy, macroautophagy remains the best-characterised one and for this reason, it is often simply referred to as autophagy. In this type of autophagy, a doublemembrane vesicle sequesters a small portion of the cytoplasm to be degraded (e.g. soluble materials and/or organelles) giving rise to the so-called autophagosome (Figure 18). The autophagosome then fuses directly or indirectly with a lysosome, forming an autolysosome, where its content is degraded by lysosomal enzymes (Klionsky & Emr, 2000, Mizushima, Levine et al., 2008). It is important to note that lysosomal formation is also functionally connected with heterophagic pathways (Figure 18). Indeed, extracellular material and plasma membrane proteins can be delivered to the lysosomes for degradation via the endocytic pathway. In this case, the extracellular material is first integrated within endocytic vesicles derived from the plasma membrane, which then fuse with early endosomes that gradually maturate into late endosomes. These late endosomes will subsequently fuse with transport vesicles, originated from the trans-Golgi network, to constitute the lysosome (Luzio, Pryor et al., 2007).

Although the UPS and autophagy have long been studied as two separate proteolytic pathways with distinct functions, recent findings suggest that, at least within certain conditions, these two systems are interconnected and might play compensatory functions in some cases. In fact, not only proteins with short half-life have been shown to be degraded by autophagy, but also long-lived proteins can be eliminated by the UPS (Fuertes, Martin De Llano et al., 2003, Li, 2006). In addition, recent findings show that Ub recognition can also

be present in the autophagic pathway of protein degradation (Khaminets, Behl et al., 2015). However, although proteasome inhibition may induce autophagy, autophagy inhibition may not induce proteasomal protein degradation but leads to impaired degradation of specific UPS targets (Korolchuk, Mansilla et al., 2009). These could be due to the formation of heavily oxidised and cross-linked proteins, which are poor substrates for the proteasome (Ravikumar, Duden et al., 2002).



Figure 18 - The lysosomal system. Proteases of lysomes are able to degrade proteins and organelles from cytosol (autophagy) but also from the extracellular environmental (heterophagy). Three types of autophagy can be distinguished. In macroautophagy, a double membrane envelops a small portion of the cytoplasm containing the material to be degraded, forming the autophagosome. This structure then fuses with lysosome, forming the autophagosome where the cytoplasmic content is degraded. In microautophagy, the cytoplasmic material is swallowed by the lysosome directly through invaginations or protrusions of its membrane. In chaperon-mediated autophagy, soluble cytosolic proteins are recognized by their KFERQ-like motif and delivered to the lysosome by HSC-70 and co-chaperones. In the case of extracellular components, there are delivered to the lysosome for degradation though the endocytic pathway, where a vesicle is formed from the cytoplasmic membrane. Adapted from (Chondrogianni, Petropoulos et al., 2014).

Proteolytic Systems in Skeletal Muscle

Apart from their roles in degradation of oxidative and non-functional misfolded proteins, lysosomal proteases and UPS, together with calpains and caspases constitute the main muscle proteolytic systems, which are involved in metabolic protein turnover and breakdown of specific proteins. Activation of skeletal muscle proteolytic systems is transcriptionally regulated in specific conditions mainly related to muscle atrophy, such as fasting, ageing as well as some diseases, including cancer, diabetes, sepsis and renal failure (Kandarian & Jackman, 2006, Lecker, Goldberg et al., 2006). Indeed, in atrophying skeletal muscle, the rapid loss of muscle mass occurs primarily through an activation of protein breakdown (Bonaldo & Sandri, 2013, Paco, Ferrer et al., 2012, Sandri, 2013, Shenkman, Belova et al., 2015, Talbert, Smuder et al., 2013). For this reason, the subset of transcripts belonging to proteolytic sytems that have been identified in these conditions have been designated atrophy-related genes or "atrogens" (Sacheck, Hyatt et al., 2007).

In skeletal muscle, the UPS plays a major role in the control of muscle mass and is required to remove sarcomeric proteins upon changes in muscle activity. While its highly activation is responsible for the loss of muscle mass in muscle wasting conditions (Nury, Doucet et al., 2007), the deletion of its components was also shown to contribute to myofiber degeneration and weakness in muscle disorders characterised by the accumulation of abnormal inclusions (Kitajima, Tashiro et al., 2014). Thus, appropriate proteasomal activity is important for muscle growth and for maintaining myofiber integrity. During sarcopenia for instance, a loss of myofibrillar proteins has been associated with a decrease in proteasome expression levels (Husom, Peters et al., 2004). As described above, the specificity and the rate-limiting step of proteasomal degradation are achieved by the E3 ubiquitin ligases. Two muscle-specific E3 ligases, MuRF1 (for Muscle Really Interesting New Gene Finger 1, also known as TRIM63) and MAFbx (for Muscle Atrophy F-box, also known as atrogin-1 or FBXO32), are thought to be key regulators of proteasomal proteolysis in skeletal muscle, especially in atrophic conditions (Bodine & Baehr, 2014, Foletta, White et al., 2011). Indeed, overexpression of MAFbx in skeletal myotubes leads to atrophy, while mice deficient in either MAFbx or MuRF1 were found to be resistant to atrophy induced by denervation or activity fasting (Bodine, Latres et al., 2001, Cong, Sun et al., 2011). MuRF1 ubiquitinates several muscle structural proteins, including troponin I (Kedar, McDonough et al., 2004), actin (Polge, Heng et al., 2011), myosin heavy chains (Clarke, Drujan et al., 2007, Fielitz, Kim et al., 2007), myosin light chains and myosin binding protein C (Cohen, Brault et al., 2009). Although it can also interact with sarcomeric proteins such as myosin heavy and light chains, desmin and vimentin (Lokireddy, Wijesoma et al., 2012), well-known molecular substrates of MAFbx are MyoD, calcineurin and eukaryotic translation initiation factor 3 subunit f (eIF3-f, a critical component in protein translation) (Csibi, Leibovitch et al., 2009, Tintignac, Lagirand et al., 2005).

Regarding autophagy, in skeletal muscle, it is a highly regulated pathway for the degradation of non-myofibril cytosolic proteins or other types of macromolecules and organelles (Mizushima, 2007, Sandri, 2010). Its regulation is done by the autophagic gene (Atg) family: some of these genes being involved in autophagy initiation (Atg1), induction (Atg3, 7, 10, 13) or in autophagosome formation (Atg2, 5, 6, 8, 9, 12) (Mizushima, 2007). Emerging evidences suggest that a baseline level of autophagy in skeletal muscle tissue is required for the maintenance of normal muscle function and mass and that an increase in autophagy above the baseline will contribute to skeletal muscle atrophy (Bechet, Tassa et al., 2005, Bonaldo & Sandri, 2013, Masiero, Agatea et al., 2009, Sandri, 2013, Schiaffino, Dyar et al., 2013). Indeed, specific inactivativation of Atg7 in mice muscle tissue led to a dramatic skeletal muscle atrophy and weakness due to decreased autophagosome formation (Masiero et al., 2009). But also excessive activation of autophagy by numerous signals such as exercise, starvation, caloric restriction, hypoxia, oxidative stress and DNA or mitochondrial damage (Kim, Kim et al., 2013, Kroemer, Marino et al., 2010, Liu, Wise et al., 2008, Mazure & Pouyssegur, 2010, Wohlgemuth, Seo et al., 2010) aggravates muscle wasting by removing cytoplasm portions, organelles and proteins (Dobrowolny, Aucello et al., 2008, Mammucari, Milan et al., 2007, Zhao, Brault et al., 2007). Studying the mechanisms that control the autophagic/lysosomal pathway in skeletal muscle, Mammucari and his collegues identified the FOXO3 transcription factor, already known for playing critical roles in activating UPS and muscle atrophy (Sandri, Sandri et al., 2004), as necessary and sufficient for the induction of autophagy in skeletal muscle in vivo (Mammucari et al., 2007). More precisly, they have found that FOXO3 activation controls the transcription of autophagyrelated genes, including LC3 (a mammalian Atg8 ortholog) (Mammucari et al., 2007). Attenuation of autophagy by inhibition of LC3 preserved muscle mass in a mouse model of oxidative stress (mice with muscle-specific expression of a mutant SOD1) that presented muscle atrophy due to autophagy activation (Dobrowolny et al., 2008). This study suggests an important link between oxidative stress, autophagy and muscle atrophy, which have been reviewed recently (Lee, Giordano et al., 2012, Pellegrino, Desaphy et al., 2011, Powers et al., 2012).

Protein Repair Systems

Enzymatically repair of protein oxidative damage is only possible on certain oxidation products of the sulfur-containing amino acids, cysteine and methionine. In the case of cysteine, the major systems involved in reversing the oxidation of disulfide bridges and sulfenic acid include the reduced forms of small proteins such as thioredoxin and glutaredoxin. Methionine sulfoxide, on its turn, is reduced back to methionine by the methionine sulfoxide reductases enzymes that are then recycled by the thioredoxin/thioredoxin reductase system.

Thioredoxin system

Thioredoxins (Trx) are small ubiquitous proteins with two catalytic redox active cysteines (Cys-XX-Cys), which catalyse the reversible reduction of protein disulfide bonds. Subsequently, oxidised thioredoxins are reduced back enzymatically by the NADPH-dependent thioredoxin reductase (TR) enzymes, which together with NADPH and Trx constitute the thioredoxin system (Lu & Holmgren, 2014) (Figure 19). Two Trx enzymes have been identified to date, the Txr1, which is present in the cytosol and can be translocated into the nucleus in oxidative stress conditions and the Trx2, which is present in the mitochondria. The antioxidant activity of these enzymes consists of providing electrons to thiol-dependent peroxidases, allowing the recycling of these Prx enzymes for the continuous removal of ROS and RNS. Furthermore, Trx enzymes will also be involved in the protection against protein oxidative damages by reducing methionine sulfoxide reductases, enzymes capable of repairing oxidised methionines. In mammals, Trx also regulate the activity of many redox-sensitive transcription factors, such as NF-κB, Nrf2 and p53 (Lu & Holmgren, 2014).

Glutaredoxin system

Glutaredoxins (Grx) are found in almost all living organisms and collaborate with thioredoxins for the reduction of protein disulfides and S-glutathionylated proteins. Four Grx isoenzymes (Grx1, Grx2, Grx3 and Grx5) exist in mammals. In terms of structure, they belong to the Trx superfamily having a dithiol or monothiol active motive, Cys-XX-Cys or

Cys-XX-Ser, respectively (Lillig, Berndt et al., 2008). The dithiol isoenzyme Grx1 is localised mainly in the cytoplasm, in the nucleus, in intermembrane space of mitochondria and in the extracellular space. On the other hand, the dithiol Grx2 and the monothiol Grx5 are mostly mitochondrial enzymes, even if Grx2 have been also found in the cytoplasm and nucleus of tumor cells. Finally, the monothiol isoenzyme Grx3 is present in the nucleus as well as in the cytoplasm (Kalinina, Chernov et al., 2014). In contrast to Trx, Grx are reduced back non-enzymatically by glutathione, which is recovered by the glutathione reductase enzyme in the presence of NADPH (Figure 19). An exception was observed with the Grx2 isoenzyme, which was shown to be reduced back by Trx2 in mitochondria (Johansson, Lillig et al., 2004). The reduction of disulfides and the participation on protein deglutathionylation states the importance of Grx enzymes in defence against oxidative stress as well as in redox regulation of signal transduction (Song, Rhee et al., 2002, Starke, Chock et al., 2003). This allows them to be involved in cellular functions such as differentiation of macrophage-like cell lines (Takashima, Hirota et al., 1999) and in apoptosis prevention of cardiac myoblasts (Murata, Ihara et al., 2003).

Methionine sulfoxide reductase system

Methionine sulfoxide reductases (Msr) constitute a group of four ubiquitous enzymes that catalyse the reduction of free and protein-derived methionine sulfoxides (MetO) to methionine. Two diastereoisomers of methionine sulfoxides can be formed after protein methionine oxidation, MetRO and MetSO. MsrA, which is present in the cytoplasm, in the nucleus and in the mitochondria reduces specifically the MetSO. In contrary, the three MsrB are responsible for the reduction of the diastereoisomer R of MetO. In terms of their intracellular localisation, MsrB1 is present in the cytoplasm as well as in nucleus, MsrB2 is only present in the mitochondria and MsrB3 is present in the mitochondria as well as in the endoplasmic reticulum of eukaryotic cells (Lee, Dikiy et al., 2009). Msr enzymes possess one cysteine (a selenocysteine in the case of MsrB1) in their catalytic site responsible for MetO reduction and whose recycling involves the formation of a disulfide bond with a second Msr cysteine. The disulfide bond can be further reduced restoring Msr activity by the Trx system (Figure 19). Msr have been intensely studied for their antioxidant roles as well as their protection against oxidative stress and apoptosis (Cabreiro, Picot et al., 2008, Salmon, Perez et al., 2009, Ugarte, Petropoulos et al., 2010). Furthermore, they have been suggested

as involved in longevity modulation of some models organisms such as *D. melanogaster* (Chung, Kim et al., 2010) and *C. elegans* (Minniti, Cataldo et al., 2009). More recently, these enzymes have been considered as regulators of protein function (Lee, Peterfi et al., 2013) and as being involved in redox regulation of cellular signalling (Bigelow & Squier, 2011). These proteins as well as their functions will be further discussed in Chapter V.



Figure 19 - **The 3 major protein repair systems. A**) Thioredoxin system participates to the reduction of protein disulfide (Protein-S2); **B**) glutaredoxin system reduces protein disulfide (Protein-S2) as well as protein glutathione mix disulfide (Protein-SSG); and **C**) methionine sulfoxide reductase system reduces methionine sulfoxides (MetO).

Protein Homeostasis in Skeletal Muscle Myogenesis

The proteolytic systems previous cited are essential for the maintenance of muscle progenitor cells homeostasis during remodelling of skeletal muscle tissue. Apart from their importance for myoblasts viability (McMillan & Quadrilatero, 2014, Xing, Shen et al., 2014), the mitochondrial proteases, the UPS and macroautophagy have been reported to be important for muscle stem cells activation, proliferation or differentiation processes. Indeed, while autophagy is induced during mice satellite cells activation, its inhibition in satellite cells resulted in their delayed activation *ex vivo* (Tang & Rando, 2014). The importance of protein degradation systems for satellite cells activation seems to be related to the control of Pax family proteins homeostasis. Indeed, during adult satellite cells activation, Pax3 protein was shown to be degraded by the proteasome catalytic subunits (Boutet, Disatnik et al.,

2007), after being poly-ubiquitinated by Taf1 (for TATA-binding protein-associated factor), a protein that has both E1 Ub-activating and E2 Ub-conjugating activities and that is down-regulated during myogenic differentiation (Boutet, Biressi et al., 2010). Furthermore, the degradation of the Pax3 paralogous protein Pax7, seems also to be achieved by proteasome activity with UPS-mediated degradation of Pax7 protein in mouse immortalized myoblasts being required for expression and accumulation of Myogenin protein and further myoblasts commitment to terminal differentiation (Olguin, Yang et al., 2007).

Moreover while myoblasts proliferation was recently shown to be dependent on the expression of the mitochondrial ClpXP protease (Deepa, Bhaskaran et al., 2016), myoblasts differentiation and fusion in vitro was accompanied by an increase in the expression of Ubconjugates, autophagy-related proteins as well as proteasome activities (Ciechanover, Breitschopf et al., 1999, Cui, Hwang et al., 2014, Ebisui, Tsujinaka et al., 1995, Gardrat, Montel et al., 1997, Kim, Rhee et al., 1998, McMillan & Quadrilatero, 2014), suggesting their important roles in these steps of myogenesis. Indeed, treatment of C2C12 myoblasts with autophagy inhibitors such as 3MA (3-methyladenine) or using of short hairpin RNA (shRNA) against Atg7, also resulted in impaired myoblast fusion and differentiation with an increase in DNA fragmentation and a lower expression of myosin heavy chain proteins (McMillan & Quadrilatero, 2014). Similarly, the use of proteasome specific inhibitors or interference RNA against proteasome subunits led to an accumulation of Ub-conjugates preventing myoblasts fusion in vitro (Ciechanover et al., 1999, Gardrat et al., 1997, Ueda, Wang et al., 1998), while its removal allowed myoblasts to further proceed into differentiation (Kim et al., 1998). Inhibition of myoblasts fusion by proteasome specific inhibitor (bortezomib) was shown to be NF-kB-dependent and resulted in less myotube formation and reduced expression of muscle specific proteins, such as Myogenin and myosin heavy chains (Kim et al., 1998, Xing et al., 2014). Importantly, not only the proteasome catalytic activity but also other components of the UPS were proven important for myogenesis. Among the various E3 ligases identified in striated muscles, the supracited MuRF proteins have been intensively studied in myoblasts. As differentiation proceeds in culture, MuRF2 is the first MuRF isogene to be expressed (Perera, Mankoo et al., 2012) and it has its maximal expression in myotubes compared to proliferative myoblasts (Pizon, Rybina et al., 2013). Depletion in MuRF2A by specific siRNA directed against its isoforms (MuRF2A/p50 and MuRF2B/p60) reduced C2C12 myoblast fusion and myotubes formation, although this effect started to be recovered just after two days (Perera et al., 2012). Contrary to MuRF2, the expression of another muscle specific E3 Ub-ligase, MAFbx appears in late

stages of differentiation where it is required for MyoD poly-ubiquitination (Tintignac et al., 2005). In fact, early overexpression of MAFbx in C2C12 myoblasts suppresses their MyoD-dependent differentiation and impaired myotubes formation *in vitro* (Tintignac et al., 2005).

Globally, all these studies have demonstrated the role of the proteolytic systems in skeletal muscle myogenesis, either through the elimination of muscle specific proteins or by eliminating protein irreversible damages at precise differentiated states. Given the increasing evidence demonstrating the importance of controlled redox state for myoblast differentiation, the hypothesis of a redox mediated regulation of proteolysis activity in myogenesis, gains even more credits. Recent studies performed on C2C12 cells showed that inhibition of the immunoproteasome increased protein oxidation and proapoptotic proteins that impaired myoblasts differentiation (Cui et al., 2014). In addition, ClpP deficient cells showed increased ROS generation and mitochondrial alterations that lead to impaired myoblast differentiation (Deepa et al., 2016).

In the same line of view, one could think of an even more rapid redox regulation of muscle protein function by the oxidised protein repair systems. However, concerning the systems involved in the reversing oxidised cysteines and methionines, which have proven to be important for protein homeostasis and consequently cellular function, their role on skeletal muscle myogenesis is very poorly studied. The only studies involving Grx protein repair systems in muscle tissue were done in embryonic cardiac H9c2 cells and revealed the importance of this system in the protection of cells from apoptotic cell death through the regulation of the Akt redox state (Murata et al., 2003, Urata, Ihara et al., 2006). Regarding the Trx system, it was reported that Trx1 and Trx2 expression did not appear to be modulated during C2C12 myoblasts differentiation while Trx reductases 1 and 2 expression decreases during differentiation (Dimauro, Pearson et al., 2012). Although the authors did not investigated their role in myogenesis, another studied with C2C12 cells had shown that TrxR2 is important for myoblasts survival under oxidative conditions (Rohrbach, Gruenler et al., 2006). Thus, studies are needed to investigate the importance of protein repair systems, especially the Msr system, the only one capable of reducing methionine oxidation, for skeletal muscle progenitors during differentiation.

V. Methionine Sulfoxide Reductases

In this current chapter, I will describe in detail, the methionine sulfoxide reductase (Msr) system, composed by the stereospecific enzymes MsrA and MsrB and involved in the reduction of the diasteroisomeric forms of methionine sulfoxide (MetO). I will address the importance of the Msr system in the protection against oxidative stress, in ageing, as well as their role in the regulation of protein biological activities, all of which are most likely important for skeletal muscle homeostasis.

Methionine sulfoxide reductases discovery

Due to the presence of a sulfur atom, methionine residues are very sensible to oxidation leading to a modification or loss of protein function. First evidences of the importance of keeping methionine in its reduced state for biological function appeared 70 years ago. Studying Lactobacillus arabinosus, Waelsch and colleagues found that methionine oxidation of glutamine synthetase inhibited the conversion of glutamic acid into glutamine, an essential step for bacterial growth (Waelsch, Owades et al., 1946). In addition, sporulation of Bacillus subtilis was also described to be affected by methionine oxidation (Krask, 1953). Few years after the identification of the first deleterious effects of MetO, a Msr activity, capable of reducing back MetO to Met was described, primarily in yeast (Black, Harte et al., 1960), later in bacteria (Ejiri, Weissbach et al., 1979) and in higher organisms such as plants (Doney & Thompson, 1966) and animals (Aymarda, Seyera et al., 1979). Msr activity was evidenced in E. coli by their ability to grow in a culture medium with L-MetO as the only source of methionine, thus capable of catalysing the reduction of MetO (Ejiri et al., 1979). In 1981, Brot and colleagues partially purified one of the enzymes responsible for the reduction of MetO within proteins and showed it as essential for restoring the activity of the ribosomal protein L12 in E. coli (Brot, Weissbach et al., 1981). The enzyme, later called MsrA, uses reduced thioredoxin (Trx) in vivo or dithiothreitol (DTT) in vitro as electron donor (Brot, Werth et al., 1982). MsrA is an ubiquitous protein, differentially expressed in mammalian tissues and capable of reducing a variety of substrates such as free MetO and peptides or proteins containing MetO (Moskovitz, Jenkins et al., 1996a). MsrA was found to be a stereospecific enzyme only capable of reducing the MetSO diastereoisomer of MetO, with an increased specificity for protein-bound MetO compared to

free MetO (Sharov, Ferrington et al., 1999, Sharov & Schoneich, 2000).

Twenty years after the purification of MsrA, Grimaud *et al.* discovered that full reduction of oxidised calmodulin can be done by the combined action of MsrA and another enzyme called MsrB (Grimaud, Ezraty et al., 2001). This new Msr is in fact responsible for the reduction of the MetRO diastereoisomer within proteins, which is not reduced by MsrA (Kryukov, Kumar et al., 2002, Olry, Boschi-Muller et al., 2002). MsrB, later called MsrB1, SelX or SelR in mammals, was discovered in 1999 by Lescure and colleagues as a novel selenoprotein, but at this time, its function was unknown (Lescure, Gautheret et al., 1999).

MsrB exclusively acts on peptidyl-MetO (Grimaud et al., 2001). Intrigued by this, different authors have identified a novel Msr, called fRMsr or MsrC, in *E. coli* which activity is specific for free MetO, being unable to reduce MetO present within proteins (Etienne, Spector et al., 2003, Lin, Johnson et al., 2007, Olry et al., 2002). Very recently, Gennaris and co-workers made another interesting and novel discovery: they found a new Msr system, named MsrPQ, present in the envelope of *E. coli* bacteria, that, contrary to the other known Msr, can reduce both MetO diastereoisomers using electrons directly from the respiratory chain, thus independently from Trx enzymes (Gennaris, Ezraty et al., 2015). A similar system may exist in eukaryotic subcellular oxidising compartments, such as the endoplasmic reticulum or lysosomes but, to date, fRMsr and MsrPQ systems were only found in prokaryotes or unicellular eukaryotes.

Methionine sulfoxide reductases phylogenetic, tissue and cellular distribution

The phylogenetic distribution of *Msr* genes was revealed by genomic analyses made in different organisms. These studies show the presence of *MsrA* and *MsrB* genes in all eukaryotes without exception. Bacteria can possess only *MsrA* genes, the two *Msr* genes or a bifunctional *MsrA/B* fusion gene (Zhang & Weissbach, 2008). This universal presence of *Msr* genes supports their essential roles for cell function, either in protecting them against oxidative damages as well as in regulating protein function. The greatest exception to the universal *Msr* representation between life domains is its absence in 12 archaea representative genomes (Zhang & Weissbach, 2008). Several hypothesis for this, although none of them was already been clearly proven, are proposed: i) the development of a functionally equivalent system; ii) the low O₂ solubility at high temperatures which would avoid ROS production within hyperthermophiles; iii) the observation of non-enzymatic MetO reduction at higher temperatures (Fukushima, Shinka et al., 2007); iv) the existence of protein structures that protect Met residues; v) the presence of *Msr*-containing plasmids in these archaea; vi) the discovery of fRMsr in some archaea including some of those lacking *Msr* genes (Kim, Kwak et al., 2014b) or finally vii) the existence of an efficient first line of defence against ROS production (CAT, SOD and Prx enzymes), which would create a low-ROS environment that diminishes the frequency of protein oxidation.

The fact that no *MsrB*-containing organism exists without *MsrA* gene suggests that these two genes evolved independently and that MsrA protein alone is sufficient to perform this specific protein repair process, while MsrB may have evolved to play other redox functions, increasing defences against greater oxidative damage seen in more complex life forms such as animals and plants. In addition, the organisation of the two *Msr* genes also differs, this can explain the massive *MsrB* gene duplication seen in the plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*: nine *MsrB* genes in contrast to five *MsrA* genes (Rouhier, Vieira Dos Santos et al., 2006). In contrast to plants and algae (Rouhier et al., 2006), animals and bacteria contain fewer *Msr* genes; mammals have one *MsrA* and three *MsrB* genes while *E. coli, S. cerevisiae, C. elegans* and *D. melanogaster* have only one *MsrA* and one *MsrB* gene (Kim & Gladyshev, 2004b, Kryukov et al., 2002). Such gene diversity underlines the biological importance of this system and gene redundancy may be explained by the necessity for organisms to respond to the modification of environmental conditions such as physiological, oxidative stress, thermal stress conditions...

In eukaryotes, Msr enzymes are ubiquitously expressed (Brot et al., 1981, Moskovitz et al., 1996a), with the only exception of leukemic cells that do not express MsrA (Kuschel, Hansel et al., 1999). Analyses of mouse, rat and human tissues revealed a maximal expression level of MsrA in kidney and liver tissues, followed by heart, lung, brain, skeletal muscle, retina, testis, bone marrow and blood (Kuschel et al., 1999, Moskovitz et al., 1996a). Highest Msr activities were found in rat kidney (Moskovitz, Weissbach et al., 1996b) and human neutrophils (Brot, Fliss et al., 1984), which in the case of neutrophils was later shown to be due mainly to MsrB type (Achilli, Ciana et al., 2008). In human skin, MsrA was shown to participate to tissue homeostasis and to be a sensitive target for UV (Ogawa, Sander et al., 2006, Picot, Moreau et al., 2007). MsrA and all three MsrB proteins are expressed in melanocytes (Schallreuter, Rubsam et al., 2006) and keratinocytes (Ogawa et al., 2006). A lower MsrA expression was found in dermal fibroblasts (Ogawa et al., 2006) while a greater

MsrA expression was found in sebaceous glands (Taungjaruwinai, Bhawan et al., 2009). MsrB1 and MsrB3 were both expressed within vascular endothelial cells (Taungjaruwinai et al., 2009).

Msr enzymes are differentially distributed in the mammal subcellular compartments (Figure 20), which indicate that each Msr may have an organelle-specific role. MsrA is present in mitochondrial matrix due to its N-terminal mitochondrial signal sequence (Hansel, Kuschel et al., 2002) (Figure 21) but was also found in rat liver cytosolic fractions (Vougier, Mary et al., 2003) and in the nucleus of mouse cells (Kim & Gladyshev, 2005b) (Figure 20). If its N-terminal peptide sequence was sufficient for mitochondrial targeting, other structural and functional elements present in the MsrA sequence will determine its intra-cellular distribution. Full folded MsrA is retained in the cytosol, while partially misfolded MsrA appears to be targeted to the mitochondria (Kim & Gladyshev, 2005b). An alternative first exon splicing generating an additional MsrA form lacking a mitochondrial signal (Figure 21), which resides in cytosol and nucleus, was also evidenced but no protein resulting from this alternatively spliced MsrA was detected in mouse tissues (Kim & Gladyshev, 2006). For the MsrB family, the situation is much more complex than for MsrA, due to the existence of four proteins resulting from the transcription and consequent translation of three different genes. The selenoprotein protein MsrB1 is present both in the nucleus and the cytosol, while MsrB2, also known as CBS-1, is present only in the mitochondria due to the presence of a N-terminal signal peptide (Kim & Gladyshev, 2004b) (Figure 20 and 21). Interestingly, MsrB3A and MsrB3B result from alternative splicing of the first exon of the MsrB3 gene with MsrB3A displaying an endoplasmic reticulum signal peptide while MsrB3B showed a mitochondrial signal peptide at the N-terminus, in addition to an endoplasmic reticulum retention signal peptide at their C-terminus (Figure 20 and 21). In mouse, however, there is no evidence for *MsrB3* alternative splicing and the only MsrB3 protein is present in the endoplasmic reticulum, even though it has both the endoplasmic reticulum and the mitochondrial signal peptides at its N-terminus (Kim & Gladyshev, 2004a).



Figure 20 - **Subcellular distribution of methionine sulfoxide reductase enzymes in humans**. MsrA and MsrB1 enzymes are present in the cytoplasm and in the nucleus of human cells. Within mitochondria, there are MsrA together with MsrB2 and MsrB3B enzymes. The endoplasmic reticulum possesses also a MsrB type enzyme called MsrB3A.



Figure 21 - Genetic organisation of mammalian methionine sulfoxide reductases (Msr). Two genes were identified for MsrA. One of them contains a mitochondrial targeting signal (MTS) in its N-terminal domain while the second gene corresponds to a spliced form of MsrA without MTS, generated by alternative first exon splicing. For MsrB, three different genes were identified. MsrB1 is the only presenting a selenocysteine (U) in the catalytic site and does not have any MTS, endoplasmic reticulum targeting signal (ERTS) or retention signal (RS). Instead, MsrB2 with a cysteine (C) in the catalytic site possess a MTS in the N-terminal domain of the protein. MsrB3 A and B are a result of alternative splicing and contain both a RS at the C-terminal domain while at the N-terminal domain MsrB3A possess only a MTS and MsrB3B a MTS and an ERTS. The Zn-binding domains that occur in two CxxC motifs of MsrBs are also shown. From (Kim & Gladyshev, 2007).

Methionine sulfoxide reductases sequence, structure and catalytic activity

Sequence alignment between the primary structures of MsrA protein from different organisms showed that there is a high homology among them, with *E. coli* and *Bos taurus* MsrA having 67 and 88 % sequence identity to human MsrA (Lowther et al., 2000a). In addition, this alignment has put in evidence a conserved active-site sequence GCFWG in all organisms studied. The strictly conserved cysteine within this motif (Cys-51 in the case of *E. coli* MsrA, Cys-72 in the case of bovine MsrA and Cys-74 in the case of human MsrA) is essential for the MsrA reducing activity. Moreover, three other cysteine were shown to be conserved within 70 % of all MsrA proteins: Cys-86, Cys-198 and Cys-206 in the case of *E. coli*; Cys-107, Cys-218 and Cys-227 for bovine MsrA; and Cys-109, Cys-220 and Cys-230 in the case of human MsrA (Lowther et al., 2000a). Toward the C-terminus, the two last cysteines bracket a glycine-rich region on MsrA sequence and may serve as additional recycling cysteine for the catalytic mechanism.

MsrA three-dimensional (3D)-structures obtained by X-ray crystallography from *E. coli* (Tete-Favier, Cobessi et al., 2000), *Bos Taurus* (Lowther, Brot et al., 2000b), *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Taylor, Benglis et al., 2003) and *Populus trichocarpa* (Rouhier, Kauffmann et al., 2007) were also essential to determine the mechanistic aspects of MsrA catalysis. MsrA folding belongs to an α/β class of proteins. The presence of the catalytic cysteine in the N-terminal α -helix of the protein allows it to face MetO residues present in other proteins, while the two recycling cysteines are buried in the C-terminal region of the protein. Analysis of the 3D structures of the MsrA with MetO showed that the oxygen of the methionine sulfoxide is strongly stabilized by a hydrophilic subsite composed of a network of hydrogen bonding interactions including Tyr-82, Glu-94 and Tyr-134 in MsrA (numbers based on the *E. coli* MsrA sequence) (Ranaivoson, Antoine et al., 2008). Using NMR technology, a high degree of flexibility of the C-terminal region of oxidised MsrA was evidence, which favour the intramolecular disulfide bond between the two recycling cysteines (Coudevylle, Antoine et al., 2007).

The catalytic mechanism for MsrA has been described around 15 years ago by Boschi-Muller and colleagues in the case of *E. coli* MsrA and by Lowther *et al.* for bovine MsrA (Boschi-Muller, Azza et al., 2000, Lowther et al., 2000a). Based on sulfenic acid chemistry, these two groups propose a reaction mechanism for MsrA catalysis consisting in several steps (Figure 22). First, the catalytic Cys-51/72 will act as a nucleophilic agent

attacking the sulfoxide moiety of the substrate leading to formation of a sulfenic acid on the catalytic cysteine with the concomitant release of 1 mol of methionine per mol of Msr. Subsequently, the recycling Cys-198/218 attack on the sulfenic intermediate will create an intramolecular disulfide bond between the catalytic and the recycling cysteine. In the case of another recycling cysteine, such as Cys-206 from E. coli and Cys-227 from Bos taurus, there is subsequent nucleophilic attack of Cys-206/227 on Cys-198/218 creating a new intramolecular disulfide bond between these two recycling cysteines. The last step involves reduction of thes- disulfide bond by Trx in vivo or other reducing agents, such as DTT, in *vitro*. Kinetic studies showed that the rate of formation of the sulfenic acid is high while the recycling process which reduces back the oxidised catalytic cysteine is overall rate-limiting (Olry, Boschi-Muller et al., 2004). Murine and human MsrA possess the same mechanism of action but in the case of other bacteria, such as Neisseria meningitides (Antoine, Boschi-Muller et al., 2003) and Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Taylor et al., 2003), MsrA proteins possess only one recycling cysteine equivalent to Cys-198 from E. coli. Recently, MsrA has been shown to also have an oxidase activity towards methionines, producing Met-SO within proteins, including itself, or in free methionines (Lim, You et al., 2011), even in the presence of thioredoxin (Kriznik, Boschi-Muller et al., 2014).



Figure 22 - **MsrA catalytic mechanism**. Bacterial MsrA is used in this representation. The nucleophilic attack of the MsrA catalytic Cys-51 on the sulfur atom of the methionine sulfoxide substrate leads to the formation of an unstable intermediate (enzyme bound to the substrate). Ionic rearrangement leads to the formation of a sulfenate ion with the concomitant release of the methionine molecule and protonation of the sulfenate ion to produce a sulfenic acid intermediate on MsrA. The nucleophilic attack of the recycling Cys-198 on the sulfur atom of the sulfenic acid intermediate leads to the formation of an intramolecular disulfide bond. MsrA full native state recovery is achieved after another nucleophilic attack of Cys-198 on Cys-206 generating a second intramolecular disulfide bond, which can be reduced either by the Trx / Txr reductase / NADPH regenerating system or by DTT. Adapted from (Boschi-Muller et al., 2000, Lowther et al., 2000a).

The first protein showing a methionine-R-sulfoxide reductase activity was identified in E. coli and was named MsrB. It has none similarity with MsrA, presents 43 % sequence homology with PilB from Neisseria gonorrhoeae and contains a conserved signature sequence CGWP(S/A)F (Grimaud et al., 2001). Indeed, the PilB protein has a MsrA and a Cterminal MsrB-like domains that function with opposite substrate stereospecificity and a Nterminal thioredoxin-like domain that allows the regeneration of the both Msr active sites (Lowther, Weissbach et al., 2002, Olry et al., 2002, Wu, Neiers et al., 2005). The 3Dstructures of MsrB obtained by X-ray crystallography of PilB did not show any similarity with the one from MsrA (Lowther et al., 2002). However, the active sites for both enzymes show an axial symmetry as if they were reflecting each other in a mirror, which can be explained by the stereospecificity of the two enzymes. This symmetry suggests a similar catalytic mechanism for both enzymes and indeed, the two catalytic cysteines of PilB, Cys-495 and Cys-440, function in a similar way to the E. coli MsrA Cys-51 and Cys-206: a nucleophilic attack by Cys-495 to MetO leads to the production of a trigonal intermediary compound that after ionic rearrangement and subsequent methionine release, will form a sulfenic acid on PilB Cys-440 (Lowther et al., 2002). As for MsrA, a series of proton exchanging events occurs leading to the formation of a disulfide intramolecular bond, which is consequently reduced by Trx (Lowther et al., 2002).

MsrB1 is a mammalian MsrB enzyme that shows less homology with MsrBs from invertebrates, with only 29 % of similarity between the sequences of human MsrB1 and the MsrB domain of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (Lescure et al., 1999). The presence of the selenium atom in its active site is critical for the catalytic function of this enzyme. In fact, the wild type selenoprotein MsrB1 is 800-fold more active than the corresponding cysteine-MsrB1 mutant form (Kim & Gladyshev, 2004b). Similarly, a cysteine to selenocystein mutation in mammalian MsrB2 and MsrB3 resulted in 100-fold increase in the catalytic activity of the enzymes (Kim & Gladyshev, 2005a). The incorporation of a selenocysteine into the primary sequence of MsrB1 protein is due to a SECIS (SelenoCysteine Insertion Sequence) element downstream to the UGA selenocysteine codon (Lescure et al., 1999). The presence of a recycling cysteine, present in the N-terminal region of the MsrB1 protein is important for resolving the selenic acid intermediate formed during catalysis (Figure 23) (Kim & Gladyshev, 2005a).

MsrB2 was first identified in humans as a 21 kDa protein composed of 202 amino acids and carrying the conserved MsrB sequence GTGWP (Jung, Hansel et al., 2002). It presents 59 % homology with *E. coli* MsrB and 42 % with the C-terminal domain of

Neisseria gonorrhoeae PilB. MsrB2 is four times less efficient than MsrA for the reduction of a specific synthetic substrate. Contrarily to the other 60 % of MsrB containing a recycling cysteine residue in the middle of their sequences, the mammalian MsrB2 proteins do not have this cysteine residue and the sulfenic intermediate could be directly reduced by Trx (Kim & Gladyshev, 2005a).

Another gene, that seems to be only present in the genome of mammals codes, by alternative splicing, two proteins of the MsrB family, MsrB3A and MsrB3B (Kim & Gladyshev, 2004b). As for the other MsrB proteins, they contain a catalytic cysteine and the characteristic CXXC motifs responsible for zinc binding in the protein (Figure 21). In terms of their catalytic activity, these enzymes act similarly to the MsrB2 enzymes (Figure 23). Despite of the presence of cysteine residues in their active sites, catalytic efficiencies of MsrB2 and MsrB3 are only slightly lower than the selenocystein-MsrB1 (Kim & Gladyshev, 2004b, Kim & Gladyshev, 2005a).



Figure 23 - **MsrB catalytic mechanism.** In the case of MsrB1 (upper part of the figure), methionine sulfoxide reduction starts with the nucleophilic attack of selenocystein (Sec) on the sulfur atom of the substrate leading to the formation of an unstable intermediate. Ionic rearrangement leads to the formation of a selenic acid intermediate with the concomitant release of a methionine molecule. The nucleophilic attack of the recycling cysteine (Cys) on this selenic acid intermediate leads to the formation of an intramolecular selenenylsulfide bond, which is subsequently reduced by the thioredoxin (Trx) / thioredoxin reductase (TR) / NADPH regenerating system or by dithiothreitol (DTT). In contrast, the sulfenic intermediate of MsrB2 and MsrB3 (lower part of the figure), formed on Cys after methionine release, can be directly reduced to its fully active state by one of these mechanisms. Adapted from (Kim & Gladyshev, 2005a, Lowther et al., 2002).

Reducing power for the Msr system

First studies on the biological reducing agents for MsrA revealed that reduced Trx, high levels of DTT or reduced lipoic acid as being able to reduce oxidised MsrA in vitro. If E. coli MsrA and MsrB and bovine MsrA efficiently use either Trx or DTT as reducing agents, human MsrB2 and MsrB3 showed less than 10 % of their activity with Trx as reducing agent when compared to DTT (Sagher, Brunell et al., 2006b). This suggests that in animal cells, Trx may not be the only reducing power for these two enzymes. Thionein, the reduced metal-free form of metallothionein, could also function as a reducing system for human MsrB3 and MsrB2 although with weaker activity (Sagher et al., 2006b). Furthermore, selenium compounds such as selenocystamine were found to act as reducing agents for human MsrB2 and MsrB3 (Sagher, Brunell et al., 2006a). More recently, it was found that a few Msr such as A. thaliana MsrB1, Clostridium Sec-containing MsrA or the red alga G. gracilis MsrA can be regenerated by a glutaredoxin (Grx)/ glutathione (GSH) system (Couturier, Vignols et al., 2012, Kim, Lee et al., 2011, Tarrago, Laugier et al., 2009, Vieira Dos Santos, Laugier et al., 2007). In the case of A. thaliana MsrB1, the sulfenic acid is reduced by glutathione forming a glutathionylated intermediate that is attacked by glutaredoxins (Tarrago et al., 2009). However, the rate of the recycling process is at least 10 to 100-fold lower compared to Trx acting in Msr with a recycling cysteine, suggesting that the Grx system would not be used in Msr in which a disulfide bond is formed. In agreement methionine auxotrophic *E. coli* is unable to grow in the presence of MetO when the *Trx1* gene is inactivated (Jacob, Kriznik et al., 2011).

Methionine sulfoxide reductases in protection against oxidative stress

Several studies realised in different bacteria and eukaryotes revealed that Msr enzymes and methionine amino acids work together in cellular protection against oxidative stress. Surface-exposed methionine residues in proteins are more easily oxidised by ROS due to the presence of sulphur atoms. However, they are believed to be more resistant to oxidative inactivation (Levine et al., 1996), thus keeping protein structure and catalytic function. Through this mechanism, methionines are proposed to act as a threshold barrier for other amino acid oxidation, which would lead to loss of the protein activity (Hsu, Narhi et

al., 1996, Levine et al., 1996). Another mechanism through which methionine can act as antioxidant amino acid and observed in *E. coli* (Jones, Alexander et al., 2011), *S. cerevisiae* (Wiltrout, Goodenbour et al., 2012) but also in mammalian cells (Netzer, Goodenbour et al., 2009), is its misacylation, meaning the incorporation of methionines by non-methionyl-tRNAs during translation. To date, this translation infidelity was shown to be specific to methionines and its frequency of occurrence increases upon innate immune or chemically induced oxidative stress (Netzer et al., 2009), thus suggesting that it plays a role in protecting against this kind of stresses. Recently, nine Met-mistranslated forms of these Met-misacylations are located in the catalytic domain and result in increased catalytic activity and in alterations of proteins subcellular localisation (Wang & Pan, 2015). Finally, the antioxidant protection conferred by methionine residues is also due to their cyclic reduction by Msr enzymes, which by render methionines prone to new oxidation reactions, will lower ROS levels (Luo & Levine, 2009).

In agreement, the absence of MsrA expression leads to reduced *E. coli* as well as *M. tuberculosis* viability when treated with ROS and RNS (Moskovitz, Rahman et al., 1995, St John, Brot et al., 2001). This increased sensitivity to oxidants was reversed by transformation of the mutant strain with a plasmid containing the wild-type *MsrA* gene from the respective bacteria species (St John et al., 2001). This MsrA protection against an oxidative stress state induced by different oxidants has been also verified in other bacteria such as *Ochrobactrum anthropi* (Tamburro, Robuffo et al., 2004) and *Staphylococcus aureus* (Singh, Moskovitz et al., 2001). In agreement, MsrA was shown relevant for survival of *Mycobacterium smegmatis* within macrophages, which produce high levels of ROS and RNS to fight against microorganisms (Douglas, Daniel et al., 2004). Overall the studies indicate that bacteria are highly dependent of MsrA to counteract the damaging effects of oxidative stress and consequently for their survival in diverse natural niches.

MsrA functions also as an antioxidant in protection of the eukaryotic unicellular *S*. *cerevisiae*. MsrA null yeast mutants that were not capable of reducing protein-bound MetO when submitted to H_2O_2 treatment, presented a significant protein carbonyl accumulation (Oien & Moskovitz, 2007) and growth alteration (Moskovitz, Berlett et al., 1997). In agreement, overexpression of MsrA in yeast that reduced the levels of free and protein-bound MetO led to increased resistance to toxic concentrations of H_2O_2 (Moskovitz, Flescher et al., 1998). Not only MsrA, but also MsrB were proved to protect *S. cerevisiae* against oxidative damages mediated by the toxic metal chromium (Sumner,
Shanmuganathan et al., 2005).

Msr protection against oxidative stress is also important for higher organisms such as plants and animals. During the dark periods when *A. thaliana* produces more ROS, it has been shown that the Msr system was important to prevent protein oxidative damage, thus minimizing protein turnover in these conditions of limited energy supply (Bechtold, Murphy et al., 2004). MsrB3 was identified in a proteomic study as a cold-responsive protein in *Arabidopsis* (Bae, Cho et al., 2003) as essential to reduce oxidised methionine and to lower ROS level that accumulates in the endoplasmic reticulum during plant cold acclimation (Kwon, Kwon et al., 2007).

In the case of invertebrate animals, the most studied model organisms were the D. melanogaster and the C. elegans. Overexpression of MsrA in the nervous system of D. melanogaster leads to transgenic animals that are more resistant to paraquat-induced oxidative stress (Ruan, Tang et al., 2002). In addition, the induction of MsrA by ecdysone, protects Drosophila against H2O2-induced oxidative stress (Roesijadi, Rezvankhah et al., 2007). Studying worms, Minniti et al. found that MsrA gene is expressed in most tissues, particularly in the intestine and the nervous system and that suppression of this gene resulted in animals more sensitive to paraquat treatment, presenting chemotaxis and locomotor failure, partly due to muscle defects (Minniti et al., 2009). In mammals, paraquat injection decreased the survival of MsrA^{-/-} mice comparing to MsrA^{+/+} or MsrA^{+/-} mice (Salmon et al., 2009). MsrA null mutant mice present also higher level of protein carbonyls in the liver and kidney (Moskovitz, Bar-Noy et al., 2001) as well as in the heart tissue, correlated with mitochondria morphological changes in this tissue (Nan, Li et al., 2010). Our laboratory showed that the modulation of Msr activity in rat hearts observed along the course of ischemia/reperfusion may involve structural modification of the enzyme rather than a modification of MsrA protein level (Picot, Perichon et al., 2006). Indeed, Dr. Levine's laboratory has later shown that the MsrA cytosolic form needs to be myristoylated in order to confer heart protection against ischemia/reperfusion damages, suggesting that it must interact with a hydrophobic domain (Zhao, Sun et al., 2011). This protective role of MsrA against ischemia/reperfusion injuries was also evidenced in mouse kidney, with increased oxidative stress markers, inflammation and fibrosis observed in kidneys of MsrA^{-/-} mice after injury comparing to wild type (Kim, Choi et al., 2013, Kim, Noh et al., 2015). In agreement to what have been found in MsrA^{-/-} mice, increased GSH, protein and lipid oxidation were also found in the liver and kidney of the MsrB1 K.O mice (Fomenko, Novoselov et al., 2009). MsrB1 is a selenium protein, thus depending on selenium concentrations to be

produced. Interestingly, Dr. Moskovitz have found that MsrA K.O mice submitted to a selenium deficient diet presented decreased MsrB activity but also less Gpx and Trx activies in their brains (Moskovitz, 2007).

Msr protection against oxidative damages was also investigated in different mammalian cell types in vitro. This is the case for instance for human (Sreekumar, Kannan et al., 2005), monkey (Lee, Gordiyenko et al., 2006) and rat (Dun, Vargas et al., 2013) retinal pigment epithelial cells and for human lens cells (Kantorow, Hawse et al., 2004). As an example, overexpression of MsrA confers to human lens cells an increased resistance to H_2O_2 -induced stress while *MsrA* gene silencing led to an increased sensitivity towards oxidative treatment and to a loss of viability even in the absence of exogenously added stress (Kantorow et al., 2004). The protecting role of MsrB against oxidative stress was also stressed out in human lens cells. Silencing of all or individual genes led to increased oxidative stress-induced cell death indicating that MsrB are also implicated in human lens epithelial cell viability (Marchetti, Pizarro et al., 2005). MsrB1 was the most studied MsrB in human lens epithelial cells. Silencing of this Msr gene resulted in increased ROS levels, lipid oxidation, ER stress, decreased mitochondrial potential and release of cytochrome c, ultimately leading to caspase-dependent apoptosis (Dai, Liu et al., 2016, Jia, Li et al., 2012, Li, Jia et al., 2013). Furthermore, peroxynitrite treatment to MsrB1-deficient human lens epithelial cells will aggravate the oxidative damages and F-actin disruption, that normally occurs after this nitric stress (Jia, Zhou et al., 2014), suggesting that MsrB1 protects lens cells from F-actin nitration.

We and others have shown that human T lymphocyte cells presented an increase resistance to H_2O_2 or zinc treatments when transfected with MsrA and/or MsrB2 genes by reducing the levels of intracellular ROS species and protein oxidative damages that would lead to cell death (Cabreiro et al., 2008, Cabreiro, Picot et al., 2009, Moskovitz et al., 1998). The role for MsrA in the prevention against the accumulation of protein and cellular oxidative damage provoked by H_2O_2 -induced oxidative stress was also studied in fibroblast cells (Picot, Petropoulos et al., 2005) and was associated in these cells to MsrA-dependent differentially expression proteins implicated in protection against oxidative stress, apoptosis and premature ageing (Cabreiro, Picot et al., 2007). If overexpression of MsrA in the endoplasmic reticulum of mammalian cells increases their resistance to oxidative and ER stresses (Kim, Kim et al., 2014c), the resistance to a ER stress is mainly conferred by MsrB3 (Kwak, Lim et al., 2012, Lim, Han et al., 2012). Finally, in human skin cells, the behaviour of the MsrA enzyme seems to be dependent on the type of UV exposure and the dose

applied, suggesting a hormetic response to environmental stress. In fact, low doses of UVA stimulate MsrA expression, while UVB or high doses of UVA contribute to decrease MsrA expression and increase protein carbonyl (Ogawa et al., 2006, Picot et al., 2007), that can be prevented by pre-treating the cells with MsrA (Pelle, Maes et al., 2012). In melanocytes, the absence of MsrA expression also increased sensibility to oxidative stresses and cell death even in the absence of exogenous stresses (Zhou, Li et al., 2009). Since it was found that Msr expression and activities are significantly decreased in the epidermis of patients with vitiligo, a depigmentation disorder (Schallreuter, Rubsam et al., 2008), one could think that their loss of pigmentation could be due an increased melanocytes cells death caused by their reduced Msr expression.

In conclusion, methionine amino acid residues together with the Msr system constitute a potent antioxidant ROS scavenging system, preserving macromolecules in their reduced state and thus protecting different cell types and organisms from different kinds of oxidative and ER stresses, ultimately contributing to protein homeostasis and cell survival in endogenous or exogenous stress conditions.

Methionine sulfoxide reductases in disease, ageing and longevity

Given that Msr system protects proteins, the major cellular effectors, from irreversible oxidation products resulted from a severe oxidative stress and that protein carbonyls levels are usually assumed as a marker of oxidative stress in pathophysiological conditions and during ageing, it is expected that Msr would be implicated in diseases and in ageing process.

Indeed, it has been shown that oxidised proteins accumulate in tissues from patients exhibiting age-related diseases such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, Huntington's diseases and cataracts (Gil-Mohapel, Brocardo et al., 2014, Swomley & Butterfield, 2015). Reduced MsrA activity was found in the brains of Alzheimer's disease patients (Gabbita, Aksenov et al., 1999). In agreement, an important accumulation of MetO was observed in the brains of aged rats suffering from neurodegenerative diseases, accompanied by an important decrease in MsrA expression (Moskovitz et al., 1996a). Furthermore, the MsrA K.O. mice demonstrated behavioural abnormality (tip-toe walking) consistent with cerebellar dysfunction (Moskovitz et al., 2001), increased light scattering - a common cataract symptom (Brennan, Lee et al., 2009) and enhanced neurodegeneration with characteristic

features of neurodegenerative diseases (Pal, Oien et al., 2007). Methionine oxidation in amyloid β -peptide (A β peptide), more specifically Met-35, is thought to be critical for aggregation and neurotoxicity (Hou, Kang et al., 2002) and it was shown that the absence of MsrA modifies A β solubility properties and causes mitochondrial dysfunction in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease (Moskovitz, Du et al., 2016, Moskovitz, Maiti et al., 2011). In the case of Parkinson's disease, oxidation of the methionine residues in α -synuclein is thought to be the main reason of protein fibrillation causing the pathology (Glaser, Yamin et al., 2005). *In vivo*, MsrA overexpression inhibits development of the locomotor and circadian rhythm defects caused by ectopic expression of human alpha-synuclein in the *Drosophila* nervous system (Wassef, Haenold et al., 2007).

The importance of Msr in age-related diseases and the accumulation of modified proteins produced by the action of ROS as major causes of ageing, suggests that Msr would have also an important role in ageing phenotype. Indeed, the accumulation of oxidatively modified proteins during ageing has been largely attributed to declined efficacy of the systems involved in protein homeostasis such as protein degradation and protein repair (Chondrogianni et al., 2014). In fact, it has been shown in the laboratory that MsrA is down-regulated in aged rats (Petropoulos, Mary et al., 2001) and during replicative senescence of fibroblasts (Picot, Perichon et al., 2004). Increased MetO levels were found in membrane proteins of senescent erythrocytes (Brovelli, Seppi et al., 1990) and in senescent *E. coli* (Weissbach, Resnick et al., 2005).

Several studies have been done to elucidate the implication of the Msr system in regulating lifespan but they are still controversial. The first two groups having tried to test this hypothesis used MsrA K.O. mice and MsrA overexpressing *Drosophila* as models, respectively (Moskovitz et al., 2001, Ruan et al., 2002). Knockout of the MsrA gene in mice reduces its lifespan by 40% (Moskovitz et al., 2001) while, in contrast, its overexpression in *Drosophila* accounts for a 70% extension in healthy lifespan (Ruan et al., 2002). In both studies, MsrA-dependent lifespan modulation was related to its role in protection against oxidative stress but later, an other study showed that while the lack of MsrA in mice increases sensitivity to oxidative stress, it does not diminish lifespan (Salmon et al., 2009). However, MsrA overexpression was shown to increase lifespan of *S. cerevisiae* (Koc, Gasch et al., 2004) while its inhibition in yeast or in *C. elegans* is accompanied by a shorten lifespan (Minniti et al., 2009).

Overall these studies suggest that the importance of Msr system in ageing and neurodegenerative diseases is dependent of their role as an antioxidant enzyme protecting cells and organisms from the deletious effects of an increased oxidative stress.

Methionine sulfoxide reductases as regulators of protein and cellular functions

There is increasing evidences that the cyclic interconversion between Met and MetO within proteins is implicated in the regulation of cell signalling functions. In fact, it has been demonstrated that the oxidation of certain methionines residues in proteins induces mainly the loss of their biological activity, while their reduction by Msr is capable of reversing it.

The types of proteins in which methionine oxidation has been involved in their function are very diverse: proteases or protease inhibitors, metabolic enzymes, cytoskeleton proteins, cytokines, heat shock proteins, hormones, heme proteins, proteins associated with neurodegenerative disorders, proteins involved in immunodefences as well as different bacterial proteins and snake toxins (see (Oien & Moskovitz, 2008) for review). Between the more than 50 proteins reported to have altered activity due to formation of methionine sulfoxide, only part of them was already described as being substrates of Msr enzymes either *in vitro* or *in vivo* experiments. Here I will focus in some examples of these Msr substrates.

The *E. coli* ribosomal protein L12 was the first characterised substrate of MsrA (Brot et al., 1981). The oxidation of three methionines by H_2O_2 decreases its ability to bind to ribosomes and to interact with other ribosomal proteins such as L10, impairing protein synthesis (Caldwell, Luk et al., 1978). The activity of L12 can be regained by MsrA reduction of the oxidised methionines (Brot et al., 1981). Another *E. coli* protein involved in protein machinery is the Ffh component of the ubiquitous signal recognition particle. This protein contains a methionine-rich domain whose oxidation compromises Ffh interaction with a small RNA. Oxidised Ffh is a substrate for MsrA and MsrB enzymes and reduction of Ffh MetO residues allows the recovery of its RNA-binding abilities (Ezraty, Grimaud et al., 2004).

Regarding serine protease inhibitors, methionine oxidation was associated with a loss of function in α 1-antitrypsin (Abrams, Weinbaum et al., 1981) and α 2-antitrypsin (Stief, Aab et al., 1988). In particular, α 1-antitrypsin protein is important for lungs protection by preserving anti-neutrophil elastase activity, which is associated with the risk of developing emphysema. Oxidation of two methionines of α 1-antitrypsin causes a loss of the anti-neutrophil elastase activity, which can be restored in part with the addition of MsrA *in vitro*

(Glaser, Karic et al., 1987). Methionine oxidation of Human Immunodeficiency Virus 2 (HIV-2) protease, which cleavages proteins involved in the HIV-2 reproductive cycle, also inhibits its proteolytic activity while the addition of only MsrA partially restores it (Davis, Newcomb et al., 2000). These findings could lead to new therapeutic strategies in order to fight against diseases such as pulmonary emphysema and AIDS.

In addition, an important protein participating in the immunological and oxidative stress response, the inhibitor of kappa B-alpha (I κ B α), named for its inhibition activity of the transcription factor nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B), can also be oxidised a methionine residue thereby increasing its resistance to proteasomal degradation (Kanayama, Inoue et al., 2002). When I κ B α is oxidised by taurine chloride or chloramines, it cannot dissociate from the NF- κ B, thus preventing it from nucleus translocation and subsequent activation of its target genes (Midwinter, Cheah et al., 2006). Inhibition of NF- κ B activation is prevented by MsrA (Mohri, Reinach et al., 2002).

Furthermore, methionine oxidation and its Msr-dependent reduction is important for the regulation of cellular excitability, in particularly through the regulation of the voltagegated and the calcium (Ca^{2+})-activated potassium channels (Chen, Avdonin et al., 2000, Ciorba, Heinemann et al., 1997) (Figure 24A).

Another protein involved in cellular excitability, and whose activity is regulated by Msr enzymes, is the Ca^{2+} -binding protein calmodulin (CaM) (Bigelow & Squier, 2005). This protein detects the calcium signal in cells and coordinates energy metabolism, which in turn produce ROS in the mitochondria. CaM loses its conformational stability upon Met oxidation (Lim, Kim et al., 2013) thus failing to activate the plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -ATPase (Figure 24B) (Yao, Yin et al., 1996). In contrast, its fully reduction by MsrA and MsrB leads to its binding to the inhibitory domain of the plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -ATPase, inducing helix formation within the CaM-binding sequence and releasing enzyme inhibition (Grimaud et al., 2001, Sun, Gao et al., 1999). Upon oxidative stress, increasing levels of cytosolic Ca^{2+} are probably the consequence of the oxidation of specific methionines in CaM that will be no longer able to activate the Ca^{2+} -ATPase in the plasma membrane. CaM oxidation accumulation will result in down-regulation of metabolism thus, controlling the generation of ROS.

One of the CaM proteins targets, the $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-dependent$ protein kinase II (CaMKII), is also regulated by methionine oxidation. Indeed, apart from Ca^{2+}/CaM regulation or its autophosphorylation at Thr-287, oxidation of one of its methionine residues leads also to its Ca^{2+}/CaM -independent activity (Figure 24C) (Erickson, Joiner et al., 2008).

This is consistent with the notion that Met oxidation does not invariably induce enzyme inactivation. The same authors have shown that MsrA enzymes are essential for reversing CaMKII oxidation in myocardium *in vivo* (Erickson et al., 2008). More recently, it was shown that oxidation of CaMKII mediates the cardiotoxic effects of aldosterone, while MsrA overexpression reversed its effects (He, Joiner et al., 2011).

If Met oxidations are involved in the regulation of biological functions, we could think that they cannot depend only on random oxidation by multiple forms of ROS. There should be also specialised oxidases that catalyse the oxidation of specific protein targets. Indeed, Hung and colleagues have found that a flavoprotein monooxidase, called Mical is able to bind to F-actin and to selectively oxidised 2 of its 16 methionine residues into the R stereoisomer of MetO, resulting on actin disassembly *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Hung, Yazdani et al., 2010). This Mical-dependent redox regulation of actin that can be reversed by MsrB1/SelR, was involved in bristles formation in *Drosophila* (Hung, Spaeth et al., 2013), in membrane trafficking in bone marrow-derived macrophages (Lee et al., 2013) (Figure 24D) and in lens epithelial cells (Jia et al., 2014).

The increasing work done in the reversibility of methionine oxidation *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* led to the accepted view that this sophisticated redox based mechanism must be assimilated to other covalent modifications on proteins such as phosphorylation, acetylation or glutathionylation, implicated in the regulation of many important protein and cellular functions.



Figure 24 - **Representations of methionine and Msr regulation of protein function.** A) voltagegated potation channels. Oxidation of Met in the N-terminal of K+ channels leads to their inactivation, while Msr reduction restores their function. **B**) CaM binding functions as a conformational switch to release enzyme inhibition (green) through association with the Ca-ATPase (red), whose transmembrane helix (TM) is presented in grey. In contrast, CaM methionine oxidation results in an altered binding interaction which retains the association between the inhibitory enzyme and the Ca-ATPase. Msr reduction of CaM will restore catalytically important domain interactions with Ca-ATPase associated with an optimal transport activity. **C**) Mechanism of CaMKII activation by autophosphorylation or by oxidation: after initial activation by binding of Ca²⁺/CaM to its regulatory domain (red), CaMKII can be phosphorylated at T287 yielding persistent activity even after the removal of Ca²⁺/CaM or oxidised at M281/282 blocking reassociation of its catalytic domain (blue), also yielding persistent CaMKII activity. **D**) Model of redox regulation of actin function via reversible stereoselective site-specific methionine oxidation and reduction and its importance for the macrophage immune response. From (Bigelow & Squier, 2005, Erickson et al., 2008, Hoshi & Heinemann, 2001, Lee et al., 2013).

OBJECTIVES

In this thesis, we addressed for the first time the role of the methionine sulfoxide reductase (Msr) proteins, in skeletal muscle tissue, either their importance for satellite cell function as well as their role on skeletal muscle fibres.

The study of satellite cells function in the context of muscle regeneration represents a major biomedical issue, mainly for treatment of diseases characterised by a progressive muscle weakness and degeneration, such as muscular dystrophies. Although muscular dystrophies are inherited disorders caused by different genetic mutations and differ in the age of onset, in the mode of inheritance and in the severity of its progression, they share some certain common pathologic features such as the presence of an oxidative stress state and senescence of muscle progenitor cells associated with less differentiation capacity (Negroni et al., 2016). The study of important antioxidant defence mechanisms in this context could give some insights to new therapeutic targets for these muscle disorders. Moreover, muscle ageing has also been associated with high levels of oxidative damages in fibres (Jackson, 2016; Powers et al., 2012). In this context, we studied the Msr system which by repairing oxidative damage in methionines has been involved in the prevention protein irreversible oxidation damages during ageing and neurodegenerative disorders (Kim et al., 2014a; Ugarte et al., 2010), and which role has never been investigated in muscle cells.

This work is organised in two parts, the first one regards the study of Msr enzymes in muscle satellite cells. In a second part, we investigated whether Msr enzymes, by their antioxidant properties and/or their protein regulation functions, are involved in muscle fibre homeostasis.

I. Importance of the Msr system for skeletal muscle satellite cells

To investigate the role of Msr system in myogenesis, we chose to a cell culture approach using human-derived myoblasts kindly given by Dr. Gillian Butler-Browne from the "Institut de Myology" (Paris). Since there is no information regarding the different Msr genes in myoblasts, we analysed Msr expression and activity profiles in proliferative myoblasts and differentiated myotubes. Furthermore, in order to establish a relationship between Msr activity, cellular redox state and protein homeostasis, expression of other antioxidant enzymes, proteasome activity, protein irreversible damages and ROS levels were assayed during myoblast differentiation. Finally, the importance of Msr enzymes in myogenesis was further analysed by the study of MsrA-deficient myoblast's proliferation and differentiation capacities.

II. Importance of Msr enzymes for skeletal muscle fibres protection against oxidative stress under normal or pathological conditions

To study the importance of Msr system for skeletal muscle fibres homeostasis, we used muscle biopsies obtained from mouse models as wells as from human donors. First of all, we examined the Msr expression and activity in different types of muscle fibres (slow oxidative, fast glycolytic and mix type). Knowing in which fibre type these enzymes are more required, we investigated their function during skeletal muscle ageing. To clarify the role of Msr enzymes in muscle oxidative stress conditions, their expression in sarcopenic biopsies was compared with that from muscular dystrophies in which an important oxidative stress has been described.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Human muscle biopsies

Human muscle biopsies were obtained from the MYOBANK BTR (Bank of Tissues for Research, a partner in the EU network EuroBioBank) or from neurologists during surgical procedures and after informed consent in accordance with European recommendations and French legislation.

Biopsies from OPMD patients were obtained after cricopharyngeal myotomy, a medical procedure that eliminates the obstacle generated by the dysfunctional upper esophageal sphincter musculature (Coiffier et al., 2006). All patients were aged between 54 and 83 years old and healthy donors between 39 and 91 years old at the time of muscle biopsy. OPMD patients exhibited a typical clinical phenotype and *PABPN1* mutations.

DMD patients were aged between 12 and 16 years old and healthy donors between 10 and 37 years old at the time of muscle biopsy. DMD patients showed a typical clinical phenotype and *Dystrophin* mutations.

cDNAs derived from total RNA of muscle biopsies from dystrophic (OPMD, DMD) or healthy subjects were kindly given by Dr. Capucine Trollet and Dr Anne Bigot from the Myology Institute (Paris). Two groups of muscle biopsies from 12 OPMD patients, 4 DMD patients and 15 healthy individuals were used for qPCR analysis as follows: i) 6 *cricopharyngeus* and 6 *sternocleidomastoid* muscle biopsies from OPMD patients and healthy individuals; ii) paravertebral muscles from 4 DMD patients and *quadriceps* from 3 healthy individuals.

Mouse muscle biopsies

OPMD transgenic mice (Davies et al., 2005) and controls were generated by crossing the heterozygous carrier strain A17.1 obtained from Rubinsztein's group (Davies et al., 2005) with the wild type (W.T.) FvB background mice. The mice were genotyped after tail biopsies by PCR 3 to 4 weeks after birth. Total RNA was extracted from *Extensor Digitorum Longus* muscle of W.T. and A17.1 OPMD transgenic mice using Trizol (Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions. cDNAs derived from total RNA were kindly given by Dr. Capucine Trollet from the Myology Institute (Paris).

The mdx/mdx mice (Bulfield, Siller et al., 1984) were obtained from the Jackson laboratories. *Tibialis anterior* muscles dissected from 6 month old mdx/Y or wild-type mice were frozen in liquid nitrogen and conserved at -80°C before being used for mRNA

extraction.

Tibialis Anterior, Soleus, Quadriceps and *Gastrocnemius* muscles were dissected from adult (3 months) and geriatric (25 months) C57Bl6 mice. Muscles were frozen in liquid nitrogen and conserved at -80°C before being used for RNA and protein extraction.

All animal procedures were approved and conducted in accordance with the animal ethics committee following the regulations of the Ministry of Agriculture and the European Community guidelines.

OPMD-derived human myoblasts primary cultures

Primary Human OPMD myoblasts were obtained as described previously (Bigot, Klein et al., 2009, Mamchaoui, Trollet et al., 2011) and cultivated in growth medium composed of mixed 199 Medium/DMEM (1/4 v/v) (Gibco/Invitrogen Life Technologies) supplemented with 20% foetal calf serum (Invitrogen Life Technologies), 2.5 ng/ml HGF (Invitrogen Life Technologies), 0.1 μ M Dexamethasone (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and 50 μ g/ml Gentamycin (Invitrogen Life Technologies). The myogenic purity of the populations was monitored by immunocytochemistry using desmin as a marker. Enrichment of myogenic cell was eventually performed using immunomagnetic cell sorting system MACS (Miltenyi Biotec, Paris, France) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, cells were labelled with anti-CD56 microbeads, and separated in a MACS column placed in a magnetic field. The two populations CD56⁺ and CD56⁻ were kept, and myoblast purification was evaluated by immunochemistry using desmin as a marker.

Mouse satellite cells isolation

Satellite cells were isolated from a pool of diaphragm, *pectoralis* and abdominal muscles of adult (6 weeks-old) $Pax3^{GFP/+}$ mice (Relaix et al., 2005), by flow cytometry (Astrios, Beckman Coulter) on the basis of size and granularity and GFP fluorescence as previously described (Montarras et al., 2005). The percentage of GFP-positive cells in each sample was 100%, as expected.

Further material and methods are described the article presented in "Results - Part I. Importance of the Msr system for skeletal muscle satellite cells". All primers and antibodies used in this thesis are listed in **Table 2**, **Table 3** and **Table 4**, respectively.

Gene	Forward primer	Reverse primer	
CAT	5' CTGACTACGGGAGCCAC 3'	5' TGATGAGCGGGTTACACG 3'	
Emerin	5' AAGAGGAGTGCAAGGATAGGG 3'	5' GGAGGAAGTAGGATAATAGGACAGG 3'	
GPx2	5' ACAGTCTCAAGTATGTCCGT 3'	5' TGTCCTTCAGGTAGGCGA 3'	
GPx3	5' CGGGGACAAGAGAAGTCG 3'	5' CCCAGAATGACCAGACCG 3'	
GPx4	5' CTTCACCAAGTTCCTCATCG 3'	5' GGGCAGGTCCTTCTCTATC 3'	
MHC-IIa	5' GAAAGTCTGAAAGGGAACGCA 3'	5' CGCCACAAAGACAGATGTTTTG 3'	
MsrA	5' GGGCAACTCGGCCTCGAACA 3'	5' CCAGAAACATCCCATTCCAAA 3'	
MsrB1	5' GTGTGCCAAGTGTGGCTATGA 3'	5' CTTGCCACAGGACACCTTCAA 3'	
MsrB2	5' CGGAGCAGTTCTACGTCACAA 3'	5' CAGAGCCAGACGTACCATGA 3'	
MsrB3	5' CTCAGGAGAAAGGGACCGAAA 3'	5' GCCAACCTGAACCGGAGTCAA 3'	
MyoD	5' AACTGCTCCGACGGCATG 3'	5' ACAGGCAGTCTAGGCTCGACA 3'	
Myogenin	5' GAGTTCAGCGCCAACCCCAG 3'	5' TGCCCGGCTTGGAAGACAAT 3'	
Prx2	5' GACTACAGAGGGAAGTACGTGG 3'	5' TCAGTTGTGTTTGGAGAAGTATTCC 3'	
Prx3	5' TGCCTGGATAAATACACC 3'	5' AGTCTCGGGAAATCTGCT 3'	
Prx5	5' ATTCGCTGGTGTCCATCTTT 3'	5' GTGCCATCTGGTTCCACATTCA 3'	
Prx6	5' ATTCTCAGGGTAGTCATCTC 3'	5' TTTGGCTTCTTCTTCAGG 3'	
SOD1	5' TGCATCATTGGCCGCA 3'	5' TTTCTTCATTTCCACCTTTGCC 3'	
SOD2	5' GGAGATGTTACAGCCCAGATAG 3'	5' CAAAGGAACCAAAGTCACG 3'	
Trx1	5' TGGTGAAGCAGATCGAGAGCAAGA 3'	5' ACCACGTGGCTGAGAAGTCAACTA 3'	
Trx2	5' TGTGGGCATCAAGGATGAGGATCA 3'	5' TGGCATGGAAGGGCTGAGTTCTAT 3'	

Table 2 -List of human primers used in this work.

 Table 3 - List of mouse primers used in this work.

Gene	Forward primer	Reverse primer		
HPRT	5' TCCTCATGGACTGATTATGGA 3'	5' GTAATCCAGCAGGTCAGCAAA 3'		
MHC-I	5' GAGGAGAGGGGGGGACATC 3'	5' GGAGCTGGGTAGCACAAGAG 3'		
MHC-IIa	5' ACTTTGGCACTACGGGGAAAC 3'	5' CAGCAGCATTTCGATCAGCTC 3'		
MHC-IIx	5' CAGCAGCATTTCGATCAGCTC 3'	5' CCTGCTCCTAATCTCAGCATCC 3'		
MsrA	5' ACGCAATCCCACCTACAAAG 3'	5' CGGATGTGGGATAGACTGCT 3'		
MsrB1	5' AGCGTTCACAACCCGGACGACTT 3'	5' AGCGTTCACTGAAACCATCC 3'		
MsrB2	5' CTGACCCCGGAACAGTTCTA 3'	5' GCCGTAAGCCTCAGAAAATG 3'		
MsrB3	5' GCCATCGAGTTCACAGATGA 3'	5' CGAGGTCCATCGTCAAAAAT 3'		
Myogenin	5' CAACCAGGAGGAGCGCGATCTCCG 3'	5' AGGCGCTGTGGGAGTTGCATTCACT 3'		

Protein	Purchased from	Reference	Host	Dilution
20S 81	Enzo Life	BML-	mouse	1/1000
205 p1	Sciences	PW8140	mouse	
20S B2	Enzo Life	BML-	mouse	1/1000
2 05 p2	Sciences	PW9300	mouse	
208 85	Enzo Life	BML-	rabbit	1/1000
2 05 pc	Sciences	PW8895	nuoon	
Caspase-3	Cell Signaling	9662	rabbit	1/1000
Cleaved	Cell Signaling	9661	rabbit	1/1000
Caspase-3	Cen Signaling	7001	rabbit	1/1000
CML	R&D Systems	MAB 3247	mouse	1/1000
DNP	Sigma Aldrich	D9656	rabbit	1/5000
Fmorin	Santa Cruz	SC 25281	mouse	1/1000
Emerm	Biotechnologies	5C-25264		
Fmorin	Santa Cruz	SC-15378	rabbit	1/1000
Emerm	Biotechnologies	50-15576		
MsrA	Abcam	ab-16803	rabbit	1/1000
MsrB2	Abcam	ab-101513	rabbit	1/1000
MyoD1	Dako	M3512	mouse	1/300
Myogonin	Santa Cruz	SC 576	rabbit	1/300
wiyogenin	Biotechnologies	SC-370		
n16	Santa Cruz	SC 168	rabbit	1/1000
pro	Biotechnologies	3C-408		
Troponin C	Santa Cruz	SC 20642	rabbit	1/1000
110pointi C	Biotechnologies	5C-20042		
Ubiquitir	Santa Cruz	SC-8017	mouse	1/500
Obiquium	Biotechnologies			

Table 4 – List of primary antibodies used in this work.

RESULTS

Part I – Importance of the Msr system for skeletal muscle satellite cells

Background

Muscle regeneration study represents a major biomedical issue, mainly for treatment of diseases characterised by a progressive muscle weakness and degeneration, such as muscular dystrophies. Despite its stability under homeostatic conditions, skeletal muscle tissue has a remarkable ability to regenerate after injury thanks to the presence of adult stem cells, called satellite cells. Under homeostatic conditions, these cells, located under the basal lamina that surrounds multinucleated muscle fibres, are characterised by a quiescent state. However, when stimulated by damage or by stress, satellite cells become activated and enter the cell cycle to proliferate and undergo differentiation to form new fibres or self-renew to reconstitute the satellite cell pool. Each step of this process is regulated through the coordinated expression of specific transcription factors including Pax3/7 and the myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs): MyoD, Myf5, Myogenin, and MRF4. Signalling pathways involving these transcription factors in the regulation of satellite cell function have been extensively studied (Moncaut et al., 2013). However, important aspects of myogenesis regulation, in particular the redox state remains less studied. The cellular redox state is characterised by a balance between the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), mainly by mitochondria, and their scavenging by the antioxidant systems. The regulation of this balance is crucial for cellular function: although at low levels, ROS act as signalling molecules for the regulation of multiple cellular processes including growth, proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis, when ROS levels overcome the capacity of cellular antioxidant systems, they damage cellular components, in particular proteins, altering their structure and function.

To date, it is known that myoblasts differentiation is accompanied by an increased in mitochondria number and activity, leading to high ROS levels production (Malinska et al., 2012). NADPH oxydase (NOX) and nitric oxide synthase (NOS) enzymes are also responsible for ROS production needed for myoblasts fusion and differentiation in a Ca^{2+} -dependent manner (Hidalgo, Sanchez et al., 2006, Piao et al., 2005). On the other hand, excessive ROS production through TNF- α -dependent signalling or their deficient

elimination by antioxidants will lead to impaired myogenic differentiation in vitro (Ardite et al., 2004, Langen et al., 2002) as well as muscle regeneration in vivo (Coletti et al., 2005, Langen et al., 2004). In agreement, natural antioxidants administration to myoblasts pretreated with oxidative molecules will prevent myoblast cell death and differentiation arrest though the increase in antioxidant transcription factors and enzymatic systems (El Haddad et al., 2012, Kang et al., 2015, Kang et al., 2014, Sestili et al., 2009, Young et al., 2010). Between antioxidant enzymes such as Pxr2 and Prx3 have been shown to protect myoblasts from oxidative damages and to regulate myotubes ATP production by modulation of ROS levels (Lee et al., 2014b, Won et al., 2012). However, the mechanisms underlying this ROSmediated modulation of myogenesis remain unclear. ROS are known to interact with macromolecules and in particular to proteins thus regulating their function. Indeed, protein oxidation was detected in myoblast treated with H₂O₂ (Baraibar, Hyzewicz et al., 2011, Dargelos et al., 2010, Franco et al., 1999). While irreversible oxidative damages to proteins lead to protein degradation, the oxidation of sulfur-containing amino acids can be repaired by specific enzymatic systems. Myoblast fusion and differentiation was associated with increased expression of proteasome and autophagy-related proteins as well as higher proteasome activities (Cui et al., 2014, McMillan & Quadrilatero, 2014). Indeed, proteasome subunits inhibition or knock down of genes coding proteins involved in the UPS or in the autophagic system will lead to reduced myoblasts fusion and less myotubes formation in vitro (Cui et al., 2014, McMillan & Quadrilatero, 2014) and in vivo (Perera et al., 2012). The involvement of these two degradation pathways in myogenesis suggests that proteostasis is needed for the correct progress of skeletal muscle myogenesis. Protein repair systems constitute also an important part of protein homeostasis. Between them, methionine sulfoxide reductase enzymes, capable of reducing methionine oxidation on proteins, are involved in regulation of protein function (Kim et al., 2014a). In mammals, the Msr system is composed of a single MsrA and three MsrBs (MsrB1, B2 and B3) proteins with different intracellular locations (Kim, 2013). MsrA is thought to reduce the S form of MetO while MsrB proteins reduce the R form (Lee & Gladyshev, 2011). Importantly, Msr has also been involved in oxidative stress protection by preventing protein irreversible oxidation damages in different eukaryotic models, such as S. cerevisae (Oien & Moskovitz, 2007, Sumner et al., 2005), D. melanogaster (Ruan et al., 2002), C. elegans (Minniti et al., 2009) or mice (Salmon et al., 2009) as well as in different mammalian cell types, including human lens cells (Li et al., 2013), T lymphocyte cells (Cabreiro et al., 2009), fibroblasts (Cabreiro et al., 2007) and skin cells (Pelle et al., 2012, Picot et al., 2007, Zhou et al., 2009).

We hypothesize that Msr enzymes have a key role in muscle regeneration by regulating protein function and / or by taking an essential place in protecting skeletal muscle satellite cells against oxidative stress conditions. For this study we used a cell culture approach. Human myoblasts derived from a 5 days old infant obtained through our collaboration with Dr. Gillian Butler-Brown from the "Institut de Myologie" (Renault et al., 2002), were grown and let to differentiate *in vitro*. The redox state of myoblasts at the different culture stages in relation with Msr expression and activity profiles were characterised. Then, the role of MsrA protein in myoblasts differentiation was investigated by the use of lentiviral-based myoblast transduction with shRNA sequences specific against MsrA mRNA. This work constitutes the first study on the Msr role in myogenesis and is presented here in a paper prepared for submission format. Supplementary results that further complete this study are presented afterwards.

Down-regulation of methionine sulfoxide reductase A decreases human myoblasts proliferative capacities by inducing a senescent state

S. Lourenço dos Santos^{*§‡}, A. L'honoré^{*§‡}, M. Gareil^{*§‡}, A. Bigot^{\diamond}, C. Trollet^{\diamond}, G. Butler-Browne^{\diamond}, V. Mouly^{\diamond}, B. Friguet^{*§‡} and I. Petropoulos^{*§‡}

*Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Université Paris 06, UMR 8256 Biological Adaptation and Ageing - IBPS, F-75005, Paris, France

[§]CNRS UMR 8256, F-75005, Paris, France

[‡]INSERM ERL U1164, F-75005, Paris, France

⁶Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ Paris 06, INSERM UMRS974, CNRS FRE3617, Center for Research in Myology, Paris, France

Correspondence: Isabelle Petropoulos, Sorbonne Universités, UPMC, UMR 8256 Biological Adaptation and Ageing - IBPS, 4 place Jussieu, 75252 Paris Cedex 05, Paris, France. Tel.: +33144278167, Fax: +33144275140, e-mail: isabelle.petropoulos@upmc.fr

Abstract

Methionine sulfoxide reductase (Msr) enzymes are important for the regulation of redox homeostasis in various cells, tissues and organs. While redox state is known to regulate myogenesis, the role of the Msr enzymes during myogenic differentiation still remains unknown. Using cultured human primary myoblasts, we show that Msr activity significantly decreases during myoblasts differentiation. Silencing of MsrA expression by the use of short hairpin RNA (shRNA) in myoblasts inhibited its expression up to 90%, without affecting other Msr gene expression, and resulted in a decrease of nearly 40% of the total Msr activity. Suppression of MsrA expression increased the levels of reactive oxygen species and protein irreversible damages in myoblasts, thereby reducing their proliferative capacities, and compromising their differentiation. In addition, in the absence of MsrA, myoblasts showed increased senescent-associated β -galactosidase activity, suggesting that the impaired proliferative and differentiation capacities are likely to occur because of the ROS-mediated senescence of myoblasts. These results demonstrate for the first time the role of MsrA as a critical regulator of skeletal muscle myogenesis.

Introduction

Redox homeostasis is crucial to prevent oxidative stress in cells by maintaining reactive oxygen species (ROS) at physiological levels and to keep them as signalling molecules. ROS regulate specific cellular functions through the oxidation of specific protein residues such as cysteine (Cys) and methionine (Met). Such redox regulation is only possible due to the presence of proteins capable of reversing this kind of post-translational protein modifications, thus regulating protein function. Methionine sulfoxide reductase (Msr) proteins are the only known cellular enzymes able to reduce methionine oxidation (MetO) (Chondrogianni et al., 2014, Kim et al., 2014a). In mammals, this family of enzymes is composed of four members, one MsrA and three MsrB, which stereoselectively and respectively reduce the MetSO and the MetRO diastereoisomers produced by ROS (Ugarte et al., 2010). By doing so, both MsrA and MsrB enzymes have been implicated in the control of protein functions, including the inhibitor of kappa B-alpha (I κ B α) (Mohri et al., 2002), potassium channels (Chen et al., 2000, Santarelli, Wassef et al., 2006), the Ca²⁺-binding protein calmodulin (CaM) (Lim et al., 2013), the calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) (He et al., 2011) and actin (Hung et al., 2013, Jia et al., 2014, Lee et al., 2013).

Msr are also critical enzymes for the protection against an oxidative stress state, resulting from an aberrant ROS production and leading to irreversible oxidative damages to biomolecules if no scavenged by the cellular antioxidant systems. In this context, higher Msr enzymes expression increased survival and cellular resistance to an induced oxidative stress in different tissues and cell types such as, neurons (Yermolaieva, Xu et al., 2004), cardiac myocytes (Prentice, Moench et al., 2008), lens (Kantorow et al., 2004), T lymphocytes (Cabreiro et al., 2009), fibroblasts (Picot et al., 2005) and mouse embryonic stem cells (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20506347). In contrast, Msr silencing in human melanocytes (Zhou et al., 2009) or human lens (Jia et al., 2012, Li et al., 2013) resulted in increased oxidative damages that could ultimately lead to cell death, and MsrA knockout mice presented increased oxidative stress markers and inflammation in kidneys after ischemic/reperfusion injuries (Kim et al., 2015). The importance of Msr enzymes is also supported by studies suggesting its role in protecting against neurodegenerative diseases (Wassef et al., 2007), in neuroinflammation (Fan, Wu et al., 2015), in atherosclerosis (Xu, Du et al., 2015) and in longevity of some model organisms including C. elegans (Minniti et al., 2009) and D. melanogaster (Ruan et al., 2002).

The study of muscle regeneration represents a major biomedical issue, mainly for treatment of diseases characterised by a progressive muscle weakness and degeneration, such as muscular dystrophies. Indeed, after damage or stress, muscle progenitor cells enter the cell cycle to proliferate and either undergo differentiation to form new fibres or self-renew to reconstitute the muscle stem cells pool (Buckingham & Montarras, 2008). Each step of this process is tiny regulated through the coordinated expression of specific transcription factors including the myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs) MyoD, Myf5, Myogenin, and MRF4 (Moncaut et al., 2013). Although signalling pathways involved in myoblasts function have been extensively studied (Buckingham & Rigby, 2014, Montarras et al., 2013), important aspects of its regulation, in particular the redox-dependent signalling still remains unclear.

If the antioxidant and regulation roles of MsrA enzymes have been intensively studied in different mammalian cells, here we give the first evidence for this role in skeletal muscle progenitors cells. We found that Msr activity is increased in proliferative myoblasts and significantly decreases during myoblasts differentiation, in parallel of increased oxidative damages to proteins. Furthermore, knockdown of MsrA expression in myoblasts altered their redox homeostasis and decreased their proliferative capacities through senescence induction.

Material and Methods

Cell culture

Human satellite cells were isolated from a biopsy of a 5-day-old infant *quadriceps* muscle as previously described (Edom et al., 1994) upon autopsy in accordance with the French legislation on ethical rules. The derived myoblasts were cultured at 37°C in a humid atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. Growth medium consisted of Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM with 4.5 mg/mL glucose, Gibco ThermoFisher Scientist) / Medium 199 (Gibco ThermoFisher Scientist) (4:1) supplemented with 20% (v/v) foetal bovine serum (Gibco ThermoFisher Scientist) and 50µg/mL of gentamicin (Gibco ThermoFisher Scientist). For differentiation studies, myoblasts were seeded at a density of 9 x 10^3 cells/cm². Cell differentiation was induced by placing confluent myoblasts in DMEM supplemented with 2% (v/v) foetal bovine serum and 50µg/mL of gentamicin. Differentiation was evaluated 2, 4 and 6 days after serum reduction by the expression of differentiation markers such as Myogenin, myosin heavy chain (MHC) and Troponin C (TnC) assessed by immunoblot experiments, qPCR or immunocytofluorescence assays.

OPMD-derived myoblasts cultures were obtained as described previously (Bigot et al., 2009, Mamchaoui et al., 2011) and cultured as described above with growth medium consisting of 1:4 vol 199 Medium / DMEM (4.5 mg/mL glucose, Gibco ThermoFisher Scientist) supplemented with 20% foetal calf serum (Invitrogen Life Technologies), 2.5 ng/ml HGF (Invitrogen Life Technologies), 0.1 μ M Dexamethasone (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and 50 μ g/ml Gentamycin (Invitrogen Life Technologies). The myogenic purity of the populations was monitored by immunocytochemistry using desmin as a marker. Enrichment of myogenic cell was eventually performed using immunomagnetic cell sorting system MACS (Miltenyi Biotec, Paris, France) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, cells were labelled with anti-CD56 (a specific marker of myoblasts) microbeads, and then separated in a MACS column placed in a magnetic field.

Generation of a stable MsrA deficient cell line

For generation of the stable cell line, human myoblasts were infected with short hairpin RNA (shRNA) lentiviral transduction particles containing a puromycin resistance gene for selection (MISSIONTM TRC shRNA, Sigma-Aldrich). Five different sequences of shRNA for *MsrA* gene (Sigma-Aldrich product type SHCLNV-NM_012331,

TRCN0000046454 (seq.1), TRCN0000046455 (seq.2), TRCN0000286336 (seq.3), TRCN0000293703 (seq.4), TRCN0000298176 (seq.5)) and one for control (Sigma-Aldrich product type SHC002V – shRNA non-target control) were used. Myoblasts were infected following manufacturer's instructions and obtained by puromycin selection. Briefly, 70 % confluent myoblasts plated in 6-wells plates were infected with 2.5 x 10⁴ TU/mL of shRNA lentiviral particules in a growth medium supplemented with 8 μ g/mL of hexadimethrine bromide. After 3 days, the transfection medium was replaced by fresh growth medium supplemented with 2 μ g/mL of puromycin for selection. Puromycin concentration was gradually decreased to a final concentration of 0.5 μ g/mL. Puromycin was removed before for further experiments.

RNA extraction, reverse transcription and real time qPCR

Total RNA from cultured cells was extracted using a NucleoSpin® RNA kit (Macherey Nagel) following the manual's instructions. Reverse transcription was performed on 1 µg of total RNA using a SuperScript® III First-Strand Synthesis System and random hexamers (Invitrogen Life Technologies) following the manufacturer's instructions and using random hexamers. Real time qPCR analysis was performed with a LightCycler® 480 Real-Time PCR System (Roche Diagnostics), using LightCycler® 480 SYBR Green I Master (Roche Diagnostics). Specific primers sequences used to amplify cDNA are listed in Table 1. The cycling program was set up as followed: 6 min at 95 °C and 50 cycles at 95°C for 15 sec, 60°C for 15 sec and 75°C for 15 sec. The amplified *Emerin* fragment was used as an internal control for RT-qPCR.

Western blot analysis

Cells were lysed in a lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1 % Triton-X100, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT) supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich), kept on ice for 30 min and centrifuged at 21,000 g for 25 min. The supernant was recovered and protein concentration was determined by using Bio-Rad protein assay dye reagent (Bio-Rad). Forty µg of protein lysate were separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) using 4-15 % polyacrylamide gels (CriterionTM TGXTM precast gels, BioRad) and subsequently transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane (GE Healthcare). Total protein profile on nitrocellulose membranes was stained with Ponceau red.

After blocking with Odyssey blocking buffer (Li-Cor Biosciences) or alternatively in PBS supplemented with 1 % BSA, membranes were incubated either 1 h at room temperature (R.T) or overnight at 4°C with the following primary antibodies: MsrA and MsrB2 (1:1000, Abcam), Troponin C, Ubiquitin and Emerin (1:1000, Santa Cruz Biotechnologies), β 1, β 2 and β 5 proteasome subunits (1:1000, Enzo Life Sciences), CML (1:1000, R&D Systems). For Oxyblots, 15 µg of proteins were derivatized with 10 mM 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine (DNPH) diluted in HCl 2M for 15 min at R.T and further neutralized with a solution containing 2 M Trizma-Base and 30 % glycerol prior to SDS-PAGE and transfer. 2-4-dinitrophenylhydrazone (DNP) proteins adducts were revealed using anti-DNP antibodies (1:5000, Sigma-Aldrich).

Membranes were incubated 1 h at R.T with secondary antibodies conjugated with infrared dye (Li-Cor Biosciences) or with Horseradish Peroxidase. Membranes were scanned with an Odyssey infrared (Li-Cor Biosciences) or with LAS 3000 (Fujifilm Life Sciences) imaging systems. Quantification of Western blots was performed by densitometry using Image J software. Depending on the experiments, total protein profile or Emerin were used as loading control.

Immunocytofluorescence assays

Cells cultured in 35mm dishes were washed in PBS, fixed with 4% formaldehyde in PBS for 10 min at RT and permeabilized with 0.5 % Triton X-100 in PBS for 15 min at RT. After 30 min blockage with 0.2 % gelatin in PBS, cells were incubated with primary antibodies, overnight at 4°C. Nuclei staining was done using 500 ng/mL DAPI (Invitrogen Life Technologies) during the secondary antibody incubation. Slides were mountained with the Fluorescence mounting medium (Dako).

Antibodies used were as follows: MyoD (1:100, Dako), Myogenin (1:100, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), MHC (1:100, MF20, Developmental Studies of Hybridome Bank), ki67 (1:200, Abcam) antibodies. For EdU staining, the Click-iT EdU Cell Proliferation Assay kit (Invitrogen) was used following the manufacturer's instructions; EdU was incubated at 10 μ M for 16 h in cell culture medium.

Secondary antibodies were coupled to a fluorochrome, either Alexa 488 or 546 (Invitrogen), and used at a 1:300 dilution. Images were acquired using a fluorescent Leica DMi8 microscope equipped with MetaMorph software (Leica Microsystems). Images were optimized globally for contrast and brightness and assembled using Image J software.

Senescent Associated β-galactosidade activity

For senescent associated β -galactosidade (SA- β gal) staining, 1 x 10⁵ myoblasts cultured in 6 well-plates were rinsed twice with PBS, fixed with 0.2% glutaraldehyde / 2% formaldehyde for 5 min at R.T before being stained with 1 mg/mLof 5-Bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl β -D-galactopyranoside (X-Gal, Sigma-Aldrich) in 2 mM MgCl₂, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM K₃Fe(CN)₆, 5 mM K₄Fe(CN)₆ and 40 mM Na₂HPO₄ pH 6 for 16 h at 37°C. After staining, cells were rinsed in PBS, fixed for 10 min in 4 % formaldehyde, incubated 30 min 500 ng/mL of DAPI and mounted after washing in PBS. Images were acquired as described above. More than 400 cells were counted and the percentage of senescent cells was calculated by dividing the number of SA- β gal positive cells by the total cells number.

Measurement of reactive oxygen species

Intracellular ROS levels were measured using the 2,7-dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCFDA, Sigma-Aldrich) fluorescent probe. Cells were loaded with 10 μ M DCFDA for 40 min and fluorescence was recorded with a Fluostar Optima plate reader (BMG Labtech) with wavelengths of 485 nm for excitation and 520 nm for emission. ROS levels were normalized by cellular viability, measured just after plate reading using the CellTiter-Glo® Luminescent Cell Viability Assay (Promega) following the manual's instructions.

Total methionine sulfoxide reductase activity

Total Msr activity was assessed using N-acetyl-[3H]Met-R,S(O) (Perkin Elmer) as substrate. The enzymatic assay was performed as previous described (Brot et al., 1982). Briefly, 50 µg of protein extracts was mixed with 25 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 10 mM MgCl₂, 15 mM DTT and substrate (77.97 Ci/mmol). After 2h of incubation at 37°C, the reaction was stopped by adding 1 N HCl and the reduced substrate was dissociated from the oxidised substrate by extraction in 1.2 mL of ethyl acetate. 4 mL of scintillation liquid was added to the radioactivity ethyl acetate phase and CPM (counts per minute) values were calculated in a Tri-Carb Liquid Scintillation Counter 2100 TR (Packard Instrument Company, Inc.).

20S Proteasome subunits catalytic activities

Peptidase activities of the proteasome were evaluated in protein lysates (without the anti-proteases cocktail) using appropriate fluorogenic peptide substrates. Caspase like activity (C-L) was monitored by the hydrolysis of Z-LLE-AMC peptide (Enzo Life Sciences), trypsin-like activity (T-L) by the hydrolysis of the Bz-VGA-AMC peptide (Enzo

Life Sciences) and chymotrypsin-like activity (CT-L) by the hydrolysis of the Suc-LLVY-AMC peptide (Enzo Life Sciences). The assay buffer was composed of 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 10% (v/v) glycerol and 20 μ M of the appropriated peptide substrate dissolved in DMSO. Reactions were performed in the presence (100 μ M) and absence of the specific proteasome inhibitor MG132 (Enzo Life Sciences), to test the specificity of the measured activity. Enzymatic kinetics was carried out in 96 wells plates for 30 min at 37°C using 10 μ g of cytosolic protein fractions in a temperature-controlled microplate reader (Fluostar Galaxy, BMG Labtech) with wavelengths of 340 nm for excitation and 460 nm for emission. Proteasome activities were determined as the difference between total activity and the remaining activity of the crude extract in the presence of MG132.

Statistical analysis

Results were expressed as the means \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) of at least three independent experiments. The difference between two mean values was analysed by two-tailed Student's t-test and considered statistically significant when p < 0.05.
Results

Msr activity is higher in proliferative myoblasts than in differentiated myotubes

To investigate the profile of Msr activity and expression during myogenic differentiation, human myoblasts were cultured and analysed in proliferation and 2, 4 and 6 days after induction of differentiation (Fig. 1A-E). While proliferative myoblasts, marked by EdU incorporation and MyoD expression (Fig. 1B) exhibited high Msr activity (Fig. 1C), early and late differentiation, evidenced by Myogenin and myosin heavy chain (MHC) expression (Fig. 1B) are accompanied by a significant decrease of this activity (Fig. 1C).

To identify which member of the Msr family may be responsible for this variation of activity, we investigated their gene expression profile during the time course of differentiation. We detected expression of the four members of Msr family (*MsrA*, *MsrB1*, *B2* and *B3*) in human myogenic cells, both in proliferation, marked by *MyoD* expression, and during differentiation, revealed by *Myogenin* expression (Fig. 1D). As we did not detect significant changes of expression for any of the four transcripts between proliferative and differentiated states (Fig. 1D), we then quantified their protein expression by western-blot analysis (Fig. 1E). Similarly to what we observed for transcripts, neither MsrA nor MsrB2 protein levels were altered during differentiation. These results therefore demonstrate that the level of Msr proteins does not account for the decrease of Msr activity during differentiation, and suggest that post-translational modifications may occur.

Proliferative myoblasts reveal less protein oxidative damages than myotubes

As critical actors of redox regulation, members of the Msr family are involved in both modulation of reversible methionine oxidations (Achilli, Ciana et al., 2015, Chondrogianni et al., 2014, Kim et al., 2014a) and cell protection against ROS and oxidative damages to proteins (Cabreiro et al., 2009, Picot et al., 2005, Prentice et al., 2008). To correlate Msr activity with the oxidative status of myoblasts, ROS generation and protein oxidative damages were evaluated in proliferative and differentiated cells. Intracellular ROS were found to increase after 2 days of myoblasts differentiation and remained significantly higher during the late differentiation stages (Fig. 2A). This increase of ROS was associated with an accumulation of protein carbonyls (Fig. 2B) and advanced glycated end products such as carboxymethyllysine (CML) modified proteins (Fig. 2C) at the late stages of differentiation. To get more insight on protein homeostasis during myoblasts differentiation, we took a look on a major protein degradation system, the ubiquitin-proteasome system. We found that protein ubiquitin labelling was more pronounced in differentiated myotubes compared to proliferative myoblasts (Fig. 2D). Proteins whose oxidation is irreversible, such as carbonyls are degraded by the 20S proteasome. Here we measured the 3 activities and analysed the expression of the catalytic subunits responsible for each of these activities (Fig. S1). While the expression of β 1, β 2 and β 5 were not found to vary significantly during myoblasts differentiation (Fig. S1A), the proteasome trypsin-like activity was increased along differentiation (Fig. S1B). This up regulation of the 20S proteasome proteolytic activities is in agreement to what have been found by others during differentiation of C2C12 mouse myoblasts (Cui et al., 2014). These observations suggest that the accumulation of oxidised proteins in differentiated myotubes was not due to a defect of protein degradation systems but more likely by a change in redox homeostasis.

Down-regulation of MsrA decreases human myoblasts proliferative capacities in vitro

To further study the role of MsrA on myoblast protein redox homeostasis, we inhibited MsrA expression in human myoblasts using shRNA sequences within lentiviral particles. Five different sequences were tested for their ability to decrease MsrA mRNA expression and we found that, except for the sequence 4, all the other 4 sequences led to a significantly decrease of MsrA mRNA in transduced myoblasts compared to those transduced with the shRNA control (shCtrl) sequence (% MsrA inhibition comparing to control sequence determined by qPCR: 97,9 % for seq.1; 80,2 % for seq.2; 66,9 % for seq.3 and 93,6 % for seq.5) (Fig. S2). Seq.1 shMsrA displayed the higher inhibition efficacy but expression of the other *Msr* members was significantly up regulated in these myoblasts due to possible compensatory mechanisms (Fig. S2). Transduction with seq. 5 of shMsrA resulted to almost 94 % less expression of MsrA transcripts and no side effects in the expression of MsrB1, MsrB2 or MsrB3 (Fig. 3A). For this reason, we chose to continue our study with this shMsrA sequence. We analysed Msr protein expression and activity in shMsrA transduced myoblast comparing to myoblasts transduced with the shCtrl sequence. MsrA protein level was also 92 % and 88 % decreased compared to proliferative and differentiated control myoblasts, respectively, while the MsrB2 protein levels did not change from those of the shCtrl myoblasts as determined by western blot experiments (Fig. 3B). Interestingly, the knockdown of the MsrA protein results in 40 % decrease in Msr activity in proliferative cells and 50 % in differentiated myotubes (Fig. 3C) indicating that the reduction of the S diastereoisomer of the MetO is completely abolished in these cells and that the remaining 50 % of activity is due to the MsrB enzymes.

To evaluate the role of MsrA on myoblasts proliferation, shMsrA and shCtrl cells were assessed for 5-ethynyl 2' deoxyuridine (EdU) incorporation and for labelling with anti-Ki67 antibodies. While 47 % of MyoD control cells were revealed by Ki67 antibody and 51 % were able to incorporate EdU, only 38 % of MyoD shMsrA cells were positive for Ki67 and 30 % for EdU labelling, suggesting that the absence of MsrA inhibits cell proliferation and DNA synthesis (Fig 4A). The myogenicity of the shMsrA cells is maintained, as shown by the MyoD labelling positive myoblasts (Fig. 4A). To understand why mutated myoblasts had reduced proliferative capacities, we evaluated senescence by assessing the senescenceassociated-\beta-galactosidase (SA-\beta-galactosidase) activity, a well-known senescence biomarker. As shown in Fig. 4B, inactivation of MsrA drove myoblasts into a senescent state as 31 % of the cells expressed this senescent biomarker while only 14 % of the control cells were positive. In contrast, no increase of cell death was evidenced when testing caspase 3 activation (data not shown). It is known that excessive ROS production can promote cellular senescence (Childs, Durik et al., 2015, Munoz-Espin & Serrano, 2014). As shown in Fig. 4E, inhibition of MsrA in myoblasts led to higher ROS levels and protein carbonyls adducts, suggesting that MsrA activity is important for maintaining low ROS levels in proliferative myoblasts in order to prevent senescence and to protect myoblast proteins against irreversible oxidative damages.

Myoblast differentiation is impaired in the absence of MsrA

Since increased ROS levels we also found in shMsrA cells at 2 and 4 days after differentiation comparing to shCtrl cells (Fig. 5A), we investigated if this would impact myoblast differentiation. We observed an alteration in the differentiation program in cells lacking MsrA as evidenced by a reduced number of Myogenin and MHC expressing cells compared to control cells (Fig. 5B). The alteration in the expression of early and late differentiation markers was quantified by qPCR (Fig. 5C) revealing 83 % decreasing expression for *Myogenin* and 53 % for *MHC* at 2 and 4 days after differentiation, respectively. Western blot experiments using anti-troponin C (TnC) antibodies also evidenced a 35 % decrease in TnC expression of shMsrA cells comparing to shCtrl at 4 days of differentiation (Fig. 5D).

OPMD-myoblasts with reduced proliferative capacities exhibit decreased *Msr* **expression**

In the late onset dystrophy, Oculopharyngeal Muscular Dystrophy (OPMD), the *cricopharyngeus* muscle is one of the most pathologically affected muscles, characterised by high levels of atrophy and fibrosis (Gidaro et al., 2013). To investigate whether MsrA could play a role in the premature proliferative arrest previously observed in OPMD-derived myoblasts (Perie et al., 2006), we analysed *MsrA* gene expression in myoblasts derived from OPMD patients or from healthy donors of the same age range. We found that myoblasts derived from the *cricopharyngeus* muscle of OPMD patients presented less *MsrA* expression comparing to cricopharyngeal myoblasts derived from healthy individuals (Fig.6), indicating that MsrA deficiency may contribute to their defective proliferation.

Discussion

Redox regulation of stem cells function is gaining an increasing interest in the domain of regenerative medicine (Bigarella, Liang et al., 2014). Regarding skeletal muscle regeneration, the myoblasts redox state has been reported to participate in myogenesis but the mechanisms involved are still largely unexplored (Kozakowska, Pietraszek-Gremplewicz et al., 2015). Moreover, although recent studies have reported the reversible redox modifications of cysteine and methionine within proteins as a key mechanism that affects essentially all redox signalling pathways, in a rapid, compartmentalised, reversible and highly specific manner (Gellert, Hanschmann et al., 2015, Kim et al., 2014a), the role of the enzymes responsible for this redox switches of proteins have not yet been studied in the context of myogenesis.

Here we studied for the first time the role of Msr enzymes, which reverse the oxidation of methionine into proteins, in skeletal muscle myogenesis, especially its implications on proliferation and differentiation capacities of human myoblasts.

We found that Msr activity was maximal in proliferative human myoblasts and it progressively decreased during myoblasts differentiation in vitro. However, the decrease in activity was not explained by a modulation of the expression of MsrA or MsrB members, suggesting that possible post-translational modifications on Msr enzymes, alteration of its catalytic site or defective recycling process may occur during myoblasts differentiation. It is well known that cycles of methionine oxidation and its reduction by Msr enzymes function a ROS scavenger mechanism to avoid ROS-dependent oxidation on other amino acids (Cabreiro et al., 2008, Luo & Levine, 2009), which would have greater consequences for protein homeostasis since it leads their degradation. During myoblast differentiation in vitro, we observed an increase in ROS levels. If in the presence of high Msr activity, the redox switch on methionine residues in proteins will regulate protein function, when Msr activity is low, as we observed in differentiated myotubes, oxidised methionines cannot be reversed and are retained into proteins, thus impacting their function. Furthermore, increased ROS levels together with low Msr activity could also result in irreversible oxidative damages to proteins triggering them to proteasomal degradation or resulting in their accumulation. Indeed, it was found that the sustained methionine oxidation of calmodulin triggers it to degradation by the 20S proteasome (Balog, Lockamy et al., 2009). We found different markers of irreversible protein oxidation including protein carbonylation and advanced

glycation end products in myotubes, indicating that failure of Msr activity affects the redoxrelated protein homeostasis. Accordingly, the 20S proteasome, in charge of the elimination of oxidised proteins, was found more activated in myotubes comparing to myoblasts. Likewise, 20S- and immune-proteasome subunits were shown upregulated during *in vitro* differentiation of mouse C2C12 myoblasts leading to an increase of their activities, just after the increase in protein carbonyls groups (Cui et al., 2014). Thus, Msr enzymes, by regulating protein oxidation, seems to be important to control protein homeostasis during myoblasts differentiation, particularly to their proliferative state, where its activity is higher.

Msr enzymes are major protein repair enzymes involved in protein quality control, regulation of protein function and in cellular protection against oxidative stresses (Chondrogianni et al., 2014, Kim, 2013). Between them, MsrA was shown to be a major regulator of antioxidant defence in mammals (Luo & Levine, 2009). Methionine oxidation in proteins associated with MsrA deficiency has also been implicated in several diseases (Oien & Moskovitz, 2008), suggesting that high levels MsrA activity could directly improve cell therapies. As an example, prolonged oxidation of CaMKII the methionines leading to autonomous activation of the kinase has been suggested to participate to pathological signalling in heart failure, arrhythmias and vascular injury (Anderson, 2015, Erickson et al., 2008). Here we found that MsrA knockdown reduced human myoblasts proliferative capacities in vitro. In agreement, MsrA down-regulation has been shown to inhibit fibroblast cell proliferation (Choi & Kim, 2011). Moreover, we found that MsrA deficiency in human myoblasts led to increased ROS levels and protein carbonyl content, indicating an increase myoblasts oxidative stress, that resulted in cellular senescence. Consistent with this, Garcia-Prat et al. have found that due to autophagy inactivation, increased ROS levels in satellite cells lead to their senescence after activation (Garcia-Prat et al., 2016). In addition, several years ago, we showed that protein oxidation is increased during fibroblasts senescence associated with decreased MsrA expression and activity (Ahmed, Rogowska-Wrzesinska et al., 2010, Picot et al., 2004).

The low Msr activity due to MsrA knockdown resulted also in increased ROS levels in myotubes and impaired differentiation, evidenced by decreased *Myogenin* gene and protein expression. This resulted in a smaller number of differentiated cells with decreased *MHC* expression in later stages of differentiation. One possible explanation for this impaired differentiation is the oxidative stress-associated senescence created by the absence of MsrA protein in myoblasts, which impeded the induction of their differentiation. Indeed, it has been shown that senescence is detrimental to muscle regeneration not only by reducing the number of progenitors, but also by inducing modifications in their differentiation capacities accompanied by a down-regulation of muscle specific proteins (Bigot et al., 2008).

Finally, given the importance of MsrA to myogenesis, one can think that the reduced expression of MsrA that we found in OPMD-derived myoblasts could participate to their observed defective proliferation (Perie et al., 2006).

In summary, this work provides evidence that Msr activity is higher in proliferative myoblasts and is reduced during muscle differentiation. Also, MsrA knockdown in myoblasts increased intracellular ROS levels and protein irreversible oxidations thereby resulting in a senescence state that impaired their differentiation. Taken together, these results suggest that MsrA is an important antioxidant enzyme for the control of ROS content as well as protein homeostasis in myoblasts. This makes of it a potential target for the treatment of muscle disorders characterised by impaired regenerative capacities.

References

- Achilli C, Ciana A, Minetti G (2015) The discovery of methionine sulfoxide reductase enzymes: An historical account and future perspectives. Biofactors 41: 135-52
- Ahmed EK, Rogowska-Wrzesinska A, Roepstorff P, Bulteau AL, Friguet B (2010) Protein modification and replicative senescence of WI-38 human embryonic fibroblasts. Aging Cell 9: 252-72
- Anderson ME (2015) Oxidant stress promotes disease by activating CaMKII. J Mol Cell Cardiol 89: 160-7
- Balog EM, Lockamy EL, Thomas DD, Ferrington DA (2009) Site-specific methionine oxidation initiates calmodulin degradation by the 20S proteasome. Biochemistry 48: 3005-16
- Bigarella CL, Liang R, Ghaffari S (2014) Stem cells and the impact of ROS signaling. Development 141: 4206-18
- Bigot A, Jacquemin V, Debacq-Chainiaux F, Butler-Browne GS, Toussaint O, Furling D, Mouly V (2008) Replicative aging down-regulates the myogenic regulatory factors in human myoblasts. Biol Cell 100: 189-99
- Bigot A, Klein AF, Gasnier E, Jacquemin V, Ravassard P, Butler-Browne G, Mouly V, Furling D (2009) Large CTG repeats trigger p16-dependent premature senescence in myotonic dystrophy type 1 muscle precursor cells. Am J Pathol 174: 1435-42
- Brot N, Werth J, Koster D, Weissbach H (1982) Reduction of N-acetyl methionine sulfoxide: a simple assay for peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase. Anal Biochem 122: 291-4
- Buckingham M, Montarras D (2008) Skeletal muscle stem cells. Curr Opin Genet Dev 18: 330-6
- Buckingham M, Rigby PW (2014) Gene regulatory networks and transcriptional mechanisms that control myogenesis. Dev Cell 28: 225-38
- Cabreiro F, Picot CR, Perichon M, Castel J, Friguet B, Petropoulos I (2008) Overexpression of mitochondrial methionine sulfoxide reductase B2 protects leukemia cells from oxidative stress-induced cell death and protein damage. J Biol Chem 283: 16673-81
- Cabreiro F, Picot CR, Perichon M, Friguet B, Petropoulos I (2009) Overexpression of methionine sulfoxide reductases A and B2 protects MOLT-4 cells against zinc-induced oxidative stress. Antioxid Redox Signal 11: 215-25
- Chen J, Avdonin V, Ciorba MA, Heinemann SH, Hoshi T (2000) Acceleration of P/C-type inactivation in voltage-gated K(+) channels by methionine oxidation. Biophys J 78: 174-87
- Childs BG, Durik M, Baker DJ, van Deursen JM (2015) Cellular senescence in aging and age-related disease: from mechanisms to therapy. Nat Med 21: 1424-35
- Choi SH, Kim HY (2011) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A regulates cell growth through the p53-p21 pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 416: 70-5
- Chondrogianni N, Petropoulos I, Grimm S, Georgila K, Catalgol B, Friguet B, Grune T, Gonos ES (2014) Protein damage, repair and proteolysis. Mol Aspects Med 35: 1-71
- Cui Z, Hwang SM, Gomes AV (2014) Identification of the immunoproteasome as a novel regulator of skeletal muscle differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 34: 96-109
- Erickson JR, Joiner ML, Guan X, Kutschke W, Yang J, Oddis CV, Bartlett RK, Lowe JS, O'Donnell SE, Aykin-Burns N, Zimmerman MC, Zimmerman K, Ham AJ, Weiss RM, Spitz DR, Shea MA, Colbran RJ, Mohler PJ, Anderson ME (2008) A dynamic pathway for calcium-independent activation of CaMKII by methionine oxidation. Cell 133: 462-74

- Fan H, Wu PF, Zhang L, Hu ZL, Wang W, Guan XL, Luo H, Ni M, Yang JW, Li MX, Chen JG, Wang F (2015) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A negatively controls microgliamediated neuroinflammation via inhibiting ROS/MAPKs/NF-kappaB signaling pathways through a catalytic antioxidant function. Antioxid Redox Signal 22: 832-47
- Garcia-Prat L, Martinez-Vicente M, Perdiguero E, Ortet L, Rodriguez-Ubreva J, Rebollo E, Ruiz-Bonilla V, Gutarra S, Ballestar E, Serrano AL, Sandri M, Munoz-Canoves P (2016) Autophagy maintains stemness by preventing senescence. Nature 529: 37-42
- Gellert M, Hanschmann EM, Lepka K, Berndt C, Lillig CH (2015) Redox regulation of cytoskeletal dynamics during differentiation and de-differentiation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1850: 1575-87
- Gidaro T, Negroni E, Perie S, Mirabella M, Laine J, Lacau St Guily J, Butler-Browne G, Mouly V, Trollet C (2013) Atrophy, fibrosis, and increased PAX7-positive cells in pharyngeal muscles of oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy patients. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 72: 234-43
- He BJ, Joiner ML, Singh MV, Luczak ED, Swaminathan PD, Koval OM, Kutschke W, Allamargot C, Yang J, Guan X, Zimmerman K, Grumbach IM, Weiss RM, Spitz DR, Sigmund CD, Blankesteijn WM, Heymans S, Mohler PJ, Anderson ME (2011) Oxidation of CaMKII determines the cardiotoxic effects of aldosterone. Nat Med 17: 1610-8
- Hung RJ, Spaeth CS, Yesilyurt HG, Terman JR (2013) SelR reverses Mical-mediated oxidation of actin to regulate F-actin dynamics. Nat Cell Biol 15: 1445-54
- Jia Y, Li Y, Du S, Huang K (2012) Involvement of MsrB1 in the regulation of redox balance and inhibition of peroxynitrite-induced apoptosis in human lens epithelial cells. Exp Eye Res 100: 7-16
- Jia Y, Zhou J, Liu H, Huang K (2014) Effect of methionine sulfoxide reductase B1 (SelR) gene silencing on peroxynitrite-induced F-actin disruption in human lens epithelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 443: 876-81
- Kantorow M, Hawse JR, Cowell TL, Benhamed S, Pizarro GO, Reddy VN, Hejtmancik JF (2004) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A is important for lens cell viability and resistance to oxidative stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 9654-9
- Kim G, Weiss SJ, Levine RL (2014) Methionine oxidation and reduction in proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1840: 901-5
- Kim HY (2013) The methionine sulfoxide reduction system: selenium utilization and methionine sulfoxide reductase enzymes and their functions. Antioxid Redox Signal 19: 958-69
- Kim JI, Noh MR, Kim KY, Jang HS, Kim HY, Park KM (2015) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A deficiency exacerbates progression of kidney fibrosis induced by unilateral ureteral obstruction. Free Radic Biol Med 89: 201-8
- Kozakowska M, Pietraszek-Gremplewicz K, Jozkowicz A, Dulak J (2015) The role of oxidative stress in skeletal muscle injury and regeneration: focus on antioxidant enzymes. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 36: 377-93
- Lee BC, Peterfi Z, Hoffmann FW, Moore RE, Kaya A, Avanesov A, Tarrago L, Zhou Y, Weerapana E, Fomenko DE, Hoffmann PR, Gladyshev VN (2013) MsrB1 and MICALs regulate actin assembly and macrophage function via reversible stereoselective methionine oxidation. Mol Cell 51: 397-404
- Li Y, Jia Y, Zhou J, Huang K (2013) Effect of methionine sulfoxide reductase B1 silencing on high-glucose-induced apoptosis of human lens epithelial cells. Life Sci 92: 193-201
- Lim JC, Kim G, Levine RL (2013) Stereospecific oxidation of calmodulin by methionine sulfoxide reductase A. Free Radic Biol Med 61: 257-64

- Luo S, Levine RL (2009) Methionine in proteins defends against oxidative stress. FASEB J 23: 464-72
- Mamchaoui K, Trollet C, Bigot A, Negroni E, Chaouch S, Wolff A, Kandalla PK, Marie S, Di Santo J, St Guily JL, Muntoni F, Kim J, Philippi S, Spuler S, Levy N, Blumen SC, Voit T, Wright WE, Aamiri A, Butler-Browne G et al. (2011) Immortalized pathological human myoblasts: towards a universal tool for the study of neuromuscular disorders. Skelet Muscle 1: 34
- Minniti AN, Cataldo R, Trigo C, Vasquez L, Mujica P, Leighton F, Inestrosa NC, Aldunate R (2009) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A expression is regulated by the DAF-16/FOXO pathway in Caenorhabditis elegans. Aging Cell 8: 690-705
- Mohri M, Reinach PS, Kanayama A, Shimizu M, Moskovitz J, Hisatsune T, Miyamoto Y (2002) Suppression of the TNFalpha-induced increase in IL-1alpha expression by hypochlorite in human corneal epithelial cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 43: 3190-5
- Moncaut N, Rigby PW, Carvajal JJ (2013) Dial M(RF) for myogenesis. FEBS J 280: 3980-90
- Montarras D, L'Honore A, Buckingham M (2013) Lying low but ready for action: the quiescent muscle satellite cell. FEBS J 280: 4036-50
- Munoz-Espin D, Serrano M (2014) Cellular senescence: from physiology to pathology. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15: 482-96
- Oien DB, Moskovitz J (2008) Substrates of the methionine sulfoxide reductase system and their physiological relevance. Curr Top Dev Biol 80: 93-133
- Perie S, Mamchaoui K, Mouly V, Blot S, Bouazza B, Thornell LE, St Guily JL, Butler-Browne G (2006) Premature proliferative arrest of cricopharyngeal myoblasts in oculo-pharyngeal muscular dystrophy: Therapeutic perspectives of autologous myoblast transplantation. Neuromuscul Disord 16: 770-81
- Picot CR, Perichon M, Cintrat J-C, Friguet B, Petropoulos I (2004) The peptide methionine sulfoxide reductases, MsrA and MsrB (hCBS-1), are downregulated during replicative senescence of human WI-38 fibroblasts. FEBS Letters 558: 74-78
- Picot CR, Petropoulos I, Perichon M, Moreau M, Nizard C, Friguet B (2005) Overexpression of MsrA protects WI-38 SV40 human fibroblasts against H2O2mediated oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med 39: 1332-41
- Prentice HM, Moench IA, Rickaway ZT, Dougherty CJ, Webster KA, Weissbach H (2008) MsrA protects cardiac myocytes against hypoxia/reoxygenation induced cell death. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 366: 775-8
- Ruan H, Tang XD, Chen ML, Joiner ML, Sun G, Brot N, Weissbach H, Heinemann SH, Iverson L, Wu CF, Hoshi T (2002) High-quality life extension by the enzyme peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 2748-53
- Santarelli LC, Wassef R, Heinemann SH, Hoshi T (2006) Three methionine residues located within the regulator of conductance for K+ (RCK) domains confer oxidative sensitivity to large-conductance Ca2+-activated K+ channels. J Physiol 571: 329-48
- Ugarte N, Petropoulos I, Friguet B (2010) Oxidized mitochondrial protein degradation and repair in aging and oxidative stress. Antioxid Redox Signal 13: 539-49
- Wassef R, Haenold R, Hansel A, Brot N, Heinemann SH, Hoshi T (2007) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A and a dietary supplement S-methyl-L-cysteine prevent Parkinson's-like symptoms. J Neurosci 27: 12808-16
- Xu YY, Du F, Meng B, Xie GH, Cao J, Fan D, Yu H (2015) Hepatic overexpression of methionine sulfoxide reductase A reduces atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. J Lipid Res 56: 1891-900

- Yermolaieva O, Xu R, Schinstock C, Brot N, Weissbach H, Heinemann SH, Hoshi T (2004) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A protects neuronal cells against brief hypoxia/reoxygenation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 1159-64
- Zhou Z, Li CY, Li K, Wang T, Zhang B, Gao TW (2009) Decreased methionine sulphoxide reductase A expression renders melanocytes more sensitive to oxidative stress: a possible cause for melanocyte loss in vitiligo. Br J Dermatol 161: 504-9

Fig. 1 – Changes of intracellular Msr activity during differentiation of human myoblasts.

A-E) Human myoblasts were cultured and analysed in proliferation and 2, 4 and 6 days after induction of differentiation. **B)** Cells were incubated with EdU and processed for DAPI staining, detection of EdU incorporation and MyoD, Myogenin and myosin heavy chain (MHC) expression by immunofluorescence. Representative images are shown. **C)** Msr activity during myoblasts differentiation was measured using radioactive labelling of substrate MetSO. **D)** At each stage of culture, cells were used for RNA purification. RNA samples were analysed by qPCR for myogenic differentiation markers and *Msr* members. Values are shown relative to the level of *Emerin* transcripts. **E)** Proteins were extracted at each stage of culture. Western-blot analysis indicated the level of MsrA, MsrB2 and TnC proteins. *G*raphs represent the mean \pm SEM values from at least 3 independent experiments. * P<0.05 and ** P<0.01 in a paired student T test.

Fig. 2 – Human myogenic differentiation is accompanied by increase of protein oxidative modifications.

A) Intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) were detected using the DCFDA fluorescent sensor during human myoblasts differentiation. **B-D**) Proteins were extracted at each stage of culture. Western-blot analysis indicated the level of **B**) Protein carbonyl groups, **C**) carboxyl methyl lysine (CML) and **D**) Protein ubiquitin groups. Graphs represent the mean \pm SEM values from at least 3 independent experiments. * P<0.05 and ** P<0.01 in a paired student T test.

Fig. 3 – MsrA knock-down leads to significant decrease of Msr activity.

A-C) shCtrl and shMsrA cells were analysed in proliferation and 6 days after induction of differentiation. **A)** RNA samples were analysed by qPCR for *MsrA*, *MsrB1*, *MsrB2* and *MsrB3* transcripts. Values are shown relative to the level of *Emerin* transcripts. **B-C)** Proteins were extracted, and **B**) Western-blot analysis indicated the level of MsrA and MsrB2 proteins in both shCtrl or shMsrA cells. **C)** Msr activity was quantified and presented as a percentage (%) of the total Msr activity of proliferative shCtrl cells. Graphs represent the mean \pm SEM values from 3 independent experiments. * P<0.05 and ** P<0.01 in a unpaired student T test between shCtrl and shMsrA.

Fig. 4 – Loss of MsrA leads to defective myoblast proliferation and to senescence.

A-D) shCtrl and shMsrA cells were analysed in proliferation. **A**) shCtrl and shMsrA cells were incubated with EdU and processed for DAPI staining, detection of EdU incorporation and MyoD and Ki67 expression by immunofluorescence. Representative images are shown. Cells positive for each marker were counted and quantified as the percentage (%) of total cells. **B**) shCtrl and shMsrA cells in proliferation were assayed for senescence-associated- β -galactosidase (SA- β -gal) staining and processed for DAPI staining. Positive cells were counted and quantified as the percentage (%) of total cells. **C**) Intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) were detected using the DCFDA fluorescent probe on shCtrl and shMSrA proliferative cells. **D**) Protein carbonyl groups levels on shCtrl and shMSrA myoblasts were detected by oxyblot. All graphs represent the mean \pm SEM values from 3 independent experiments. * P<0.05 and ** P<0.01 in a unpaired student T test.

Fig. 5 – Effects of MsrA knock-down for myoblasts differentiation.

A-D) shCtrl and shMsrA cells were analysed at 2 and 4 days after induction of differentiation. **A**) Intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) were detected using the DCFDA fluorescent sensor on shCtrl and shMSrA myotubes. **B**) Cells were processed for DAPI staining and detection of Myogenin and myosin heavy chain (MHC) expression by immunofluorescence. Representative images are shown. **C**) RNA samples were analysed by qPCR for *Myogenin* and *MHC-IIa* transcripts. Values are shown relative to the level of *Emerin* transcripts. **D**) Proteins were extracted and western-blot analysis indicated the level of Troponin C (TnC) expression. Graphs represent the mean \pm SEM values from at least 3 independent experiments. * P<0.05 and ** P<0.01 in a unpaired student T test.

Fig. 6 –MsrA expression is reduced in OPMD-derived myoblasts.

Human myoblasts derived from the *cricopharyngeus* muscle of patients with oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy (OPMD) and healthy donors of the same age range (Control) were culture and collected at proliferative state. RNA samples were analysed by qPCR for *MsrA* transcripts. Values are shown relative to the level of *Emerin* transcripts. Graph represents the mean \pm SEM values from 6 independent experiments. * P<0.05 in a unpaired student T test.

Gene	Forward primer	Reverse primer
Emerin	5' AAGAGGAGTGCAAGGATAGGG 3'	5' GGAGGAAGTAGGATAATAGGACAGG 3'
MHC-IIa	5' GAAAGTCTGAAAGGGAACGCA 3'	5' CGCCACAAAGACAGATGTTTTG 3'
MsrA	5' GGGCAACTCGGCCTCGAACA 3'	5' CCAGAAACATCCCATTCCAAA 3'
MsrB1	5' GTGTGCCAAGTGTGGCTATGA 3'	5' CTTGCCACAGGACACCTTCAA 3'
MsrB2	5' CGGAGCAGTTCTACGTCACAA 3'	5' CAGAGCCAGACGTACCATGA 3'
MsrB3	5' CTCAGGAGAAAGGGACCGAAA 3'	5' GCCAACCTGAACCGGAGTCAA 3'
MyoD	5' AACTGCTCCGACGGCATG 3'	5' ACAGGCAGTCTAGGCTCGACA 3'
Myogenin	5' GAGTTCAGCGCCAACCCCAG 3'	5' TGCCCGGCTTGGAAGACAAT 3'

Table 1 - List of primers used in the study.











B)



C)

Msr Activity	Prolif	6d
shCtrl	100 %	68,1 ± 7,4 %
shMsrA	60,9 ± 12,3 %	34,3 ± 6,5 %









```
Fig.6
```



Supplementary data

Fig. S1 – Variation of proteasome expression and activity during human myogenic differentiation.

A-B) Proteins were extracted in proliferation and 2, 4 and 6 days after induction of differentiation. **A**) Western-blot analysis indicated the level of 20S proteasome catalytic subunits expression, β 1 corresponding to caspases-like activity (C-L), β 2 corresponding to trypsin-like activity (T-L) and β 5 corresponding to chymotrypsin-like activity (CT-L). **B**) Proteasome activities were assayed using selective fluorescent substrates for each catalytic subunit activity. Graphs represent the mean \pm SEM values from at least 3 independent experiments. * P<0.05 and ** P<0.01 in a paired student T test (Prolif vs. 2d, 4d or 6d).

Fig. S2 – Msr transcripts expression between the different shMsrA myoblasts.

At proliferative state, cells derived from myoblasts transfection with shCtrl sequence and from five different shMsrA sequences were used for RNA purification. RNA samples were analysed by qPCR for *MsrA*, *MsrB1*, *MsrB2* and *MsrB3* transcripts and normalized by the level of *Emerin* transcripts. Values are shown relative to the shCtrl cells transcripts expression.

Fig. S1

A)





B)







Complementary results

Most antioxidant enzymes transcripts are increased during myoblast differentiation

To further characterise the redox state during human myoblast differentiation, we analysed the gene expression of different antioxidant enzymes, known to directly react with ROS: catalase (CAT), superoxide dismutase (SOD), peroxiredoxin (Prx) and glutathione peroxidase (GPx), in proliferative myoblasts and in differentiated myotubes. We observed an increase in the antioxidant enzymes transcripts Prx2 and Prx3, as previously described in mouse myoblasts (Lee et al., 2014b, Won et al., 2012) and, except from the CAT, SOD1 and GPx3 enzymes, whose gene expression is greater in proliferative myoblasts, in SOD2, Prx5 Prx6, Gpx2, and Gpx4 at 4 and 6 days after induction of differentiation (Figure 25A). Some of these enzymes are regulated by the antioxidant transcription factor nuclear factor Nrf2 (erythroid 2-like factor 2) (see (Zhang, Davies et al., 2015) for review). As shown in Figure 25B, the increase expression of these enzymes in differentiated myotubes could result from a greater expression of this Nrf2 transcription factor in later differentiation stages. Interestingly, the transcripts of *Trx* enzymes, which are responsible for the recycling of Msr and Prx enzymes and redox regulation of cellular signalling and stress, do not significantly vary during myoblasts differentiation (Figure 25C), as previous observed (Dimauro et al., 2012).



Figure 25 – Antioxidant enzymes expression during human myoblasts differentiation *in vitro*. Total mRNA was purified at each stage of culture and analysed by qPCR for the expression of (A) antioxidant enzymes including catalase (CAT), superoxide dismutase (SOD1 and 2), peroxiredoxins (Prx2, 3, 5 and 6) and glutathione peroxidases (Gpx2, 3 and 4); for (B) the antioxidant transcription factor Nrf2 and for the (C) thioredoxin (Trx1 and 2). Transcripts expression was normalized to the level of *Emerin* mRNA. *G*raphs represent the mean \pm SEM values from at least 3 independent experiments. * P<0.05 and ** P<0.01 in a paired student T test.

p16^{INK4a}-depend senescence in MsrA-deficient myoblasts

MsrA deficiency leads to proliferation arrest due mainly by induction of senescence as shown by the senescent morphology of the cell (Figure 26A) and the increased number of cells presenting a SA- β -galactosidase activity (see Fig. 4B of the article) rather than apoptosis revealed by the absence of Caspase-3 cleavage (Figure 26B). To further characterise the mechanism inducing the altered proliferative capacities of the shMsrA compared to shCtrl cells, we analysed the expression of p16^{INK4a}, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, in MsrA-deficient myoblasts. As shown in Figure 26C, the higher p16^{INK4a} expression may explain the senescence state induced by the absence of MsrA.



Figure 26 – Senescence is induced in ShMsrA myoblasts. A) Representative phase contrast images of human myoblast transfected with shCtrl or shMsrA lentiviral particles at different culture stages. B-C) Proteins from shCtrl and shMsrA cells were extracted at each stage of culture. Western-blot analysis indicate the level of Caspase-3, cleaved Caspase-3 (B) and $p16^{INK4a}$ proteins (C). Graphs represent the mean ± SEM values from at least 3 independent experiments. Prolif - proliferation; d - days after induction of differentiation *in vitro*.

Senescent myoblasts have less *MsrA* expression

As we have shown that MsrA inhibition led to the senescent of myoblasts, we wonder if replicative senescent myoblasts have decreased Msr expression. Myoblasts at 32 cumulative population doublings (CPD)¹⁰ presented on average 11,1% of senescent cells, while 85,5% of myoblasts at 52 CPD were senescent as evidenced by SA- β -galactosidase activity measurements (Figure 27A). As shown in Figure 27B, senescent myoblasts present two times less *MsrA* transcript expression that the proliferative ones while the expression of the other *Msr* genes do not significantly vary from young to senescent myoblasts (Figure 27B). This suggests that the myogenic defects found in the replicative senescent myoblast could be partly due to a reduced *MsrA* expression.



Figure 27 – Senescent myoblasts had decreased MsrA expression. Myoblasts with 32 and with 52 cumulative population doublings (CPD) were analysed. A) Cells in proliferation were assayed for senescence-associated- β -galactosidase (SA- β gal) staining and nucleus were evidenced by DAPI staining. Positive cells were counted and quantified as the percentage (%) of total cells. B) Total RNA from proliferative myoblasts was purified and analysed by qPCR for the expression of MsrA, B1, B2 and B3. Transcripts are shown relative to the level of *Emerin* transcripts. Graphs represent the mean \pm SEM values from 6 independent experiments. * P<0.05 and **P<0.01 in an unpaired student T test.

¹⁰ CPD refers to the total number of times the cells in the population have doubled since their primary isolation *in vitro*

Fibroblast cells derived from pathologic fibrotic muscle have greater *Msr* expression than myoblasts

The main muscle affected by the late onset muscular dystrophy, Oculopharyngeal Muscular Dystrophy (OPMD), are the cricopharyngeus and the elevator eyelid muscles whose progressive atrophy leads to dysphagia and ptosis (Luigetti, Lo Monaco et al., 2015). In particular, the *cricopharyngeus* muscle is characterised by a high level of fibrosis in healthy individuals that is exacerbated in muscle derived from OPMD patients (Gidaro et al., 2013). Thus, cultures derived from biopsies progressively loss their myogenicity, being enriched in fibroblasts. Isolation of the myogenic culture fraction that is CD56 positive (CD56⁺) from the non-myoblastic fraction (CD56⁻) can be done by microbeads conjugated with CD56 antibodies (see material and methods). While less *MsrA* expression was found in CD56⁺ myoblasts derived from *cricopharyngeus* muscle from OPMD patients comparing to CD56⁺ control cultures (Figure 28), in the case of CD56⁻ cells, mainly composed of fibroblasts, we found more MsrA transcripts in fibroblasts derived from OPMD patients comparing to those from healthy donors (Figure 28). Furthermore, increased MsrB2 and MsrB3 expression was also observed in OPMD-derived fibroblasts comparing to OPMDderived myoblasts (Figure 28). Whether the differential expression of *Msr* in myoblasts and fibroblasts is responsible for their differential proliferative capacities observed in vitro and resistance towards oxidative stress needs to be further investigated.



Figure 28 – Msr expression in human OPMD-derived myoblasts. Total RNA was purified from proliferative primary celular fractions (CD56⁺ representing the myoblastic fraction; CD56⁻ representing the non myoblastic fraction). Transcripts are shown relative to the level of *Emerin* transcripts. *G*raphs represent the mean \pm SEM values from 6 independent experiments. * P<0.05 in an unpaired student T test. CP – *cricopharyngeus* muscle.

Msr family is expressed in quiescent and activated satellite cells

In homeostasis conditions, satellite cells of adult are in a quiescent state. Since cultured human myoblasts did not allow the study of Msr enzymes gene expression in quiescence, we used the *Pax3*^{*GFP/+*} mice line to purify the satellite cells marked by *Pax3* (*GFP*) by flow cytometry ((Montarras et al., 2005) and materials and methods) from adult and compared them to satellite cells derived from 8 days post-birth mice in which almost 80% of them are activated to allow muscle growth (Pallafacchina, Francois et al., 2010). The *Msr* transcripts analysed by qPCR in adult quiescent cells, characterised by a low *Myogenin* expression and in activated satellites cells, marked by a high *Myogenin* levels (Figure 29) showed a higher expression for *MsrB1* and *MsrB3* genes in quiescent cells than in activated cells and no difference in *MsrA* and *MsrB2* gene expression.



Figure 29 – **Msr expression profile in quiescent an activated satellite cells.** A) Expression of Msr transcripts in satellite cells isolated by flow cytometry from Pax3^{GFP/+} muscles derived from adult mice (quiescent) or 8 days post birth mice (activated) was analysed by qPCR. B) Quiescent and activated stages were followed by *Myogenin* expression. Transcripts are shown relative to the level of *HPRT* transcripts. Graphs represent the mean \pm SEM values from 3 independent experiments. * P<0.05 and ** P<0.01 in an unpaired student T test (Quiescent vs. Activated); # P < 0.05 in a paired student T test (Quiescent cells: MsrB2 vs. MsrB1 and MsrB3); δ P < 0.05 in a paired student T test (Activated cells: MsrB2 vs. MsrA, MsrB1 and MsrB3)

Discussion

The study of skeletal muscle regeneration represents a major biomedical issue, notably for the treatment of muscle degenerative disorders. In this work, we used human primary myoblasts as a culture model to investigate the role of Msr enzymes in myogenesis. By reducing methionine oxidation within proteins, these enzymes are involved in different redox signalling pathways (Gellert et al., 2015, Kim et al., 2014a). Although increasing evidence indicates that skeletal muscle myogenesis is controlled by ROS-dependent signalling, the role of protein homeostasis systems, in particular those responsible for the reduction of reversible oxidative modifications to proteins, still remains largely unexplored. In addition to their involvement in redox pathways, Msr enzymes are also recognised as important antioxidant enzymes (Luo & Levine, 2009). We thus hypothesise that they could play important roles during muscle regeneration.

We showed that ROS levels increase at early stages of myoblasts differentiation and that this increase is followed by an up-regulation of some antioxidant enzymes that directly interact with ROS, such as SOD and Prx. The increase in both ROS and antioxidant enzymes has also been reported other studies (Lee et al., 2014b, Malinska et al., 2012, Piao et al., 2005, Won et al., 2012). Between them, Prx2 and Prx3 enzymes have been postulated as critical regulators of myoblasts differentiation since their inhibition led to an accumulation of aberrant ROS levels and mitochondrial dysfunctions (Lee et al., 2014b, Won et al., 2012). In contrast, we found that CAT and some GPx enzymes expression significantly decrease during myoblasts differentiation, as observed several years ago (Franco et al., 1999). As opposed to the ROS eliminating enzymes, we found that Trx expression seems to be unchanged during myoblasts differentiation, as reported also by Dimauro et al. in a mouse model of muscle differentiation (Dimauro et al., 2012). Interestingly, although we did not observed a modulation of Msr expression during myoblasts differentiation, a significant decrease in Msr activity was found, suggesting that regulation of Msr activity is required for correct myogenesis. Both Msr and Trx enzymes depend on Txr reductase (TR) enzymes to be recycled and thus functional (Bigelow & Squier, 2011). Given that TR expression was found decreased in myotubes compared to myoblasts (Dimauro et al., 2012), one can think that, by regulating the expression of TR enzymes, myoblasts may control Msr and Trx enzymes activity. The specific regulation of Msr and Trx during myoblasts differentiation indicates that their functions in protein-reducing, and signal-transducing (Bigelow & Squier, 2011) are also important for correct myogenesis.

To further explore the importance of the Msr enzymes in myoblasts function, we used shRNA sequences against MsrA transcripts, the only Msr member able to reduce the MetSO diastereoisomer of MetO and which is widely distributed within cells: in the cytoplasm, nuclei and mitochondria (Kim, 2013). Deletion of this Msr member significantly reduced total Msr activity and induced a senescence state in myoblasts evidenced by increased SA- β -galactosidase activity and up-regulation of p16^{INK4a}. This senescent state can explain the decreased proliferative capacities found in MsrA-deficient myoblasts, since we did not observed caspase-dependent apoptosis. Accordingly, in geriatric mice, it has been shown that the decline in satellite cells number and self-renewal capacities with age was due to a switch to an irreversible senescent state, caused by de-repression of p16^{INK4a} (Sousa-Victor et al., 2014). In the same year, Cosgrove et al. have shown that the high numbers of $p16^{INK4a}$ -related senescent satellite cells with age was due to an increased activation of the ROS-dependent p38a/MAPK signalling cascade and that once this cascade is inhibited, satellite cells regenerative capacities in vivo were largely improved (Cosgrove et al., 2014). We found that MsrA inhibition leads to increased ROS content and to p16^{INK4a}-dependent myoblasts senescence, whether this requires the activation of $p38\alpha/MAPK$ signalling pathway remains to be confirmed. However, it is well known that Msr enzymes, by reducing MetO, function as ROS scavengers (Luo & Levine, 2009), supporting the idea that in its absence, different ROS signalling pathways could be turned on. Another possible ROSdependent signalling pathway that has been implicated in myoblasts function is the ROS /NF-kB pathway which functions mainly downstream the p38a/MAPK effectors (Baeza-Raja & Munoz-Canoves, 2004, Lee et al., 2011, Piao et al., 2005). Since MsrA has been recently shown to reduce inflammation in microglia through inhibition of the ROS/MAPK/NF-KB pathway (Fan et al., 2015), one could think that inhibiting MsrA may induce this pathway in myoblasts, thus impairing myogenesis.

Myoblasts from OPMD patients present low proliferative capacities in culture (Perie et al., 2006) and are rapidly overcome by intense proliferative fibroblasts. Interestingly higher *MsrA*, *MsrB2* and *MsrB3* expression was found in cultured fibroblasts comparing to myoblasts derived from OPMD-damage muscle. Since we showed that MsrA play a critical role in regulating proliferative capacities of myoblasts, reduced expression of Msr enzymes observed in OPMD patients could explain their previously observed premature proliferative arrest (Perie et al., 2006). In contrast, the higher *MsrA*, *MsrB1* and *B3* expression in OPMD-derived fibroblast could be favouring their proliferation, explaining the higher fibrosis

occurring in *cricopharingeal* muscle of dystrophic patients. Consistent with this, MsrA and MsrB3 were described as regulators of fibroblast proliferation via p53-p21 pathways (Choi & Kim, 2011, Lee, Kwak et al., 2014a). Whether OPMD-derived myoblasts proliferative arrest is due to the induction of a senescent state remains to be explored. However, the fact that this muscle dystrophy is characterised by chronic degeneration and regeneration cycles requiring the permanent activation of satellite cells (Gidaro et al., 2013), it is possible that the increase of satellite cell divisions ultimately leads to their senescence. Exhaustion of the satellite cells regenerative and self-renewal capacities by replicative senescence and changes in the environment are within the causes for the decrease in the satellite cell pool in other muscular dystrophies such as DMD (Decary, Hamida et al., 2000) and DM1 (myotonic dystrophy type 1) (Bigot et al., 2009). In myoblasts submitted to replicative senescence, we observed a reduction in MsrA expression compared to young culture myoblasts. Since replicative senescence could play a role in the regenerative defects observed in muscular diseases (Bigot et al., 2008), this suggests that targeting Msr expression could be an important tool for the treatment of these degenerative muscle disorders.

We propose that MsrA activity is important for maintaining low ROS levels in proliferative myoblasts and for protecting myoblast proteins against irreversible oxidative damages in order to prevent senescence and decreased proliferative capacities. Inhibition of another important protein homeostasis system, the autophagy-lysosomal system, in satellite cells resulted in mitochondrial dysfunctions and increased intracellular ROS content leading to senescence after satellite cells activation (Garcia-Prat et al., 2016). Moreover, these authors found that a basal level of autophagy seems to be required to maintain the murine satellite cells in a quiescent state (Garcia-Prat et al., 2016). Here we observed that quiescent satellite cells derived from adult mice have increased *MsrB1* and *B3* expression comparing to activated cells while *MsrA* expression remains higher in quiescent and activated satellite cells, suggesting that different Msr enzymes could participate to the cellular quality-control systems that actively repress senescence program, thereby preserving cellular proteotoxicity in quiescent and activated satellite cells.

In conclusion, we have shown that, by neutralizing excessive ROS levels and intracellular protein damage accumulation, Msr enzymes counteracts myoblasts senescence thereby preventing altered myogenesis, which is occurring in aged muscle or in muscle degenerative conditions such as in muscular dystrophies. This reinforces the notion that by modulating Msr enzymes, we could prevent cellular ageing and suggests that Msr could represent a valuable pharmacological target for the treatment of muscular dystrophies.

Part II - Importance of Msr enzymes for skeletal muscle fibres protection against oxidative stress under normal or pathological conditions

Background

Skeletal muscle is an abundant tissue in mammals required for the production of force and movement needed for contraction. Nevertheless, skeletal muscle tissue is also the major site of fatty acid oxidation, participating on carbohydrate metabolism and maintenance of the body heat homeostasis. With age, however, a reduction in the number and size of muscle fibres is observed together with a loss of muscle strength and velocity of contraction. This age-dependent loss of muscle mass and force, commonly named sarcopenia, plays a major role in loss of independence and quality of life in the elderly. In addition, given that skeletal muscle plays central role as reserve for energy and amino acids, in the regulation of body temperature and in metabolic homeostasis, age-related loss of muscle mass and functions will also trigger severe metabolic side effects in the old populations.

Tissue ageing has been for long associated with an increased oxidative stress state and the skeletal muscle tissue is not an exception. Oxidative stress markers found in aged skeletal muscle fibres confirmed the causal role of oxidative stress, among the multifactorial bases of the sarcopenia, in the appearance of the muscle ageing (Powers, 2014). In fact, the redox state is of even greater relevance for skeletal muscle comparing to other tissues due to its high oxygen consumption rate. This can lead to an overproduction of ROS that, if not scavenged by antioxidant systems, will damage different kind of cellular biomolecules. Between them, skeletal muscle proteins, including those forming myofilaments, are very sensitive to redox modifications. The importance of protein irreversible damage accumulation and dysfunction of degrading systems, such as the proteasome, in the development of sarcopenia have been intensively studied (Andersson et al., 2011, Choksi et al., 2008, Lourenço Dos Santos et al., 2015, Snow et al., 2007, Thompson et al., 2006). However, although cysteine and methionine, the only protein residues in which oxidation is repaired by cellular enzymatic systems, are by far the most sensitive to oxidation by ROS, little is known about the role of reversible protein oxidation and their repairing systems for skeletal muscle homeostasis. In this regard, the study of the Msr systems deserves a special attention since it is the only cellular enzymatic system capable of reversing methionine oxidation. Furthermore, Msr enzymes have been shown to play an important role in oxidative stress protection by preventing protein oxidative damages during ageing and neurodegenerative disorders (Kim et al., 2014c, Minniti et al., 2009, Moskovitz et al., 2011, Salmon et al., 2009). Although decreased MsrA expression and activity were found in different rat tissues (kidney, liver and brain) during ageing (Petropoulos et al., 2001), this important antioxidant system has never been studied in skeletal muscle ageing or pathologies.

Regarding skeletal muscle disorders, the study of Msr enzymes is also of particular interest since an increased oxidative state has already been suggested to participate to the pathology of some of them. This is the case for some muscular dystrophies such as Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD). Indeed, increased lipid oxidative damages, high levels of specific antioxidant enzymes and decreased GSH levels were found in muscle fibres from DMD patients or mouse models (review in (Canton et al., 2014, Terrill et al., 2013)), supporting a role of oxidative stress state in the development of this muscular dystrophy. The study of Msr enzymes in the context of the oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy (OPMD) is also worthy of a special attention since, apart from increased mitochondrial and proteasome dysfunctions (Anvar et al., 2011, Trollet et al., 2010), this muscular dystrophy has a late onset of appearance meaning that premature ageing could play also a role in the phenotype of this muscular dystrophy.

As we hypothesised that Msr enzymes are involved in the protection of skeletal muscle tissue against oxidative stress conditions, such as during ageing, the aim of the second part of my thesis work was to investigate the expression and activity of Msr enzymes in skeletal muscle tissue. To clarify the role of Msr enzymes in pathological muscles, their expression will be also analysed in human muscle biopsies from DMD and OPMD patients and in skeletal muscle biopsies derived from dystrophic mouse models.

Msr enzymes are involved in protection of skeletal muscle fibres from oxidative stress conditions

Msr family is mainly expressed and activated in fast twitch muscle fibres

Four main types of muscle fibres can be distinguished in skeletal muscle tissue in regard to their metabolic preference, varying from slow contracting fibres (type I) having the highest mitochondrial density and using oxidative phosphorylation for energy production to fast fatigable fibres (type IIb) with low mitochondrial content and producing ATP mainly through glycolysis. We wonder if Msr enzymes, which are differently distributed within cells, are differently expressed or active between the different types of muscle fibres. To investigate this, we measure Msr expression and activity in adult mouse hindlimb biopsies of different muscle types including *tibialis anterior*, a fast glycolytic muscle (fibres expressing mainly MHC-IIa and IIx isoforms), soleus, a slow oxidative type muscle (fibres expressing mainly MHC-I isoforms), gastrocnemius and quadriceps, two mixed muscle fibres (fibres expressing mainly MHC-I and IIa isoforms) (Figure 30A). Our results show that Msr activity is present in all three types of skeletal muscle, with fast glycolytic fibres having a maximal Msr activity comparing to slow and mixed muscle types (Figure 30B). The radioactive substrate we used in this study contains the two diastereoisomeric forms of the MetO and can be reduced by both MsrA and MsrB members. To identify which Msr members are responsible for this high activity in fast glycolytic muscles, we analysed their transcripts expression profile in the different mouse muscles. All Msr genes are expressed in the different muscles studied (Figure 30C), with MsrB1 being the most expressed gene, especially in tibialis anterior muscle, followed by MsrB3. However, we did not found significant variations in the expression of these genes between the different types of muscle fibres, suggesting that the difference found in Msr activity should be due to posttranscriptional changes. Interestingly, MsrB2, whose expression is confined to mitochondria, is the least represented gene in all muscles analysed.


Figure 30 – Msr activity and expression in different mouse skeletal muscle types. A) For each muscle biopsy, myosin heavy chain (MHC) isoforms were analysed by qPCR after RNA purification. B) Msr activity was measured in protein extracts from different kinds of skeletal muscle using radioactive labelling of N-acetyl-[3H]Met-R,S(O) substrate. C) *Msr* transcripts expression was analysed by qPCR after RNA purification. Transcripts are shown relative to the level of *HPRT* transcripts. Graphs represent the mean \pm SEM values from at least 3 independent experiments. * P<0.05 in an unpaired student T test; # P<0.05 in a paired student T test (MsrB1 vs. MsrA and MsrB2); δ P<0.05 in a paired student T test (MsrB2 vs. MsrB3).

Msr expression and activity are decreased in sarcopenic muscle

To determine if an impaired expression and / or activity of the Msr system could be related to the oxidative stress state observed in sarcopenia, we investigated the Msr activity and expression in *tibialis anterior* biopsies obtained from young adults of 3 months of age and geriatric mice of 25 months of age. At this older age, fibre atrophy is already detected as well as irreversible damages to proteins (Figure 31A). Our results indicate a dramatic decrease in Msr activity during muscle ageing (Figure 31B). In order to determine which Msr is responsible for this decrease, we analysed the Msr expression profile by qPCR. As shown in Figure 31C, there is a significant decline in *MsrA* and *B1* gene expression with age while *MsrB2* and *B3* transcripts do not seem affected by sarcopenia. These results suggest that the reduction of *MsrA* and *B1* gene expression in geriatric muscle would be responsible for the significant decline observed in Msr activity during muscle ageing.



Figure 31 – Msr activity and expression in adult (3 months) and geriatric (25 months) mouse skeletal muscle. A-B) Proteins were extracted from adult and geriatric mouse *tibialis anterior* biopsies. A) Western-blot analysis indicated the level of protein carbonyl groups. B) Msr activity was measured in protein extracts from muscle biopsies using radioactive labelling of N-acetyl-[3H]Met-R,S(O) substrate. C) *Msr* transcripts expression was analysed by qPCR after RNA purification. Transcripts are shown relative to the level of *HPRT* mRNA. *Graphs* represent the mean \pm SEM values from at least 3 independent experiments. * P<0.05 in an unpaired student T test.

MsrA and MsrB1 expression are induced in muscle pathological conditions

Recent reports have shown the presence of an important oxidative stress in some muscle dystrophies evidenced by an increase in protein irreversible and reversible oxidation (Canton et al., 2014, Terrill et al., 2013). In addition, different studies have shown the role of Msr proteins in resistance against oxidative stress during degenerative disorders (Chondrogianni et al., 2014). We hypothesise that the Msr system could be involved in fibre protection in muscular dystrophies where an oxidative stress is observed. We chose to study the DMD due to its elevated frequency of occurrence, its high degree of severity but in particular due to the important oxidative stress state found in muscle fibres of DMD patients. To determine if the Msr family is implicated in the pathology of this muscular dystrophy, we measured Msr transcripts expression in muscle biopsies of DMD patients compared to control donors of the age range as well as in muscle of *mdx*, a DMD mouse model, compared to control wild type (W.T.) mice. As shown in Figure 32A, we found a significant higher MsrB1 gene expression in tibialis anterior muscle derived from the mdx mouse comparing to W.T. mice. In agreement, we observed the same pattern in *MsrB1* as well as MsrA gene expression in muscle biopsies derived from DMD patients comparing to muscle biopsies from healthy donors (Figure 32B). However, due to the great variability between DMD patients muscle samples (evidenced by the great error bars) and to the small number of biopsies studied (4 DMD patients), our data did not reach statistical significance. No difference in the *MsrB2* and *B3* expression was found between muscle biopsies from normal or DMD conditions in both human and mouse models (Figure 32).



Figure 32 – *Msr* transcripts expression in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Msr* transcripts expression was analysed by qPCR after RNA purification from (A) mouse *tibialis anterior* muscle biopsies or (B) human *paravertebral* and *quadriceps* muscle biopsies. Transcripts are shown relative to the level of *HPRT* or *Emerin* mRNA. *Graphs* represent the mean \pm SEM values from at least 3 independent experiments. * P<0.05 and ** P<0.01 in a unpaired student T test. W.T – wild type mice; *mdx* – DMD mouse model; DMD – Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

In order to further understand role of Msr enzymes in muscular dystrophies, investigated their expression in the late-onset OPMD, in which some evidences of deregulated protein homeostasis were showed to be a predominant aspect of the pathology (Anvar et al., 2011). In human, the disease is characterised by dysphagia especially due to atrophy and fibrosis of the *cricopharyngeal* muscle. Regarding the OPMD mouse model, named A17.1 in relation with the number of alanine stretches evidenced in the mutated PABPN1 protein, the OPMD-related atrophy and intra-nuclear intrusions accumulation were restricted to fast glycolytic fibres (Trollet et al., 2010). For both human and mouse models, we used biopsies from the most affected muscles by the disease. Thus biopsies from human cricopharyngeus muscles and from mouse extensor digitorum longus (a fast twitch fibre) were used to analyse Msr expression. Higher MsrA and B1 genes expression was found in muscles derived from the A17.1 mice comparing to the W.T. mice (Figure 33A). Consistent with these results, we found also a greater MsrA and B1 gene expression in the cricopharyngeus muscle of OPMD patients compared to healthy individuals (Figure 33B). In both human and mouse biopsies, MsrB2 and MsrB3 expression was not affected by the OPMD phenotype (Figure 33A and B). Analysis of another pharyngeal muscle that does not present OPMD features in human patients, the sternocleidomastoid muscle (SCM), revealed no significant increase in any Msr transcripts in OPMD samples comparing to healthy individuals (Figure 33C). Thus suggesting that the increase in MsrA and MsrB1 gene expression observed is specific to muscles affected by dystrophic mutations. However, one cannot exclude the fact that the higher in MsrA and B1 expression could be a result of the increased fibrosis present in OPMD-affected muscles in contrast to the SCM (Gidaro et al., 2013).





Figure 33 – *Msr* transcripts expression in oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. *Msr* transcripts expression was analysed by qPCR after RNA purification from (A) extensor digitorum longus muscle biopsies from 6 weeks wild type (W.T.) and A17.1 (OPMD) mice (B) cricopharyngeus muscle biopsies or (C) sternocleidomastoid muscle biopsies of human healthy individuals and OPMD patients. Transcripts are shown relative to the level of *HPRT* or *Emerin* mRNA. Graphs represent the mean \pm SEM values from at least 3 independent experiments. * P<0.05 and ** P<0.01 in a unpaired student T test. **W.T** – wild type mice; **OPMD** – Oculopharyngeal Muscular Dystrophy.

Discussion

Skeletal muscle fibres represent one of the most abundant cell types in mammals. Their highly specialised contractile and metabolic functions depend on large numbers of contractile proteins, structural proteins, but also on a large spectrum of enzymes whose optimum activity is required for proper muscle function. Thus, maintaining protein homeostasis is critical to prevent muscle fibres dysfunction and the subsequent pathological conditions. Proteostasis requires protein synthesis, degradation but also when possible, repair of damaged proteins. Indeed, the enzymatic repair of altered proteins appears as a faster and less energy consuming process compared to the degradation of damaged proteins since it does not require the subsequent protein synthesis in order to re-establish the lost function. In fact, immediately after repair, protein function is restored. The necessity of a proper proteostasis in skeletal muscle is especially acute due to its unique requirements. Indeed, these force-generating structures are constantly challenged by mechanical, heat and oxidative stress, which increase protein damage and require efficient protein turnover to maintain optimal performance. In this context, Msr proteins, which repair oxidised methionines within proteins, are of great interest to maintain muscle protein function.

Here we investigated, the Msr activity and expression in different skeletal muscle fibre types. Adult skeletal muscles contain slow and fast-twitch fibres according to their speed of contraction. Slow-twitch fibres, also know as oxidative type I fibres, express the slow type I isoform of myosin heavy chain (MHC I), whereas fast-twitch fibres may express three different types of MHC (MHC IIa, IIx or IIb). Differential expression of MHC isoforms affects muscle specific force and is the major determinant of its maximal velocity of contraction, which will also depend on the type of metabolism of each fibre type. Thus, type I (slow-twitch, oxidative) fibres are enriched in mitochondria and rely on oxidative phosphorylation for ATP production. In contrast, type IIb fibres (fast-twitch, glycolytic) fibres are poor in mitochondria and have very effective glycolytic ATP synthesis. Msr enzymes are differently distributed within cells: MsrA is widely distributed in nucleus, cytoplasm and mitochondria; MsrB1 being present only in the nucleus and cytoplasm; MsrB2 expression is restricted to mitochondria and MsrB3 is expressed in the nucleus and in the endoplasmic reticulum. The mitochondrial enzymes MsrA and MsrB2 were shown to protect mitochondria function (Cabreiro et al., 2008, Nan et al., 2010). Moreover, overexpressing of MsrA enhanced ATP synthesis by increasing specifically the activity of the respiratory chain in retinal pigment epithelial cells (Dun et al., 2013). Such contribution

of MsrA to energy metabolism raises the question as whether the Msr distribution is dependent on the different muscle fibres metabolism requirements. We observed that, in physiological conditions, total Msr activity is higher in *tibialis anterior* muscle mainly composed of fast-glycolytic fibres comparing to slow-twitch fibres of the soleus muscle (Figure 30). However, this difference does not seem to be due to higher Msr expression in type II fibres comparing to type I or mix fibre types (Figure 30), indicating that in basal conditions, Msr activity in muscle fibres is not dependent on Msr gene expression. In addition, we did not found differences in the pattern of expression of the different Msr genes in regard to the muscle fibre type (Figure 30), suggesting that it is Msr activity and not the Msr expression that will be tiny regulating depending on muscle energetic source, metabolism or velocity of contraction. Interestingly, we found that in all skeletal muscle fibres studied but mainly in MHC IIb containing fibres, the MsrB1 gene coding to the Msr selenoprotein is the most expressed one (Figure 30), which could be related to the importance of maintenance of cytoplasmic protein functions in glycolytic fibres. Actually, it has been recently found that MsrB1 controlled assembly and disassembly of actin by reversing oxidation of its methionines that were oxidised by monooxygenases of the Mical family (Hung et al., 2013, Kaya, Lee et al., 2015, Lee et al., 2013).

Furthermore, it is well known that skeletal muscle atrophy occurring in ageing, inactivity and prolonged fasting states is predominantly restricted to type II glycolytic muscle fibres, while type I fibre size is largely unaffected (Frontera, Suh et al., 2000, Lexell, 1995, Nikolic, Malnar-Dragojevic et al., 2001). In addition, the oxidative stress observed in aged skeletal muscle has been proposed as a possible causative factor for muscle atrophy (Pellegrino et al., 2011, Powers, 2014). Since increasing evidence recognizes Msr enzymes as cellular protectors from an oxidative stress state associated with age (Kim et al., 2014c, Minniti et al., 2009, Moskovitz et al., 2011, Salmon et al., 2009), we further investigated their role in skeletal muscle ageing by studying their activity and expression in type II muscle fibres from aged mice. We found accumulation of oxidised proteins with age (Figure 31), in agreement to previous studies (Barreiro et al., 2006, Choksi et al., 2008, Lourenço Dos Santos et al., 2015, Marzani et al., 2005, Siu et al., 2008, Snow et al., 2007). In parallel, a significant decrease of Msr activities was observed and was attributed, at least in part, to a lower expression of *MsrA* and *MsrB1* (Figure 31). Decreased Msr expression and activities have been found in other mouse tissues with age (Petropoulos et al., 2001). Since methionine in proteins acts as ROS scavenger and avoiding oxidation of other aminoacids (Luo & Levine, 2009), the decreased Msr activity can explained, at least in part, the increase in carbonyl content as well as the impaired protein homeostasis occurring in sarcopenic muscle tissue. However, a smaller activity of the 20S proteasome was also described with age in mouse type II muscle fibres (Ferrington, Husom et al., 2005), thus, we can not exclude that age-dependent defective proteasome activities in geriatric fast twitch muscle fibres take part in the accumulation of protein damages.

Redox homeostasis is also a critical factor in pathologies associated with excessive oxidative stress. In the case of skeletal muscle tissue, oxidative stress has been clearly evidenced in some muscular dystrophies, such as the DMD (Terrill et al., 2013). In this muscular dystrophy, the chronic degeneration of muscle fibres leads to a continuous inflammation state resulting in increased ROS levels and other markers of oxidative stress such as thiol oxidation, protein carbonylation and lipid peroxidation (Armstrong, Zerbes et al., 2011, Terrill, Radley-Crabb et al., 2012, Terrill et al., 2013). The causal role of an important oxidative stress in DMD is also supported by pre-clinical studies in *mdx* mice that reported increased dystrophin expression, decreased necrosis and improved muscle pathology following administration of different antioxidants including green tea, resveratrol, catalase or NAC, (Evans, Call et al., 2010, Hori, Kuno et al., 2011, Selsby, 2011, Terrill et al., 2012). We found higher Msr expression, mainly MsrB1, in muscle biopsies derived from mdx mice compared to W.T. mice as well as in muscle biopsies derived from DMD patients when compared to healthy donors of the same age, although in the case of humans, these differences were not statistically significant due to the small and heterogeneous group of analysed biopsies (Figure 32). In agreement, elevated levels of antioxidant enzymes such as catalase, glutathione peroxidase, superoxide dismutase 1 and 2, have been reported in muscles collected from *mdx* mice (Disatnik, Dhawan et al., 1998). Moreover, in regard to the other protein homeostasis systems, increased proteasome activity (Chen, Graber et al., 2014) and impaired autophagy (Spitali, Grumati et al., 2013) were also described in DMD mice models. Thus, there is numerous evidences that antioxidant systems are activated in dystrophic muscles but they seem to be insufficient to scavenge the increased ROS levels and to prevent accumulation of oxidative damages to biomolecules. In contrast, during ageing, impairment of the antioxidant systems hence participates to the accumulation of protein oxidation within cells.

The study of late onset muscular dystrophies constitute another interesting model since their phenotype appears with age and thus could be caused by age-related factors, such as a dysfunction of protein homeostasis systems. Indeed, an integrative transcriptome analysis using different affected muscles from mice models and patients of a late onset muscular dystrophy, the oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy (OPMD), emphasized the UPS as the major deregulated system (Anvar et al., 2011). Here, we observed an increased *Msr* expression in biopsies collected from the most affected muscles of an OPMD mice model or of OPMD patients comparing to muscle biopsies from W.T or healthy donors, respectively (Figure 33). Thus, contrary to the proteasome dysfunction, which is suggested to be a possible cause of this late onset muscular dystrophy, the increased *Msr* expression seems to be a consequence of a possible oxidative stress state, although there is yet a lack of evidence of oxidative damages in muscle fibres affected by OPMD dystrophy. We did not found increased *Msr* expression in muscle biopsies from non-affected muscle of OPMD patients comparing to muscle biopsies from healthy donors (Figure 33). This further indicates that the Msr increase in the most clinically affected muscles is related to the dystrophic phenotype rather than to the genetic mutation that is present in all muscles. One possible explanation for this *Msr* increase is also the higher level of fibrosis present in the *cricopharyngeus* muscle comparing to other pharyngeal muscles.

Overall these results suggest that in skeletal muscle, Msr activity decreases with age and would partly contribute to the accumulation of protein oxidative damages. This will lead to loss of protein function affecting muscle fibre activity and ultimately contributing to the sarcopenic phenotype. Contrary, in the case of some muscular dystrophies, for which the oxidative stress is well established, Msr and antioxidant systems are highly activated in response to the increased ROS, although this adaptation does not seem to be sufficient to counteract the pathological symptoms. **CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES**

Our work represents the first study of Msr enzymes in skeletal muscle tissue, either in muscle fibres or in the adult stem cells. In addition, we had the opportunity to access muscle biopsies of muscles from human pathological conditions, DMD and OPMD, and from mouse models of these pathologies. Our results suggest that Msr enzymes are involved in muscle stem cell regulation during myogenesis as well as in muscle fibres protection against oxidative stress.

Considering our results obtained from skeletal muscle fibres, we can think that the decrease in Msr expression found in sarcopenic muscle possibly participates to some sarcopenic features such as the decrease in protein quality control, which leads to increased protein degradation and therefore up-regulates cellular catabolic systems that ultimately lead to fibre atrophy. To investigate this hypothesis, it would be interesting to study a MsrB1 null mouse model, since this Msr member was found to be the most expressed in muscle fibres. The consequences of MsrB1 deletion on fibre homeostasis during ageing would be assessed using markers of oxidative stress such as irreversible protein oxidation, measurement of the degree of muscle atrophy and fibrosis as well as analysis of fibre size and type (I or II) on muscle sections of mutant and control mice at different ages. In this context, it would be of a great interest to measure Met oxidation that could represent a particularly attractive biomarker for the assessment of oxidative stress. Unfortunately, its use as a marker of oxidative damage to proteins suffers from the lack of tools, such as specific antibodies, to detect and quantify MetO in vitro and in vivo. Otherwise, a two-dimensional study with proteins extracts derived from muscle biopsies from aged and young muscle searching for differential protein expression could give some clues on new signalling cascades, whose modulation could influence muscle antioxidant capacity an thus improve muscle function during ageing. Moreover, the results obtained from analysis of muscle biopsies derived from dystrophic muscles suggest the presence of an increased oxidative stress state in muscular dystrophies. Although this has been undoubtedly evidenced in the case of DMD, regarding the late onset OPMD, clear indications for the presence of an increased oxidative stress are needed and could help to complete the causes of this dystrophic phenotype. Finally, in order to get new insights into the consequences of an oxidative stress, a comparative 2D-DIGE¹¹ proteomic study optimized for the detection of oxidised proteins (OxyDIGE) could be done using biopsies from healthy and dystrophic muscle. After oxidised protein targets identification by mass spectrometry, the implication of these modifications in the

¹¹ Two dimensional-differential gel electrophoresis

development of the disease would be further analysed in order to try to discover new mechanisms linked to the pathology of this diseases.

Regarding skeletal muscle stem cells, we found that high Msr activity levels are required to ensure myoblasts proliferation by repressing senescence associated signalling. Whether this is due to the ROS-dependent cascades that control myoblast differentiation, such as the $p38\alpha/MAPK$ or NF- κB , is current under investigation in our laboratory. If possible, the comparison of protein-bound MetO content within shMsrA and shCtrl myoblasts and the subsequent identification of these proteins would also help to define the Msr-regulated signalling pathways important for myogenesis. In order to further demonstrate that senescence prevention is due to the Msr antioxidant properties, control and shMsrA myoblasts could be cultured in the presence or absence of an exogenous oxidant treatment and their proliferative capacities and senescence induction evaluated. Moreover, it would be interesting to overexpress MsrA enzymes in myoblasts and investigate if this could extend the number of myoblasts divisions in culture before becoming senescent. In view to make MsrA a possible therapeutic target for the treatment of muscular dystrophies, overexpression of MsrA in myoblasts derived from OPMD patients could be compared to their respective controls, as well as with myoblasts from healthy patients, in regard to their proliferative capacities in culture and subsequently their regenerative capacity in vivo by myoblasts transplantation in a mouse model of muscle regeneration. Moreover, the study of the MsrA^{-/-} mice would also allow to further explore the role of MsrA in satellite cells during muscle regeneration in vivo. For this, proliferation and differentiation of mutant and control satellite cells could be analysed after muscle injury. Histological analysis of mutant and control muscles would also be performed at different times after muscle injury to investigate differences in the size of muscle fibres, thus giving insights about the regenerative phenotype. Assuming reduced proliferative capacities of MsrA^{-/-} satellite cells, we expect to detect smaller myofibres at the end of muscle regeneration in tissue sections derived from mutant mice compared to controls. Finally, the crossing of MsrA^{-/-} mice with the Pax3^{GFP/+} would allow the purification of mutant satellite cells at different regeneration times and the measurement of their redox state and oxidised proteins levels.

In conclusion, with this work, we give the first insights into the importance of Msr enzymes for skeletal muscle tissue. We showed that their modulation could present a valuable approach to improve myogenesis. However, further studies are needed to assess their role in muscle regeneration in view to improve the current cellular therapies for muscular dystrophies or other degenerative muscle disorders.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Aartsma-Rus A, Fokkema I, Verschuuren J, Ginjaar I, van Deutekom J, van Ommen GJ, den Dunnen JT (2009) Theoretic applicability of antisense-mediated exon skipping for Duchenne muscular dystrophy mutations. Hum Mutat 30: 293-9
- Abello N, Kerstjens HA, Postma DS, Bischoff R (2009) Protein tyrosine nitration: selectivity, physicochemical and biological consequences, denitration, and proteomics methods for the identification of tyrosine-nitrated proteins. J Proteome Res 8: 3222-38
- Abrams WR, Weinbaum G, Weissbach L, Weissbach H, Brot N (1981) Enzymatic reduction of oxidized alpha-1-proteinase inhibitor restores biological activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 78: 7483-6
- Abu-Baker A, Messaed C, Laganiere J, Gaspar C, Brais B, Rouleau GA (2003) Involvement of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and molecular chaperones in oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. Hum Mol Genet 12: 2609-23
- Achilli C, Ciana A, Minetti G (2015) The discovery of methionine sulfoxide reductase enzymes: An historical account and future perspectives. Biofactors 41: 135-52
- Achilli C, Ciana A, Rossi A, Balduini C, Minetti G (2008) Neutrophil granulocytes uniquely express, among human blood cells, high levels of Methionine-sulfoxide-reductase enzymes. J Leukoc Biol 83: 181-9
- Ahmed EK, Rogowska-Wrzesinska A, Roepstorff P, Bulteau AL, Friguet B (2010) Protein modification and replicative senescence of WI-38 human embryonic fibroblasts. Aging Cell 9: 252-72
- Al-Sawaf O, Fragoulis A, Rosen C, Keimes N, Liehn EA, Holzle F, Kan YW, Pufe T, Sonmez TT, Wruck CJ (2014) Nrf2 augments skeletal muscle regeneration after ischaemia-reperfusion injury. J Pathol 234: 538-47
- Alderton JM, Steinhardt RA (2000) Calcium influx through calcium leak channels is responsible for the elevated levels of calcium-dependent proteolysis in dystrophic myotubes. J Biol Chem 275: 9452-60
- Allen RE, Boxhorn LK (1989) Regulation of skeletal muscle satellite cell proliferation and differentiation by transforming growth factor-beta, insulin-like growth factor I, and fibroblast growth factor. J Cell Physiol 138: 311-5
- Allen RE, Dodson MV, Luiten LS (1984) Regulation of skeletal muscle satellite cell proliferation by bovine pituitary fibroblast growth factor. Exp Cell Res 152: 154-60
- Alter J, Lou F, Rabinowitz A, Yin H, Rosenfeld J, Wilton SD, Partridge TA, Lu QL (2006) Systemic delivery of morpholino oligonucleotide restores dystrophin expression bodywide and improves dystrophic pathology. Nat Med 12: 175-7
- Anderson ME (2015) Oxidant stress promotes disease by activating CaMKII. J Mol Cell Cardiol 89: 160-7
- Andersson DC, Betzenhauser MJ, Reiken S, Meli AC, Umanskaya A, Xie W, Shiomi T, Zalk R, Lacampagne A, Marks AR (2011) Ryanodine receptor oxidation causes intracellular calcium leak and muscle weakness in aging. Cell Metab 14: 196-207
- Antoine M, Boschi-Muller S, Branlant G (2003) Kinetic characterization of the chemical steps involved in the catalytic mechanism of methionine sulfoxide reductase A from Neisseria meningitidis. J Biol Chem 278: 45352-7
- Anvar SY, t Hoen PA, Venema A, van der Sluijs B, van Engelen B, Snoeck M, Vissing J, Trollet C, Dickson G, Chartier A, Simonelig M, van Ommen GJ, van der Maarel SM, Raz V (2011) Deregulation of the ubiquitin-proteasome system is the predominant molecular pathology in OPMD animal models and patients. Skelet Muscle 1: 15
- Aoi W, Ogaya Y, Takami M, Konishi T, Sauchi Y, Park EY, Wada S, Sato K, Higashi A (2015) Glutathione supplementation suppresses muscle fatigue induced by prolonged exercise via improved aerobic metabolism. J Int Soc Sports Nutr 12: 7

- Appell HJ, Duarte JA, Soares JM (1997) Supplementation of vitamin E may attenuate skeletal muscle immobilization atrophy. Int J Sports Med 18: 157-60
- Arbogast S, Beuvin M, Fraysse B, Zhou H, Muntoni F, Ferreiro A (2009) Oxidative stress in SEPN1-related myopathy: from pathophysiology to treatment. Ann Neurol 65: 677-86
- Ardite E, Barbera JA, Roca J, Fernandez-Checa JC (2004) Glutathione depletion impairs myogenic differentiation of murine skeletal muscle C2C12 cells through sustained NF-kappaB activation. Am J Pathol 165: 719-28
- Armstrong AE, Zerbes R, Fournier PA, Arthur PG (2011) A fluorescent dual labeling technique for the quantitative measurement of reduced and oxidized protein thiols in tissue samples. Free Radic Biol Med 50: 510-7
- Ayala A, Munoz MF, Arguelles S (2014) Lipid peroxidation: production, metabolism, and signaling mechanisms of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2014: 360438
- Aymarda C, Seyera L, Cheftela J-C (1979) Enzymatic Reduction of Methionine Sulfoxide. In Vitro Experiments with Rat Liver and Kidney. Biological Chemistry 43: 1869-1876
- Bae MS, Cho EJ, Choi EY, Park OK (2003) Analysis of the Arabidopsis nuclear proteome and its response to cold stress. Plant J 36: 652-63
- Baeza-Raja B, Munoz-Canoves P (2004) p38 MAPK-induced nuclear factor-kappaB activity is required for skeletal muscle differentiation: role of interleukin-6. Mol Biol Cell 15: 2013-26
- Bakala H, Ladouce R, Baraibar MA, Friguet B (2013) Differential expression and glycative damage affect specific mitochondrial proteins with aging in rat liver. Biochim Biophys Acta 1832: 2057-67
- Bakkar N, Guttridge DC (2010) NF-kappaB signaling: a tale of two pathways in skeletal myogenesis. Physiol Rev 90: 495-511
- Balaban RS, Nemoto S, Finkel T (2005) Mitochondria, oxidants, and aging. Cell 120: 483-95
- Balagopal P, Schimke JC, Ades P, Adey D, Nair KS (2001) Age effect on transcript levels and synthesis rate of muscle MHC and response to resistance exercise. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 280: E203-8
- Balog EM, Lockamy EL, Thomas DD, Ferrington DA (2009) Site-specific methionine oxidation initiates calmodulin degradation by the 20S proteasome. Biochemistry 48: 3005-16
- Bao YP, Cook LJ, O'Donovan D, Uyama E, Rubinsztein DC (2002) Mammalian, yeast, bacterial, and chemical chaperones reduce aggregate formation and death in a cell model of oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. J Biol Chem 277: 12263-9
- Baraibar MA, Friguet B (2013) Oxidative proteome modifications target specific cellular pathways during oxidative stress, cellular senescence and aging. Exp Gerontol 48: 620-5
- Baraibar MA, Hyzewicz J, Rogowska-Wrzesinska A, Ladouce R, Roepstorff P, Mouly V, Friguet B (2011) Oxidative stress-induced proteome alterations target different cellular pathways in human myoblasts. Free Radic Biol Med 51: 1522-32
- Baraibar MA, Ladouce R, Friguet B (2013) Proteomic quantification and identification of carbonylated proteins upon oxidative stress and during cellular aging. J Proteomics 92: 63-70
- Barazzoni R, Short KR, Nair KS (2000) Effects of aging on mitochondrial DNA copy number and cytochrome c oxidase gene expression in rat skeletal muscle, liver, and heart. J Biol Chem 275: 3343-7

- Barbezier N, Chartier A, Bidet Y, Buttstedt A, Voisset C, Galons H, Blondel M, Schwarz E,
 Simonelig M (2011) Antiprion drugs 6-aminophenanthridine and guanabenz reduce
 PABPN1 toxicity and aggregation in oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. EMBO
 Mol Med 3: 35-49
- Barreiro E, Coronell C, Lavina B, Ramirez-Sarmiento A, Orozco-Levi M, Gea J, Project P (2006) Aging, sex differences, and oxidative stress in human respiratory and limb muscles. Free Radic Biol Med 41: 797-809
- Baumgartner RN, Waters DL, Gallagher D, Morley JE, Garry PJ (1999) Predictors of skeletal muscle mass in elderly men and women. Mech Ageing Dev 107: 123-36
- Bechet D, Tassa A, Taillandier D, Combaret L, Attaix D (2005) Lysosomal proteolysis in skeletal muscle. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 37: 2098-114
- Bechtold U, Murphy DJ, Mullineaux PM (2004) Arabidopsis peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase2 prevents cellular oxidative damage in long nights. Plant Cell 16: 908-19
- Bencze M, Negroni E, Vallese D, Yacoub-Youssef H, Chaouch S, Wolff A, Aamiri A, Di Santo JP, Chazaud B, Butler-Browne G, Savino W, Mouly V, Riederer I (2012) Proinflammatory macrophages enhance the regenerative capacity of human myoblasts by modifying their kinetics of proliferation and differentiation. Mol Ther 20: 2168-79
- Berlett BS, Stadtman ER (1997) Protein oxidation in aging, disease, and oxidative stress. J Biol Chem 272: 20313-6
- Bernet JD, Doles JD, Hall JK, Kelly Tanaka K, Carter TA, Olwin BB (2014) p38 MAPK signaling underlies a cell-autonomous loss of stem cell self-renewal in skeletal muscle of aged mice. Nat Med 20: 265-71
- Bernheim L, Bader CR (2002) Human myoblast differentiation: Ca(2+) channels are activated by K(+) channels. News Physiol Sci 17: 22-6
- Bigarella CL, Liang R, Ghaffari S (2014) Stem cells and the impact of ROS signaling. Development 141: 4206-18
- Bigelow DJ, Squier TC (2005) Redox modulation of cellular signaling and metabolism through reversible oxidation of methionine sensors in calcium regulatory proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1703: 121-34
- Bigelow DJ, Squier TC (2011) Thioredoxin-dependent redox regulation of cellular signaling and stress response through reversible oxidation of methionines. Mol Biosyst 7: 2101-9
- Bigot A, Jacquemin V, Debacq-Chainiaux F, Butler-Browne GS, Toussaint O, Furling D, Mouly V (2008) Replicative aging down-regulates the myogenic regulatory factors in human myoblasts. Biol Cell 100: 189-99
- Bigot A, Klein AF, Gasnier E, Jacquemin V, Ravassard P, Butler-Browne G, Mouly V, Furling D (2009) Large CTG repeats trigger p16-dependent premature senescence in myotonic dystrophy type 1 muscle precursor cells. Am J Pathol 174: 1435-42
- Bione S, Maestrini E, Rivella S, Mancini M, Regis S, Romeo G, Toniolo D (1994) Identification of a novel X-linked gene responsible for Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. Nat Genet 8: 323-7
- Bischoff R (1975) Regeneration of single skeletal muscle fibers in vitro. Anat Rec 182: 215-35
- Biteau B, Labarre J, Toledano MB (2003) ATP-dependent reduction of cysteine-sulphinic acid by S. cerevisiae sulphiredoxin. Nature 425: 980-4
- Bjornson CR, Cheung TH, Liu L, Tripathi PV, Steeper KM, Rando TA (2012) Notch signaling is necessary to maintain quiescence in adult muscle stem cells. Stem Cells 30: 232-42

- Black SD, Harte EM, Hudson B, Wartofsky L (1960) A specific enzymatic reduction of L(-) methionine sulfoxide and a related non-specific reduction of disulfides. J Biol Chem 235: 2910-2916
- Blau HM, Cosgrove BD, Ho AT (2015) The central role of muscle stem cells in regenerative failure with aging. Nat Med 21: 854-62
- Bodine SC, Baehr LM (2014) Skeletal muscle atrophy and the E3 ubiquitin ligases MuRF1 and MAFbx/atrogin-1. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 307: E469-84
- Bodine SC, Latres E, Baumhueter S, Lai VK, Nunez L, Clarke BA, Poueymirou WT, Panaro FJ, Na E, Dharmarajan K, Pan ZQ, Valenzuela DM, DeChiara TM, Stitt TN, Yancopoulos GD, Glass DJ (2001) Identification of ubiquitin ligases required for skeletal muscle atrophy. Science 294: 1704-8
- Bogdanis GC (2012) Effects of physical activity and inactivity on muscle fatigue. Front Physiol 3: 142
- Bonaldo P, Sandri M (2013) Cellular and molecular mechanisms of muscle atrophy. Dis Model Mech 6: 25-39
- Bonne G, Di Barletta MR, Varnous S, Becane HM, Hammouda EH, Merlini L, Muntoni F, Greenberg CR, Gary F, Urtizberea JA, Duboc D, Fardeau M, Toniolo D, Schwartz K (1999) Mutations in the gene encoding lamin A/C cause autosomal dominant Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. Nat Genet 21: 285-8
- Boron WF, Boulpaep EL (2012) Cellular Physiology of Skeletal, Cardiac, and Smooth Muscle. In Medical Physiology, A cellular and Molecular Approach, Ltd E (ed)
- Boschi-Muller S, Azza S, Sanglier-Cianferani S, Talfournier F, Van Dorsselear A, Branlant G (2000) A sulfenic acid enzyme intermediate is involved in the catalytic mechanism of peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase from Escherichia coli. J Biol Chem 275: 35908-13
- Bottinelli R, Betto R, Schiaffino S, Reggiani C (1994) Maximum shortening velocity and coexistence of myosin heavy chain isoforms in single skinned fast fibres of rat skeletal muscle. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 15: 413-9
- Boutet SC, Biressi S, Iori K, Natu V, Rando TA (2010) Taf1 regulates Pax3 protein by monoubiquitination in skeletal muscle progenitors. Mol Cell 40: 749-61
- Boutet SC, Disatnik MH, Chan LS, Iori K, Rando TA (2007) Regulation of Pax3 by proteasomal degradation of monoubiquitinated protein in skeletal muscle progenitors. Cell 130: 349-62
- Brack AS, Conboy MJ, Roy S, Lee M, Kuo CJ, Keller C, Rando TA (2007) Increased Wnt signaling during aging alters muscle stem cell fate and increases fibrosis. Science 317: 807-10
- Brais B, Bouchard JP, Xie YG, Rochefort DL, Chretien N, Tome FM, Lafreniere RG, Rommens JM, Uyama E, Nohira O, Blumen S, Korczyn AD, Heutink P, Mathieu J, Duranceau A, Codere F, Fardeau M, Rouleau GA (1998) Short GCG expansions in the PABP2 gene cause oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. Nat Genet 18: 164-7
- Brandes N, Schmitt S, Jakob U (2009) Thiol-based redox switches in eukaryotic proteins. Antioxid Redox Signal 11: 997-1014
- Braun T, Buschhausen-Denker G, Bober E, Tannich E, Arnold HH (1989) A novel human muscle factor related to but distinct from MyoD1 induces myogenic conversion in 10T1/2 fibroblasts. EMBO J 8: 701-9
- Brennan LA, Lee W, Cowell T, Giblin F, Kantorow M (2009) Deletion of mouse MsrA results in HBO-induced cataract: MsrA repairs mitochondrial cytochrome c. Mol Vis 15: 985-99

- Brien P, Pugazhendhi D, Woodhouse S, Oxley D, Pell JM (2013) p38alpha MAPK regulates adult muscle stem cell fate by restricting progenitor proliferation during postnatal growth and repair. Stem Cells 31: 1597-610
- Brigelius-Flohe R, Maiorino M (2013) Glutathione peroxidases. Biochim Biophys Acta 1830: 3289-303
- Broskey NT, Greggio C, Boss A, Boutant M, Dwyer A, Schlueter L, Hans D, Gremion G, Kreis R, Boesch C, Canto C, Amati F (2014) Skeletal muscle mitochondria in the elderly: effects of physical fitness and exercise training. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 99: 1852-61
- Brot N, Fliss H, Coleman T, Weissbach H (1984) Enzymatic reduction of methionine sulfoxide residues in proteins and peptides. Methods Enzymol 107: 352-60
- Brot N, Weissbach L, Werth J, Weissbach H (1981) Enzymatic reduction of protein-bound methionine sulfoxide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 78: 2155-8
- Brot N, Werth J, Koster D, Weissbach H (1982) Reduction of N-acetyl methionine sulfoxide: a simple assay for peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase. Anal Biochem 122: 291-4
- Brovelli A, Seppi C, Castellana AM, De Renzis MR, Blasina A, Balduini C (1990) Oxidative lesion to membrane proteins in senescent erythrocytes. Biomed Biochim Acta 49: S218-23
- Bua EA, McKiernan SH, Wanagat J, McKenzie D, Aiken JM (2002) Mitochondrial abnormalities are more frequent in muscles undergoing sarcopenia. J Appl Physiol (1985) 92: 2617-24
- Buckingham M, Montarras D (2008) Skeletal muscle stem cells. Curr Opin Genet Dev 18: 330-6
- Buckingham M, Rigby PW (2014) Gene regulatory networks and transcriptional mechanisms that control myogenesis. Dev Cell 28: 225-38
- Budui SL, Rossi AP, Zamboni M (2015) The pathogenetic bases of sarcopenia. Clin Cases Miner Bone Metab 12: 22-6
- Bulfield G, Siller WG, Wight PA, Moore KJ (1984) X chromosome-linked muscular dystrophy (mdx) in the mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 81: 1189-92
- Cabreiro F, Picot CR, Perichon M, Castel J, Friguet B, Petropoulos I (2008) Overexpression of mitochondrial methionine sulfoxide reductase B2 protects leukemia cells from oxidative stress-induced cell death and protein damage. J Biol Chem 283: 16673-81
- Cabreiro F, Picot CR, Perichon M, Friguet B, Petropoulos I (2009) Overexpression of methionine sulfoxide reductases A and B2 protects MOLT-4 cells against zinc-induced oxidative stress. Antioxid Redox Signal 11: 215-25
- Cabreiro F, Picot CR, Perichon M, Mary J, Friguet B, Petropoulos I (2007) Identification of proteins undergoing expression level modifications in WI-38 SV40 fibroblasts overexpressing methionine sulfoxide reductase A. Biochimie 89: 1388-95
- Cadenas E, Davies KJ (2000) Mitochondrial free radical generation, oxidative stress, and aging. Free Radic Biol Med 29: 222-30
- Caiozzo VJ, Baker MJ, Huang K, Chou H, Wu YZ, Baldwin KM (2003) Single-fiber myosin heavy chain polymorphism: how many patterns and what proportions? Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 285: R570-80
- Calado A, Tome FM, Brais B, Rouleau GA, Kuhn U, Wahle E, Carmo-Fonseca M (2000) Nuclear inclusions in oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy consist of poly(A) binding protein 2 aggregates which sequester poly(A) RNA. Hum Mol Genet 9: 2321-8

- Caldwell P, Luk DC, Weissbach H, Brot N (1978) Oxidation of the methionine residues of Escherichia coli ribosomal protein L12 decreases the protein's biological activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75: 5349-52
- Canton M, Menazza S, Di Lisa F (2014) Oxidative stress in muscular dystrophy: from generic evidence to specific sources and targets. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 35: 23-36
- Carlson BM, Dedkov EI, Borisov AB, Faulkner JA (2001) Skeletal muscle regeneration in very old rats. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 56: B224-33
- Carlson CG, Samadi A, Siegel A (2005) Chronic treatment with agents that stabilize cytosolic IkappaB-alpha enhances survival and improves resting membrane potential in MDX muscle fibers subjected to chronic passive stretch. Neurobiol Dis 20: 719-30
- Carr A, Frei B (1999) Does vitamin C act as a pro-oxidant under physiological conditions? FASEB J 13: 1007-24
- Catoire H, Pasco MY, Abu-Baker A, Holbert S, Tourette C, Brais B, Rouleau GA, Parker JA, Neri C (2008) Sirtuin inhibition protects from the polyalanine muscular dystrophy protein PABPN1. Hum Mol Genet 17: 2108-17
- Chakkalakal JV, Jones KM, Basson MA, Brack AS (2012) The aged niche disrupts muscle stem cell quiescence. Nature 490: 355-60
- Chakravarthy MV, Booth FW, Spangenburg EE (2001) The molecular responses of skeletal muscle satellite cells to continuous expression of IGF-1: implications for the rescue of induced muscular atrophy in aged rats. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab 11 Suppl: S44-8
- Chan EC, Jiang F, Peshavariya HM, Dusting GJ (2009) Regulation of cell proliferation by NADPH oxidase-mediated signaling: potential roles in tissue repair, regenerative medicine and tissue engineering. Pharmacol Ther 122: 97-108
- Chao CC, Ma YS, Stadtman ER (1997) Modification of protein surface hydrophobicity and methionine oxidation by oxidative systems. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94: 2969-74
- Charge SB, Rudnicki MA (2004) Cellular and molecular regulation of muscle regeneration. Physiol Rev 84: 209-38
- Chartier A, Klein P, Pierson S, Barbezier N, Gidaro T, Casas F, Carberry S, Dowling P, Maynadier L, Bellec M, Oloko M, Jardel C, Moritz B, Dickson G, Mouly V, Ohlendieck K, Butler-Browne G, Trollet C, Simonelig M (2015) Mitochondrial dysfunction reveals the role of mRNA poly(A) tail regulation in oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy pathogenesis. PLoS Genet 11: e1005092
- Chartier A, Raz V, Sterrenburg E, Verrips CT, van der Maarel SM, Simonelig M (2009) Prevention of oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy by muscular expression of Llama single-chain intrabodies in vivo. Hum Mol Genet 18: 1849-59
- Chazaud B (2014) Macrophages: supportive cells for tissue repair and regeneration. Immunobiology 219: 172-8
- Chen CN, Graber TG, Bratten WM, Ferrington DA, Thompson LV (2014) Immunoproteasome in animal models of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 35: 191-201
- Chen J, Avdonin V, Ciorba MA, Heinemann SH, Hoshi T (2000) Acceleration of P/C-type inactivation in voltage-gated K(+) channels by methionine oxidation. Biophys J 78: 174-87
- Chen Q, Huang J, Huang F, Huang M, Zhou G (2014) Influence of oxidation on the susceptibility of purified desmin to degradation by mu-calpain, caspase-3 and -6. Food Chem 150: 220-6
- Chen Q, Vazquez EJ, Moghaddas S, Hoppel CL, Lesnefsky EJ (2003) Production of reactive oxygen species by mitochondria: central role of complex III. J Biol Chem 278: 36027-31

- Cheung TH, Rando TA (2013) Molecular regulation of stem cell quiescence. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 14: 329-40
- Childs BG, Durik M, Baker DJ, van Deursen JM (2015) Cellular senescence in aging and age-related disease: from mechanisms to therapy. Nat Med 21: 1424-35
- Cho SJ, Roman G, Yeboah F, Konishi Y (2007) The road to advanced glycation end products: a mechanistic perspective. Curr Med Chem 14: 1653-71
- Choi SH, Kim HY (2011) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A regulates cell growth through the p53-p21 pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 416: 70-5
- Choi SW, Baek MY, Kang MS (1992) Involvement of cyclic GMP in the fusion of chick embryonic myoblasts in culture. Exp Cell Res 199: 129-33
- Choksi KB, Nuss JE, Deford JH, Papaconstantinou J (2008) Age-related alterations in oxidatively damaged proteins of mouse skeletal muscle mitochondrial electron transport chain complexes. Free Radic Biol Med 45: 826-38
- Chondrogianni N, Petropoulos I, Grimm S, Georgila K, Catalgol B, Friguet B, Grune T, Gonos ES (2014) Protein damage, repair and proteolysis. Mol Aspects Med 35: 1-71
- Chung H, Kim AK, Jung SA, Kim SW, Yu K, Lee JH (2010) The Drosophila homolog of methionine sulfoxide reductase A extends lifespan and increases nuclear localization of FOXO. FEBS Lett 584: 3609-14
- Chung HS, Wang SB, Venkatraman V, Murray CI, Van Eyk JE (2013) Cysteine oxidative posttranslational modifications: emerging regulation in the cardiovascular system. Circ Res 112: 382-92
- Ciechanover A (2005) Intracellular protein degradation: from a vague idea, through the lysosome and the ubiquitin-proteasome system, and onto human diseases and drug targeting (Nobel lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 44: 5944-67
- Ciechanover A, Breitschopf K, Hatoum OA, Bengal E (1999) Degradation of MyoD by the ubiquitin pathway: regulation by specific DNA-binding and identification of a novel site for ubiquitination. Mol Biol Rep 26: 59-64
- Ciorba MA, Heinemann SH, Weissbach H, Brot N, Hoshi T (1997) Modulation of potassium channel function by methionine oxidation and reduction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94: 9932-7
- Claflin DR, Brooks SV (2008) Direct observation of failing fibers in muscles of dystrophic mice provides mechanistic insight into muscular dystrophy. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 294: C651-8
- Clarke BA, Drujan D, Willis MS, Murphy LO, Corpina RA, Burova E, Rakhilin SV, Stitt TN, Patterson C, Latres E, Glass DJ (2007) The E3 Ligase MuRF1 degrades myosin heavy chain protein in dexamethasone-treated skeletal muscle. Cell Metab 6: 376-85
- Codere F (1993) Oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. Can J Ophthalmol 28: 1-2
- Cohen S, Brault JJ, Gygi SP, Glass DJ, Valenzuela DM, Gartner C, Latres E, Goldberg AL (2009) During muscle atrophy, thick, but not thin, filament components are degraded by MuRF1-dependent ubiquitylation. J Cell Biol 185: 1083-95
- Cohn RD, Campbell KP (2000) Molecular basis of muscular dystrophies. Muscle Nerve 23: 1456-71
- Coiffier L, Perie S, Laforet P, Eymard B, St Guily JL (2006) Long-term results of cricopharyngeal myotomy in oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 135: 218-22
- Coletti D, Moresi V, Adamo S, Molinaro M, Sassoon D (2005) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene transfer induces cachexia and inhibits muscle regeneration. Genesis 43: 120-8
- Collins CA, Olsen I, Zammit PS, Heslop L, Petrie A, Partridge TA, Morgan JE (2005) Stem cell function, self-renewal, and behavioral heterogeneity of cells from the adult muscle satellite cell niche. Cell 122: 289-301

- Combaret L, Dardevet D, Bechet D, Taillandier D, Mosoni L, Attaix D (2009) Skeletal muscle proteolysis in aging. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 12: 37-41
- Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Wagers AJ, Girma ER, Weissman IL, Rando TA (2005) Rejuvenation of aged progenitor cells by exposure to a young systemic environment. Nature 433: 760-4
- Conboy IM, Rando TA (2002) The regulation of Notch signaling controls satellite cell activation and cell fate determination in postnatal myogenesis. Dev Cell 3: 397-409
- Cong H, Sun L, Liu C, Tien P (2011) Inhibition of atrogin-1/MAFbx expression by adenovirus-delivered small hairpin RNAs attenuates muscle atrophy in fasting mice. Hum Gene Ther 22: 313-24
- Constantin B (2014) Dystrophin complex functions as a scaffold for signalling proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1838: 635-42
- Cooke MS, Evans MD, Dizdaroglu M, Lunec J (2003) Oxidative DNA damage: mechanisms, mutation, and disease. FASEB J 17: 1195-214
- Cornelison DD, Olwin BB, Rudnicki MA, Wold BJ (2000) MyoD(-/-) satellite cells in single-fiber culture are differentiation defective and MRF4 deficient. Dev Biol 224: 122-37
- Cornelison DD, Wold BJ (1997) Single-cell analysis of regulatory gene expression in quiescent and activated mouse skeletal muscle satellite cells. Dev Biol 191: 270-83
- Cosgrove BD, Gilbert PM, Porpiglia E, Mourkioti F, Lee SP, Corbel SY, Llewellyn ME, Delp SL, Blau HM (2014) Rejuvenation of the muscle stem cell population restores strength to injured aged muscles. Nat Med 20: 255-64
- Coudevylle N, Antoine M, Bouguet-Bonnet S, Mutzenhardt P, Boschi-Muller S, Branlant G, Cung MT (2007) Solution structure and backbone dynamics of the reduced form and an oxidized form of E. coli methionine sulfoxide reductase A (MsrA): structural insight of the MsrA catalytic cycle. J Mol Biol 366: 193-206
- Couturier J, Vignols F, Jacquot JP, Rouhier N (2012) Glutathione- and glutaredoxindependent reduction of methionine sulfoxide reductase A. FEBS Lett 586: 3894-9
- Cravioto H, Merker HJ (1963) [Electron microscopic research on satellite cells of the human sympathetic ganglia]. Arch Psychiatr Nervenkr Z Gesamte Neurol Psychiatr 204: 1-10
- Criswell D, Powers S, Dodd S, Lawler J, Edwards W, Renshler K, Grinton S (1993) High intensity training-induced changes in skeletal muscle antioxidant enzyme activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 25: 1135-40
- Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Morley JE (2012) Chapter 2: Definitions of Sarcopenia. In Sarcopenia, pp 8-19. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd,
- Csibi A, Leibovitch MP, Cornille K, Tintignac LA, Leibovitch SA (2009) MAFbx/Atrogin-1 controls the activity of the initiation factor eIF3-f in skeletal muscle atrophy by targeting multiple C-terminal lysines. J Biol Chem 284: 4413-21
- Cui Z, Hwang SM, Gomes AV (2014) Identification of the immunoproteasome as a novel regulator of skeletal muscle differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 34: 96-109
- Dai J, Liu H, Zhou J, Huang K (2016) Selenoprotein R Protects Human Lens Epithelial Cells against d-Galactose-Induced Apoptosis by Regulating Oxidative Stress and Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress. Int J Mol Sci 17
- Daly RM, O'Connell SL, Mundell NL, Grimes CA, Dunstan DW, Nowson CA (2014) Protein-enriched diet, with the use of lean red meat, combined with progressive resistance training enhances lean tissue mass and muscle strength and reduces circulating IL-6 concentrations in elderly women: a cluster randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 99: 899-910

- Dargelos E, Brule C, Stuelsatz P, Mouly V, Veschambre P, Cottin P, Poussard S (2010) Upregulation of calcium-dependent proteolysis in human myoblasts under acute oxidative stress. Exp Cell Res 316: 115-25
- Davies JE, Rose C, Sarkar S, Rubinsztein DC (2010) Cystamine suppresses polyalanine toxicity in a mouse model of oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. Sci Transl Med 2: 34ra40
- Davies JE, Sarkar S, Rubinsztein DC (2006) Trehalose reduces aggregate formation and delays pathology in a transgenic mouse model of oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. Hum Mol Genet 15: 23-31
- Davies JE, Wang L, Garcia-Oroz L, Cook LJ, Vacher C, O'Donovan DG, Rubinsztein DC (2005) Doxycycline attenuates and delays toxicity of the oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy mutation in transgenic mice. Nat Med 11: 672-7
- Davies MJ, Fu S, Wang H, Dean RT (1999) Stable markers of oxidant damage to proteins and their application in the study of human disease. Free Radic Biol Med 27: 1151-63
- Davis DA, Newcomb FM, Moskovitz J, Wingfield PT, Stahl SJ, Kaufman J, Fales HM, Levine RL, Yarchoan R (2000) HIV-2 protease is inactivated after oxidation at the dimer interface and activity can be partly restored with methionine sulphoxide reductase. Biochem J 346 Pt 2: 305-11
- Davis RL, Weintraub H, Lassar AB (1987) Expression of a single transfected cDNA converts fibroblasts to myoblasts. Cell 51: 987-1000
- De Simoni S, Goemaere J, Knoops B (2008) Silencing of peroxiredoxin 3 and peroxiredoxin 5 reveals the role of mitochondrial peroxiredoxins in the protection of human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells toward MPP+. Neurosci Lett 433: 219-24
- Decary S, Hamida CB, Mouly V, Barbet JP, Hentati F, Butler-Browne GS (2000) Shorter telomeres in dystrophic muscle consistent with extensive regeneration in young children. Neuromuscul Disord 10: 113-20
- Deepa SS, Bhaskaran S, Ranjit R, Qaisar R, Nair BC, Liu Y, Walsh ME, Fok WC, Van Remmen H (2016) Down-regulation of the mitochondrial matrix peptidase ClpP in muscle cells causes mitochondrial dysfunction and decreases cell proliferation. Free Radic Biol Med 91: 281-92
- Degens H (1998) Age-related changes in the microcirculation of skeletal muscle. Adv Exp Med Biol 454: 343-8
- Dekker F, Abello N, Wisastra R, Bischoff R (2012) Enrichment and detection of tyrosinenitrated proteins. Curr Protoc Protein Sci Chapter 14: Unit 14 13
- DeNardi C, Ausoni S, Moretti P, Gorza L, Velleca M, Buckingham M, Schiaffino S (1993) Type 2X-myosin heavy chain is coded by a muscle fiber type-specific and developmentally regulated gene. J Cell Biol 123: 823-35
- Deschenes MR (2004) Effects of aging on muscle fibre type and size. Sports Med 34: 809-24
- Dillon EL, Sheffield-Moore M, Paddon-Jones D, Gilkison C, Sanford AP, Casperson SL, Jiang J, Chinkes DL, Urban RJ (2009) Amino acid supplementation increases lean body mass, basal muscle protein synthesis, and insulin-like growth factor-I expression in older women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94: 1630-7
- Dimauro I, Pearson T, Caporossi D, Jackson MJ (2012) In vitro susceptibility of thioredoxins and glutathione to redox modification and aging-related changes in skeletal muscle. Free Radic Biol Med 53: 2017-27
- Dionne IJ, Kinaman KA, Poehlman ET (2000) Sarcopenia and muscle function during menopause and hormone-replacement therapy. J Nutr Health Aging 4: 156-61

- Dirks AJ, Hofer T, Marzetti E, Pahor M, Leeuwenburgh C (2006) Mitochondrial DNA mutations, energy metabolism and apoptosis in aging muscle. Ageing Res Rev 5: 179-95
- Disatnik MH, Dhawan J, Yu Y, Beal MF, Whirl MM, Franco AA, Rando TA (1998) Evidence of oxidative stress in mdx mouse muscle: studies of the pre-necrotic state. J Neurol Sci 161: 77-84
- Dobrowolny G, Aucello M, Rizzuto E, Beccafico S, Mammucari C, Boncompagni S, Belia S, Wannenes F, Nicoletti C, Del Prete Z, Rosenthal N, Molinaro M, Protasi F, Fano G, Sandri M, Musaro A (2008) Skeletal muscle is a primary target of SOD1G93A-mediated toxicity. Cell Metab 8: 425-36
- Doherty TJ (2003) Invited review: Aging and sarcopenia. J Appl Physiol (1985) 95: 1717-27
- Doney RC, Thompson JF (1966) The reduction of S-methyl-L-cysteine sulfoxide and Lmethionine sulfoxide in turnip and bean leaves. Biochim Biophys Acta 124: 39-49
- Douglas T, Daniel DS, Parida BK, Jagannath C, Dhandayuthapani S (2004) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A (MsrA) deficiency affects the survival of Mycobacterium smegmatis within macrophages. J Bacteriol 186: 3590-8
- Dowling JJ, Arbogast S, Hur J, Nelson DD, McEvoy A, Waugh T, Marty I, Lunardi J, Brooks SV, Kuwada JY, Ferreiro A (2012) Oxidative stress and successful antioxidant treatment in models of RYR1-related myopathy. Brain 135: 1115-27
- Drescher C, Konishi M, Ebner N, Springer J (2016) Loss of muscle mass: Current developments in cachexia and sarcopenia focused on biomarkers and treatment. Int J Cardiol 202: 766-72
- Dudley RW, Danialou G, Govindaraju K, Lands L, Eidelman DE, Petrof BJ (2006) Sarcolemmal damage in dystrophin deficiency is modulated by synergistic interactions between mechanical and oxidative/nitrosative stresses. Am J Pathol 168: 1276-87; quiz 1404-5
- Dun Y, Vargas J, Brot N, Finnemann SC (2013) Independent roles of methionine sulfoxide reductase A in mitochondrial ATP synthesis and as antioxidant in retinal pigment epithelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med 65: 1340-51
- Duranceau A (1997) Cricopharyngeal myotomy in the management of neurogenic and muscular dysphagia. Neuromuscul Disord 7 Suppl 1: S85-9
- Duranceau A, Forand MD, Fauteux JP (1980) Surgery in oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. Am J Surg 139: 33-9
- Duranceau AC, Beauchamp G, Jamieson GG, Barbeau A (1983) Oropharyngeal dysphagia and oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. Surg Clin North Am 63: 825-32
- Ebisui C, Tsujinaka T, Morimoto T, Kan K, Iijima S, Yano M, Kominami E, Tanaka K, Monden M (1995) Interleukin-6 induces proteolysis by activating intracellular proteases (cathepsins B and L, proteasome) in C2C12 myotubes. Clin Sci (Lond) 89: 431-9
- Edstrom E, Altun M, Bergman E, Johnson H, Kullberg S, Ramirez-Leon V, Ulfhake B (2007) Factors contributing to neuromuscular impairment and sarcopenia during aging. Physiol Behav 92: 129-35
- Egler RA, Fernandes E, Rothermund K, Sereika S, de Souza-Pinto N, Jaruga P, Dizdaroglu M, Prochownik EV (2005) Regulation of reactive oxygen species, DNA damage, and c-Myc function by peroxiredoxin 1. Oncogene 24: 8038-50
- Ehmsen J, Poon E, Davies K (2002) The dystrophin-associated protein complex. J Cell Sci 115: 2801-3
- Ejiri SI, Weissbach H, Brot N (1979) Reduction of methionine sulfoxide to methionine by Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol 139: 161-4

- El Haddad M, Jean E, Turki A, Hugon G, Vernus B, Bonnieu A, Passerieux E, Hamade A, Mercier J, Laoudj-Chenivesse D, Carnac G (2012) Glutathione peroxidase 3, a new retinoid target gene, is crucial for human skeletal muscle precursor cell survival. J Cell Sci 125: 6147-56
- Elchuri S, Oberley TD, Qi W, Eisenstein RS, Jackson Roberts L, Van Remmen H, Epstein CJ, Huang TT (2005) CuZnSOD deficiency leads to persistent and widespread oxidative damage and hepatocarcinogenesis later in life. Oncogene 24: 367-80
- Emery AE (2002) The muscular dystrophies. Lancet 359: 687-95
- Engerson TD, McKelvey TG, Rhyne DB, Boggio EB, Snyder SJ, Jones HP (1987) Conversion of xanthine dehydrogenase to oxidase in ischemic rat tissues. J Clin Invest 79: 1564-70
- Erickson JR, Joiner ML, Guan X, Kutschke W, Yang J, Oddis CV, Bartlett RK, Lowe JS, O'Donnell SE, Aykin-Burns N, Zimmerman MC, Zimmerman K, Ham AJ, Weiss RM, Spitz DR, Shea MA, Colbran RJ, Mohler PJ, Anderson ME (2008) A dynamic pathway for calcium-independent activation of CaMKII by methionine oxidation. Cell 133: 462-74
- Erzurum SC, Lemarchand P, Rosenfeld MA, Yoo JH, Crystal RG (1993) Protection of human endothelial cells from oxidant injury by adenovirus-mediated transfer of the human catalase cDNA. Nucleic Acids Res 21: 1607-12
- Esposito LA, Kokoszka JE, Waymire KG, Cottrell B, MacGregor GR, Wallace DC (2000) Mitochondrial oxidative stress in mice lacking the glutathione peroxidase-1 gene. Free Radic Biol Med 28: 754-66
- Esterbauer H, Schaur RJ, Zollner H (1991) Chemistry and biochemistry of 4hydroxynonenal, malonaldehyde and related aldehydes. Free Radic Biol Med 11: 81-128
- Esworthy RS, Aranda R, Martin MG, Doroshow JH, Binder SW, Chu FF (2001) Mice with combined disruption of Gpx1 and Gpx2 genes have colitis. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 281: G848-55
- Etienne F, Spector D, Brot N, Weissbach H (2003) A methionine sulfoxide reductase in Escherichia coli that reduces the R enantiomer of methionine sulfoxide. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 300: 378-82
- Evans NP, Call JA, Bassaganya-Riera J, Robertson JL, Grange RW (2010) Green tea extract decreases muscle pathology and NF-kappaB immunostaining in regenerating muscle fibers of mdx mice. Clin Nutr 29: 391-8
- Ezraty B, Grimaud R, El Hassouni M, Moinier D, Barras F (2004) Methionine sulfoxide reductases protect Ffh from oxidative damages in Escherichia coli. EMBO J 23: 1868-77
- Fairclough RJ, Wood MJ, Davies KE (2013) Therapy for Duchenne muscular dystrophy: renewed optimism from genetic approaches. Nat Rev Genet 14: 373-8
- Fan H, Wu PF, Zhang L, Hu ZL, Wang W, Guan XL, Luo H, Ni M, Yang JW, Li MX, Chen JG, Wang F (2015) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A negatively controls microgliamediated neuroinflammation via inhibiting ROS/MAPKs/NF-kappaB signaling pathways through a catalytic antioxidant function. Antioxid Redox Signal 22: 832-47
- Ferrington DA, Husom AD, Thompson LV (2005) Altered proteasome structure, function, and oxidation in aged muscle. FASEB J 19: 644-6
- Fielding RA, Manfredi TJ, Ding W, Fiatarone MA, Evans WJ, Cannon JG (1993) Acute phase response in exercise. III. Neutrophil and IL-1 beta accumulation in skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol 265: R166-72
- Fielding RA, Vellas B, Evans WJ, Bhasin S, Morley JE, Newman AB, Abellan van Kan G, Andrieu S, Bauer J, Breuille D, Cederholm T, Chandler J, De Meynard C, Donini L,

Harris T, Kannt A, Keime Guibert F, Onder G, Papanicolaou D, Rolland Y et al. (2011) Sarcopenia: an undiagnosed condition in older adults. Current consensus definition: prevalence, etiology, and consequences. International working group on sarcopenia. J Am Med Dir Assoc 12: 249-56

- Fielitz J, Kim MS, Shelton JM, Latif S, Spencer JA, Glass DJ, Richardson JA, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2007) Myosin accumulation and striated muscle myopathy result from the loss of muscle RING finger 1 and 3. J Clin Invest 117: 2486-95
- Finaud J, Lac G, Filaire E (2006) Oxidative stress : relationship with exercise and training. Sports Med 36: 327-58
- Fitzwalter BE, Thorburn A (2015) Recent insights into cell death and autophagy. FEBS J
- Flanigan KM (2014) Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies. Neurol Clin 32: 671-88, viii
- Florini JR, Ewton DZ, Coolican SA (1996) Growth hormone and the insulin-like growth factor system in myogenesis. Endocr Rev 17: 481-517
- Floss T, Arnold HH, Braun T (1997) A role for FGF-6 in skeletal muscle regeneration. Genes Dev 11: 2040-51
- Foletta VC, White LJ, Larsen AE, Leger B, Russell AP (2011) The role and regulation of MAFbx/atrogin-1 and MuRF1 in skeletal muscle atrophy. Pflugers Arch 461: 325-35
- Fomenko DE, Novoselov SV, Natarajan SK, Lee BC, Koc A, Carlson BA, Lee TH, Kim HY, Hatfield DL, Gladyshev VN (2009) MsrB1 (methionine-R-sulfoxide reductase 1) knock-out mice: roles of MsrB1 in redox regulation and identification of a novel selenoprotein form. J Biol Chem 284: 5986-93
- Fong AP, Tapscott SJ (2013) Skeletal muscle programming and re-programming. Curr Opin Genet Dev 23: 568-73
- Franco AA, Odom RS, Rando TA (1999) Regulation of antioxidant enzyme gene expression in response to oxidative stress and during differentiation of mouse skeletal muscle. Free Radic Biol Med 27: 1122-32
- Freiberger E, Sieber C, Pfeifer K (2011) Physical activity, exercise, and sarcopenia future challenges. Wien Med Wochenschr 161: 416-25
- Friguet B (2006) Oxidized protein degradation and repair in ageing and oxidative stress. FEBS Lett 580: 2910-6
- Friguet B, Szweda LI (1997) Inhibition of the multicatalytic proteinase (proteasome) by 4hydroxy-2-nonenal cross-linked protein. FEBS Lett 405: 21-5
- Friguet B, Szweda LI, Stadtman ER (1994) Susceptibility of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase modified by 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal and metal-catalyzed oxidation to proteolysis by the multicatalytic protease. Arch Biochem Biophys 311: 168-73
- Frontera WR, Suh D, Krivickas LS, Hughes VA, Goldstein R, Roubenoff R (2000) Skeletal muscle fiber quality in older men and women. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 279: C611-8
- Fry CS, Lee JD, Mula J, Kirby TJ, Jackson JR, Liu F, Yang L, Mendias CL, Dupont-Versteegden EE, McCarthy JJ, Peterson CA (2015) Inducible depletion of satellite cells in adult, sedentary mice impairs muscle regenerative capacity without affecting sarcopenia. Nat Med 21: 76-80
- Fuchtbauer EM, Westphal H (1992) MyoD and myogenin are coexpressed in regenerating skeletal muscle of the mouse. Dev Dyn 193: 34-9
- Fuertes G, Martin De Llano JJ, Villarroya A, Rivett AJ, Knecht E (2003) Changes in the proteolytic activities of proteasomes and lysosomes in human fibroblasts produced by serum withdrawal, amino-acid deprivation and confluent conditions. Biochem J 375: 75-86

- Fukada S (2011) Molecular regulation of muscle stem cells by 'quiescence genes'. Yakugaku Zasshi 131: 1329-32
- Fukushima E, Shinka Y, Fukui T, Atomi H, Imanaka T (2007) Methionine sulfoxide reductase from the hyperthermophilic archaeon Thermococcus kodakaraensis, an enzyme designed to function at suboptimal growth temperatures. J Bacteriol 189: 7134-44
- Furutani Y, Murakami M, Funaba M (2009) Differential responses to oxidative stress and calcium influx on expression of the transforming growth factor-beta family in myoblasts and myotubes. Cell Biochem Funct 27: 578-82
- Gabbita SP, Aksenov MY, Lovell MA, Markesbery WR (1999) Decrease in peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase in Alzheimer's disease brain. J Neurochem 73: 1660-6
- Gal-Levi R, Leshem Y, Aoki S, Nakamura T, Halevy O (1998) Hepatocyte growth factor plays a dual role in regulating skeletal muscle satellite cell proliferation and differentiation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1402: 39-51
- Gambelli S, Malandrini A, Ginanneschi F, Berti G, Cardaioli E, De Stefano R, Franci M, Salvadori C, Mari F, Bruttini M, Rossi A, Federico A, Renieri A (2004) Mitochondrial abnormalities in genetically assessed oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. Eur Neurol 51: 144-7
- Garatachea N, Lucia A (2013) Genes and the ageing muscle: a review on genetic association studies. Age (Dordr) 35: 207-33
- Garcia-Prat L, Martinez-Vicente M, Perdiguero E, Ortet L, Rodriguez-Ubreva J, Rebollo E, Ruiz-Bonilla V, Gutarra S, Ballestar E, Serrano AL, Sandri M, Munoz-Canoves P (2016) Autophagy maintains stemness by preventing senescence. Nature 529: 37-42
- Gardrat F, Montel V, Raymond J, Azanza JL (1997) Proteasome and myogenesis. Mol Biol Rep 24: 77-81
- Gautel M (2011) The sarcomeric cytoskeleton: who picks up the strain? Current Opinion in Cell Biology 23: 39-46
- Gayraud-Morel B, Chretien F, Flamant P, Gomes D, Zammit PS, Tajbakhsh S (2007) A role for the myogenic determination gene Myf5 in adult regenerative myogenesis. Dev Biol 312: 13-28
- Gebre-Medhin M, Gustavson KH, Gamstorp I, Plantin LO (1985) Selenium supplementation in X-linked muscular dystrophy. Effects on erythrocyte and serum selenium and on erythrocyte glutathione peroxidase activity. Acta Paediatr Scand 74: 886-90
- Gellert M, Hanschmann EM, Lepka K, Berndt C, Lillig CH (2015) Redox regulation of cytoskeletal dynamics during differentiation and de-differentiation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1850: 1575-87
- Gennaris A, Ezraty B, Henry C, Agrebi R, Vergnes A, Oheix E, Bos J, Leverrier P, Espinosa L, Szewczyk J, Vertommen D, Iranzo O, Collet JF, Barras F (2015) Repairing oxidized proteins in the bacterial envelope using respiratory chain electrons. Nature 528: 409-12
- Gidaro T, Negroni E, Perie S, Mirabella M, Laine J, Lacau St Guily J, Butler-Browne G, Mouly V, Trollet C (2013) Atrophy, fibrosis, and increased PAX7-positive cells in pharyngeal muscles of oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy patients. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 72: 234-43
- Gil-Mohapel J, Brocardo PS, Christie BR (2014) The role of oxidative stress in Huntington's disease: are antioxidants good therapeutic candidates? Curr Drug Targets 15: 454-68
- Giovannini S, Onder G, Liperoti R, Russo A, Carter C, Capoluongo E, Pahor M, Bernabei R, Landi F (2011) Interleukin-6, C-reactive protein, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha as

predictors of mortality in frail, community-living elderly individuals. J Am Geriatr Soc 59: 1679-85

- Gitlin G, Tsarbopoulos A, Patel ST, Sydor W, Pramanik BN, Jacobs S, Westreich L, Mittelman S, Bausch JN (1996) Isolation and characterization of a monomethioninesulfoxide variant of interferon alpha-2b. Pharm Res 13: 762-9
- Glaser CB, Karic L, Parmelee S, Premachandra BR, Hinkston D, Abrams WR (1987) Studies on the turnover of methionine oxidized alpha-1-protease inhibitor in rats. Am Rev Respir Dis 136: 857-61
- Glaser CB, Yamin G, Uversky VN, Fink AL (2005) Methionine oxidation, alpha-synuclein and Parkinson's disease. Biochim Biophys Acta 1703: 157-69
- Goemans N, Tulinius M, Buyse G, Wilson R, de Kimpe S, van Deutekom J, Campion G (2010) O.15 24 week follow-up data from a phase I/IIa extension study of PRO051/GSK2402968 in subjects with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neuromuscular Disorders 20: 639
- Goichberg P, Shtutman M, Ben-Ze'ev A, Geiger B (2001) Recruitment of beta-catenin to cadherin-mediated intercellular adhesions is involved in myogenic induction. J Cell Sci 114: 1309-19
- Goldberg AL (2007) Functions of the proteasome: from protein degradation and immune surveillance to cancer therapy. Biochem Soc Trans 35: 12-7
- Gomez-Cabrera MC, Borras C, Pallardo FV, Sastre J, Ji LL, Vina J (2005) Decreasing xanthine oxidase-mediated oxidative stress prevents useful cellular adaptations to exercise in rats. J Physiol 567: 113-20
- Gomez-Cabrera MC, Pallardo FV, Sastre J, Vina J, Garcia-del-Moral L (2003) Allopurinol and markers of muscle damage among participants in the Tour de France. JAMA 289: 2503-4
- Goodpaster BH, Carlson CL, Visser M, Kelley DE, Scherzinger A, Harris TB, Stamm E, Newman AB (2001) Attenuation of skeletal muscle and strength in the elderly: The Health ABC Study. J Appl Physiol (1985) 90: 2157-65
- Goody RS, Hofmann W, Mannherz GH (1977) The binding constant of ATP to myosin S1 fragment. Eur J Biochem 78: 317-24
- Gorza L (1990) Identification of a novel type 2 fiber population in mammalian skeletal muscle by combined use of histochemical myosin ATPase and anti-myosin monoclonal antibodies. J Histochem Cytochem 38: 257-65
- Goyenvalle A, Davies KE (2011) Challenges to oligonucleotides-based therapeutics for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Skelet Muscle 1: 8
- Goyenvalle A, Griffith G, Babbs A, El Andaloussi S, Ezzat K, Avril A, Dugovic B, Chaussenot R, Ferry A, Voit T, Amthor H, Buhr C, Schurch S, Wood MJ, Davies KE, Vaillend C, Leumann C, Garcia L (2015) Functional correction in mouse models of muscular dystrophy using exon-skipping tricyclo-DNA oligomers. Nat Med 21: 270-5
- Grass S, Arnold HH, Braun T (1996) Alterations in somite patterning of Myf-5-deficient mice: a possible role for FGF-4 and FGF-6. Development 122: 141-50
- Grimaud R, Ezraty B, Mitchell JK, Lafitte D, Briand C, Derrick PJ, Barras F (2001) Repair of oxidized proteins. Identification of a new methionine sulfoxide reductase. J Biol Chem 276: 48915-20
- Gros J, Manceau M, Thome V, Marcelle C (2005) A common somitic origin for embryonic muscle progenitors and satellite cells. Nature 435: 954-8
- Gross JG, Morgan JE (1999) Muscle precursor cells injected into irradiated mdx mouse muscle persist after serial injury. Muscle Nerve 22: 174-85

- Grounds MD, Garrett KL, Lai MC, Wright WE, Beilharz MW (1992) Identification of skeletal muscle precursor cells in vivo by use of MyoD1 and myogenin probes. Cell Tissue Res 267: 99-104
- Grune T, Jung T, Merker K, Davies KJ (2004) Decreased proteolysis caused by protein aggregates, inclusion bodies, plaques, lipofuscin, ceroid, and 'aggresomes' during oxidative stress, aging, and disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 36: 2519-30
- Gunther S, Kim J, Kostin S, Lepper C, Fan CM, Braun T (2013) Myf5-positive satellite cells contribute to Pax7-dependent long-term maintenance of adult muscle stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 13: 590-601
- Guttridge DC, Albanese C, Reuther JY, Pestell RG, Baldwin AS, Jr. (1999) NF-kappaB controls cell growth and differentiation through transcriptional regulation of cyclin D1. Mol Cell Biol 19: 5785-99
- Guttridge DC, Mayo MW, Madrid LV, Wang CY, Baldwin AS, Jr. (2000) NF-kappaBinduced loss of MyoD messenger RNA: possible role in muscle decay and cachexia. Science 289: 2363-6
- Hackman P, Vihola A, Haravuori H, Marchand S, Sarparanta J, De Seze J, Labeit S, Witt C, Peltonen L, Richard I, Udd B (2002) Tibial muscular dystrophy is a titinopathy caused by mutations in TTN, the gene encoding the giant skeletal-muscle protein titin. Am J Hum Genet 71: 492-500
- Hamon MP, Bulteau AL, Friguet B (2015) Mitochondrial proteases and protein quality control in ageing and longevity. Ageing Res Rev 23: 56-66
- Hannon K, Kudla AJ, McAvoy MJ, Clase KL, Olwin BB (1996) Differentially expressed fibroblast growth factors regulate skeletal muscle development through autocrine and paracrine mechanisms. J Cell Biol 132: 1151-9
- Hansel A, Kuschel L, Hehl S, Lemke C, Agricola HJ, Hoshi T, Heinemann SH (2002) Mitochondrial targeting of the human peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase (MSRA), an enzyme involved in the repair of oxidized proteins. FASEB J 16: 911-3
- Hansen JM, Klass M, Harris C, Csete M (2007) A reducing redox environment promotes C2C12 myogenesis: implications for regeneration in aged muscle. Cell Biol Int 31: 546-53
- Hardy D, Besnard A, Latil M, Jouvion G, Briand D, Thepenier C, Pascal Q, Guguin A, Gayraud-Morel B, Cavaillon JM, Tajbakhsh S, Rocheteau P, Chretien F (2016) Comparative Study of Injury Models for Studying Muscle Regeneration in Mice. PLoS One 11: e0147198
- Harris TB, Ferrucci L, Tracy RP, Corti MC, Wacholder S, Ettinger WH, Jr., Heimovitz H, Cohen HJ, Wallace R (1999) Associations of elevated interleukin-6 and C-reactive protein levels with mortality in the elderly. Am J Med 106: 506-12
- Hasty P, Bradley A, Morris JH, Edmondson DG, Venuti JM, Olson EN, Klein WH (1993) Muscle deficiency and neonatal death in mice with a targeted mutation in the myogenin gene. Nature 364: 501-6
- Haycock JW, Mac Neil S, Mantle D (1998) Differential protein oxidation in Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy. Neuroreport 9: 2201-7
- He BJ, Joiner ML, Singh MV, Luczak ED, Swaminathan PD, Koval OM, Kutschke W, Allamargot C, Yang J, Guan X, Zimmerman K, Grumbach IM, Weiss RM, Spitz DR, Sigmund CD, Blankesteijn WM, Heymans S, Mohler PJ, Anderson ME (2011) Oxidation of CaMKII determines the cardiotoxic effects of aldosterone. Nat Med 17: 1610-8
- He WA, Berardi E, Cardillo VM, Acharyya S, Aulino P, Thomas-Ahner J, Wang J, Bloomston M, Muscarella P, Nau P, Shah N, Butchbach ME, Ladner K, Adamo S, Rudnicki MA, Keller C, Coletti D, Montanaro F, Guttridge DC (2013) NF-kappaB-

mediated Pax7 dysregulation in the muscle microenvironment promotes cancer cachexia. J Clin Invest 123: 4821-35

- Herbst A, Pak JW, McKenzie D, Bua E, Bassiouni M, Aiken JM (2007) Accumulation of mitochondrial DNA deletion mutations in aged muscle fibers: evidence for a causal role in muscle fiber loss. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 62: 235-45
- Heslop L, Beauchamp JR, Tajbakhsh S, Buckingham ME, Partridge TA, Zammit PS (2001) Transplanted primary neonatal myoblasts can give rise to functional satellite cells as identified using the Myf5nlacZl+ mouse. Gene Ther 8: 778-83
- Hidalgo C, Sanchez G, Barrientos G, Aracena-Parks P (2006) A transverse tubule NADPH oxidase activity stimulates calcium release from isolated triads via ryanodine receptor type 1 S -glutathionylation. J Biol Chem 281: 26473-82
- Hnia K, Hugon G, Rivier F, Masmoudi A, Mercier J, Mornet D (2007) Modulation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade and metalloproteinase activity in diaphragm muscle in response to free radical scavenger administration in dystrophin-deficient Mdx mice. Am J Pathol 170: 633-43
- Ho YS, Xiong Y, Ma W, Spector A, Ho DS (2004) Mice lacking catalase develop normally but show differential sensitivity to oxidant tissue injury. J Biol Chem 279: 32804-12
- Hori YS, Kuno A, Hosoda R, Tanno M, Miura T, Shimamoto K, Horio Y (2011) Resveratrol ameliorates muscular pathology in the dystrophic mdx mouse, a model for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 338: 784-94
- Hoshi T, Heinemann S (2001) Regulation of cell function by methionine oxidation and reduction. J Physiol 531: 1-11
- Hou L, Kang I, Marchant RE, Zagorski MG (2002) Methionine 35 oxidation reduces fibril assembly of the amyloid abeta-(1-42) peptide of Alzheimer's disease. J Biol Chem 277: 40173-6
- Houston DK, Nicklas BJ, Ding J, Harris TB, Tylavsky FA, Newman AB, Lee JS, Sahyoun NR, Visser M, Kritchevsky SB, Health ABCS (2008) Dietary protein intake is associated with lean mass change in older, community-dwelling adults: the Health, Aging, and Body Composition (Health ABC) Study. Am J Clin Nutr 87: 150-5
- Howard C, Ferrucci L, Sun K, Fried LP, Walston J, Varadhan R, Guralnik JM, Semba RD (2007) Oxidative protein damage is associated with poor grip strength among older women living in the community. J Appl Physiol (1985) 103: 17-20
- Hsu YR, Narhi LO, Spahr C, Langley KE, Lu HS (1996) In vitro methionine oxidation of Escherichia coli-derived human stem cell factor: effects on the molecular structure, biological activity, and dimerization. Protein Sci 5: 1165-73
- Huang TT, Carlson EJ, Kozy HM, Mantha S, Goodman SI, Ursell PC, Epstein CJ (2001) Genetic modification of prenatal lethality and dilated cardiomyopathy in Mn superoxide dismutase mutant mice. Free Radic Biol Med 31: 1101-10
- Huh JY, Kim Y, Jeong J, Park J, Kim I, Huh KH, Kim YS, Woo HA, Rhee SG, Lee KJ, Ha H (2012) Peroxiredoxin 3 is a key molecule regulating adipocyte oxidative stress, mitochondrial biogenesis, and adipokine expression. Antioxid Redox Signal 16: 229-43
- Hung RJ, Spaeth CS, Yesilyurt HG, Terman JR (2013) SelR reverses Mical-mediated oxidation of actin to regulate F-actin dynamics. Nat Cell Biol 15: 1445-54
- Hung RJ, Yazdani U, Yoon J, Wu H, Yang T, Gupta N, Huang Z, van Berkel WJ, Terman JR (2010) Mical links semaphorins to F-actin disassembly. Nature 463: 823-7
- Hunter MI, Mohamed JB (1986) Plasma antioxidants and lipid peroxidation products in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Clin Chim Acta 155: 123-31

- Husom AD, Peters EA, Kolling EA, Fugere NA, Thompson LV, Ferrington DA (2004) Altered proteasome function and subunit composition in aged muscle. Arch Biochem Biophys 421: 67-76
- Huxley HE (1957) The double array of filaments in cross-striated muscle. The Journal of Biophysical and Biochemical Cytology 3: 631-648
- Huxley HE (1969) The Mechanism of Muscular Contraction. Science 164: 1356-1366
- Huygens W, Thomis MA, Peeters MW, Vlietinck RF, Beunen GP (2004) Determinants and upper-limit heritabilities of skeletal muscle mass and strength. Can J Appl Physiol 29: 186-200
- Jackson MJ (2009) Skeletal muscle aging: role of reactive oxygen species. Crit Care Med 37: S368-71
- Jackson MJ (2016) Reactive oxygen species in sarcopenia: Should we focus on excess oxidative damage or defective redox signalling? Mol Aspects Med
- Jackson MJ, Jones DA, Edwards RH (1983) Vitamin E and skeletal muscle. Ciba Found Symp 101: 224-39
- Jacob C, Kriznik A, Boschi-Muller S, Branlant G (2011) Thioredoxin 2 from Escherichia coli is not involved in vivo in the recycling process of methionine sulfoxide reductase activities. FEBS Lett 585: 1905-9
- Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Wang ZM, Ross R (2000) Skeletal muscle mass and distribution in 468 men and women aged 18-88 yr. J Appl Physiol (1985) 89: 81-8
- Ji LL (2007) Antioxidant signaling in skeletal muscle: a brief review. Exp Gerontol 42: 582-93
- Jia Y, Li Y, Du S, Huang K (2012) Involvement of MsrB1 in the regulation of redox balance and inhibition of peroxynitrite-induced apoptosis in human lens epithelial cells. Exp Eye Res 100: 7-16
- Jia Y, Zhou J, Liu H, Huang K (2014) Effect of methionine sulfoxide reductase B1 (SelR) gene silencing on peroxynitrite-induced F-actin disruption in human lens epithelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 443: 876-81
- Johansson C, Lillig CH, Holmgren A (2004) Human mitochondrial glutaredoxin reduces Sglutathionylated proteins with high affinity accepting electrons from either glutathione or thioredoxin reductase. J Biol Chem 279: 7537-43
- Jones TE, Alexander RW, Pan T (2011) Misacylation of specific nonmethionyl tRNAs by a bacterial methionyl-tRNA synthetase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108: 6933-8
- Jung S, Hansel A, Kasperczyk H, Hoshi T, Heinemann SH (2002) Activity, tissue distribution and site-directed mutagenesis of a human peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase of type B: hCBS1. FEBS Lett 527: 91-4
- Kalinina EV, Chernov NN, Novichkova MD (2014) Role of glutathione, glutathione transferase, and glutaredoxin in regulation of redox-dependent processes. Biochemistry (Mosc) 79: 1562-83
- Kanayama A, Inoue J, Sugita-Konishi Y, Shimizu M, Miyamoto Y (2002) Oxidation of Ikappa Balpha at methionine 45 is one cause of taurine chloramine-induced inhibition of NF-kappa B activation. J Biol Chem 277: 24049-56
- Kandarian SC, Jackman RW (2006) Intracellular signaling during skeletal muscle atrophy. Muscle Nerve 33: 155-65
- Kang JS, Choi IW, Han MH, Hong SH, Kim SO, Kim GY, Hwang HJ, Kim BW, Choi BT, Kim CM, Choi YH (2015) Sargassum horneri methanol extract rescues C2C12 murine skeletal muscle cells from oxidative stress-induced cytotoxicity through Nrf2mediated upregulation of heme oxygenase-1. BMC Complement Altern Med 15: 17

- Kang JS, Han MH, Kim GY, Kim CM, Kim BW, Hwang HJ, Hyun Y (2014) Nrf2-mediated HO-1 induction contributes to antioxidant capacity of a Schisandrae Fructus ethanol extract in C2C12 myoblasts. Nutrients 6: 5667-78
- Kanter M (1998) Free radicals, exercise and antioxidant supplementation. Proc Nutr Soc 57: 9-13
- Kantorow M, Hawse JR, Cowell TL, Benhamed S, Pizarro GO, Reddy VN, Hejtmancik JF (2004) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A is important for lens cell viability and resistance to oxidative stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 9654-9
- Kar NC, Pearson CM (1979) Catalase, superoxide dismutase, glutathione reductase and thiobarbituric acid-reactive products in normal and dystrophic human muscle. Clin Chim Acta 94: 277-80
- Karakelides H, Nair KS (2005) Sarcopenia of aging and its metabolic impact. Curr Top Dev Biol 68: 123-48
- Kastner S, Elias MC, Rivera AJ, Yablonka-Reuveni Z (2000) Gene expression patterns of the fibroblast growth factors and their receptors during myogenesis of rat satellite cells. J Histochem Cytochem 48: 1079-96
- Kaya A, Lee BC, Gladyshev VN (2015) Regulation of protein function by reversible methionine oxidation and the role of selenoprotein MsrB1. Antioxid Redox Signal 23: 814-22
- Kedar V, McDonough H, Arya R, Li HH, Rockman HA, Patterson C (2004) Muscle-specific RING finger 1 is a bona fide ubiquitin ligase that degrades cardiac troponin I. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 18135-40
- Kelner MJ, Bagnell RD, Uglik SF, Montoya MA, Mullenbach GT (1995) Heterologous expression of selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidase affords cellular resistance to paraquat. Arch Biochem Biophys 323: 40-6
- Khaminets A, Behl C, Dikic I (2015) Ubiquitin-Dependent And Independent Signals In Selective Autophagy. Trends Cell Biol
- Kharraz Y, Guerra J, Pessina P, Serrano AL, Munoz-Canoves P (2014) Understanding the process of fibrosis in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Biomed Res Int 2014: 965631
- Kim CH, Neiswender H, Baik EJ, Xiong WC, Mei L (2008) Beta-catenin interacts with MyoD and regulates its transcription activity. Mol Cell Biol 28: 2941-51
- Kim G, Weiss SJ, Levine RL (2014a) Methionine oxidation and reduction in proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1840: 901-5
- Kim HK, Merrow AC, Shiraj S, Wong BL, Horn PS, Laor T (2013) Analysis of fatty infiltration and inflammation of the pelvic and thigh muscles in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD): grading of disease involvement on MR imaging and correlation with clinical assessments. Pediatr Radiol 43: 1327-35
- Kim HK, Suzuki T, Saito K, Yoshida H, Kobayashi H, Kato H, Katayama M (2012) Effects of exercise and amino acid supplementation on body composition and physical function in community-dwelling elderly Japanese sarcopenic women: a randomized controlled trial. J Am Geriatr Soc 60: 16-23
- Kim HS, Kwak GH, Lee K, Jo CH, Hwang KY, Kim HY (2014b) Structural and biochemical analysis of a type II free methionine-R-sulfoxide reductase from Thermoplasma acidophilum. Arch Biochem Biophys 560: 10-9
- Kim HY (2013) The methionine sulfoxide reduction system: selenium utilization and methionine sulfoxide reductase enzymes and their functions. Antioxid Redox Signal 19: 958-69
- Kim HY, Gladyshev VN (2004a) Characterization of mouse endoplasmic reticulum methionine-R-sulfoxide reductase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 320: 1277-83

- Kim HY, Gladyshev VN (2004b) Methionine sulfoxide reduction in mammals: characterization of methionine-R-sulfoxide reductases. Mol Biol Cell 15: 1055-64
- Kim HY, Gladyshev VN (2005a) Different catalytic mechanisms in mammalian selenocysteine- and cysteine-containing methionine-R-sulfoxide reductases. PLoS Biol 3: e375
- Kim HY, Gladyshev VN (2005b) Role of structural and functional elements of mouse methionine-S-sulfoxide reductase in its subcellular distribution. Biochemistry 44: 8059-67
- Kim HY, Gladyshev VN (2006) Alternative first exon splicing regulates subcellular distribution of methionine sulfoxide reductases. BMC Mol Biol 7: 11
- Kim HY, Gladyshev VN (2007) Methionine sulfoxide reductases: selenoprotein forms and roles in antioxidant protein repair in mammals. Biochem J 407: 321-9
- Kim JI, Choi SH, Jung KJ, Lee E, Kim HY, Park KM (2013) Protective role of methionine sulfoxide reductase A against ischemia/reperfusion injury in mouse kidney and its involvement in the regulation of trans-sulfuration pathway. Antioxid Redox Signal 18: 2241-50
- Kim JI, Noh MR, Kim KY, Jang HS, Kim HY, Park KM (2015) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A deficiency exacerbates progression of kidney fibrosis induced by unilateral ureteral obstruction. Free Radic Biol Med 89: 201-8
- Kim JY, Kim Y, Kwak GH, Oh SY, Kim HY (2014c) Over-expression of methionine sulfoxide reductase A in the endoplasmic reticulum increases resistance to oxidative and ER stresses. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai) 46: 415-9
- Kim MJ, Lee BC, Jeong J, Lee KJ, Hwang KY, Gladyshev VN, Kim HY (2011) Tandem use of selenocysteine: adaptation of a selenoprotein glutaredoxin for reduction of selenoprotein methionine sulfoxide reductase. Mol Microbiol 79: 1194-203
- Kim SS, Rhee S, Lee KH, Kim JH, Kim HS, Kang MS, Chung CH (1998) Inhibitors of the proteasome block the myogenic differentiation of rat L6 myoblasts. FEBS Lett 433: 47-50
- Kim YA, Kim YS, Oh SL, Kim HJ, Song W (2013) Autophagic response to exercise training in skeletal muscle with age. J Physiol Biochem 69: 697-705
- Kim YJ, Noguchi S, Hayashi YK, Tsukahara T, Shimizu T, Arahata K (2001) The product of an oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy gene, poly(A)-binding protein 2, interacts with SKIP and stimulates muscle-specific gene expression. Hum Mol Genet 10: 1129-39
- Kitajima Y, Tashiro Y, Suzuki N, Warita H, Kato M, Tateyama M, Ando R, Izumi R, Yamazaki M, Abe M, Sakimura K, Ito H, Urushitani M, Nagatomi R, Takahashi R, Aoki M (2014) Proteasome dysfunction induces muscle growth defects and protein aggregation. J Cell Sci 127: 5204-17
- Klionsky DJ, Emr SD (2000) Autophagy as a regulated pathway of cellular degradation. Science 290: 1717-21
- Klomsiri C, Karplus PA, Poole LB (2011) Cysteine-based redox switches in enzymes. Antioxid Redox Signal 14: 1065-77
- Knapp JR, Davie JK, Myer A, Meadows E, Olson EN, Klein WH (2006) Loss of myogenin in postnatal life leads to normal skeletal muscle but reduced body size. Development 133: 601-10
- Koc A, Gasch AP, Rutherford JC, Kim HY, Gladyshev VN (2004) Methionine sulfoxide reductase regulation of yeast lifespan reveals reactive oxygen species-dependent and -independent components of aging. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 7999-8004
- Koenig M, Monaco AP, Kunkel LM (1988) The complete sequence of dystrophin predicts a rod-shaped cytoskeletal protein. Cell 53: 219-28
Konigsberg IR (1963) Clonal analysis of myogenesis. Science 140: 1273-84

- Konigsberg UR, Lipton BH, Konigsberg IR (1975) The regenerative response of single mature muscle fibers isolated in vitro. Dev Biol 45: 260-75
- Korhonen MT, Cristea A, Alen M, Hakkinen K, Sipila S, Mero A, Viitasalo JT, Larsson L, Suominen H (2006) Aging, muscle fiber type, and contractile function in sprinttrained athletes. J Appl Physiol (1985) 101: 906-17
- Korolchuk VI, Mansilla A, Menzies FM, Rubinsztein DC (2009) Autophagy inhibition compromises degradation of ubiquitin-proteasome pathway substrates. Mol Cell 33: 517-27
- Kortebein P, Ferrando A, Lombeida J, Wolfe R, Evans WJ (2007) Effect of 10 days of bed rest on skeletal muscle in healthy older adults. JAMA 297: 1772-4
- Kortebein P, Symons TB, Ferrando A, Paddon-Jones D, Ronsen O, Protas E, Conger S, Lombeida J, Wolfe R, Evans WJ (2008) Functional impact of 10 days of bed rest in healthy older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 63: 1076-81
- Kostek M, Hubal MJ, Pescatello LS (2011) The Role of Genetic Variation in Muscle Strength. American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine 5: 156-170
- Kozakowska M, Ciesla M, Stefanska A, Skrzypek K, Was H, Jazwa A, Grochot-Przeczek A, Kotlinowski J, Szymula A, Bartelik A, Mazan M, Yagensky O, Florczyk U, Lemke K, Zebzda A, Dyduch G, Nowak W, Szade K, Stepniewski J, Majka M et al. (2012) Heme oxygenase-1 inhibits myoblast differentiation by targeting myomirs. Antioxid Redox Signal 16: 113-27
- Kozakowska M, Pietraszek-Gremplewicz K, Jozkowicz A, Dulak J (2015) The role of oxidative stress in skeletal muscle injury and regeneration: focus on antioxidant enzymes. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 36: 377-93
- Krask BJ (1953) Methionine sulfoxide and specific inhibition of sporulation in Bacillus subtilis. J Bacteriol 66: 374
- Kress W, Maglica Z, Weber-Ban E (2009) Clp chaperone-proteases: structure and function. Res Microbiol 160: 618-28
- Kriznik A, Boschi-Muller S, Branlant G (2014) Kinetic evidence that methionine sulfoxide reductase A can reveal its oxidase activity in the presence of thioredoxin. Arch Biochem Biophys 548: 54-9
- Kroemer G, Marino G, Levine B (2010) Autophagy and the integrated stress response. Mol Cell 40: 280-93
- Kropotov A, Serikov V, Suh J, Smirnova A, Bashkirov V, Zhivotovsky B, Tomilin N (2006) Constitutive expression of the human peroxiredoxin V gene contributes to protection of the genome from oxidative DNA lesions and to suppression of transcription of noncoding DNA. FEBS J 273: 2607-17
- Kryukov GV, Kumar RA, Koc A, Sun Z, Gladyshev VN (2002) Selenoprotein R is a zinccontaining stereo-specific methionine sulfoxide reductase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 4245-50
- Kuang S, Kuroda K, Le Grand F, Rudnicki MA (2007) Asymmetric self-renewal and commitment of satellite stem cells in muscle. Cell 129: 999-1010
- Kuschel L, Hansel A, Schonherr R, Weissbach H, Brot N, Hoshi T, Heinemann SH (1999) Molecular cloning and functional expression of a human peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase (hMsrA). FEBS Lett 456: 17-21
- Kushnareva Y, Murphy AN, Andreyev A (2002) Complex I-mediated reactive oxygen species generation: modulation by cytochrome c and NAD(P)+ oxidation-reduction state. Biochem J 368: 545-53

- Kwak GH, Lim DH, Han JY, Lee YS, Kim HY (2012) Methionine sulfoxide reductase B3 protects from endoplasmic reticulum stress in Drosophila and in mammalian cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 420: 130-5
- Kwan P (2013) Sarcopenia, a neurogenic syndrome? J Aging Res 2013: 791679
- Kwon SJ, Kwon SI, Bae MS, Cho EJ, Park OK (2007) Role of the methionine sulfoxide reductase MsrB3 in cold acclimation in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Physiol 48: 1713-23
- Laguens R (1963) Satellite Cells of Skeletal Muscle Fibers in Human Progressive Muscular Dystrophy. Virchows Arch Pathol Anat Physiol Klin Med 336: 564-9
- Langen RC, Schols AM, Kelders MC, Van Der Velden JL, Wouters EF, Janssen-Heininger YM (2002) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibits myogenesis through redoxdependent and -independent pathways. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 283: C714-21
- Langen RC, Schols AM, Kelders MC, Wouters EF, Janssen-Heininger YM (2001) Inflammatory cytokines inhibit myogenic differentiation through activation of nuclear factor-kappaB. FASEB J 15: 1169-80
- Langen RC, Van Der Velden JL, Schols AM, Kelders MC, Wouters EF, Janssen-Heininger YM (2004) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibits myogenic differentiation through MyoD protein destabilization. FASEB J 18: 227-37
- Laughlin MH, Simpson T, Sexton WL, Brown OR, Smith JK, Korthuis RJ (1990) Skeletal muscle oxidative capacity, antioxidant enzymes, and exercise training. J Appl Physiol (1985) 68: 2337-43
- Leavis PC, Gergely J (1984) Thin filament proteins and thin filament-linked regulation of vertebrate muscle contraction. CRC Crit Rev Biochem 16: 235-305
- Lebovitz RM, Zhang H, Vogel H, Cartwright J, Jr., Dionne L, Lu N, Huang S, Matzuk MM (1996) Neurodegeneration, myocardial injury, and perinatal death in mitochondrial superoxide dismutase-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93: 9782-7
- Lecker SH, Goldberg AL, Mitch WE (2006) Protein degradation by the ubiquitinproteasome pathway in normal and disease states. J Am Soc Nephrol 17: 1807-19
- Lee BC, Dikiy A, Kim HY, Gladyshev VN (2009) Functions and evolution of selenoprotein methionine sulfoxide reductases. Biochim Biophys Acta 1790: 1471-7
- Lee BC, Gladyshev VN (2011) The biological significance of methionine sulfoxide stereochemistry. Free Radic Biol Med 50: 221-7
- Lee BC, Peterfi Z, Hoffmann FW, Moore RE, Kaya A, Avanesov A, Tarrago L, Zhou Y, Weerapana E, Fomenko DE, Hoffmann PR, Gladyshev VN (2013) MsrB1 and MICALs regulate actin assembly and macrophage function via reversible stereoselective methionine oxidation. Mol Cell 51: 397-404
- Lee E, Kwak GH, Kamble K, Kim HY (2014a) Methionine sulfoxide reductase B3 deficiency inhibits cell growth through the activation of p53-p21 and p27 pathways. Arch Biochem Biophys 547: 1-5
- Lee J, Giordano S, Zhang J (2012) Autophagy, mitochondria and oxidative stress: cross-talk and redox signalling. Biochem J 441: 523-40
- Lee JS, Auyeung TW, Kwok T, Lau EM, Leung PC, Woo J (2007) Associated factors and health impact of sarcopenia in older chinese men and women: a cross-sectional study. Gerontology 53: 404-10
- Lee JW, Gordiyenko NV, Marchetti M, Tserentsoodol N, Sagher D, Alam S, Weissbach H, Kantorow M, Rodriguez IR (2006) Gene structure, localization and role in oxidative stress of methionine sulfoxide reductase A (MSRA) in the monkey retina. Exp Eye Res 82: 816-27
- Lee KH, Baek MY, Moon KY, Song WK, Chung CH, Ha DB, Kang MS (1994) Nitric oxide as a messenger molecule for myoblast fusion. J Biol Chem 269: 14371-4

- Lee KH, Kim DG, Shin NY, Song WK, Kwon H, Chung CH, Kang MS (1997) NF-kappaBdependent expression of nitric oxide synthase is required for membrane fusion of chick embryonic myoblasts. Biochem J 324 (Pt 1): 237-42
- Lee KP, Shin YJ, Cho SC, Lee SM, Bahn YJ, Kim JY, Kwon ES, Jeong do Y, Park SC, Rhee SG, Woo HA, Kwon KS (2014b) Peroxiredoxin 3 has a crucial role in the contractile function of skeletal muscle by regulating mitochondrial homeostasis. Free Radic Biol Med 77: 298-306
- Lee S, Shin HS, Shireman PK, Vasilaki A, Van Remmen H, Csete ME (2006) Glutathioneperoxidase-1 null muscle progenitor cells are globally defective. Free Radic Biol Med 41: 1174-84
- Lee S, Tak E, Lee J, Rashid MA, Murphy MP, Ha J, Kim SS (2011) Mitochondrial H2O2 generated from electron transport chain complex I stimulates muscle differentiation. Cell Res 21: 817-34
- Lee TH, Kim SU, Yu SL, Kim SH, Park DS, Moon HB, Dho SH, Kwon KS, Kwon HJ, Han YH, Jeong S, Kang SW, Shin HS, Lee KK, Rhee SG, Yu DY (2003) Peroxiredoxin II is essential for sustaining life span of erythrocytes in mice. Blood 101: 5033-8
- Leeuwenburgh C, Fiebig R, Chandwaney R, Ji LL (1994) Aging and exercise training in skeletal muscle: responses of glutathione and antioxidant enzyme systems. Am J Physiol 267: R439-45
- Leeuwenburgh C, Hollander J, Leichtweis S, Griffiths M, Gore M, Ji LL (1997a) Adaptations of glutathione antioxidant system to endurance training are tissue and muscle fiber specific. Am J Physiol 272: R363-9
- Leeuwenburgh C, Wagner P, Holloszy JO, Sohal RS, Heinecke JW (1997b) Caloric restriction attenuates dityrosine cross-linking of cardiac and skeletal muscle proteins in aging mice. Arch Biochem Biophys 346: 74-80
- Leger B, Derave W, De Bock K, Hespel P, Russell AP (2008) Human sarcopenia reveals an increase in SOCS-3 and myostatin and a reduced efficiency of Akt phosphorylation. Rejuvenation Res 11: 163-175B
- Lepper C, Conway SJ, Fan CM (2009) Adult satellite cells and embryonic muscle progenitors have distinct genetic requirements. Nature 460: 627-31
- Lepper C, Partridge TA, Fan CM (2011) An absolute requirement for Pax7-positive satellite cells in acute injury-induced skeletal muscle regeneration. Development 138: 3639-46
- Lescure A, Gautheret D, Carbon P, Krol A (1999) Novel selenoproteins identified in silico and in vivo by using a conserved RNA structural motif. J Biol Chem 274: 38147-54
- Levine RL, Mosoni L, Berlett BS, Stadtman ER (1996) Methionine residues as endogenous antioxidants in proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93: 15036-40
- Lexell J (1995) Human aging, muscle mass, and fiber type composition. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 50 Spec No: 11-6
- Li D (2006) Selective degradation of the IkappaB kinase (IKK) by autophagy. Cell Res 16: 855-6
- Li WW, Li J, Bao JK (2012) Microautophagy: lesser-known self-eating. Cell Mol Life Sci 69: 1125-36
- Li Y, Jia Y, Zhou J, Huang K (2013) Effect of methionine sulfoxide reductase B1 silencing on high-glucose-induced apoptosis of human lens epithelial cells. Life Sci 92: 193-201
- Licht S, Lee I (2008) Resolving individual steps in the operation of ATP-dependent proteolytic molecular machines: from conformational changes to substrate translocation and processivity. Biochemistry 47: 3595-605

- Lillig CH, Berndt C, Holmgren A (2008) Glutaredoxin systems. Biochim Biophys Acta 1780: 1304-17
- Lim DH, Han JY, Kim JR, Lee YS, Kim HY (2012) Methionine sulfoxide reductase B in the endoplasmic reticulum is critical for stress resistance and aging in Drosophila. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 419: 20-6
- Lim JA, Woo JH, Kim HS (2008) Phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt signalling is responsible for the differential susceptibility of myoblasts and myotubes to menadione-induced oxidative stress. Free Radic Res 42: 798-806
- Lim JC, Kim G, Levine RL (2013) Stereospecific oxidation of calmodulin by methionine sulfoxide reductase A. Free Radic Biol Med 61: 257-64
- Lim JC, You Z, Kim G, Levine RL (2011) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A is a stereospecific methionine oxidase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108: 10472-7
- Lin Z, Johnson LC, Weissbach H, Brot N, Lively MO, Lowther WT (2007) Free methionine-(R)-sulfoxide reductase from Escherichia coli reveals a new GAF domain function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 9597-602
- Lindau-Shepard BA, Shaffer JB (1993) Expression of human catalase in acatalasemic murine SV-B2 cells confers protection from oxidative damage. Free Radic Biol Med 15: 581-8
- Liu L, Cheung TH, Charville GW, Rando TA (2015) Isolation of skeletal muscle stem cells by fluorescence-activated cell sorting. Nat Protoc 10: 1612-24
- Liu L, Wise DR, Diehl JA, Simon MC (2008) Hypoxic reactive oxygen species regulate the integrated stress response and cell survival. J Biol Chem 283: 31153-62
- Liu QC, Zha XH, Faralli H, Yin H, Louis-Jeune C, Perdiguero E, Pranckeviciene E, Munoz-Canoves P, Rudnicki MA, Brand M, Perez-Iratxeta C, Dilworth FJ (2012) Comparative expression profiling identifies differential roles for Myogenin and p38alpha MAPK signaling in myogenesis. J Mol Cell Biol 4: 386-97
- Lokireddy S, Wijesoma IW, Sze SK, McFarlane C, Kambadur R, Sharma M (2012) Identification of atrogin-1-targeted proteins during the myostatin-induced skeletal muscle wasting. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 303: C512-29
- Long C, Amoasii L, Mireault AA, McAnally JR, Li H, Sanchez-Ortiz E, Bhattacharyya S, Shelton JM, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2016) Postnatal genome editing partially restores dystrophin expression in a mouse model of muscular dystrophy. Science 351: 400-3
- Lorenzon P, Bandi E, de Guarrini F, Pietrangelo T, Schafer R, Zweyer M, Wernig A, Ruzzier F (2004) Ageing affects the differentiation potential of human myoblasts. Exp Gerontol 39: 1545-54
- Lott JA, Stang JM (1980) Serum enzymes and isoenzymes in the diagnosis and differential diagnosis of myocardial ischemia and necrosis. Clin Chem 26: 1241-50
- Lourenço Dos Santos S, Baraibar MA, Lundberg S, Eeg-Olofsson O, Larsson L, Friguet B (2015) Oxidative proteome alterations during skeletal muscle ageing. Redox Biol 5: 267-274
- Lowther WT, Brot N, Weissbach H, Honek JF, Matthews BW (2000a) Thiol-disulfide exchange is involved in the catalytic mechanism of peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97: 6463-8
- Lowther WT, Brot N, Weissbach H, Matthews BW (2000b) Structure and mechanism of peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase, an "anti-oxidation" enzyme. Biochemistry 39: 13307-12
- Lowther WT, Weissbach H, Etienne F, Brot N, Matthews BW (2002) The mirrored methionine sulfoxide reductases of Neisseria gonorrhoeae pilB. Nat Struct Biol 9: 348-52

- Lu J, Holmgren A (2014) The thioredoxin antioxidant system. Free Radic Biol Med 66: 75-87
- Luigetti M, Lo Monaco M, Mirabella M, Primiano G, Lucchini M, Monforte M, Servidei S (2015) Oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy: Clinical and neurophysiological features. Clin Neurophysiol 126: 2406-8
- Luo S, Levine RL (2009) Methionine in proteins defends against oxidative stress. FASEB J 23: 464-72
- Luzio JP, Pryor PR, Bright NA (2007) Lysosomes: fusion and function. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8: 622-32
- Ma Q (2013) Role of nrf2 in oxidative stress and toxicity. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 53: 401-26
- Malinska D, Kudin AP, Bejtka M, Kunz WS (2012) Changes in mitochondrial reactive oxygen species synthesis during differentiation of skeletal muscle cells. Mitochondrion 12: 144-8
- Mamchaoui K, Trollet C, Bigot A, Negroni E, Chaouch S, Wolff A, Kandalla PK, Marie S, Di Santo J, St Guily JL, Muntoni F, Kim J, Philippi S, Spuler S, Levy N, Blumen SC, Voit T, Wright WE, Aamiri A, Butler-Browne G et al. (2011) Immortalized pathological human myoblasts: towards a universal tool for the study of neuromuscular disorders. Skelet Muscle 1: 34
- Mammucari C, Milan G, Romanello V, Masiero E, Rudolf R, Del Piccolo P, Burden SJ, Di Lisi R, Sandri C, Zhao J, Goldberg AL, Schiaffino S, Sandri M (2007) FoxO3 controls autophagy in skeletal muscle in vivo. Cell Metab 6: 458-71
- Marchetti MA, Pizarro GO, Sagher D, Deamicis C, Brot N, Hejtmancik JF, Weissbach H, Kantorow M (2005) Methionine sulfoxide reductases B1, B2, and B3 are present in the human lens and confer oxidative stress resistance to lens cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 46: 2107-12
- Marin E, Kretzschmar M, Arokoski J, Hanninen O, Klinger W (1993) Enzymes of glutathione synthesis in dog skeletal muscles and their response to training. Acta Physiol Scand 147: 369-73
- Marzani B, Felzani G, Bellomo RG, Vecchiet J, Marzatico F (2005) Human muscle aging: ROS-mediated alterations in rectus abdominis and vastus lateralis muscles. Exp Gerontol 40: 959-65
- Masiero E, Agatea L, Mammucari C, Blaauw B, Loro E, Komatsu M, Metzger D, Reggiani C, Schiaffino S, Sandri M (2009) Autophagy is required to maintain muscle mass. Cell Metab 10: 507-15
- Mason SA, Baptista R, Della Gatta PA, Yousif A, Russell AP, Wadley GD (2014) Highdose vitamin C supplementation increases skeletal muscle vitamin C concentration and SVCT2 transporter expression but does not alter redox status in healthy males. Free Radic Biol Med 77: 130-8
- Matheny RW, Jr., Adamo ML (2010) PI3K p110 alpha and p110 beta have differential effects on Akt activation and protection against oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in myoblasts. Cell Death Differ 17: 677-88
- Mauro A (1961) Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. J Biophys Biochem Cytol 9: 493-5
- Mazure NM, Pouyssegur J (2010) Hypoxia-induced autophagy: cell death or cell survival? Curr Opin Cell Biol 22: 177-80
- McClung JM, Judge AR, Talbert EE, Powers SK (2009) Calpain-1 is required for hydrogen peroxide-induced myotube atrophy. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 296: C363-71
- McLeish MJ, Kenyon GL (2005) Relating structure to mechanism in creatine kinase. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 40: 1-20

- McMillan EM, Quadrilatero J (2014) Autophagy is required and protects against apoptosis during myoblast differentiation. Biochem J 462: 267-77
- Meadows E, Cho JH, Flynn JM, Klein WH (2008) Myogenin regulates a distinct genetic program in adult muscle stem cells. Dev Biol 322: 406-14
- Megeney LA, Kablar B, Garrett K, Anderson JE, Rudnicki MA (1996) MyoD is required for myogenic stem cell function in adult skeletal muscle. Genes Dev 10: 1173-83
- Meister A (1994) Glutathione-ascorbic acid antioxidant system in animals. J Biol Chem 269: 9397-400
- Meister A, Anderson ME (1983) Glutathione. Annu Rev Biochem 52: 711-60
- Menazza S, Blaauw B, Tiepolo T, Toniolo L, Braghetta P, Spolaore B, Reggiani C, Di Lisa F, Bonaldo P, Canton M (2010) Oxidative stress by monoamine oxidases is causally involved in myofiber damage in muscular dystrophy. Hum Mol Genet 19: 4207-15
- Mendell JR, Campbell K, Rodino-Klapac L, Sahenk Z, Shilling C, Lewis S, Bowles D, Gray S, Li C, Galloway G, Malik V, Coley B, Clark KR, Li J, Xiao X, Samulski J, McPhee SW, Samulski RJ, Walker CM (2010) Dystrophin immunity in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy. N Engl J Med 363: 1429-37
- Mercuri E, Muntoni F (2013) Muscular dystrophies. Lancet 381: 845-60
- Merry TL, McConell GK (2012) Do reactive oxygen species regulate skeletal muscle glucose uptake during contraction? Exerc Sport Sci Rev 40: 102-5
- Messina S, Altavilla D, Aguennouz M, Seminara P, Minutoli L, Monici MC, Bitto A, Mazzeo A, Marini H, Squadrito F, Vita G (2006) Lipid peroxidation inhibition blunts nuclear factor-kappaB activation, reduces skeletal muscle degeneration, and enhances muscle function in mdx mice. Am J Pathol 168: 918-26
- Messina S, Bitto A, Aguennouz M, Minutoli L, Monici MC, Altavilla D, Squadrito F, Vita G (2006) Nuclear factor kappa-B blockade reduces skeletal muscle degeneration and enhances muscle function in Mdx mice. Exp Neurol 198: 234-41
- Midwinter RG, Cheah FC, Moskovitz J, Vissers MC, Winterbourn CC (2006) IkappaB is a sensitive target for oxidation by cell-permeable chloramines: inhibition of NF-kappaB activity by glycine chloramine through methionine oxidation. Biochem J 396: 71-8
- Miller KJ, Thaloor D, Matteson S, Pavlath GK (2000) Hepatocyte growth factor affects satellite cell activation and differentiation in regenerating skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 278: C174-81
- Min K, Smuder AJ, Kwon OS, Kavazis AN, Szeto HH, Powers SK (2011) Mitochondrialtargeted antioxidants protect skeletal muscle against immobilization-induced muscle atrophy. J Appl Physiol (1985) 111: 1459-66
- Minniti AN, Cataldo R, Trigo C, Vasquez L, Mujica P, Leighton F, Inestrosa NC, Aldunate R (2009) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A expression is regulated by the DAF-16/FOXO pathway in Caenorhabditis elegans. Aging Cell 8: 690-705
- Mizushima N (2007) Autophagy: process and function. Genes Dev 21: 2861-73
- Mizushima N, Levine B, Cuervo AM, Klionsky DJ (2008) Autophagy fights disease through cellular self-digestion. Nature 451: 1069-75
- Mohri M, Reinach PS, Kanayama A, Shimizu M, Moskovitz J, Hisatsune T, Miyamoto Y (2002) Suppression of the TNFalpha-induced increase in IL-1alpha expression by hypochlorite in human corneal epithelial cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 43: 3190-5
- Monaco AP, Bertelson CJ, Colletti-Feener C, Kunkel LM (1987) Localization and cloning of Xp21 deletion breakpoints involved in muscular dystrophy. Hum Genet 75: 221-7
- Monaco AP, Bertelson CJ, Liechti-Gallati S, Moser H, Kunkel LM (1988) An explanation for the phenotypic differences between patients bearing partial deletions of the DMD locus. Genomics 2: 90-5

- Moncaut N, Rigby PW, Carvajal JJ (2013) Dial M(RF) for myogenesis. FEBS J 280: 3980-90
- Montarras D, L'Honore A, Buckingham M (2013) Lying low but ready for action: the quiescent muscle satellite cell. FEBS J 280: 4036-50
- Montarras D, Lindon C, Pinset C, Domeyne P (2000) Cultured myf5 null and myoD null muscle precursor cells display distinct growth defects. Biol Cell 92: 565-72
- Montarras D, Morgan J, Collins C, Relaix F, Zaffran S, Cumano A, Partridge T, Buckingham M (2005) Direct isolation of satellite cells for skeletal muscle regeneration. Science 309: 2064-7
- Morley JE, Abbatecola AM, Argiles JM, Baracos V, Bauer J, Bhasin S, Cederholm T, Coats AJ, Cummings SR, Evans WJ, Fearon K, Ferrucci L, Fielding RA, Guralnik JM, Harris TB, Inui A, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Kirwan BA, Mantovani G, Muscaritoli M et al. (2011) Sarcopenia with limited mobility: an international consensus. J Am Med Dir Assoc 12: 403-9
- Moskovitz J (2007) Prolonged selenium-deficient diet in MsrA knockout mice causes enhanced oxidative modification to proteins and affects the levels of antioxidant enzymes in a tissue-specific manner. Free Radic Res 41: 162-71
- Moskovitz J, Bar-Noy S, Williams WM, Requena J, Berlett BS, Stadtman ER (2001) Methionine sulfoxide reductase (MsrA) is a regulator of antioxidant defense and lifespan in mammals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98: 12920-5
- Moskovitz J, Berlett BS, Poston JM, Stadtman ER (1997) The yeast peptide-methionine sulfoxide reductase functions as an antioxidant in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94: 9585-9
- Moskovitz J, Du F, Bowman CF, Yan SS (2016) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A affects beta-amyloid solubility and mitochondrial function in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 310: E388-93
- Moskovitz J, Flescher E, Berlett BS, Azare J, Poston JM, Stadtman ER (1998) Overexpression of peptide-methionine sulfoxide reductase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae and human T cells provides them with high resistance to oxidative stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95: 14071-5
- Moskovitz J, Jenkins NA, Gilbert DJ, Copeland NG, Jursky F, Weissbach H, Brot N (1996a) Chromosomal localization of the mammalian peptide-methionine sulfoxide reductase gene and its differential expression in various tissues. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93: 3205-8
- Moskovitz J, Maiti P, Lopes DH, Oien DB, Attar A, Liu T, Mittal S, Hayes J, Bitan G (2011) Induction of methionine-sulfoxide reductases protects neurons from amyloid beta-protein insults in vitro and in vivo. Biochemistry 50: 10687-97
- Moskovitz J, Rahman MA, Strassman J, Yancey SO, Kushner SR, Brot N, Weissbach H (1995) Escherichia coli peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase gene: regulation of expression and role in protecting against oxidative damage. J Bacteriol 177: 502-7
- Moskovitz J, Weissbach H, Brot N (1996b) Cloning the expression of a mammalian gene involved in the reduction of methionine sulfoxide residues in proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93: 2095-9
- Moss FP, Leblond CP (1970) Nature of dividing nuclei in skeletal muscle of growing rats. J Cell Biol 44: 459-62
- Mougeolle A, Poussard S, Decossas M, Lamaze C, Lambert O, Dargelos E (2015) Oxidative stress induces caveolin 1 degradation and impairs caveolae functions in skeletal muscle cells. PLoS One 10: e0122654

- Mourikis P, Sambasivan R, Castel D, Rocheteau P, Bizzarro V, Tajbakhsh S (2012) A critical requirement for notch signaling in maintenance of the quiescent skeletal muscle stem cell state. Stem Cells 30: 243-52
- Muller FL, Song W, Liu Y, Chaudhuri A, Pieke-Dahl S, Strong R, Huang TT, Epstein CJ, Roberts LJ, 2nd, Csete M, Faulkner JA, Van Remmen H (2006) Absence of CuZn superoxide dismutase leads to elevated oxidative stress and acceleration of agedependent skeletal muscle atrophy. Free Radic Biol Med 40: 1993-2004
- Munoz-Espin D, Serrano M (2014) Cellular senescence: from physiology to pathology. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15: 482-96
- Murata H, Ihara Y, Nakamura H, Yodoi J, Sumikawa K, Kondo T (2003) Glutaredoxin exerts an antiapoptotic effect by regulating the redox state of Akt. J Biol Chem 278: 50226-33
- Murphy MM, Lawson JA, Mathew SJ, Hutcheson DA, Kardon G (2011) Satellite cells, connective tissue fibroblasts and their interactions are crucial for muscle regeneration. Development 138: 3625-37
- Murphy MP (2012) Mitochondrial thiols in antioxidant protection and redox signaling: distinct roles for glutathionylation and other thiol modifications. Antioxid Redox Signal 16: 476-95
- Nair KS (1995) Muscle protein turnover: methodological issues and the effect of aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 50 Spec No: 107-12
- Nan C, Li Y, Jean-Charles PY, Chen G, Kreymerman A, Prentice H, Weissbach H, Huang X (2010) Deficiency of methionine sulfoxide reductase A causes cellular dysfunction and mitochondrial damage in cardiac myocytes under physical and oxidative stresses. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 402: 608-13
- Needham DM (1926) Red and white muscles. Physiol Rev 6: 1-27
- Negre-Salvayre A, Coatrieux C, Ingueneau C, Salvayre R (2008) Advanced lipid peroxidation end products in oxidative damage to proteins. Potential role in diseases and therapeutic prospects for the inhibitors. Br J Pharmacol 153: 6-20
- Negroni E, Bigot A, Butler-Browne GS, Trollet C, Mouly V (2016) Cellular Therapies for Muscular Dystrophies: Frustrations and Clinical Successes. Hum Gene Ther 27: 117-26
- Netzer N, Goodenbour JM, David A, Dittmar KA, Jones RB, Schneider JR, Boone D, Eves EM, Rosner MR, Gibbs JS, Embry A, Dolan B, Das S, Hickman HD, Berglund P, Bennink JR, Yewdell JW, Pan T (2009) Innate immune and chemically triggered oxidative stress modifies translational fidelity. Nature 462: 522-6
- Neumann CA, Krause DS, Carman CV, Das S, Dubey DP, Abraham JL, Bronson RT, Fujiwara Y, Orkin SH, Van Etten RA (2003) Essential role for the peroxiredoxin Prdx1 in erythrocyte antioxidant defence and tumour suppression. Nature 424: 561-5
- Nigro V (2003) Molecular bases of autosomal recessive limb-girdle muscular dystrophies. Acta Myol 22: 35-42
- Nikolic M, Malnar-Dragojevic D, Bobinac D, Bajek S, Jerkovic R, Soic-Vranic T (2001) Age-related skeletal muscle atrophy in humans: an immunohistochemical and morphometric study. Coll Antropol 25: 545-53
- Nordberg M, Nordberg GF (2000) Toxicological aspects of metallothionein. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand) 46: 451-63
- Novelli GP, Adembri C, Gandini E, Orlandini SZ, Papucci L, Formigli L, Manneschi LI, Quattrone A, Pratesi C, Capaccioli S (1997) Vitamin E protects human skeletal muscle from damage during surgical ischemia-reperfusion. Am J Surg 173: 206-9
- Nunes VA, Gozzo AJ, Cruz-Silva I, Juliano MA, Viel TA, Godinho RO, Meirelles FV, Sampaio MU, Sampaio CA, Araujo MS (2005) Vitamin E prevents cell death

induced by mild oxidative stress in chicken skeletal muscle cells. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol 141: 225-40

- Nury D, Doucet C, Coux O (2007) Roles and potential therapeutic targets of the ubiquitin proteasome system in muscle wasting. BMC Biochem 8 Suppl 1: S7
- Ogawa F, Sander CS, Hansel A, Oehrl W, Kasperczyk H, Elsner P, Shimizu K, Heinemann SH, Thiele JJ (2006) The repair enzyme peptide methionine-S-sulfoxide reductase is expressed in human epidermis and upregulated by UVA radiation. J Invest Dermatol 126: 1128-34
- Oien D, Moskovitz J (2007) Protein-carbonyl accumulation in the non-replicative senescence of the methionine sulfoxide reductase A (msrA) knockout yeast strain. Amino Acids 32: 603-6
- Oien DB, Moskovitz J (2008) Substrates of the methionine sulfoxide reductase system and their physiological relevance. Curr Top Dev Biol 80: 93-133
- Oleinick NL, Chiu SM, Ramakrishnan N, Xue LY (1987) The formation, identification, and significance of DNA-protein cross-links in mammalian cells. Br J Cancer Suppl 8: 135-40
- Olguin HC, Olwin BB (2004) Pax-7 up-regulation inhibits myogenesis and cell cycle progression in satellite cells: a potential mechanism for self-renewal. Dev Biol 275: 375-88
- Olguin HC, Yang Z, Tapscott SJ, Olwin BB (2007) Reciprocal inhibition between Pax7 and muscle regulatory factors modulates myogenic cell fate determination. J Cell Biol 177: 769-79
- Olry A, Boschi-Muller S, Branlant G (2004) Kinetic characterization of the catalytic mechanism of methionine sulfoxide reductase B from Neisseria meningitidis. Biochemistry 43: 11616-22
- Olry A, Boschi-Muller S, Marraud M, Sanglier-Cianferani S, Van Dorsselear A, Branlant G (2002) Characterization of the methionine sulfoxide reductase activities of PILB, a probable virulence factor from Neisseria meningitidis. J Biol Chem 277: 12016-22
- Olson GE, Whitin JC, Hill KE, Winfrey VP, Motley AK, Austin LM, Deal J, Cohen HJ, Burk RF (2010) Extracellular glutathione peroxidase (Gpx3) binds specifically to basement membranes of mouse renal cortex tubule cells. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 298: F1244-53
- Orenstein SJ, Cuervo AM (2010) Chaperone-mediated autophagy: molecular mechanisms and physiological relevance. Semin Cell Dev Biol 21: 719-26
- Orimo S, Hiyamuta E, Arahata K, Sugita H (1991) Analysis of inflammatory cells and complement C3 in bupivacaine-induced myonecrosis. Muscle Nerve 14: 515-20
- Orlowski M, Wilk S (2000) Catalytic activities of the 20 S proteasome, a multicatalytic proteinase complex. Arch Biochem Biophys 383: 1-16
- Otto A, Collins-Hooper H, Patel K (2009) The origin, molecular regulation and therapeutic potential of myogenic stem cell populations. J Anat 215: 477-97
- Oustanina S, Hause G, Braun T (2004) Pax7 directs postnatal renewal and propagation of myogenic satellite cells but not their specification. EMBO J 23: 3430-9
- Pacifici RE, Kono Y, Davies KJ (1993) Hydrophobicity as the signal for selective degradation of hydroxyl radical-modified hemoglobin by the multicatalytic proteinase complex, proteasome. J Biol Chem 268: 15405-11
- Packer L, Weber SU, Rimbach G (2001) Molecular aspects of alpha-tocotrienol antioxidant action and cell signalling. J Nutr 131: 369S-73S
- Paco S, Ferrer I, Jou C, Cusi V, Corbera J, Torner F, Gualandi F, Sabatelli P, Orozco A, Gomez-Foix AM, Colomer J, Nascimento A, Jimenez-Mallebrera C (2012) Muscle fiber atrophy and regeneration coexist in collagen VI-deficient human muscle: role of

calpain-3 and nuclear factor-kappaB signaling. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 71: 894-906

- Padayatty SJ, Katz A, Wang Y, Eck P, Kwon O, Lee JH, Chen S, Corpe C, Dutta A, Dutta SK, Levine M (2003) Vitamin C as an antioxidant: evaluation of its role in disease prevention. J Am Coll Nutr 22: 18-35
- Paddon-Jones D, Sheffield-Moore M, Cree MG, Hewlings SJ, Aarsland A, Wolfe RR, Ferrando AA (2006) Atrophy and impaired muscle protein synthesis during prolonged inactivity and stress. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91: 4836-41
- Pal R, Oien DB, Ersen FY, Moskovitz J (2007) Elevated levels of brain-pathologies associated with neurodegenerative diseases in the methionine sulfoxide reductase A knockout mouse. Exp Brain Res 180: 765-74
- Palacios D, Mozzetta C, Consalvi S, Caretti G, Saccone V, Proserpio V, Marquez VE, Valente S, Mai A, Forcales SV, Sartorelli V, Puri PL (2010) TNF/p38alpha/polycomb signaling to Pax7 locus in satellite cells links inflammation to the epigenetic control of muscle regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 7: 455-69
- Pallafacchina G, Francois S, Regnault B, Czarny B, Dive V, Cumano A, Montarras D, Buckingham M (2010) An adult tissue-specific stem cell in its niche: a gene profiling analysis of in vivo quiescent and activated muscle satellite cells. Stem Cell Res 4: 77-91
- Partridge TA (1991) Invited review: myoblast transfer: a possible therapy for inherited myopathies? Muscle Nerve 14: 197-212
- Pelle E, Maes D, Huang X, Frenkel K, Pernodet N, Yarosh DB, Zhang Q (2012) Protection against UVB-induced oxidative stress in human skin cells and skin models by methionine sulfoxide reductase A. J Cosmet Sci 63: 359-64
- Pellegrino MA, Desaphy JF, Brocca L, Pierno S, Camerino DC, Bottinelli R (2011) Redox homeostasis, oxidative stress and disuse muscle atrophy. J Physiol 589: 2147-60
- Perdiguero E, Ruiz-Bonilla V, Gresh L, Hui L, Ballestar E, Sousa-Victor P, Baeza-Raja B, Jardi M, Bosch-Comas A, Esteller M, Caelles C, Serrano AL, Wagner EF, Munoz-Canoves P (2007) Genetic analysis of p38 MAP kinases in myogenesis: fundamental role of p38alpha in abrogating myoblast proliferation. EMBO J 26: 1245-56
- Pereira B, Costa Rosa LF, Safi DA, Medeiros MH, Curi R, Bechara EJ (1994) Superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase activities in muscle and lymphoid organs of sedentary and exercise-trained rats. Physiol Behav 56: 1095-9
- Perera S, Mankoo B, Gautel M (2012) Developmental regulation of MURF E3 ubiquitin ligases in skeletal muscle. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 33: 107-22
- Perie S, Eymard B, Laccourreye L, Chaussade S, Fardeau M, Lacau St Guily J (1997) Dysphagia in oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy: a series of 22 French cases. Neuromuscul Disord 7 Suppl 1: S96-9
- Perie S, Mamchaoui K, Mouly V, Blot S, Bouazza B, Thornell LE, St Guily JL, Butler-Browne G (2006) Premature proliferative arrest of cricopharyngeal myoblasts in oculo-pharyngeal muscular dystrophy: Therapeutic perspectives of autologous myoblast transplantation. Neuromuscul Disord 16: 770-81
- Perie S, Trollet C, Mouly V, Vanneaux V, Mamchaoui K, Bouazza B, Marolleau JP, Laforet P, Chapon F, Eymard B, Butler-Browne G, Larghero J, St Guily JL (2014) Autologous myoblast transplantation for oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy: a phase I/IIa clinical study. Mol Ther 22: 219-25
- Petersen AM, Magkos F, Atherton P, Selby A, Smith K, Rennie MJ, Pedersen BK, Mittendorfer B (2007) Smoking impairs muscle protein synthesis and increases the expression of myostatin and MAFbx in muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 293: E843-8

- Petrof BJ, Shrager JB, Stedman HH, Kelly AM, Sweeney HL (1993) Dystrophin protects the sarcolemma from stresses developed during muscle contraction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90: 3710-4
- Petropoulos I, Mary J, Perichon M, Friguet B (2001) Rat peptide methionine sulphoxide reductase: cloning of the cDNA, and down-regulation of gene expression and enzyme activity during aging. Biochem J 355: 819-25
- Pette D, Peuker H, Staron RS (1999) The impact of biochemical methods for single muscle fibre analysis. Acta Physiol Scand 166: 261-77
- Pette D, Staron RS (1990) Cellular and molecular diversities of mammalian skeletal muscle fibers. Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol 116: 1-76
- Philippou A, Halapas A, Maridaki M, Koutsilieris M (2007) Type I insulin-like growth factor receptor signaling in skeletal muscle regeneration and hypertrophy. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 7: 208-18
- Piao YJ, Seo YH, Hong F, Kim JH, Kim YJ, Kang MH, Kim BS, Jo SA, Jo I, Jue DM, Kang I, Ha J, Kim SS (2005) Nox 2 stimulates muscle differentiation via NF-kappaB/iNOS pathway. Free Radic Biol Med 38: 989-1001
- Pichavant C, Chapdelaine P, Cerri DG, Dominique JC, Quenneville SP, Skuk D, Kornegay JN, Bizario JC, Xiao X, Tremblay JP (2010) Expression of dog microdystrophin in mouse and dog muscles by gene therapy. Mol Ther 18: 1002-9
- Picot CR, Moreau M, Juan M, Noblesse E, Nizard C, Petropoulos I, Friguet B (2007) Impairment of methionine sulfoxide reductase during UV irradiation and photoaging. Exp Gerontol 42: 859-63
- Picot CR, Perichon M, Cintrat J-C, Friguet B, Petropoulos I (2004) The peptide methionine sulfoxide reductases, MsrA and MsrB (hCBS-1), are downregulated during replicative senescence of human WI-38 fibroblasts. FEBS Letters 558: 74-78
- Picot CR, Perichon M, Lundberg KC, Friguet B, Szweda LI, Petropoulos I (2006) Alterations in mitochondrial and cytosolic methionine sulfoxide reductase activity during cardiac ischemia and reperfusion. Exp Gerontol 41: 663-7
- Picot CR, Petropoulos I, Perichon M, Moreau M, Nizard C, Friguet B (2005) Overexpression of MsrA protects WI-38 SV40 human fibroblasts against H2O2mediated oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med 39: 1332-41
- Pietrangelo T, Puglielli C, Mancinelli R, Beccafico S, Fano G, Fulle S (2009) Molecular basis of the myogenic profile of aged human skeletal muscle satellite cells during differentiation. Exp Gerontol 44: 523-31
- Pizon V, Rybina S, Gerbal F, Delort F, Vicart P, Baldacci G, Karsenti E (2013) MURF2B, a novel LC3-binding protein, participates with MURF2A in the switch between autophagy and ubiquitin proteasome system during differentiation of C2C12 muscle cells. PLoS One 8: e76140
- Polge C, Heng AE, Jarzaguet M, Ventadour S, Claustre A, Combaret L, Bechet D, Matondo M, Uttenweiler-Joseph S, Monsarrat B, Attaix D, Taillandier D (2011) Muscle actin is polyubiquitinylated in vitro and in vivo and targeted for breakdown by the E3 ligase MuRF1. FASEB J 25: 3790-802
- Porter NA, Caldwell SE, Mills KA (1995) Mechanisms of free radical oxidation of unsaturated lipids. Lipids 30: 277-90
- Poussard S, Pires-Alves A, Diallo R, Dupuy JW, Dargelos E (2013) A natural antioxidant pine bark extract, Oligopin(R), regulates the stress chaperone HSPB1 in human skeletal muscle cells: a proteomics approach. Phytother Res 27: 1529-35
- Powers SK (2014) Can antioxidants protect against disuse muscle atrophy? Sports Med 44 Suppl 2: S155-65

- Powers SK, Criswell D, Lawler J, Ji LL, Martin D, Herb RA, Dudley G (1994) Influence of exercise and fiber type on antioxidant enzyme activity in rat skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol 266: R375-80
- Powers SK, Smuder AJ, Criswell DS (2011) Mechanistic links between oxidative stress and disuse muscle atrophy. Antioxid Redox Signal 15: 2519-28
- Powers SK, Smuder AJ, Judge AR (2012) Oxidative stress and disuse muscle atrophy: cause or consequence? Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 15: 240-5
- Preedy VR, Adachi J, Ueno Y, Ahmed S, Mantle D, Mullatti N, Rajendram R, Peters TJ (2001) Alcoholic skeletal muscle myopathy: definitions, features, contribution of neuropathy, impact and diagnosis. Eur J Neurol 8: 677-87
- Prentice HM, Moench IA, Rickaway ZT, Dougherty CJ, Webster KA, Weissbach H (2008) MsrA protects cardiac myocytes against hypoxia/reoxygenation induced cell death. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 366: 775-8
- Price FD, von Maltzahn J, Bentzinger CF, Dumont NA, Yin H, Chang NC, Wilson DH, Frenette J, Rudnicki MA (2014) Inhibition of JAK-STAT signaling stimulates adult satellite cell function. Nat Med 20: 1174-81
- Primeau AJ, Adhihetty PJ, Hood DA (2002) Apoptosis in heart and skeletal muscle. Can J Appl Physiol 27: 349-95
- Quiros PM, Langer T, Lopez-Otin C (2015) New roles for mitochondrial proteases in health, ageing and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 16: 345-59
- Rabbani N, Thornalley PJ (2008) Dicarbonyls linked to damage in the powerhouse: glycation of mitochondrial proteins and oxidative stress. Biochem Soc Trans 36: 1045-50
- Radjei S, Gareil M, Moreau M, Leblanc E, Schnebert S, Friguet B, Nizard C, Petropoulos I (2016) The glyoxalase enzymes are differentially localized in epidermis and regulated during aging and photoaging. Exp Dermatol
- Ranaivoson FM, Antoine M, Kauffmann B, Boschi-Muller S, Aubry A, Branlant G, Favier F (2008) A structural analysis of the catalytic mechanism of methionine sulfoxide reductase A from Neisseria meningitidis. J Mol Biol 377: 268-80
- Rando TA (2001) The dystrophin-glycoprotein complex, cellular signaling, and the regulation of cell survival in the muscular dystrophies. Muscle Nerve 24: 1575-94
- Rando TA (2002) Oxidative stress and the pathogenesis of muscular dystrophies. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 81: S175-86
- Rankin J, Wyttenbach A, Rubinsztein DC (2000) Intracellular green fluorescent proteinpolyalanine aggregates are associated with cell death. Biochem J 348 Pt 1: 15-9
- Ravikumar B, Duden R, Rubinsztein DC (2002) Aggregate-prone proteins with polyglutamine and polyalanine expansions are degraded by autophagy. Hum Mol Genet 11: 1107-17
- Reddy VN, Giblin FJ, Lin LR, Dang L, Unakar NJ, Musch DC, Boyle DL, Takemoto LJ, Ho YS, Knoernschild T, Juenemann A, Lutjen-Drecoll E (2001) Glutathione peroxidase-1 deficiency leads to increased nuclear light scattering, membrane damage, and cataract formation in gene-knockout mice. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 42: 3247-55
- Rehder DS, Borges CR (2010) Cysteine sulfenic acid as an intermediate in disulfide bond formation and nonenzymatic protein folding. Biochemistry 49: 7748-55
- Reid MB (2001) Nitric oxide, reactive oxygen species, and skeletal muscle contraction. Med Sci Sports Exerc 33: 371-6
- Reilly ME, Mantle D, Richardson PJ, Salisbury J, Jones J, Peters TJ, Preedy VR (1997) Studies on the time-course of ethanol's acute effects on skeletal muscle protein synthesis: comparison with acute changes in proteolytic activity. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 21: 792-8

- Relaix F, Montarras D, Zaffran S, Gayraud-Morel B, Rocancourt D, Tajbakhsh S, Mansouri A, Cumano A, Buckingham M (2006) Pax3 and Pax7 have distinct and overlapping functions in adult muscle progenitor cells. J Cell Biol 172: 91-102
- Relaix F, Rocancourt D, Mansouri A, Buckingham M (2005) A Pax3/Pax7-dependent population of skeletal muscle progenitor cells. Nature 435: 948-53
- Renault V, Thornell LE, Butler-Browne G, Mouly V (2002) Human skeletal muscle satellite cells: aging, oxidative stress and the mitotic clock. Exp Gerontol 37: 1229-36
- Renjini R, Gayathri N, Nalini A, Srinivas Bharath MM (2012) Oxidative damage in muscular dystrophy correlates with the severity of the pathology: role of glutathione metabolism. Neurochem Res 37: 885-98
- Requena JR, Levine RL, Stadtman ER (2003) Recent advances in the analysis of oxidized proteins. Amino Acids 25: 221-6
- Rhee SG, Chae HZ, Kim K (2005) Peroxiredoxins: a historical overview and speculative preview of novel mechanisms and emerging concepts in cell signaling. Free Radic Biol Med 38: 1543-52
- Rhee SG, Yang KS, Kang SW, Woo HA, Chang TS (2005) Controlled elimination of intracellular H(2)O(2): regulation of peroxiredoxin, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase via post-translational modification. Antioxid Redox Signal 7: 619-26
- Rhodes SJ, Konieczny SF (1989) Identification of MRF4: a new member of the muscle regulatory factor gene family. Genes Dev 3: 2050-61
- Richler C, Yaffe D (1970) The in vitro cultivation and differentiation capacities of myogenic cell lines. Dev Biol 23: 1-22
- Richter C, Park JW, Ames BN (1988) Normal oxidative damage to mitochondrial and nuclear DNA is extensive. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85: 6465-7
- Ricoy JR, Encinas AR, Cabello A, Madero S, Arenas J (1998) Histochemical study of the vastus lateralis muscle fibre types of athletes. J Physiol Biochem 54: 41-7
- Rodrigue D, Molgat YM (1997) Surgical correction of blepharoptosis in oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. Neuromuscul Disord 7 Suppl 1: S82-4
- Roesijadi G, Rezvankhah S, Binninger DM, Weissbach H (2007) Ecdysone induction of MsrA protects against oxidative stress in Drosophila. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 354: 511-6
- Rohrbach S, Gruenler S, Teschner M, Holtz J (2006) The thioredoxin system in aging muscle: key role of mitochondrial thioredoxin reductase in the protective effects of caloric restriction? Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 291: R927-35
- Rojo AI, McBean G, Cindric M, Egea J, Lopez MG, Rada P, Zarkovic N, Cuadrado A (2014) Redox control of microglial function: molecular mechanisms and functional significance. Antioxid Redox Signal 21: 1766-801
- Rolland Y, Czerwinski S, Abellan Van Kan G, Morley JE, Cesari M, Onder G, Woo J, Baumgartner R, Pillard F, Boirie Y, Chumlea WM, Vellas B (2008) Sarcopenia: its assessment, etiology, pathogenesis, consequences and future perspectives. J Nutr Health Aging 12: 433-50
- Rolland YM, Perry HM, 3rd, Patrick P, Banks WA, Morley JE (2007) Loss of appendicular muscle mass and loss of muscle strength in young postmenopausal women. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 62: 330-5
- Rooyackers OE, Adey DB, Ades PA, Nair KS (1996) Effect of age on in vivo rates of mitochondrial protein synthesis in human skeletal muscle. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93: 15364-9
- Rosenberg IH (1997) Sarcopenia: Origins and Clinical Relevance. The Journal of Nutrition 127: 990S-991S
- Rosenberg IH (2011) Sarcopenia: origins and clinical relevance. Clin Geriatr Med 27: 337-9

- Rouhier N, Kauffmann B, Tete-Favier F, Palladino P, Gans P, Branlant G, Jacquot JP, Boschi-Muller S (2007) Functional and structural aspects of poplar cytosolic and plastidial type a methionine sulfoxide reductases. J Biol Chem 282: 3367-78
- Rouhier N, Vieira Dos Santos C, Tarrago L, Rey P (2006) Plant methionine sulfoxide reductase A and B multigenic families. Photosynth Res 89: 247-62
- Ruan H, Tang XD, Chen ML, Joiner ML, Sun G, Brot N, Weissbach H, Heinemann SH, Iverson L, Wu CF, Hoshi T (2002) High-quality life extension by the enzyme peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 2748-53
- Ruiz-Bonilla V, Perdiguero E, Gresh L, Serrano AL, Zamora M, Sousa-Victor P, Jardi M, Wagner EF, Munoz-Canoves P (2008) Efficient adult skeletal muscle regeneration in mice deficient in p38beta, p38gamma and p38delta MAP kinases. Cell Cycle 7: 2208-14
- Ruttkay-Nedecky B, Nejdl L, Gumulec J, Zitka O, Masarik M, Eckschlager T, Stiborova M, Adam V, Kizek R (2013) The role of metallothionein in oxidative stress. Int J Mol Sci 14: 6044-66
- Sabourin LA, Girgis-Gabardo A, Seale P, Asakura A, Rudnicki MA (1999) Reduced differentiation potential of primary MyoD-/- myogenic cells derived from adult skeletal muscle. J Cell Biol 144: 631-43
- Sabourin LA, Rudnicki MA (2000) The molecular regulation of myogenesis. Clin Genet 57: 16-25
- Sacheck JM, Hyatt JP, Raffaello A, Jagoe RT, Roy RR, Edgerton VR, Lecker SH, Goldberg AL (2007) Rapid disuse and denervation atrophy involve transcriptional changes similar to those of muscle wasting during systemic diseases. FASEB J 21: 140-55
- Sagher D, Brunell D, Brot N, Vallee BL, Weissbach H (2006a) Selenocompounds can serve as oxidoreductants with the methionine sulfoxide reductase enzymes. J Biol Chem 281: 31184-7
- Sagher D, Brunell D, Hejtmancik JF, Kantorow M, Brot N, Weissbach H (2006b) Thionein can serve as a reducing agent for the methionine sulfoxide reductases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 8656-61
- Salmon AB, Perez VI, Bokov A, Jernigan A, Kim G, Zhao H, Levine RL, Richardson A (2009) Lack of methionine sulfoxide reductase A in mice increases sensitivity to oxidative stress but does not diminish life span. FASEB J 23: 3601-8
- Sambasivan R, Yao R, Kissenpfennig A, Van Wittenberghe L, Paldi A, Gayraud-Morel B, Guenou H, Malissen B, Tajbakhsh S, Galy A (2011) Pax7-expressing satellite cells are indispensable for adult skeletal muscle regeneration. Development 138: 3647-56
- Sandri M (2010) Autophagy in skeletal muscle. FEBS Lett 584: 1411-6
- Sandri M (2013) Protein breakdown in muscle wasting: role of autophagy-lysosome and ubiquitin-proteasome. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 45: 2121-9
- Sandri M, Sandri C, Gilbert A, Skurk C, Calabria E, Picard A, Walsh K, Schiaffino S, Lecker SH, Goldberg AL (2004) Foxo transcription factors induce the atrophyrelated ubiquitin ligase atrogin-1 and cause skeletal muscle atrophy. Cell 117: 399-412
- Santarelli LC, Wassef R, Heinemann SH, Hoshi T (2006) Three methionine residues located within the regulator of conductance for K+ (RCK) domains confer oxidative sensitivity to large-conductance Ca2+-activated K+ channels. J Physiol 571: 329-48
- Santerre RF, Bales KR, Janney MJ, Hannon K, Fisher LF, Bailey CS, Morris J, Ivarie R, Smith CK, 2nd (1993) Expression of bovine myf5 induces ectopic skeletal muscle formation in transgenic mice. Mol Cell Biol 13: 6044-51
- Sayre LM, Lin D, Yuan Q, Zhu X, Tang X (2006) Protein adducts generated from products of lipid oxidation: focus on HNE and one. Drug Metab Rev 38: 651-75

- Scata KA, Bernard DW, Fox J, Swain JL (1999) FGF receptor availability regulates skeletal myogenesis. Exp Cell Res 250: 10-21
- Schaap LA, Pluijm SM, Deeg DJ, Visser M (2006) Inflammatory markers and loss of muscle mass (sarcopenia) and strength. Am J Med 119: 526 e9-17
- Schallreuter KU, Rubsam K, Chavan B, Zothner C, Gillbro JM, Spencer JD, Wood JM (2006) Functioning methionine sulfoxide reductases A and B are present in human epidermal melanocytes in the cytosol and in the nucleus. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 342: 145-52
- Schallreuter KU, Rubsam K, Gibbons NC, Maitland DJ, Chavan B, Zothner C, Rokos H, Wood JM (2008) Methionine sulfoxide reductases A and B are deactivated by hydrogen peroxide (H2O2) in the epidermis of patients with vitiligo. J Invest Dermatol 128: 808-15
- Schiaffino S, Dyar KA, Ciciliot S, Blaauw B, Sandri M (2013) Mechanisms regulating skeletal muscle growth and atrophy. FEBS J 280: 4294-314
- Schiaffino S, Gorza L, Sartore S, Saggin L, Ausoni S, Vianello M, Gundersen K, Lomo T (1989) Three myosin heavy chain isoforms in type 2 skeletal muscle fibres. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 10: 197-205
- Schiaffino S, Reggiani C (2011) Fiber types in mammalian skeletal muscles. Physiol Rev 91: 1447-531
- Schoneich C (2005) Methionine oxidation by reactive oxygen species: reaction mechanisms and relevance to Alzheimer's disease. Biochim Biophys Acta 1703: 111-9
- Schoneich C, Viner RI, Ferrington DA, Bigelow DJ (1999) Age-related chemical modification of the skeletal muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca-ATPase of the rat. Mech Ageing Dev 107: 221-31
- Schriner SE, Linford NJ, Martin GM, Treuting P, Ogburn CE, Emond M, Coskun PE, Ladiges W, Wolf N, Van Remmen H, Wallace DC, Rabinovitch PS (2005) Extension of murine life span by overexpression of catalase targeted to mitochondria. Science 308: 1909-11
- Schroder JM, Krabbe B, Weis J (1995) Oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy: clinical and morphological follow-up study reveals mitochondrial alterations and unique nuclear inclusions in a severe autosomal recessive type. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 21: 68-73
- Schultz E, Jaryszak DL, Valliere CR (1985) Response of satellite cells to focal skeletal muscle injury. Muscle Nerve 8: 217-22
- Scott W, Stevens J, Binder-Macleod SA (2001) Human skeletal muscle fiber type classifications. Phys Ther 81: 1810-6
- Seale P, Sabourin LA, Girgis-Gabardo A, Mansouri A, Gruss P, Rudnicki MA (2000) Pax7 is required for the specification of myogenic satellite cells. Cell 102: 777-86
- Segales J, Islam AB, Kumar R, Liu QC, Sousa-Victor P, Dilworth FJ, Ballestar E, Perdiguero E, Munoz-Canoves P (2016) Chromatin-wide and transcriptome profiling integration uncovers p38alpha MAPK as a global regulator of skeletal muscle differentiation. Skelet Muscle 6: 9
- Seliskar M, Rozman D (2007) Mammalian cytochromes P450--importance of tissue specificity. Biochim Biophys Acta 1770: 458-66
- Selsby JT (2011) Increased catalase expression improves muscle function in mdx mice. Exp Physiol 96: 194-202
- Sen CK, Marin E, Kretzschmar M, Hanninen O (1992) Skeletal muscle and liver glutathione homeostasis in response to training, exercise, and immobilization. J Appl Physiol (1985) 73: 1265-72

- Sentman ML, Granstrom M, Jakobson H, Reaume A, Basu S, Marklund SL (2006) Phenotypes of mice lacking extracellular superoxide dismutase and copper- and zinccontaining superoxide dismutase. J Biol Chem 281: 6904-9
- Sestili P, Barbieri E, Martinelli C, Battistelli M, Guescini M, Vallorani L, Casadei L, D'Emilio A, Falcieri E, Piccoli G, Agostini D, Annibalini G, Paolillo M, Gioacchini AM, Stocchi V (2009) Creatine supplementation prevents the inhibition of myogenic differentiation in oxidatively injured C2C12 murine myoblasts. Mol Nutr Food Res 53: 1187-204
- Shafiq SA, Gorycki MA, Milhorat AT (1967) An electron microscopic study of regeneration and satellite cells in human muscle. Neurology 17: 567-74 passim
- Sharov VS, Ferrington DA, Squier TC, Schoneich C (1999) Diastereoselective reduction of protein-bound methionine sulfoxide by methionine sulfoxide reductase. FEBS Lett 455: 247-50
- Sharov VS, Schoneich C (2000) Diastereoselective protein methionine oxidation by reactive oxygen species and diastereoselective repair by methionine sulfoxide reductase. Free Radic Biol Med 29: 986-94
- Shavlakadze T, White J, Hoh JF, Rosenthal N, Grounds MD (2004) Targeted expression of insulin-like growth factor-I reduces early myofiber necrosis in dystrophic mdx mice. Mol Ther 10: 829-43
- Sheehan SM, Allen RE (1999) Skeletal muscle satellite cell proliferation in response to members of the fibroblast growth factor family and hepatocyte growth factor. J Cell Physiol 181: 499-506
- Shenkman BS, Belova SP, Lomonosova YN, Kostrominova TY, Nemirovskaya TL (2015) Calpain-dependent regulation of the skeletal muscle atrophy following unloading. Arch Biochem Biophys 584: 36-41
- Shin J, Tajrishi MM, Ogura Y, Kumar A (2013) Wasting mechanisms in muscular dystrophy. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 45: 2266-79
- Shinin V, Gayraud-Morel B, Gomes D, Tajbakhsh S (2006) Asymmetric division and cosegregation of template DNA strands in adult muscle satellite cells. Nat Cell Biol 8: 677-87
- Shrewsbury SB, Cirak S, Guglieri M, Bushby K, Muntoni F (2010) O.16 Current progress and preliminary results with the systemic administration trial of AVI-4658, a novel phosphorodiamidate morpholino oligomer (PMO) skipping dystrophin exon 51 in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD). Neuromuscular Disorders 20: 639-640
- Shringarpure R, Grune T, Mehlhase J, Davies KJ (2003) Ubiquitin conjugation is not required for the degradation of oxidized proteins by proteasome. J Biol Chem 278: 311-8
- Sieprath T, Darwiche R, De Vos WH (2012) Lamins as mediators of oxidative stress. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 421: 635-9
- Simard LR, Gingras F, Delvoye N, Vanasse M, Melancon SB, Labuda D (1992) Deletions in the dystrophin gene: analysis of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy patients in Quebec. Hum Genet 89: 419-24
- Singh VK, Moskovitz J, Wilkinson BJ, Jayaswal RK (2001) Molecular characterization of a chromosomal locus in Staphylococcus aureus that contributes to oxidative defence and is highly induced by the cell-wall-active antibiotic oxacillin. Microbiology 147: 3037-45
- Sinha M, Jang YC, Oh J, Khong D, Wu EY, Manohar R, Miller C, Regalado SG, Loffredo FS, Pancoast JR, Hirshman MF, Lebowitz J, Shadrach JL, Cerletti M, Kim MJ, Serwold T, Goodyear LJ, Rosner B, Lee RT, Wagers AJ (2014) Restoring systemic

GDF11 levels reverses age-related dysfunction in mouse skeletal muscle. Science 344: 649-52

- Sitte N, Huber M, Grune T, Ladhoff A, Doecke WD, Von Zglinicki T, Davies KJ (2000) Proteasome inhibition by lipofuscin/ceroid during postmitotic aging of fibroblasts. FASEB J 14: 1490-8
- Siu PM, Pistilli EE, Alway SE (2008) Age-dependent increase in oxidative stress in gastrocnemius muscle with unloading. J Appl Physiol (1985) 105: 1695-705
- Slatter DA, Paul RG, Murray M, Bailey AJ (1999) Reactions of lipid-derived malondialdehyde with collagen. J Biol Chem 274: 19661-9
- Smerdu V, Karsch-Mizrachi I, Campione M, Leinwand L, Schiaffino S (1994) Type IIx myosin heavy chain transcripts are expressed in type IIb fibers of human skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol 267: C1723-8
- Smith CK, 2nd, Janney MJ, Allen RE (1994) Temporal expression of myogenic regulatory genes during activation, proliferation, and differentiation of rat skeletal muscle satellite cells. J Cell Physiol 159: 379-85
- Smuder AJ, Kavazis AN, Hudson MB, Nelson WB, Powers SK (2010) Oxidation enhances myofibrillar protein degradation via calpain and caspase-3. Free Radic Biol Med 49: 1152-60
- Snow LM, Fugere NA, Thompson LV (2007) Advanced glycation end-product accumulation and associated protein modification in type II skeletal muscle with aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 62: 1204-10
- Snow MH (1977) Myogenic cell formation in regenerating rat skeletal muscle injured by mincing. II. An autoradiographic study. Anat Rec 188: 201-17
- Song JJ, Rhee JG, Suntharalingam M, Walsh SA, Spitz DR, Lee YJ (2002) Role of glutaredoxin in metabolic oxidative stress. Glutaredoxin as a sensor of oxidative stress mediated by H2O2. J Biol Chem 277: 46566-75
- Sousa-Victor P, Garcia-Prat L, Serrano AL, Perdiguero E, Munoz-Canoves P (2015) Muscle stem cell aging: regulation and rejuvenation. Trends Endocrinol Metab 26: 287-96
- Sousa-Victor P, Gutarra S, Garcia-Prat L, Rodriguez-Ubreva J, Ortet L, Ruiz-Bonilla V, Jardi M, Ballestar E, Gonzalez S, Serrano AL, Perdiguero E, Munoz-Canoves P (2014) Geriatric muscle stem cells switch reversible quiescence into senescence. Nature 506: 316-21
- Spitali P, Grumati P, Hiller M, Chrisam M, Aartsma-Rus A, Bonaldo P (2013) Autophagy is Impaired in the Tibialis Anterior of Dystrophin Null Mice. PLoS Curr 5
- Squier TC (2001) Oxidative stress and protein aggregation during biological aging. Exp Gerontol 36: 1539-50
- Squire JM, Al-khayat HA, Knupp C, Luther PK (2005) Molecular Architecture in Muscle Contractile Assemblies. In Advances in Protein Chemistry, Elsevier (ed) pp 17-87.
- Sreekumar PG, Kannan R, Yaung J, Spee CK, Ryan SJ, Hinton DR (2005) Protection from oxidative stress by methionine sulfoxide reductases in RPE cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 334: 245-53
- St Guily JL, Moine A, Perie S, Bokowy C, Angelard B, Chaussade S (1995) Role of pharyngeal propulsion as an indicator for upper esophageal sphincter myotomy. Laryngoscope 105: 723-7
- St Guily JL, Perie S, Willig TN, Chaussade S, Eymard B, Angelard B (1994) Swallowing disorders in muscular diseases: functional assessment and indications of cricopharyngeal myotomy. Ear Nose Throat J 73: 34-40
- St John G, Brot N, Ruan J, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Weissbach H, Nathan C (2001) Peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase from Escherichia coli and

Mycobacterium tuberculosis protects bacteria against oxidative damage from reactive nitrogen intermediates. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98: 9901-6

- St-Pierre J, Buckingham JA, Roebuck SJ, Brand MD (2002) Topology of superoxide production from different sites in the mitochondrial electron transport chain. J Biol Chem 277: 44784-90
- Stadtman ER (2001) Protein oxidation in aging and age-related diseases. Ann N Y Acad Sci 928: 22-38
- Stadtman ER, Berlett BS (1998) Reactive oxygen-mediated protein oxidation in aging and disease. Drug Metab Rev 30: 225-43
- Stadtman ER, Levine RL (2003) Free radical-mediated oxidation of free amino acids and amino acid residues in proteins. Amino Acids 25: 207-18
- Stadtmueller BM, Hill CP (2011) Proteasome activators. Mol Cell 41: 8-19
- Stahl W, Sies H (2003) Antioxidant activity of carotenoids. Mol Aspects Med 24: 345-51
- Starke DW, Chock PB, Mieyal JJ (2003) Glutathione-thiyl radical scavenging and transferase properties of human glutaredoxin (thioltransferase). Potential role in redox signal transduction. J Biol Chem 278: 14607-13
- Staron RS (1997) Human skeletal muscle fiber types: delineation, development, and distribution. Can J Appl Physiol 22: 307-27
- Stern LZ, Ringel SP, Ziter FA, Menander-Huber KB, Ionasescu V, Pellegrino RJ, Snyder RD (1982) Drug trial of superoxide dismutase in Duchenne's muscular dystrophy. Arch Neurol 39: 342-6
- Stief TW, Aab A, Heimburger N (1988) Oxidative inactivation of purified human alpha-2antiplasmin, antithrombin III, and C1-inhibitor. Thromb Res 49: 581-9
- Strandberg L, Lawrence DA, Johansson LB, Ny T (1991) The oxidative inactivation of plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 results from a conformational change in the molecule and does not require the involvement of the P1' methionine. J Biol Chem 266: 13852-8
- Strobel NA, Matsumoto A, Peake JM, Marsh SA, Peternelj TT, Briskey D, Fassett RG, Coombes JS, Wadley GD (2014) Altering the redox state of skeletal muscle by glutathione depletion increases the exercise-activation of PGC-1alpha. Physiol Rep 2
- Sumner ER, Shanmuganathan A, Sideri TC, Willetts SA, Houghton JE, Avery SV (2005) Oxidative protein damage causes chromium toxicity in yeast. Microbiology 151: 1939-48
- Sun H, Gao J, Ferrington DA, Biesiada H, Williams TD, Squier TC (1999) Repair of oxidized calmodulin by methionine sulfoxide reductase restores ability to activate the plasma membrane Ca-ATPase. Biochemistry 38: 105-12
- Sun S, Wong S, Mak A, Cho M (2014) Impact of oxidative stress on cellular biomechanics and rho signaling in C2C12 myoblasts. J Biomech 47: 3650-6
- Swomley AM, Butterfield DA (2015) Oxidative stress in Alzheimer disease and mild cognitive impairment: evidence from human data provided by redox proteomics. Arch Toxicol 89: 1669-80
- Taaffe DR, Henwood TR, Nalls MA, Walker DG, Lang TF, Harris TB (2009) Alterations in muscle attenuation following detraining and retraining in resistance-trained older adults. Gerontology 55: 217-23
- Takashima Y, Hirota K, Nakamura H, Nakamura T, Akiyama K, Cheng FS, Maeda M, Yodoi J (1999) Differential expression of glutaredoxin and thioredoxin during monocytic differentiation. Immunol Lett 68: 397-401
- Talbert EE, Smuder AJ, Min K, Kwon OS, Powers SK (2013) Calpain and caspase-3 play required roles in immobilization-induced limb muscle atrophy. J Appl Physiol (1985) 114: 1482-9

- Tamburro A, Robuffo I, Heipieper HJ, Allocati N, Rotilio D, Di Ilio C, Favaloro B (2004) Expression of glutathione S-transferase and peptide methionine sulphoxide reductase in Ochrobactrum anthropi is correlated to the production of reactive oxygen species caused by aromatic substrates. FEMS Microbiol Lett 241: 151-6
- Tan LJ, Liu SL, Lei SF, Papasian CJ, Deng HW (2012) Molecular genetic studies of gene identification for sarcopenia. Hum Genet 131: 1-31
- Tang AH, Rando TA (2014) Induction of autophagy supports the bioenergetic demands of quiescent muscle stem cell activation. EMBO J 33: 2782-97
- Tarrago L, Laugier E, Zaffagnini M, Marchand C, Le Marechal P, Rouhier N, Lemaire SD, Rey P (2009) Regeneration mechanisms of Arabidopsis thaliana methionine sulfoxide reductases B by glutaredoxins and thioredoxins. J Biol Chem 284: 18963-71
- Tatsumi R, Anderson JE, Nevoret CJ, Halevy O, Allen RE (1998) HGF/SF is present in normal adult skeletal muscle and is capable of activating satellite cells. Dev Biol 194: 114-28
- Taungjaruwinai WM, Bhawan J, Keady M, Thiele JJ (2009) Differential expression of the antioxidant repair enzyme methionine sulfoxide reductase (MSRA and MSRB) in human skin. Am J Dermatopathol 31: 427-31
- Tavender TJ, Bulleid NJ (2010) Peroxiredoxin IV protects cells from oxidative stress by removing H2O2 produced during disulphide formation. J Cell Sci 123: 2672-9
- Taylor AB, Benglis DM, Jr., Dhandayuthapani S, Hart PJ (2003) Structure of Mycobacterium tuberculosis methionine sulfoxide reductase A in complex with protein-bound methionine. J Bacteriol 185: 4119-26
- Terrill JR, Radley-Crabb HG, Grounds MD, Arthur PG (2012) N-Acetylcysteine treatment of dystrophic mdx mice results in protein thiol modifications and inhibition of exercise induced myofibre necrosis. Neuromuscul Disord 22: 427-34
- Terrill JR, Radley-Crabb HG, Iwasaki T, Lemckert FA, Arthur PG, Grounds MD (2013) Oxidative stress and pathology in muscular dystrophies: focus on protein thiol oxidation and dysferlinopathies. FEBS J 280: 4149-64
- Tete-Favier F, Cobessi D, Leonard GA, Azza S, Talfournier F, Boschi-Muller S, Branlant G, Aubry A (2000) Crystallization and preliminary X-ray diffraction studies of the peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase from Escherichia coli. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 56: 1194-7
- Thaloor D, Miller KJ, Gephart J, Mitchell PO, Pavlath GK (1999) Systemic administration of the NF-kappaB inhibitor curcumin stimulates muscle regeneration after traumatic injury. Am J Physiol 277: C320-9
- Thom JM, Morse CI, Birch KM, Narici MV (2007) Influence of muscle architecture on the torque and power-velocity characteristics of young and elderly men. Eur J Appl Physiol 100: 613-9
- Thomis MA, Beunen GP, Van Leemputte M, Maes HH, Blimkie CJ, Claessens AL, Marchal G, Willems E, Vlietinck RF (1998) Inheritance of static and dynamic arm strength and some of its determinants. Acta Physiol Scand 163: 59-71
- Thompson LV, Durand D, Fugere NA, Ferrington DA (2006) Myosin and actin expression and oxidation in aging muscle. J Appl Physiol (1985) 101: 1581-7
- Tiainen K, Sipila S, Alen M, Heikkinen E, Kaprio J, Koskenvuo M, Tolvanen A, Pajala S, Rantanen T (2004) Heritability of maximal isometric muscle strength in older female twins. J Appl Physiol (1985) 96: 173-80
- Tidball JG (2011) Mechanisms of muscle injury, repair, and regeneration. Compr Physiol 1: 2029-62

- Tidball JG, Wehling-Henricks M (2007) The role of free radicals in the pathophysiology of muscular dystrophy. J Appl Physiol (1985) 102: 1677-86
- Tieland M, van de Rest O, Dirks ML, van der Zwaluw N, Mensink M, van Loon LJ, de Groot LC (2012) Protein supplementation improves physical performance in frail elderly people: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. J Am Med Dir Assoc 13: 720-6
- Tierney MT, Aydogdu T, Sala D, Malecova B, Gatto S, Puri PL, Latella L, Sacco A (2014) STAT3 signaling controls satellite cell expansion and skeletal muscle repair. Nat Med 20: 1182-6
- Tintignac LA, Lagirand J, Batonnet S, Sirri V, Leibovitch MP, Leibovitch SA (2005) Degradation of MyoD mediated by the SCF (MAFbx) ubiquitin ligase. J Biol Chem 280: 2847-56
- Tomé F, Fardeau M (1994) Oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. In Myology, pp 1233-45. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill:
- Torrente Y, Belicchi M, Marchesi C, D'Antona G, Cogiamanian F, Pisati F, Gavina M, Giordano R, Tonlorenzi R, Fagiolari G, Lamperti C, Porretti L, Lopa R, Sampaolesi M, Vicentini L, Grimoldi N, Tiberio F, Songa V, Baratta P, Prelle A et al. (2007) Autologous transplantation of muscle-derived CD133+ stem cells in Duchenne muscle patients. Cell Transplant 16: 563-77
- Toth MJ, Matthews DE, Tracy RP, Previs MJ (2005) Age-related differences in skeletal muscle protein synthesis: relation to markers of immune activation. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 288: E883-91
- Touboul D, Brunelle A, Halgand F, De La Porte S, Laprevote O (2005) Lipid imaging by gold cluster time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectrometry: application to Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Lipid Res 46: 1388-95
- Trollet C, Anvar SY, Venema A, Hargreaves IP, Foster K, Vignaud A, Ferry A, Negroni E, Hourde C, Baraibar MA, t Hoen PA, Davies JE, Rubinsztein DC, Heales SJ, Mouly V, van der Maarel SM, Butler-Browne G, Raz V, Dickson G (2010) Molecular and phenotypic characterization of a mouse model of oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy reveals severe muscular atrophy restricted to fast glycolytic fibres. Hum Mol Genet 19: 2191-207
- Turki A, Hayot M, Carnac G, Pillard F, Passerieux E, Bommart S, Raynaud de Mauverger E, Hugon G, Pincemail J, Pietri S, Lambert K, Belayew A, Vassetzky Y, Juntas Morales R, Mercier J, Laoudj-Chenivesse D (2012) Functional muscle impairment in facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy is correlated with oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction. Free Radic Biol Med 53: 1068-79
- Ueda Y, Wang MC, Ou BR, Huang J, Elce J, Tanaka K, Ichihara A, Forsberg NE (1998) Evidence for the participation of the proteasome and calpain in early phases of muscle cell differentiation. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 30: 679-94
- Ugarte N, Petropoulos I, Friguet B (2010) Oxidized mitochondrial protein degradation and repair in aging and oxidative stress. Antioxid Redox Signal 13: 539-49
- Urata Y, Ihara Y, Murata H, Goto S, Koji T, Yodoi J, Inoue S, Kondo T (2006) 17Betaestradiol protects against oxidative stress-induced cell death through the glutathione/glutaredoxin-dependent redox regulation of Akt in myocardiac H9c2 cells. J Biol Chem 281: 13092-102
- Urish KL, Vella JB, Okada M, Deasy BM, Tobita K, Keller BB, Cao B, Piganelli JD, Huard J (2009) Antioxidant levels represent a major determinant in the regenerative capacity of muscle stem cells. Mol Biol Cell 20: 509-20

- Ustanina S, Carvajal J, Rigby P, Braun T (2007) The myogenic factor Myf5 supports efficient skeletal muscle regeneration by enabling transient myoblast amplification. Stem Cells 25: 2006-16
- van Acker SA, Koymans LM, Bast A (1993) Molecular pharmacology of vitamin E: structural aspects of antioxidant activity. Free Radic Biol Med 15: 311-28
- van der Vliet A, Eiserich JP, Kaur H, Cross CE, Halliwell B (1996) Nitrotyrosine as biomarker for reactive nitrogen species. Methods Enzymol 269: 175-84
- Van Remmen H, Ikeno Y, Hamilton M, Pahlavani M, Wolf N, Thorpe SR, Alderson NL, Baynes JW, Epstein CJ, Huang TT, Nelson J, Strong R, Richardson A (2003) Lifelong reduction in MnSOD activity results in increased DNA damage and higher incidence of cancer but does not accelerate aging. Physiol Genomics 16: 29-37
- Vandenburgh HH, Karlisch P, Shansky J, Feldstein R (1991) Insulin and IGF-I induce pronounced hypertrophy of skeletal myofibers in tissue culture. Am J Physiol 260: C475-84
- Vergani L, Di Giulio AM, Losa M, Rossoni G, Muller EE, Gorio A (1998) Systemic administration of insulin-like growth factor decreases motor neuron cell death and promotes muscle reinnervation. J Neurosci Res 54: 840-7
- Vieira Dos Santos C, Laugier E, Tarrago L, Massot V, Issakidis-Bourguet E, Rouhier N, Rey P (2007) Specificity of thioredoxins and glutaredoxins as electron donors to two distinct classes of Arabidopsis plastidial methionine sulfoxide reductases B. FEBS Lett 581: 4371-6
- Vincent HK, Powers SK, Stewart DJ, Demirel HA, Shanely RA, Naito H (2000) Short-term exercise training improves diaphragm antioxidant capacity and endurance. Eur J Appl Physiol 81: 67-74
- Voisin V, de la Porte S (2004) Therapeutic strategies for Duchenne and Becker dystrophies. Int Rev Cytol 240: 1-30
- von Maltzahn J, Jones AE, Parks RJ, Rudnicki MA (2013) Pax7 is critical for the normal function of satellite cells in adult skeletal muscle. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110: 16474-9
- Vougier S, Mary J, Friguet B (2003) Subcellular localization of methionine sulphoxide reductase A (MsrA): evidence for mitochondrial and cytosolic isoforms in rat liver cells. Biochem J 373: 531-7
- Waelsch H, Owades P, et al. (1946) Glutamic acid antimetabolites; the sulfoxide derived from methionine. J Biol Chem 166: 273-81
- Wanagat J, Cao Z, Pathare P, Aiken JM (2001) Mitochondrial DNA deletion mutations colocalize with segmental electron transport system abnormalities, muscle fiber atrophy, fiber splitting, and oxidative damage in sarcopenia. FASEB J 15: 322-32
- Wang N, Maurizi MR, Emmert-Buck L, Gottesman MM (1994) Synthesis, processing, and localization of human Lon protease. J Biol Chem 269: 29308-13
- Wang Q, Mosser DD, Bag J (2005) Induction of HSP70 expression and recruitment of HSC70 and HSP70 in the nucleus reduce aggregation of a polyalanine expansion mutant of PABPN1 in HeLa cells. Hum Mol Genet 14: 3673-84
- Wang X, Pan T (2015) Methionine Mistranslation Bypasses the Restraint of the Genetic Code to Generate Mutant Proteins with Distinct Activities. PLoS Genet 11: e1005745
- Wang X, Phelan SA, Forsman-Semb K, Taylor EF, Petros C, Brown A, Lerner CP, Paigen B (2003) Mice with targeted mutation of peroxiredoxin 6 develop normally but are susceptible to oxidative stress. J Biol Chem 278: 25179-90
- Wang YX, Rudnicki MA (2012) Satellite cells, the engines of muscle repair. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 13: 127-33

- Wassef R, Haenold R, Hansel A, Brot N, Heinemann SH, Hoshi T (2007) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A and a dietary supplement S-methyl-L-cysteine prevent Parkinson's-like symptoms. J Neurosci 27: 12808-16
- Weber D, Kneschke N, Grimm S, Bergheim I, Breusing N, Grune T (2012) Rapid and sensitive determination of protein-nitrotyrosine by ELISA: Application to human plasma. Free Radic Res 46: 276-85
- Webster RP, Roberts VH, Myatt L (2008) Protein nitration in placenta functional significance. Placenta 29: 985-94
- Wei B, Jin JP (2011) Troponin T isoforms and posttranscriptional modifications: Evolution, regulation and function. Arch Biochem Biophys 505: 144-54
- Wein N, Alfano L, Flanigan KM (2015) Genetics and Emerging Treatments for Duchenne and Becker Muscular Dystrophy. Pediatr Clin North Am 62: 723-742
- Weintraub H, Davis R, Tapscott S, Thayer M, Krause M, Benezra R, Blackwell TK, Turner D, Rupp R, Hollenberg S, et al. (1991) The myoD gene family: nodal point during specification of the muscle cell lineage. Science 251: 761-6
- Weisleder N, Brotto M, Komazaki S, Pan Z, Zhao X, Nosek T, Parness J, Takeshima H, Ma J (2006) Muscle aging is associated with compromised Ca2+ spark signaling and segregated intracellular Ca2+ release. J Cell Biol 174: 639-45
- Weissbach H, Resnick L, Brot N (2005) Methionine sulfoxide reductases: history and cellular role in protecting against oxidative damage. Biochim Biophys Acta 1703: 203-12
- Wells-Knecht MC, Huggins TG, Dyer DG, Thorpe SR, Baynes JW (1993) Oxidized amino acids in lens protein with age. Measurement of o-tyrosine and dityrosine in the aging human lens. J Biol Chem 268: 12348-52
- Whitehead NP, Pham C, Gervasio OL, Allen DG (2008) N-Acetylcysteine ameliorates skeletal muscle pathophysiology in mdx mice. J Physiol 586: 2003-14
- Wiltrout E, Goodenbour JM, Frechin M, Pan T (2012) Misacylation of tRNA with methionine in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Nucleic Acids Res 40: 10494-506
- Wohlgemuth SE, Seo AY, Marzetti E, Lees HA, Leeuwenburgh C (2010) Skeletal muscle autophagy and apoptosis during aging: effects of calorie restriction and life-long exercise. Exp Gerontol 45: 138-48
- Won H, Lim S, Jang M, Kim Y, Rashid MA, Jyothi KR, Dashdorj A, Kang I, Ha J, Kim SS (2012) Peroxiredoxin-2 upregulated by NF-kappaB attenuates oxidative stress during the differentiation of muscle-derived C2C12 cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 16: 245-61
- Wong KT, Dick D, Anderson JR (1996) Mitochondrial abnormalities in oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. Neuromuscul Disord 6: 163-6
- Wood ZA, Schroder E, Robin Harris J, Poole LB (2003) Structure, mechanism and regulation of peroxiredoxins. Trends Biochem Sci 28: 32-40
- Wright WE, Sassoon DA, Lin VK (1989) Myogenin, a factor regulating myogenesis, has a domain homologous to MyoD. Cell 56: 607-17
- Wu J, Neiers F, Boschi-Muller S, Branlant G (2005) The N-terminal domain of PILB from Neisseria meningitidis is a disulfide reductase that can recycle methionine sulfoxide reductases. J Biol Chem 280: 12344-50
- Xing SS, Shen CC, Godard MP, Wang JJ, Yue YY, Yang ST, Zhao Q, Zhang SB, Wang TX, Yang XL, Delafontaine P, He Y, Song YH (2014) Bortezomib inhibits C2C12 growth by inducing cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 445: 375-80
- Xu YY, Du F, Meng B, Xie GH, Cao J, Fan D, Yu H (2015) Hepatic overexpression of methionine sulfoxide reductase A reduces atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein Edeficient mice. J Lipid Res 56: 1891-900

- Yablonka-Reuveni Z, Rivera AJ (1994) Temporal expression of regulatory and structural muscle proteins during myogenesis of satellite cells on isolated adult rat fibers. Dev Biol 164: 588-603
- Yaffe D (1968) Retention of differentiation potentialities during prolonged cultivation of myogenic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 61: 477-83
- Yamada M, Tatsumi R, Yamanouchi K, Hosoyama T, Shiratsuchi S, Sato A, Mizunoya W, Ikeuchi Y, Furuse M, Allen RE (2010) High concentrations of HGF inhibit skeletal muscle satellite cell proliferation in vitro by inducing expression of myostatin: a possible mechanism for reestablishing satellite cell quiescence in vivo. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 298: C465-76
- Yant LJ, Ran Q, Rao L, Van Remmen H, Shibatani T, Belter JG, Motta L, Richardson A, Prolla TA (2003) The selenoprotein GPX4 is essential for mouse development and protects from radiation and oxidative damage insults. Free Radic Biol Med 34: 496-502
- Yao Y, Yin D, Jas GS, Kuczer K, Williams TD, Schoneich C, Squier TC (1996) Oxidative modification of a carboxyl-terminal vicinal methionine in calmodulin by hydrogen peroxide inhibits calmodulin-dependent activation of the plasma membrane Ca-ATPase. Biochemistry 35: 2767-87
- Yarasheski KE, Bhasin S, Sinha-Hikim I, Pak-Loduca J, Gonzalez-Cadavid NF (2002) Serum myostatin-immunoreactive protein is increased in 60-92 year old women and men with muscle wasting. J Nutr Health Aging 6: 343-8
- Yermolaieva O, Xu R, Schinstock C, Brot N, Weissbach H, Heinemann SH, Hoshi T (2004) Methionine sulfoxide reductase A protects neuronal cells against brief hypoxia/reoxygenation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 1159-64
- Yin H, Price F, Rudnicki MA (2013) Satellite cells and the muscle stem cell niche. Physiol Rev 93: 23-67
- Young JF, Larsen LB, Malmendal A, Nielsen NC, Straadt IK, Oksbjerg N, Bertram HC (2010) Creatine-induced activation of antioxidative defence in myotube cultures revealed by explorative NMR-based metabonomics and proteomics. J Int Soc Sports Nutr 7: 9
- Yu AY, Houry WA (2007) ClpP: a distinctive family of cylindrical energy-dependent serine proteases. FEBS Lett 581: 3749-57
- Zammit PS, Golding JP, Nagata Y, Hudon V, Partridge TA, Beauchamp JR (2004) Muscle satellite cells adopt divergent fates: a mechanism for self-renewal? J Cell Biol 166: 347-57
- Zammit PS, Partridge TA, Yablonka-Reuveni Z (2006) The skeletal muscle satellite cell: the stem cell that came in from the cold. J Histochem Cytochem 54: 1177-91
- Zeschnigk M, Kozian D, Kuch C, Schmoll M, Starzinski-Powitz A (1995) Involvement of M-cadherin in terminal differentiation of skeletal muscle cells. J Cell Sci 108 (Pt 9): 2973-81
- Zhai G, Stankovich J, Ding C, Scott F, Cicuttini F, Jones G (2004) The genetic contribution to muscle strength, knee pain, cartilage volume, bone size, and radiographic osteoarthritis: a sibpair study. Arthritis Rheum 50: 805-10
- Zhang H, Davies KJ, Forman HJ (2015) Oxidative stress response and Nrf2 signaling in aging. Free Radic Biol Med 88: 314-36
- Zhang W, Behringer RR, Olson EN (1995) Inactivation of the myogenic bHLH gene MRF4 results in up-regulation of myogenin and rib anomalies. Genes Dev 9: 1388-99
- Zhang XH, Weissbach H (2008) Origin and evolution of the protein-repairing enzymes methionine sulphoxide reductases. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 83: 249-57

- Zhao H, Sun J, Deschamps AM, Kim G, Liu C, Murphy E, Levine RL (2011) Myristoylated methionine sulfoxide reductase A protects the heart from ischemia-reperfusion injury. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 301: H1513-8
- Zhao J, Brault JJ, Schild A, Cao P, Sandri M, Schiaffino S, Lecker SH, Goldberg AL (2007) FoxO3 coordinately activates protein degradation by the autophagic/lysosomal and proteasomal pathways in atrophying muscle cells. Cell Metab 6: 472-83
- Zhou Z, Bornemann A (2001) MRF4 protein expression in regenerating rat muscle. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 22: 311-6
- Zhou Z, Li CY, Li K, Wang T, Zhang B, Gao TW (2009) Decreased methionine sulphoxide reductase A expression renders melanocytes more sensitive to oxidative stress: a possible cause for melanocyte loss in vitiligo. Br J Dermatol 161: 504-9
- Zoico E, Corzato F, Bambace C, Rossi AP, Micciolo R, Cinti S, Harris TB, Zamboni M (2013) Myosteatosis and myofibrosis: relationship with aging, inflammation and insulin resistance. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 57: 411-6

ANNEXES

Redox Biology 5 (2015) 267-274

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Redox Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/redox

Research Paper

Oxidative proteome alterations during skeletal muscle ageing

Sofia Lourenço dos Santos ^{a,b,c}, Martin A. Baraibar ^{a,b,c}, Staffan Lundberg ^d, Orvar Eeg-Olofsson ^d, Lars Larsson ^{e,f}, Bertrand Friguet ^{a,b,c,*}

^a Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ Paris 06, UMR 8256, Biological Adaptation and Ageing-IBPS, Paris F-75005, France

^b CNRS UMR-8256, Paris F-75005, France

^c Inserm U1164, Paris F-75005, France

^d Department of Women's and Children's Health, Uppsala University, Uppsala SE-751 82, Sweden

^e Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm SE-171 77, Sweden

^f Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Clinical Neurophysiology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm SE-171 77, Sweden

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 April 2015 Received in revised form 21 May 2015 Accepted 29 May 2015 Available online 3 June 2015

Keywords: Ageing Human *rectus abdominis* skeletal muscle Oxidative stress Protein carbonylation Proteomics

ABSTRACT

Sarcopenia corresponds to the degenerative loss of skeletal muscle mass, quality, and strength associated with ageing and leads to a progressive impairment of mobility and quality of life. However, the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in this process are not completely understood. A hallmark of cellular and tissular ageing is the accumulation of oxidatively modified (carbonylated) proteins, leading to a decreased quality of the cellular proteome that could directly impact on normal cellular functions. Although increased oxidative stress has been reported during skeletal muscle ageing, the oxidized protein targets, also referred as to the 'oxi-proteome' or 'carbonylome', have not been characterized yet. To better understand the mechanisms by which these damaged proteins build up and potentially affect muscle function, proteins targeted by these modifications have been identified in human rectus abdominis muscle obtained from young and old healthy donors using a bi-dimensional gel electrophoresis-based proteomic approach coupled with immunodetection of carbonylated proteins. Among evidenced protein spots, 17 were found as increased carbonylated in biopsies from old donors comparing to young counterparts. These proteins are involved in key cellular functions such as cellular morphology and transport, muscle contraction and energy metabolism. Importantly, impairment of these pathways has been described in skeletal muscle during ageing. Functional decline of these proteins due to irreversible oxidation may therefore impact directly on the above-mentioned pathways, hence contributing to the generation of the sarcopenic phenotype.

© 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Introduction

Skeletal muscles require dynamic changes in energy supply and oxygen flux for contraction, making it prone to reactive oxygen species (ROS)-mediated damage as a result of an increase in electron flux and leakage from the mitochondrial respiratory

E-mail address: bertrand.friguet@upmc.fr (B. Friguet).

chain. Although physiological concentrations of ROS can function as signaling molecules that regulate proliferation, growth, differentiation, and apoptosis [1], when ROS levels overcome the capacity of cellular antioxidant systems, they become toxic, introducing oxidative modifications on cellular macromolecules such as nucleic acids, lipids and, in particular, proteins, inflicting alterations to normal cellular functions. In skeletal muscle, oxidative stress state has negative consequences on action-potential conduction, excitation-contraction coupling, satellite cell differentiation, muscle contraction and mitochondrial respiration [2].

Skeletal muscle ageing is associated with the gradual degenerative loss of skeletal muscle mass, quality, and strength, a condition known as sarcopenia. Oxidative stress contribute at least in part to muscle atrophy [3–6], and previous studies have addressed the extent of protein oxidative damage in the development of sarcopenia in mammalian models [7–10]. Although it is believed that oxidative stress contributes to skeletal muscle dysfunction

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2015.05.006

2213-2317/© 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).





Abbreviations: 1D, one-dimensional; 2D, bi-dimensional; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; CK, creatine kinase; DNP, 2–4-dinitrophenylhydrazone; DNPH, 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine; GAPDH, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; GPD1, Glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase [NAD+], cytoplasmic; HSP70, Heat shock 70 kDa protein; IEF, Isoelectric focusing; MM-CK, muscle-type creatine kinase; MS, mass spectrometry; MyBPC, myosin-binding protein C; PCr–CK, phosphocreatine– creatine kinase; RA, *rectus abdominis*; RMI, relative modification index; ROS, reactive oxygen species; ZASP, LIM domain-binding protein 3

^{*} Corresponding author at: Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ Paris 06, UMR 8256, Biological adaptation and ageing-IBPS, F-75005 Paris, France.

through macromolecular damage, the molecular mechanisms remain elusive. Protein post-translational modifications induced by ROS are important features of oxidative stress [11]. Among them, protein carbonyl content is by far the most commonly used marker of protein oxidation [12,13]. In fact, protein carbonylation occurs when proteins directly react with ROS, leading to the formation carbonyl groups (aldehydes and ketones) for instance on such amino acids side chains as arginine, lysine, threonine and proline. Introduction of carbonyl groups on proteins can also occur through the reaction of aldehydic products of lipid peroxidation and of dicarbonyl compounds upon glycation and glycoxidation. Since it often leads to a loss of protein function and an increased thermosensitivity or hydrophobicity of the targeted protein [14,15], protein carbonylation has been considered as an indicator of protein damage.

In human skeletal muscle, preliminary studies on *vastus lateralis* and external intercostal muscles have shown increased accumulation of protein carbonyls during ageing [16–19]. However, in most cases, the protein targets of these oxidative damages and their functional consequences have not been identified. Indeed, this is an essential step to get a complete view of protein oxidative modifications and to understand the mechanisms by which these oxidized proteins potentially contribute to muscle weakness and dysfunction during ageing.

Therefore, proteomic studies, including the analysis of protein abundance as well as protein carbonylation are expected to provide valuable information to unravel the key molecular pathways implicated. In fact, proteomics and in particular bi-dimensional (2D) gels represent appropriate tools for the detection and identification of specific carbonylated proteins in a complex mixture [2,13,20]. The identification of such oxidatively modified proteins (i.e. the oxi-proteome components), can give some insights into the mechanisms by which these damaged proteins accumulate and potentially affect cellular and/or tissular function during ageing or in disease conditions [21]. In this paper, the occurrence and characterization of carbonylated proteins was studied in human rectus abdominis muscle obtained from young and old healthy donors. Although no significant differences in global protein carbonylation was observed at the proteome level, we have used 2D gel electrophoresis based proteomic approaches to improve the resolution of individual proteins for the quantitative analysis of their carbonylation status and further identification of these major skeletal muscle proteins that are targeted by oxidative damage during human rectus abdominis skeletal muscle ageing.

Material and methods

Human biopsies

Human *rectus abdominis* muscle biopsies were obtained during surgery. Each biopsy used has the written consent of the volunteer donor. A total of 22 human muscle biopsies were used: 11 from healthy men individuals between 0 to 12 years old (named young samples) and 11 from healthy men individuals between 52 and 76 years old (named old samples) (Table 1). All muscle biopsies had an initial wet weight between 15 and 24 mg (Table 1). The study was approved by the Ethical Committee at the Uppsala University Hospital.

Protein extraction for proteomics analyses

Proteins extracts from skeletal muscle biopsies were obtained by physical disruption of the sample biopsies using a ULTRA-TURRAX[®] T25 (IKA[®]) at 4 °C in a lysis buffer containing 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), 8 M urea, 2 M thiourea, 4% CHAPS and 20 mM

Table	1		
CI		C (1	

C	haract	erist	ICS	ot	the	samp	les	biopsi	es.
---	--------	-------	-----	----	-----	------	-----	--------	-----

Sample no	Donor age (years)	Wet weight (mg)	Protein recovery ratio (w/w in %) ^a
1	0	24.00	7.0
2	1	20.80	4.3
3	5	20.00	7.6
4	9	17.00	9.3
5	6.5	15.00	7.1
6	10.75	21.90	7.6
7	12	22.00	9.1
8	7.1	22.00	9.7
9	76	20.30	9.5
10	70	18.00	8.3
11	74	19.10	7.8
12	66	19.60	8.0
13	74	19.20	8.4
14	65	18.66	5.2
15	65	18.78	6.6
16	71	24.00	10.8
17	12	20.00	15.6
18	3	20.50	3.6
19	9	20.38	11.0
20	56	20.47	7.4
21	61	20.53	17.1
22	52	20.13	27.2

^a Protein recovery ratio corresponds to the protein amount in mass / biopsy mass.

DTT. After incubation on ice for 20 min, soluble proteins were recovered after clarification by centrifugation for 40 min at 21,000 g. Proteins were further precipitated using the 2D clean-up kit (GE Healthcare) and the resulting pellet was re-suspended into the same lysis buffer. Protein concentrations were determined by the Bradford Method [22] using the Bio-Rad Protein Kit Assay (Bio-Rad).

Protein carbonyl immunodetection after derivatization with DNPH

Carbonylated proteins were derivatized with 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine (DNPH) to form 2–4-dinitrophenylhydrazone (DNP) proteins adducts [23]. For total carbonyl quantification, equal quantities of proteins were loaded and separated by SDS-PAGE 12% (v/v). Chemicals for SDS-PAGE were purchased from Bio-Rad. All other chemicals were of analytical grade and obtained from Sigma-Aldrich. For the detection of carbonylated proteins, gels were electrotransferred onto Hybond-C nitrocellulose membranes (GE Healthcare) and incubated with anti-DNP antibodies (1:5000, Sigma-Aldrich). Carbonylated proteins were revealed by a fluorescent anti-rabbit IgG 800CW (1:15,000) polyclonal antibody (LI-COR). Densitometry analyses were performed using NIH ImageJ software and the data are expressed as % volume in pixels.

For 2D gel electrophoresis, derivatization of proteins carbonyls was achieved on IPG strips after isoelectric focusing (IEF), with a 10 mM DNPH, 2 M HCl solution at room temperature (RT) as described previously [24]. 500 µg of protein were diluted on a rehydratation buffer (7 M urea, 2 M thiourea, 1% Amberlite, 4% CHAPS, 1.2% Destreak (GE Healthcare), 0.5% Pharmalyte pH 3-10 (GE Healthcare)) and loaded into 13 cm IPG strips pH 3-10 NL (GE Healthcare). Gel rehydration of the IPG strips was done overnight at RT in an Immobiline DryStrip rewelling tray. IEF was performed using an EttanTM IPGphorTM 3 Isoelectric Focusing System (GE Healthcare) at 20 °C using the following electrical profile: step, 150 V for 11 h; grad, 1000 V for 3 h; grad, 8000 V for 2 h; step, 8000 V for 1 h. Neutralization step after derivatization with DNPH was performed with 2 M Trizma-Base containing 30% of glycerol (GE Healthcare). Before SDS-PAGE, all IPG strips were equilibrated with a 6 M urea, 10% SDS and 30% Glycerol (GE Healthcare), 0.5 M Tris-HCl (pH 8.8) solution for 2 steps of 15 min: the first one with equilibration solution containing 1% DTT and the second with equilibration solution containing 3% iodoacetamide. SDS-PAGE was carried out using the Protean II system (Bio-Rad). For each sample, two 12% (v/v) polyacrylamide gels were performed in parallel: one for total protein stains with Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250 (Bio-Rad) for further mass spectrometry analysis; and the other with derivatized protein residues for electrotransfer onto nitrocellulose membranes, where total amount of proteins were stained by a Fast Green solution (Sigma-Aldrich) prior to antibodies incubation for loading control. Membranes were then blocked with Odyssey blocking buffer (LI-COR) overnight at 4 °C. Primary anti-DNP antibodies (1:5000, Sigma-Aldrich) were incubated for 1 h at RT. Revelation was done by a fluorescent antirabbit IgG 800CW (1:15,000) polyclonal antibody (LI-COR). Washing steps were done with a PBS/0.1% Tween solution. Carbonylated proteins were revealed by the Odyssey Infrared Imaging System (LI-COR).

Proteomics data acquisition and analysis

Spot detection and quantification were carried out using the image Master 2D Platinum 7 software (GE Healthcare). For comparison, we used the data expressed as spot % volume (%vol) in pixels, which corresponds to a normalized value of the spot volume by considering the total volume of all the spots present in the membrane [25]. To take into account the total amount of loaded protein in each IPG strip, we defined a %vol per carbonylated spot (*N*%vol) by normalizing the %vol of each anti-DNP incubated membrane with its corresponding %vol on the Fast Green-stationed membrane. The relative modification index ratio (RMI ratio) was obtained by dividing the *N*%vol of the old group of samples by the *N*%vol of the young one.

In-gel digestion and mass spectrometry



Spots of interest were manually excised from Coomassie Blue stained 12% (v/v) polyacrylamide gels and were automatically in-

Fig. 1. Analysis of total carbonylated proteins of human *rectus abdominis* muscle biopsies. (A) Carbonylated protein profiles from young and old human biopsies after 1D gel electrophoresis. Protein carbonyl were detected by Western-blotting against protein–DNP derivatives and monitored by fluorescent secondary antibody hybridation. (B) Total protein profiles stained with colloidal Coomassie brilliant blue G after 1D gel electrophoresis. (C) Densitometric analysis of carbonylated protein western-blots. Semi-quantitative assessment of modified proteins was done using total protein staining for normalization. Relative values are expressed as mean \pm S.D. (n=11) and no significant difference was found between the young and old groups.

gel digested by trypsin [26] using a robot Freedom EVO 100 digester/spotter robot (Tecan). Resulted peptides were then desalted for mass spectrometry (MS/MS) analysis. Results obtained were subjected to a search on the SwissProt database using the MASCOT software (Matrix Science Ltd., London, UK). The software compares the MASCOT peptide sequences derived from spectra with those in libraries for protein identification. Search parameters were as follows: database, SwissProt; taxonomy, all entries or mammalian; enzyme, trypsin; allow up to one missed cleavage; fixed modifications, none; variable modifications, methionine oxidation; peptide mass tolerance, 70 ppm; and fragment mass tolerance, 500 ppm.

Results and discussion

Initial screening looking at changes at the global proteome level of carbonylated proteins was performed after derivatization of protein carbonyls with DNPH followed by immunodetection of DNP protein adducts after SDS-PAGE (Fig. 1A). Densitometry analysis was performed and normalized by total protein content for each sample (Fig. 1B and C). No significant differences at the global level in protein carbonyl content was detected between groups, in agreement with what was previously reported by Marzani et al. who did not find a statistical difference on protein carbonyl content during ageing in both rectus abdominis and vastus lateralis human muscles [18]. More recently, Fanò et al., using skeletal muscle biopsy samples obtained from vastus lateralis, found that protein carbonyls, showed a significant increase during ageing. However, this difference was not significant after splitting by gender [27]. Importantly, immunodetection of carbonylated proteins after one-dimensional (1D) electrophoresis separation has serious limitations for the resolution of single protein bands and can provide only restricted information.

To further analyze the occurrence of protein carbonylation at the single protein level, 2D gel electrophoresis separation of protein extracts was performed prior to immunodetection of carbonylated proteins. 2D gels are very appropriate to investigate protein isoforms since many post-translational modifications (such as carbonylation of arginine or lysine residues) often leads to changes in the isoelectric point of proteins, and thus shift the position of the protein in 2D gels. After electrotransfer onto nitrocellulose membranes total protein profiles were obtained by fast-green staining (Fig. 2). All the analyzed samples displayed a similar protein migration pattern, suggesting no drastic shifts in the protein profiles at the expression level (Fig. 2, right panels) between the two experimental groups. Immunodetection of carbonylated proteins was performed after their derivatization by DNPH as described in Material and methods. Interestingly, the pattern of the modified proteins was not superimposable with the pattern obtained for the total protein staining, indicating that certain proteins represent preferential targets for these deleterious oxidative modifications. Several proteins of high molecular weight were found preferentially carbonylated (Fig. 2, left panel) while certain proteins with an isoelectric point higher than 5, also appeared to be preferentially carbonylated.

A relative modification index (RMI) per spot was calculated in order to evidence differentially carbonylated proteins between the two experimental groups taking into account their protein expression levels. Seventeen protein spots exhibited an RMI ratio consistently higher than 1.3 (increasingly carbonylated) in all biopsies from the aged group as compared with the young one. On the other hand, fourteen protein spots showed decreased carbonylation in the old group (RMI < 0.7). Protein spots evidenced as



Fig. 2. Oxi-proteome analysis of young and old human skeletal muscle samples. Protein extracts from young (n=3) and old (n=3) human skeletal muscle biopsies were separated by 2D gel electrophoresis. After the second dimension, gels were electrotransferred onto nitrocellulose membranes for subsequent immune detection of DPNH-derivatized carbonylated proteins (left panels). Densitometry analysis was done by image Master 2D software (GE Healthcare) using total protein staining (right panels) as loading control.



Fig. 3. Coomassie blue staining of one representative 2D gel. The numbers and positions of the 17 selected spots identified by MS/MS correspond to those found as consistently increased on the old group (RMI > 1.3).

increasingly carbonylated were excised from Coomassie Blue stained 2D gels (Fig. 3) and analyzed by MS/MS for protein identification. Protein spots that were identified in the aged group are listed in Table 2. Among the identified proteins, 8 are muscle specific, 4 are ubiquitous in different tissues and organ systems, and 2 proteins belong from plasma (Table 2).

The identified skeletal muscle proteins were then analyzed and grouped by metabolic pathways and cellular functions. Major biological functions include muscle contraction, energy transduction and energy metabolism (Fig. 4). Among proteins involved in muscle contraction, we have found that myosin 7, troponin T, myosin-binding protein C (MyBPC), and LIM domain-binding protein 3 (ZASP) are increasingly carbonylated in aged muscle. Interestingly, the decreased speed of contraction observed in old age at both the muscle and motor protein levels is a hallmark of skeletal muscle ageing [28-31]. Myosin is a highly conserved protein that converts chemical energy into mechanical force and a key protein for muscle contraction. Previous studies have shown increased glycation of myosin in both fiber types of aged rats [32]. In addition, the carbonylated residues have been identified [33]. Interactions of myosin with cytoskeletal proteins such as titin, myomesin/M protein and MyBPC play an important role in thick filaments physiology. MyBPC contributes to the assembly and stabilization of thick filaments and modulates the formation of actomyosin cross-bridges, via direct interactions with both thick myosin and thin actin filaments [34,35]. The importance of MyBPC to muscle contraction is further emphasized by the discovery that mutations in genes encoding MyBPC cause myopathies in both skeletal [36,37] and cardiac muscles [38-40]. Increased oxidation of MyBPC, together with the previously reported age-dependent decrease of myosin isoforms and regulatory proteins like myosin binding proteins C and H [41-44], may contribute to the destabilization of muscle fibers. In addition, perturbations in the thin sarcomere fillaments of muscle fibers have also been associated with differently expression of actin and its regulatory proteins such as troponin and tropomyosin [42,43,45,46]. Here we found

increased carbonylation levels of troponin T in the elderly. Troponin inhibits the actomyosin Mg^{2+} -ATPase and the Ca^{2+} release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum inducing a change in the troponin–tropomyosin conformation that exposes myosin binding sites on the actin filament and activates the myosin ATPase, thereby allowing muscle contraction [47,48]. Since muscle contraction depends on myofibrillar thin filament interactions [49], the oxidative damage to these proteins may well compromise this interaction and hence muscle contraction.

The motor functions of striated muscle crucially depend on the highly ordered arrays of thick myosin and thin actin filaments in sarcomeres. Although its detailed role has not been elucidated yet, the LIM domain-binding protein 3 (ZASP), found as increasingly carbonylated in aged *rectus abdominis* muscle, functions as an adapter to couple protein kinase C-mediated signaling to the cytoskeleton and to maintain Z-disc stability as well as cytoskeletal ultrastructure during contraction. Accumulation of this protein in its oxidized form may lead to protein aggregates formation and myofibril disintegration that may result in muscle weakness.

Muscle contraction depends also in high-energy fluxes where creatine kinase plays a central role. During muscle contraction, myosin hydrolyzes ATP into ADP upon filament sliding. The renewal of ATP is achieved mainly by the phosphocreatine-creatine kinase (PCr-CK) system. Among the creatine kinase (CK) isoenzymes, the muscle-type CK (MM-CK) specifically binds to the myofibril M-line and is associated with the action-activated myosin ATPase as an intramyofibrillar ATP regenerator [50–52]. Since this MM-CK was found irreversibly oxidized in old rectus abdominis muscle, this could alter muscle metabolism and compromise muscle contraction in the elderly. Besides the PCr-CK system, the glycolytic network and its closer interaction between mitochondria and organelles also provide energy within muscle cells [53]. In this study, 3 glycolytic enzymes appear as highly carbonylated in old slow oxidative skeletal rectus abdominis muscle: the fructose-bisphosphate aldolase A, the glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GPD1) and the glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) (Table 2). Interestingly, several of these enzymes involved in anaerobic metabolism have been found decreased with age in murine and human skeletal muscle [54,55].

Although slow skeletal muscles uses mainly oxidative mitochondrial processes to generate the levels of ATP needed to maintain contractile activity for long time without showing fatigue [53], they also rely in glycolysis for their energy production [56]. For this reason, muscle metabolism and contraction in aged skeletal muscle would be affected by irreversible carbonylation on glycolytic proteins, as previously reported in certain diseases when these glycolytic enzymes are not functional [57-62]. Defects in the muscle form of glycogen phosphorylase, another protein found increased carbonylated in old rectus abdominis muscle, are involved in type 5 glycogen storage disease, also known as McArdle disease, a myopathy also characterized by exercise intolerance, such as easy fatigability, muscle cramps and contractures as well as muscle weakness [63,64]. Intramuscular glycogen acts as a readily available source of glucose-6-phosphate for glycolysis within skeletal muscle and glycogen phosphorylase catalyses the rate-limiting step in glycogenolysis [65]. Therefore, a deficiency in glycogen phosphorylase may result in the inability to mobilize muscle glycogen during anaerobic metabolism [66].

Although it is well recognized that ageing causes changes in the proteome, the nature and targets of these changes, their consequences on skeletal muscle function and how they may contribute to sarcopenia have not yet been completely elucidated. Our results suggest that oxidative stress during skeletal muscle ageing targets the contractile machinery, but also structural and regulatory proteins. In addition, the main mechanism of energy production, the phosphocreatine kinase system was affected by

Table 2

Localization of carbonylated proteins identified from old skeletal muscle biopsies.

Protein name and localization	Swiss-Prot ac- cession no	Protein spot no ^a	Mascot score ^b	Sequence cov- erage (%)	No. of sequenced peptides	Theoretical protein mass (kDa)	Theoretical PI	RMI ratio ^c
Ubiquitous proteins:								
Collagen alpha-1(VI) chain	CO6A1_HUMAN	1	205	7	5	108	5.3	4.34
Heat shock cognate 71 kDa protein	HSP7C_HUMAN	5	256	15	5	71	5.4	1.63
Glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase [NAD ⁺], cytoplasmic (GPD1)	GPDA_HUMAN	13	214	22	4	38	5.8	1.52
Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehy- drogenase (GAPDH)	G3P_HUMAN	14	243	12	3	36	8.6	1.67
Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehy- drogenase (GAPDH)	G3P_HUMAN	15	424	25	5	36	8.6	1.68
Voltage-dependent anion-selective chan- nel protein 1	VDAC1_HUMAN	16	685	39	8	31	8.6	1.88
Muscle specific proteins:								
Myosin-binding protein C, slow-type (MyBPC)	MYPC1_HUMAN	2	119	3	3	128	5.8	1.54
Glycogen phosphorylase, muscle form	PYGM_HUMAN	3	882	22	13	97	6.6	1.67
Myosin-7	MYH7_HUMAN	7	63	-	1	223	5.6	3.12
Creatine kinase M-type	KCRM_HUMAN	8	206	9	3	43	6.8	1.44
Creatine kinase M-type	KCRM_HUMAN	9	416	20	6	43	6.8	1.54
Fructose-bisphosphate aldolase A	ALDOA_HUMAN	10	611	31	7	39	8.3	1.65
Troponin T, slow skeletal muscle	TNNT1_HUMAN	11	512	22	6	33	5.9	1.87
Troponin T, slow skeletal muscle	TNNT1_HUMAN	12	244	22	5	33	5.9	1.42
LIM domain-binding protein 3 (ZASP)	LDB3_HUMAN	17	206	8	4	77	8.5	1.70
Plasma proteins:								
Serotransferrin	TRFE_HUMAN	4	399	17	10	77	6.8	1.31
Serum albumin	ALBU_HUMAN	6	986	29	13	69	5.9	1.33

Spots of interest were identified by MALDI-TO-FTOF-MS as described under Material and methods. For each spot, different parameters clarifying protein identification by MS are indicated.

^a Protein spot number refers to the numbered spots in Fig. 3.

^b Mascot protein scores greater than 56 are significant (P < 0.05).

^c RMI ratio represents the Relative Modification Index ratio.



Fig. 4. Functional grouping of muscle proteins increasingly oxidized with age. Increasingly oxidized muscle-specific proteins identified in aged *rectus abdominis* biopsies were grouped in three functional categories: muscle contraction, energy metabolism and energy transduction.

carbonylation in the elderly while other energetic metabolic pathways such as glycolysis appear to be also affected. Finally, the heat shock 70 kDa protein (HSP70), a key player in protein quality control with different identified roles in skeletal muscle [67], such as protection against oxidative stress, was also found highly carbonylated in old skeletal muscle. Up-regulation of heat shock proteins is a well know feature of muscle ageing [46,68,69]. Further studies should address the functional status of the identified carbonylated proteins and related cellular pathways associated with muscle dysfunction in order to reveal their role in the development of the ageing phenotype.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to acknowledge the FP7 EU-funded MyoAge Project (No. 223576), and COST Action CM1001, coordinated by Dr. Gillian Butler-Browne and Dr. Tilman Grune, respectively, as well as the AFM-Téléthon for their support. In addition, they are very grateful to M. Cédric Broussard at the Plate-forme Protéomique Université Paris-Descartes 3P5 for performing the mass spectrometry analyses.

References

- E. Barbieri, P. Sestili, Reactive oxygen species in skeletal muscle signaling, J. Signal Trans. 2012 (2012) 982794, http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2012/982794 22175016.
- [2] M.A. Baraibar, M. Gueugneau, S. Duguez, G. Butler-Browne, D. Bechet, B. Friguet, Expression and modification proteomics during skeletal muscle ageing, Biogerontology 14 (3) (2013) 339–352, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s10522-013-9426-7 23624703.
- [3] S.K. Powers, A.N. Kavazis, J.M. McClung, Oxidative stress and disuse muscle atrophy, J. Appl. Physiol. 102 (6) (2007) 2389–2397, http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/ japplphysiol.01202.2006 17289908.
- [4] M.A. Pellegrino, J.-F. Desaphy, L. Brocca, S. Pierno, D.C. Camerino, R. Bottinelli, Redox homeostasis, oxidative stress and disuse muscle atrophy, J. Physiol. 589 (9) (2011) 2147–2160, http://dx.doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2010.203232 21320887.
- [5] S.K. Powers, A.J. Smuder, D.S. Criswell, Mechanistic links between oxidative stress and disuse muscle atrophy, Antioxid. Redox Signal. 15 (9) (2011) 2519–2528, http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ars.2011.3973 21457104.
- [6] S.K. Powers, A.J. Smuder, A.R. Judge, Oxidative stress and disuse muscle atrophy: cause or consequence? Curr. Opin. Clinical Nutr. Metab. Care 15 (3) (2012) 240–245, http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/MCO.0b013e328352b4c2 22466926.
- [7] D.C. Andersson, M.J. Betzenhauser, S. Reiken, A.C. Meli, A. Umanskaya, W. Xie, T. Shiomi, R. Zalk, A. Lacampagne, A.R. Marks, Ryanodine receptor oxidation causes intracellular calcium leak and muscle weakness in aging, Cell Metab. 14 (2) (2011) 196–207, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2011.05.014 21803290.
- [8] K.B. Choksi, J.E. Nuss, J.H. Deford, J. Papaconstantinou, Age-related alterations in oxidatively damaged proteins of mouse skeletal muscle mitochondrial electron transport chain complexes, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 45 (6) (2008) 826–838, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.06.006 18598756.
- [9] L.M. Snow, N.A. Fugere, L.V. Thompson, Advanced glycation end-product accumulation and associated protein modification in Type II skeletal muscle with aging, J. Gerontol. A: Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 62 (11) (2007) 1204–1210, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1093/gerona/62.11.1204 18000139.
- [10] L.V. Thompson, D. Durand, N.A. Fugere, D.A. Ferrington, Myosin and actin expression and oxidation in aging muscle, J. Appl. Physiol. 101 (6) (2006) 1581–1587, http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00426.2006 16840579.
- [11] N. Breusing, T. Grune, Biomarkers of protein oxidation from a chemical, biological and medical point of view, Exp. Gerontol. 45 (10) (2010) 733–737, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2010.04.004 20403419.
 [12] M.A. Baraibar, B. Friguet, Oxidative proteome modifications target specific
- [12] M.A. Baraibar, B. Friguet, Oxidative proteome modifications target specific cellular pathways during oxidative stress, cellular senescence and aging, Exp. Gerontol. 48 (7) (2013) 620–625, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2012.10.007 23127722.
- [13] M.A. Baraibar, R. Ladouce, B. Friguet, Proteomic quantification and identification of carbonylated proteins upon oxidative stress and during cellular aging, J. Proteomics 92 (2013) 63–70, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2013.05.008.
- [14] T. Grune, R. Shringarpure, N. Sitte, K. Davies, Age-related changes in protein oxidation and proteolysis in mammalian cells, J. Gerontol. A: Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 56 (11) (2001) B459–B467, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/gerona/56.11.B459 11682566.
- [15] M.A. Baraibar, A.G. Barbeito, B.B. Muhoberac, R. Vidal, A mutant light-chain ferritin that causes neurodegeneration has enhanced propensity toward oxidative damage, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 52 (9) (2012) 1692–1697, http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2012.02.015 22348978.
- [16] P. Gianni, K.J. Jan, M.J. Douglas, P.M. Stuart, M.A. Tarnopolsky, Oxidative stress and the mitochondrial theory of aging in human skeletal muscle, Exp. Gerontol. 39 (9) (2004) 1391–1400, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2004.06.002 15489062.
- [17] O. Pansarasa, L. Castagna, B. Colombi, J. Vecchiet, G. Felzani, F. Marzatico, Age and sex differences in human skeletal muscle: role of reactive oxygen species, Free Radic. Res. 33 (3) (2000) 287–293, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 10715760000301451 10993482.
- [18] B. Marzani, G. Felzani, R.G. Bellomo, J. Vecchiet, F. Marzatico, Human muscle aging: ROS-mediated alterations in rectus abdominis and vastus lateralis muscles, Exp. Gerontol. 40 (12) (2005) 959–965, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. exger.2005.08.010 16213688.
- [19] E. Barreiro, C. Coronell, B. Laviña, A. Ramírez-Sarmiento, M. Orozco-Levi, J. Gea, PENAM Project, Aging, sex differences, and oxidative stress in human respiratory and limb muscles, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 41 (5) (2006) 797–809, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2006.05.027 16895800.
- [20] A. Rogowska-Wrzesinska, M.-C. Le Bihan, M. Thaysen-Andersen, P. Roepstorff, 2D gels still have a niche in proteomics, J. Proteomics 88 (2013) 4–13, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2013.01.010 23353020.
 [21] M.A. Baraibar, L. Liu, E.K. Ahmed, B. Friguet, Protein oxidative damage at the
- [21] M.A. Baraibar, L. Liu, E.K. Ahmed, B. Friguet, Protein oxidative damage at the crossroads of cellular senescence, aging, and age-related diseases, Oxid. Med.

Cell. Longev. 2012 (2012) 1-8, http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2012/919832.

- [22] M.M. Bradford, A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding, Anal. Biochem. 72 (1976) 248-254, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(76)90527-3.942051.
- [23] R.L. Levine, D. Garland, C.N. Oliver, A. Amici, I. Climent, A.G. Lenz, B.W. Ahn, S. Shaltiel, E.R. Stadtman, Determination of carbonyl content in oxidatively modified proteins, Methods Enzymol. 186 (1990) 464–478, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/0076-6879(90)86141-H 1978225.
- [24] M.A. Baraibar, J. Hyzewicz, A. Rogowska-Wrzesinska, R. Ladouce, P. Roepstorff, V. Mouly, B. Friguet, Oxidative stress-induced proteome alterations target different cellular pathways in human myoblasts, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 51 (8) (2011) 1522–1532, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.06.032 21810466.
- [25] E.K. Ahmed, A. Rogowska-Wrzesinska, P. Roepstorff, A.-L. Bulteau, B. Friguet, Protein modification and replicative senescence of WI-38 human embryonic fibroblasts, Aging Cell 9 (2) (2010) 252–272, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2010.00555.x 20102351.
- [26] A. Shevchenko, H. Tomas, J. Havlis, J.V. Olsen, M. Mann, In-gel digestion for mass spectrometric characterization of proteins and proteomes, Nat. Protoc. 1 (6) (2006) 2856–2860, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2006.468 17406544.
- [27] G. Fanò, P. Mecocci, J. Vecchiet, S. Belia, S. Fulle, M.C. Polidori, G. Felzani, U. Senin, L. Vecchiet, M.F. Beal, Age and sex influence on oxidative damage and functional status in human skeletal muscle, J. Muscle Res. Cell Mot. 22 (4) (2001) 345–351, http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1013122805060 11808774.
- [28] P. Höök, X. Li, J. Sleep, S. Hughes, L. Larsson, In vitro motility speed of slow myosin extracted from single soleus fibres from young and old rats, J. Physiol. 520 (2) (1999) 463–471, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.1999.00463.x 10523415.
- [29] X. Li, L. Larsson, Maximum shortening velocity and myosin isoforms in single muscle fibers from young and old rats, Am. J. Physiol.—Cell Physiol. 270 (1996) C352-C360.
- [30] L. Larsson, X. Li, W.R. Frontera, Effects of aging on shortening velocity and myosin isoform composition in single human skeletal muscle cells, Am. J. Physiol. 272 (2 1) (1997) C638–C649 9124308.
 [31] P. Höök, V. Sriramoju, L. Larsson, Effects of aging on actin sliding speed on
- [31] P. Höök, V. Sriramoju, L. Larsson, Effects of aging on actin sliding speed on myosin from single skeletal muscle cells of mice, rats, and humans, Am. J. Physiol.–Cell Physiol. 280 (4) (2001) C782–C788 11245594.
- [32] B. Ramamurthy, L. Larsson, Detection of an aging-related increase in advanced glycation end products in fast- and slow-twitch skeletal muscles in the rat, Biogerontology 14 (3) (2013) 293–301, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10522-013-9430-y 23681254.
- [33] M. Li, H. Ogilvie, J. Ochala, K. Artemenko, H. Iwamoto, N. Yagi, J. Bergquist, L. Larsson, Aberrant post-translational modifications compromise human myosin motor function in old age, Aging Cell 14 (2) (2015) 228–235, http://dx. doi.org/10.1111/acel.12307 25645586.
- [34] M.A. Ackermann, A. Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos, Myosin binding protein-C: a regulator of actomyosin interaction in striated muscle, J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2011 (2011) 636403, http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2011/636403 22028592.
- [35] S.J. Van Dijk, K.L. Bezold, S.P. Harris, Earning stripes: myosin binding protein-C interactions with actin, Pflugers Arch. 466 (3) (2014) 445–450, http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/s00424-013-1432-8 24442149.
- [36] B. Markus, G. Narkis, D. Landau, R.Z. Birk, I. Cohen, O.S. Birk, Autosomal recessive lethal congenital contractural syndrome type 4 (LCCS4) caused by a mutation in MYBPC1, Hum. Mutat. 33 (10) (2012) 1435–1438, http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/humu.22122 22610851.
- [37] M.A. Ackermann, P.D. Patel, J. Valenti, Y. Takagi, E. Homsher, J.R. Sellers, A. Kontrogianni-Konstantopoulos, Loss of actomyosin regulation in distal arthrogryposis myopathy due to mutant myosin binding protein-C slow, FASEB J. 27 (8) (2013) 3217–3228, http://dx.doi.org/10.1096/fj.13-228882 23657818.
- [38] S. Schlossarek, G. Mearini, L. Carrier, Cardiac myosin-binding protein C in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities, J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 50 (4) (2011) 613–620, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. yjmcc.2011.01.014 21291890.
- [39] G. Bonne, L. Carrier, P. Richard, B. Hainque, K. Schwartz, Familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: from mutations to functional defects, Circ. Res. 83 (6) (1998) 580–593, http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.83.6.580 9742053.
- [40] S.P. Harris, R.G. Lyons, K.L. Bezold, in the thick of it: HCM-causing mutations in myosin binding proteins of the thick filament, Circ. Res. 108 (6) (2011) 751–764, http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.231670 21415409.
- [41] D. Capitanio, M. Vasso, C. Fania, M. Moriggi, A. Viganò, P. Procacci, V. Magnaghi, C. Gelfi, Comparative proteomic profile of rat sciatic nerve and gastrocnemius muscle tissues in ageing by 2-D DIGE, Proteomics 9 (7) (2009) 2004–2020, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pmic.200701162 19333999.
 [42] J. Gannon, P. Doran, A. Kirwan, K. Ohlendieck, Drastic increase of myosin light
- [42] J. Gannon, P. Doran, A. Kirwan, K. Ohlendieck, Drastic increase of myosin light chain MLC-2 in senescent skeletal muscle indicates fast-to-slow fibre transition in sarcopenia of old age, Eur. J. Cell Biol. 88 (11) (2009) 685–700, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcb.2009.06.004 19616867.
 [43] C. Gelfi, A. Vigano, M. Ripamonti, A. Pontoglio, S. Begum, M.A. Pellegrino,
- [43] C. Gelfi, A. Vigano, M. Ripamonti, A. Pontoglio, S. Begum, M.A. Pellegrino, B. Grassi, R. Bottinelli, R. Wait, P. Cerretelli, The human muscle proteome in aging, J. Proteome Res. 5 (6) (2006) 1344–1353, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ pr050414x 16739986.
- [44] L.V. Thompson, D. Durand, N.A. Fugere, D.A. Ferrington, Myosin and actin expression and oxidation in aging muscle, J. Appl. Physiol. 101 (6) (2006) 1581–1587, http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00426.2006 16840579.

- [45] P. Doran, K. O'Connell, J. Gannon, M. Kavanagh, K. Ohlendieck, Opposite pathobiochemical fate of pyruvate kinase and adenylate kinase in aged rat skeletal muscle as revealed by proteomic DIGE analysis, Proteomics 8 (2) (2008) 364–377, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pmic.200700475 18050275.
- [46] L. Staunton, M. Zweyer, D. Swandulla, K. Ohlendieck, Mass spectrometrybased proteomic analysis of middle-aged vs. aged vastus lateralis reveals increased levels of carbonic anhydrase isoform 3 in senescent human skeletal muscle, Int. J. Mol. Med. 30 (4) (2012) 723–733, http://dx.doi.org/10.3892/ ijmm.2012.1056 22797148.
- [47] B. Wei, J.-P. Jin, Troponin T isoforms and posttranscriptional modifications: evolution, regulation and function, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 505 (2) (2011) 144–154, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2010.10.013 20965144.
- [48] A.V. Gomes, J.D. Potter, D. Szczesna-cordary, The role of troponins in muscle contraction. I, UBMB Life 54 (6) (2002) 323–333, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 15216540290114676 12665242.
- [49] W. Scott, J. Stevens, S.A. Binder-Macleod, Human skeletal muscle fiber type classifications, Phys. Ther. 81 (2001) 1810–1816 13510739.
- [50] T. Wallimann, T. Schlösser, H.M. Eppenberger, Function of M-line-bound creatine kinase as Intramyofibrillar ATP regenerator at the receiving end of the phosphorylcreatine Shuttle in muscle, J. Biol. Chem. 259 (8) (1984) 5238–5246 6143755.
- [51] T. Hornemann, S. Kempa, M. Himmel, K. Hayess, D.O. Fürst, T. Wallimann, Muscle-type creatine kinase interacts with central domains of the M-band proteins myomesin and M-protein, J. Mol. Biol. 332 (4) (2003) 877–887, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2836(03)00921-5 12972258.
- [52] T. Hornemann, M. Stolz, T. Wallimann, Isoenzyme-specific interaction of muscle-type creatine kinase with the sarcomeric M-line is mediated by NH (2)-terminal lysine charge-clamps, J. Cell Biol. 149 (6) (2000) 1225–1234, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1083/jcb.149.6.1225 10851020.
- [53] S. Schiaffino, C. Reggiani, Fiber types in mammalian skeletal muscles, Physiol. Rev. 91 (4) (2011) 1447–1531, http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00031.2010 22013216.
- [54] I. Piec, A. Listrat, J. Alliot, C. Chambon, R.G. Taylor, D. Bechet, Differential proteome analysis of aging in rat skeletal muscle, FASEB J. 19 (9) (2005) 1143–1145, http://dx.doi.org/10.1096/fj.04-3084fie 15831715.
- [55] M. Gueugneau, C. Coudy-Gandilhon, O. Gourbeyre, C. Chambon, L. Combaret, C. Polge, D. Taillandier, D. Attaix, B. Friguet, A.B. Maier, G. Butler-Browne, D. Béchet, Proteomics of muscle chronological ageing in post-menopausal women, BMC Genomics 15 (1) (2014) 1165, http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-15-1165 25532418.
- [56] A.E. Halseth, D.P. Bracy, D.H. Wasserman, Functional limitations to glucose uptake in muscles comprised of different fiber types, Am. J. Physiol.—Endocrinol. Metab. 280 (6) (2001) E994–E999 11350781.
- [57] H. Kishi, T. Mukai, A. Hirono, H. Fujii, S. Miwa, K. Hori, Human aldolase A deficiency associated with a hemolytic anemia: thermolabile aldolase due to a single base mutation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84 (23) (1987) 8623–8627, http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.84.23.8623 2825199.
- [58] J. Kreuder, A. Borkhardt, R. Repp, A. Pekrun, B. Göttsche, U. Gottschalk, H. Reichmann, W. Schachenmayr, K. Schlegel, F. Lampert, Brief report:

inherited metabolic myopathy and hemolysis due to a mutation in aldolase A, N. Engl. J. Med. 334 (17) (1996) 1100–1104, http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM199604253341705 8598869.

- [59] H. Nakajima, W. Amano, T. Kubo, A. Fukuhara, H. Ihara, Y.-T. Azuma, H. Tajima, T. Inui, A. Sawa, T. Takeuchi, Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase aggregate formation participates in oxidative stress-induced cell death, J. Biol. Chem. 284 (49) (2009) 34331–34341, http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M109.027698 19837666.
- [60] T. Sato, A. Morita, N. Mori, S. Miura, Glycerol 3-phosphate dehydrogenase 1 deficiency enhances exercise capacity due to increased lipid oxidation during strenuous exercise, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 457 (4) (2015) 1–6, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.01.043 25603051.
- [61] A. Vigelsø, R. Dybboe, C.N. Hansen, F. Dela, J.W. Helge, A. Guadalupe Grau, GAPDH and β -actin protein decreases with aging, making stain-Free technology a superior loading control in western blotting of human skeletal muscle, J. Appl. Physiol. 118 (3) (2015) 386–394, http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00840.2014 25429098.
- [62] M.J. MacDonald, L.K. Marshall, Mouse lacking NAD⁺-linked glycerol phosphate dehydrogenase has normal pancreatic beta cell function but abnormal metabolite pattern in skeletal muscle, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 384 (1) (2000) 143–153, http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/abbi.2000.2107 11147825.
- [63] Y. Kitaoka, D.I. Ogborn, M.I. Nilsson, N.J. Mocellin, L.G. MacNeil, M. A. Tarnopolsky, Oxidative stress and Nrf2 signaling in McArdle disease, Mol. Genet. Metab. 110 (3) (2013) 297–302, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. ymgme.2013.06.022 23906480.
- [64] T.A. Kohn, T.D. Noakes, D.E. Rae, J.C. Rubio, A. Santalla, G. Nogales-Gadea, T. Pinós, M.A. Martín, J. Arenas, A. Lucia, McArdle disease does not affect skeletal muscle fibre type profiles in humans, Biol. Open 3 (12) (2014) 1224–1227, http://dx.doi.org/10.1242/bio.20149548 25432515.
- [65] A. Katz, H. Westerblad, Regulation of glycogen breakdown and its consequences for skeletal muscle function after training, Mamm. Genome 25 (9– 10) (2014) 464–472, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00335-014-9519-x 24777203.
- [66] A. Lucia, G. Nogales-Gadea, M. Pérez, M.A. Martín, A.L. Andreu, J. Arenas, McArdle disease: what do neurologists need to know? Nat. Clin. Pract. Neurol. 4 (10) (2008) 568–577, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncpneuro0913 18833216.
- Y. Liu, L. Gampert, K. Nething, J.M. Steinacker, Response and function of skeletal muscle heat shock protein 70, Front. Biosci. 11 (2006) 2802–2827, http://dx.doi.org/10.2741/2011 16720354.
 P. Doran, J. Gannon, K. O'Connell, K. Ohlendieck, Aging skeletal muscle shows a
- [68] P. Doran, J. Gannon, K. O'Connell, K. Ohlendieck, Aging skeletal muscle shows a drastic increase in the small heat shock proteins alphaB-crystallin/HspB5 and cvHsp/HspB7, Eur. J. Cell Biol. 86 (10) (2007) 629–640, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ejcb.2007.07.003 17761354.
- [69] A. Lombardi, E. Silvestri, F. Cioffi, R. Senese, A. Lanni, F. Goglia, P. de Lange, M. Moreno, Defining the transcriptomic and proteomic profiles of rat ageing skeletal muscle by the use of a cDNA array, 2D- and blue native-PAGE approach, J. Proteomics 72 (4) (2009) 708–721, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jprot.2009.02.007 19268720.

274